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Our purpose
Throughout our operating 
businesses we aim to go 
further through creating better 
connections for our partners, 
our people and our communities.

Who we are

Stobart Group is 
focused on the future of 
the aviation and energy 
from waste sectors.

Our culture
Our culture follows our Environmental, 
Social and Governance (ESG) framework 
and reflects the way we expect individuals 
across the business to act:
• We support our people.
• We are committed to our communities.
• We are socially and environmentally 

conscious.
• We value partnerships.
• We are adaptable.

See page 39 for more information
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Forward-looking statement 
Stobart Group has two valuable 
businesses in London Southend Airport 
and Stobart Energy. The Group will seek 
to ensure that these business are well 
positioned to respond to opportunities 
as the world begins to recover from 
the global COVID-19 pandemic.
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Highlights

Group
– Continued operational progress led to revenues increasing by 16% to 

£170.2m (2019: £146.9m).
– Underlying EBITDA increased by 48% to £16.0m (2019: £10.8m).
– The loss before tax of £158.0m (2019: £42.1m) was principally driven by 

non-cash items including impairments (£101.9m), amortisation of brand 
(£7.5m) and equity accounted losses (£9.1m). Significant cash items 
included new business and contract set-up costs.

Aviation
– Passenger numbers increased by 43% to 2.1 million (2019: 1.5 million) 

following the arrival of Ryanair, Wizz Air and Loganair flights, alongside 
more established easyJet routes.

– The start of operations with a global logistics customer, more passengers 
arriving by train, optimised car parking revenues and an improved retail 
offering meant underlying EBITDA per passenger increased by 37% to 
£4.33 (2019: £3.17).

– These factors led to underlying EBITDA increasing by 74% to £8.6m 
(2019: £4.9m). The Aviation division however made an EBITDA loss of 
£0.7m, with almost all of this loss resulting from new business and contract 
set-up costs. 

– Connect Airways and its subsidiary Flybe, which sits within our 
Investments division, entered administration, resulting in the £45.1m 
impairment of loans to £nil. This impairment has been presented within 
non-underlying items.

– The fair value of Carlisle Lake District Airport, which opened in July 2019 
and sits within our Infrastructure portfolio, was impaired by £21.0m.

Energy
– The renewable energy plants that Stobart Energy supplies have now 

completed the commissioning phase.
– As a result, the volume of waste Stobart Energy supplies increased by 

12% to 1.5 million tonnes (2019: 1.3 million).
– This led to a 26% increase in underlying EBITDA to £24.2m (2019: £19.2m). 

The division reported EBITDA of £15.0m.

Non-core assets
– Delays to the award of new contracts through Network Rail’s Control 

Period 6 and one ongoing legacy contract led to an EBITDA loss of £7.1m, 
compared to £5.2m in the prior year.

– Stobart Group’s non-strategic infrastructure portfolio reduced by £35.3m, 
including impairments of £29.4m, to £47.3m (2019: £82.6m).

– Eddie Stobart Logistics, in which we are an 11.8% shareholder, returned to 
trading on the AIM market of the London Stock Exchange in February 
2020 following the suspension of its shares. The value of our shares fell 
from £44.9m to £4.7m, and this is reflected in other comprehensive 
income. In May 2020, Stobart Group announced it had sold the Eddie 
Stobart and Stobart brands to Eddie Stobart Limited for £10.0m.
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Our  
vision for  
the future

Our two valuable operating businesses will evolve to meet the 
challenges and opportunities of a post-COVID-19 world.

London Southend Airport will aim to offer the best passenger 
experience in the world’s biggest travel market and Stobart 
Energy will continue to build on its market-leading position.

Our key priorities are:

Our  
strategy for  

future growth

Our  
strong set  
of values

Our  
vision for  

sustainability

1 2 3

See page 4 for more information See page 6 for more information See page 8 for more information
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Our airport 
passenger-focused 
future, which will be 
ready to capitalise 
on a recovery in the 
wider short-haul 
aviation sector, 
sits squarely 
next to a strong 
performing energy 
from waste business.
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Our  
strategy for 

future growth

1

London Southend Airport will be developed to offer a  
passenger-focused experience that combines commercial

revenues with a spacious, safe and an even more 
secure environment.

Stobart Energy is targeting the supply of 2 million tonnes  
of waste wood per annum, and benefits from long-term,  

high-margin contracts.
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London Southend 
Airport will be 
developed to offer 
a passenger-focused 
experience that 
combines commercial 
revenues with a 
spacious, safe and an 
even more secure 
environment.
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Our  
strong set  
of values

2

It’s not just important to build valuable growth businesses. 
We also want those businesses to be fun and rewarding places 
to work. During the year, we put in place improved processes to 

engage with our workforce. Stobart Group is also developing 
new people values which will be launched in the near term.
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It’s not just important 
to build valuable 
growth businesses. 
We also want those 
businesses to be 
fun and rewarding 
places to work.
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Our  
vision for 

sustainability

3

It is also important to ensure we protect our future by adopting 
the right business practices now. We have invested in refreshing 

our ESG policies, believing that true sustainable business 
practices are core to the broader value that we can create 

for partners, customers and communities alike.

By taking a firm grip on our ESG practices we can manage risks 
and maximise value. In particular, it will allow us to support the 
sustainable long-term growth of our aviation businesses, establish 
ourselves as leaders within the energy from waste sector and enjoy 
engaged relationships with our people, partners, customers and 
local communities.

Stobart Group is putting in place an ESG strategy based on five key 
pillars: developing our people; taking climate action; excelling in 
health & wellbeing, safety and security; supporting sustainable 
communities; and minimising our environmental footprint.

We are committed to making progress against that framework and 
putting sustainable thinking at the heart of strategy development 
and decision-making moving forward.
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By taking a firm 
grip on our ESG 
practices we can 
manage risks and 
maximise value.



Revenue split (£’000)

Aviation 56,786 39,411

Energy 76,339 65,143

Rail & Civils 41,481 52,347

 2020 2019

Stobart Group Limited
Annual Report & Accounts 2020

10
Strategic Report

At a Glance

Stobart Group 
is developing the 
value of operating 
businesses in the 
aviation and energy 
from waste sectors.

The total loss before 
tax of £158.0m is 
principally driven 
by non-cash items 
including impairments 
(£101.9m), amortisation 
of brand (£7.5m) and 
equity accounted 
losses (£9.8m). 
Significant cash items 
include new business 
and contract set-up 
costs, and litigation 
and claims (£20.1m).

See page 12 for more information
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 Aviation

Airports
Stobart Group’s primary operating business within the 
aviation sector is London Southend Airport. That airport 
was the UK’s fastest growing in 2019 and its airline partners, 
which include easyJet, Ryanair and Wizz Air, provide flights 
to over 40 destinations.

The airport has a number of sources of income. It earns 
aeronautical revenues from airline partners and receives 
income from airport passengers using its train station, car 
parks, hotel and growing range of shops, and food and 
beverage outlets in the terminal.

A global logistics operation is also based at the airport 
providing further revenues.

Stobart Group owns Carlisle Lake District Airport, which 
opened in July 2019, and was impaired by £21.0m in the year.

The loan receivables from Connect Airways were impaired at 
year end by £45.1m to £nil. Post year end, Connect Airways 
and its subsidiary Flybe entered administration.

Stobart Group agreed with the administrators of Connect 
Airways to acquire Stobart Air and aircraft leasing business, 
Propius, in order to take effective control over pre-existing 
obligations it has in respect of those businesses.

Aviation services
Stobart Aviation Services has developed rapidly from starting 
two years ago. That business now provides check-in, baggage 
handling and cargo services across London Stansted, London 
Southend, Manchester, Edinburgh and Glasgow airports. 
It receives contracted income from airlines and logistics 
businesses that use its services at these airports.

See page 32 for more information

  Energy from waste logistics

Stobart Energy sources waste wood from over 300 suppliers, 
which it then processes into biomass fuel. It delivers that fuel to 
renewable energy plants located across the UK.

The business makes money in two ways. It receives gate 
fees from suppliers looking to dispose of waste wood. It also 
receives revenues from renewable energy plants for supplying 
specified volumes of waste wood through long-term contracts.

See page 34 for more information

 Stobart Rail & Civils

Stobart Rail & Civils has operated as a provider of innovative 
and efficient rail and non-rail civil engineering projects in 
the UK. 

However, that business has reported losses over consecutive 
periods, and subsequent to the year end the Board has 
taken the difficult decision to exit that business during the 
course of FY21.

See page 36 for more information

 Non-Strategic Infrastructure  
and  Investments

Stobart Group owns a number of brownfield development 
properties across the UK. Those infrastructure assets are 
valued on our balance sheet at £47.3m, including Carlisle Lake 
District Airport.

Stobart Group has an 11.8% shareholding in Eddie Stobart 
Limited. That business returned to trading on the AIM market 
of the London Stock Exchange in February 2020. The value of 
our shareholding declined significantly following its return to 
trading. In May 2020, Stobart Group announced it had sold the 
Eddie Stobart and Stobart brands to Eddie Stobart Logistics 
for £10.0m.

See page 36 for more information
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Aviation  
Market Review

A number of aviation businesses are 
now experiencing challenges as a 
result of airport closures, a slowdown in 
forward bookings and the requirement 
to maintain significant cost bases. Prior 
to the lockdown we saw Flybe enter 
administration, and we cannot be certain 
whether further casualties will emerge.

Stobart Group has always taken a long-
term view of the aviation sector however 
and has been developing London 
Southend Airport for over a decade. During 
that time, the airport has grown from a 
small general aviation operation to an 
increasingly important London hub with 
rail connectivity direct to London Liverpool 
Street station. It is therefore important for 
us to consider the long-term opportunities 
offered by the London airport market.

That market was the largest in the world 
and continued to grow in 2019. Underlying 
demand remained strong prior to the 
outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic and 
the long-term growth trend has historically 
been in excess of UK GDP. As a result, we 
believe the longer-term growth trajectory 
should resume once the COVID-19 
crisis passes and consumer confidence 
returns. After all, London is the largest 
metropolitan area in Europe, with over 
14 million residents and ranks in the top 
three visitor destinations in the world by 
number of visitors. It also serves as a major 
global international commercial centre.

The last three months since the end of our 
financial year have seen unprecedented 
challenges for the global aviation industry 
as a result of the travel restrictions imposed 
to limit the spread of the coronavirus. 

The UK Government has offered support 
to business, including aviation, recognising 
the important role it will play in economic 
recovery once the world emerges from 
this crisis. 

Population of London metropolitan area 
– the largest in Europe

14m
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Due to its vital role in the global economy 
and for business, London metropolitan area 
air traffic was the busiest in the world with 
181 million passengers in 2019 – 25% larger 
than New York, the second busiest city.

As a consequence, both the network 
carriers and low-cost carriers (LCCs) were 
growing their capacity pre-COVID-19. 

It is, however, the LCCs that have seen 
the fastest growth. Since 2014, LCCs have 
added 9.2 million seats to the London 
market (+32%), or the equivalent of 41 daily 
aircraft (+27%). We believe it is these LCCs 
that could emerge as the structural winners 
post-COVID-19 given their lower cost bases 
and the likelihood that they will be able to 
return to normalised operations faster.

The LCCs are likely to be focused on 
seeking a low cost base for operations 
and hub capacity at the right price 
and the right service levels. 

The pace at which this capacity is required 
will largely depend on the demand from 
passengers to return to international 
travel, the ability of airlines to react to that 
demand and the preparedness of airports 
to respond to the changing expectations 
of passengers and airlines alike.

Airports will be expected to provide clean, 
secure and spacious environments in which 
passengers are not expected to gather in 
confined retail spaces, where cleaners are 
highly visible and where people can move 
through central search areas efficiently. 

London Southend Airport has an opportunity 
therefore to provide a cost-efficient base 
for airlines given the airport’s lower capital 
expenditure to date and deliver a passenger-
focused experience for customers.

Stobart Group has always 
taken a long-term view of 
the aviation sector and has 
been developing London 
Southend Airport for over 
a decade. During that time, 
the airport has grown from 
a small general aviation 
operation to an increasingly 
important London hub.

London metropolitan area air traffic 
(passengers)

181m
LCC seats added to the London market

9.2m
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Energy  
Market Review

In a normal year there would be around 
5 million tonnes of waste wood produced 
annually; a large proportion of this is used 
as fuel for biomass plants in the UK and 
overseas, although the quantity of wood 
exports has declined in recent years.

Pre-COVID-19, there was gate fee 
pressure across the industry, which 
saw gate fees drop below recently seen 
trends. This was largely driven by Brexit 
uncertainty within the construction and 
industrial sectors. This was expected 
to be temporary, with fees improving in 
line with increasing landfill charges.

Gate fees can also be impacted by demand 
from renewable energy plants. With a large 
number of plants coming online at one time 
the demand for fuel increased and gate fees 
fell in order to encourage further supply. 

Plant performance also impacts on 
demand and extended long-term outages 
such as that experienced at Tilbury can 
result in waste material intended for 
one plant needing to be redirected to 
other storage sites across the UK.

Wood supply (volumes and price) tends to 
follow a seasonal pattern, with more wood 
being made available in the summer months.

The COVID-19 pandemic however materially 
disrupted the general availability of waste 
wood and impacted the supply chain. 

Renewable fuel production remains the 
most economical and environmentally 
responsible solution for significant 
quantities of waste wood.

Stobart forecasted annual surplus 
of waste from 2025 (tonnes)

c.7.5m
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The closure of Household Waste and 
Recycling Centres, and the significant 
downturn in the construction sector and 
other industries had an immediate impact.

Our guiding business principle however 
has always been to take a long-term 
view on the markets we invest in and to 
position ourselves accordingly. Household 
Waste and Recycling Centres are now 
starting to reopen. Construction has 
recommenced. Waste wood availability 
is starting to return to normalised levels 
and our established supply chains and 
first-in-class infrastructure are well placed 
to take advantage of the upturn.

The delivery of our core biomass fuel 
supply business also provides significant 
opportunity for diversification into other 
fuel types and we could further develop 
our sustainable energy business model 
in concert with a strategic partner. The 
energy recovery market continues to be 
focused on refuse derived fuel driven by 
the end of the Renewable Obligations 
Certificate and the supply of general waste 
outstripping demand from Energy Recovery 
Facilities. We previously forecasted an 
annual surplus of c.7.5 million tonnes of 
residual waste per year from 2025.

In the past few years, c.2–3 million tonnes 
of waste per year has been exported 
to Europe. This volume has shown a 
gradual decline, and is expected to 
reduce further as countries, such as 
the Netherlands, implement a tax on 
all waste imports destined for thermal 
treatment. This increases the need for 
Energy Recovery Facilities of a certain 
size in the right locations within the UK. 

Stobart Energy is well positioned to work 
with potential partners to explore further 
opportunities to benefit from this by 
extending its dominant market position in 
order to supply other fuels, such as waste, 
to existing treatment facilities plants. 

Household Waste and 
Recycling Centres are 
now starting to reopen. 
Construction has 
recommenced. Waste 
wood availability is starting 
to return to normalised levels 
and our established supply 
chains and first-in-class 
infrastructure are best 
placed to take advantage 
of the upturn.

Tonnes of waste wood produced in a 
normal year

c.5m
Tonnes of waste exported to Europe in 
past few years

c.2-3m
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Business  
Model

Stobart Group helps its 
operating businesses to grow 
by setting a clear strategy; 
providing platforms for 
success, and monitoring 
and evaluating progress.

Key strengths and  
competitive advantages

1
Our people
People are at the heart of everything we do and 
are Stobart Group’s greatest asset. Our people 
have lots of expertise, especially in terms 
of experience and relationships, logistics 
know-how and infrastructure development, 
and have a can-do attitude.

2
Our culture
Innovation is at the core of our business culture. 
We are always striving to find new ways to work 
more efficiently and deliver better outcomes for 
our customers and partners.

3
Our agility
We have a strong track record for spotting 
opportunities and making things happen. 
A great example of this is the development 
of Stobart Aviation Services. We spotted an 
opportunity to combine our logistics expertise 
with new technology to deliver great baggage 
handling and check-in services. That business 
has grown rapidly from being set up just two 
years ago.
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Our business model
The business model is best described through our  
‘Role of the Centre’ diagram.

At the heart of our 
business model is 
strategy setting

We provide our 
divisions with support 
and guidance to help 
them deliver their 
strategic goals

We then regularly 
engage with our 
divisions and monitor 
their progress

Stobart Group’s strategy is 
focused on increasing the 
profitability of its operating 
business. It has put in place 
a strategy to respond to the 
challenges posed by the 
COVID-19 pandemic, and 
ultimately, increase the 
profitability of London 
Southend Airport and Stobart 
Energy. For more details of our 
strategy see page 24.

We help these businesses 
to deliver their strategy by 
putting in place an effective 
governance framework, 
monitoring progress through 
close collaboration and 
creating a culture for success.

This platform includes:
• delivering the right 

framework, including cash 
management, risk analysis 
and objective 
benchmarking;

• securing funding and 
growth capital;

• attracting and retaining the 
best people;

• advising on best practice 
such as for finance, 
purchasing, IT, people, 
communications and legal 
services;

• establishing the right 
culture; and

• providing a safe and healthy 
working environment for all.

We monitor and evaluate 
progress through regular 
engagement. We have several 
forums for engagement.

The forums include:
• Group Board meetings;
• governance evaluations 

and risk analyses;
• weekly executive 

management team 
meetings (known as 
Core Time);

• Divisional Board meetings;
• weekly trading calls; and
• executive leadership 

team events.

By delivering our 
strategic goals we 
can create value for 
our stakeholders:

Employees
Sustained growth will allow our 
people to flourish in an inclusive 
and supportive environment.

Partners and customers
Our partners and customers will 
share in the successful outcome  
of our strategy and be able to trust 
us to deliver on their expectations.

Shareholders
We will create significant value  
for our shareholders by delivering  
on a strategy that responds to  
the challenges created by the 
COVID-19 pandemic and by  
seeking new opportunities.

Communities
Delivering our growth objectives  
will allow us to help communities 
prosper through the creation of 
local employment opportunities 
and establish the connections 
communities need to thrive.

See page 18 for more information
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Our  
Stakeholders

Our stakeholders include shareholders, employees, partners and 
customers, local communities and the wider world around us. To 
ensure we engage with our stakeholders effectively we have put in 
place a refreshed ESG strategy based on five pillars; developing our 
people; taking climate action; excelling in health & wellbeing, safety 
and security; supporting sustainable communities; and minimising 
our environmental footprint.

 Stakeholder group  How we engage

Employees – developing our people and excelling in health 
& wellbeing, safety and security
We nominated People Champions across the divisions and hold 
quarterly People Forums to ensure we are listening and engaging 
with the views of our people. 

We are actively reviewing our wider wellbeing service offering. 
In-depth safety and security training is in place throughout the 
Group and performance measures are closely monitored.

See page 42 for more information

Our People Forums are site specific and include an average of 
six People Champions alongside representatives from senior 
management and the people teams. 

Following outcomes from the people forums, Stobart Group 
has engaged with Able Futures to provide mental health service 
to employees. 

Communities – supporting sustainable communities
We are seeking to create sustainable, long-term opportunities 
within our communities to support social and economic 
development. One such project we are investigating is a scheme 
to support the establishment of hydroelectric fuel sources in 
the North West and Stobart Energy has designed schemes 
to provide employment opportunities to former armed forces 
personnel. Stobart Group’s divisions host regular community 
engagement forums. 

See page 46 for more information

London Southend Airport host neighbourhood meetings on a 
six-weekly basis and monthly councillor meetings. These provide 
an opportunity to engage with, listen and find opportunities to take 
action regarding community concerns.



Stobart Group Limited
Annual Report & Accounts 2020

19
Strategic Report

 Stakeholder group  How we engage

Partners and customers – minimising our 
environmental footprint
We are working to manage our environmental impact in 
collaboration with our partners and customers. We have, for 
example, engaged with our global logistics customer at London 
Southend Airport and relevant council leaders on a monthly basis 
to identify opportunities to reduce the impact of noise created by 
night-time flying on local communities. 

See page 55 for more information

We have engaged with London Southend Airport customers to 
understand their concerns regarding environmental impacts at 
the airport. This feedback has helped to inform our ESG 
strategic framework.

The world around us – taking climate action
Stobart Group is taking action to minimise emissions and support 
the development of low carbon infrastructure. This is particularly 
key for London Southend Airport to ensure it can continue to 
expand in a sustainable way. We have been measuring levels of 
NO2 since 2011. The results show that air quality around the airport 
has been improving year on year during that period. Almost 20% of 
the airport’s electricity comes from renewable sources and the 
airport has invested in extensive waste management systems.

See page 48 for more information

Following engagement with local councillors, London Southend 
Airport has committed to developing and publishing an 
Environmental Impact Plan to build on the good work already 
in place. 

Shareholders – investing in our ESG framework
By taking a firm grip on our ESG practices we can manage risks 
and maximise value. In particular, it will allow us to engage 
effectively with our stakeholders, monitor the right data and 
demonstrate progress to our shareholders. 

See page 40 for more information

Stobart Group engaged with its shareholders when developing  
its ESG framework. This included a number of interviews to 
understand the issues that matter to our shareholders and ensure 
we are aligned on the outcomes that we are seeking.
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Chairman’s 
Statement 

COVID-19
The world has become a very different 
place and the significant impact on our core 
markets could not have been anticipated a 
few months ago. Our operating environment 
has changed significantly and while 
challenges and uncertainty are likely to 
remain at a raised level for the foreseeable 
future, Governments around the world 
are beginning to shift their focus to the 
question of how we return to some form of 
normality. It is improbable that over time 
people will not wish to return to their passion 
for air travel with leisure markets and short 
haul destinations in Europe likely to be the 
first to recover. These remain key target 
sectors for London Southend Airport. 

In addition, the demand for green energy 
from recycled waste will continue and 
underpins the future of our Energy from 
Waste business. It appears that the UK 
Government sees the construction industry 
playing an important role in re-opening the 
economy and this will assist in the supply 
of recycled wood for our operations. The 
Board and Senior Management team reacted 
quickly in response to the pandemic ahead 
of the lockdown. We took immediate action to 
protect our people and customers with their 
safety being paramount. All discretionary 
expenditure was frozen including capital 
expenditure except where required for safety 
critical purposes. We maintained firm control 
over cash flow and reviewed our short- and 
medium-term plans to ensure that we could 
sustain the business through lockdown while 
also engaging in discussions around seeking 
further funding for the Group. We have today 
announced an equity issue and additional 
bank facilities which I refer to below.

As a result of the significant drop in activity 
levels it was necessary to place a number 
of staff on furlough and in line with many 
other businesses, we utilised support from 
the Government. We continue to maintain 
support for all those members of staff as a 
part of the Stobart Community. In addition 
the Board and the Senior Management Team 
across the business agreed to voluntary pay 
cuts. We are putting in place enhanced health 
and safety processes to protect colleagues 
and customers and give them confidence as 
we start to return gradually from lockdown.

Results
The business continued to make positive 
progress at an operating level in its core 
businesses during the year. Passengers at 
London Southend Airport were up by 43% 
and waste wood tonnage supplied by our 
Energy from Waste business was up by 
12%. We made good progress with our key 
airline partners easyJet, Ryanair and Wizz Air 
and secured a contract with a major global 
logistics business which has maintained its 
activity levels during the lockdown period.  

I am pleased to present my first statement as Chairman 
since taking on the role at the AGM in July 2019. It 
seems strange to be reporting now on a set of results  
to the end of February 2020 given the unprecedented 
changes which have taken place in the months  
since as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic. In light  
of that I will begin by setting the context to my statement 
with a reference to our response to the current crisis 
and its impacts.



Stobart Group Limited
Annual Report & Accounts 2020

21
Strategic Report

These results were adversely affected by the 
impact of issues which continued to affect 
our non-core operations, resulting in a loss 
for the year of £137.9m. The Rail & Civils 
business was impacted by continuing costs 
on a legacy contract which necessitated a 
further provision in the year. This business is 
unlikely to generate the appropriate returns 
for shareholders given the risks and we 
have decided to withdraw from this sector 
during the course of FY21. An impairment of 
£8.5m to the carrying value of this business 
was recognised in the half year results.

The widely reported issues experienced by 
Eddie Stobart Logistics plc (‘ESL’) during 
the latter part of last year led to a reduction 
in the value of the residual investment in 
that business. These issues also brought 
into focus the confusion which existed with 
our stakeholders around the Stobart name 
and led to the recently announced sale of 
the Stobart brands to ESL for £10m. We will 
announce a new name for the Group in the 
course of FY21 and over the next three years 
will remove the use of the Stobart name 
from all operations. The reduction in value 
of the ESL investment recognised during 
the year along with the amortisation and 
impairment of the brand, totalled £67.5m.

Our investment, including receivables, in 
Connect Airways was impaired fully at the 
year end leading to a loss in value of £54.2m. 
Post year end, Connect Airways and its 
subsidiary Flybe entered Administration. The 
proposed rescue finance package for Flybe 
was impacted by the emerging COVID-19 
crisis and led to the unfortunate failure of 
that business. The Stobart Air and Propius 
aircraft leasing businesses had been sold 
into Connect as part of the consortium deal 
to acquire Flybe and continued to operate 
outside of the Administration servicing a 
viable franchise arrangement with Aer Lingus. 
In view of certain legacy guarantees and 
obligations associated with the Group’s 
previous ownership it was decided to buy 
back these businesses from the Administrator 
and this deal completed in April 2020. The 
Group plan to continue to operate this 
business while working with Aer Lingus 
to identify a new partner to take business 
forward. The Group will seek to mitigate its 
legacy liabilities and plans to exit the business 
fully once the crisis period has passed.

Finally, a realistic assessment of all 
legacy infrastructure assets was taken 
with further impairments totalling £29.4m 
being made in light of expected market 
conditions. The Group is committed to 
realising these assets over the next three 
years with the clear objective being on 
achieving value for shareholders.

Strategy & Funding
The Board undertook its annual review of 
strategy in September 2019 and commenced 
a number of work streams to determine 
the future opportunities for each business 
segment and the funding needs to support 
its ambitious growth plans. One of the 
decisions made at the half year was to 
suspend the payment of dividends to 
preserve the resources for investment in 
the business. The dividend policy will be 
revisited in the future when the business is 
generating sustainable cash earnings and in 
the context of a prudent capital structure. We 
also embarked on discussions in relation to 
raising long term debt finance and separately 
with a global strategic partner considering 
making a minority investment in London 
Southend Airport and participating in its 
development. These discussions were at an 
advanced stage when stalled by the onset of 
the COVID-19 crisis. Such opportunities will 
be revisited as part of a review of a long-term 
capital strategy for the Group once we have 
returned fully to a normal market situation.

As a result of these factors we started a 
process to raise additional funding for 
the Group which we announced today. A 
combination of additional bank facilities of 
£40m and new equity in excess of £80m 
will allow the Group to stabilise its financial 
position while maintaining its operational 
capability through the anticipated crisis 
period. This will allow the Group to 
position the business to focus on our 
core operations as we get visibility of and 
adapt to the post COVID environment.

A consequence of the work done in the last 
six months has led to the conclusion that the 
Group should focus on its Aviation division, 
being Airports and Aviation Services, and 
the Energy from Waste logistics business. All 
other non-core businesses or assets will be 
realised for value over the next three years. 
In London Southend Airport we own and 
operate a prime London Airport asset with 
the potential to adapt to passenger demands 
and grow in a post COVID world. The current 
planning consents for the airport support 
total passengers of between 7 and 8 million. 
While the timing is uncertain the target of 
serving 5 million passengers remains an 
achievable objective. The Energy business 
is a maturing, cash generative and stable 
business with current capacity to supply 2 
million tonnes of waste wood per annum. This 
business is likely to be attractive to strategic 
partners and infrastructure investors and we 
will look to monetise value for shareholders 
over the next 18 to 24 months. We believe 
that this new clarity around our future strategy 
and the medium term move to a pure play 
airport and aviation services business 
will prove attractive for shareholders.

Board & People 
While it now seems some time ago I would 
like to thank my predecessor Iain Ferguson 
and Senior Independent Director Andrew 
Wood who both stood down at the AGM 
in 2019 after a number of years’ service. 
In view of these and previous changes to 
the Board and the clearer focus on the 
strategic direction, we were at an advanced 
stage of a process to recruit two additional 
non-executive directors when we entered 
lockdown and initiated the fundraising 
process. This recruitment process will now 
resume and aims to add additional sector 
specific experience to the Board in our core 
business segments. It will also address the 
issues of planning for succession, improving 
board diversity and the appointment of 
a Senior Independent Director. I am also 
pleased to announce that Ginny Pulbrook 
has become the Board People Engagement 
representative to reinforce the importance of 
this key stakeholder group and I thank her 
for taking on this important role. The last six 
months have been a particularly challenging 
time for the business and my colleagues 
in every part of it. Whether you have been 
at home on furlough or working in difficult 
circumstances can I take the opportunity to 
offer my personal thanks to each one of you 
in the Stobart Community for your dedication 
and resilience through this challenging time.

Environmental, Social & Governance
It is important with everything else which 
has been happening not to lose sight of our 
ESG responsibilities and the importance 
to all stakeholder groups. The Board is 
fully committed to its ESG principles which 
it aims to embed in its business as usual 
activities. During the year we undertook a 
comprehensive review of our ESG principles 
and put in place a framework for continuous 
improvement. We report on this in detail 
in the ESG section of the annual report. 

Future
While it is difficult to look ahead in the 
middle of a crisis, the work which has been 
undertaken to focus the Group on its core 
businesses and resolve the legacy issues will 
offer clarity to shareholders. The fundraising 
which we have announced today will 
stabilise the business and give us a secure 
platform to move forward. The Board will 
continue to anticipate and react swiftly to 
developments in our markets and engage 
actively with key stakeholders. Through 
this we will seek to position the Group to 
respond positively to market opportunities 
as we move from the crisis through the 
recovery phase into the post COVID world.

David Shearer
Non-Executive Chairman
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Chief Executive’s  
Review

Our core businesses,  
supported by our 
great teams, show 
that Stobart Group  
is ready for the 
opportunities  
the next decade  
will bring.
Warwick Brady
Chief Executive
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What has been your focus for the year 
under review?
Our strategy is to focus on developing 
valuable growth assets in two sectors; 
aviation and energy from waste. We 
have two core assets: London Southend 
Airport, which will be developed to 
respond to the challenges presented by 
the COVID-19 pandemic; and a highly 
cash generative energy from waste 
feedstock supply business, Stobart 
Energy. Both these businesses saw 
significant operational progress in 2019.

So that we are free to focus on developing 
these valuable assets we are also taking 
action to clean up the non-core legacy 
investments and infrastructure across 
the Group. By taking sometimes difficult 
decisions we can draw a line under the 
past and improve the balance sheet for 
future periods. That in turn will enable 
us to set this business on a path to 
creating significant shareholder value.

What progress was made in the Aviation 
division during the year?
London Southend became the UK’s 
fastest growing airport in 2019 according 
to Civil Aviation Authority data with 
passenger numbers for the full year up 
43.1% to 2.1 million. From April 2019, 
Ryanair based three aircraft at the airport 
and operated flights to 13 destinations. 
Loganair commenced operations in 
May, and Wizz Air launched new routes 
in October and November 2019. The 
established easyJet routes also continued 
to see improvements in load factors. 

However, perhaps the biggest boon to our 
long-term non-aeronautical revenues was 
the commencement of operations to support 
the import and export of goods at our new 
global logistics operation in October 2019. 

The airport has an improved retail offering, 
optimised its surface access income 
and added a logistics operation. These 
improvements contributed to underlying 
EBITDA per passenger increasing 
36.6% to £4.33 during the year. 

What about your other aviation assets?
Stobart Aviation Services made 
significant gains through delivering a 
differentiated, technology-led model. 
It now provides airline services across 
five airports, working with 16 airlines. 
This operational progress across our 
aviation assets meant that we were able 
to increase revenues for the division by 
44.1% to £56.8m. Underlying EBITDA
went up by 73.8% to £8.6m. The Aviation 
division made a total loss before tax of 
£9.8m, with almost all of this loss reflecting 
new business and contract set-up costs.

How did Stobart Energy perform during 
the year?
Stobart Energy enjoyed a transformational 
year where plants were all operational 
with the exception of one. The one 
plant, Port Clarence, that was not 
commissioned negotiated the termination 
of its fuel supply agreement in the year. 
This generated £4.7m which is stated 
in other income in our accounts.

The Tilbury renewable energy plant 
experienced a seven-month unexpected 
outage caused by a dust explosion. 
Stobart Energy has protections against 
loss of revenue associated with that outage 
through the ‘take or pay’ provisions of its 
contract. The exact amount owed under 
these provisions is being finalised.

The investment in processing and storage 
sites is now largely complete and the fleet 
of trucks and trailers has been replenished. 

Going forwards we will benefit from a 
newly appointed management team. 
Richard Jenkins has joined the Executive 
Board as Chief Executive in June 2020. 
He has significant experience having 
managed the Greater Manchester Waste 
contract. Gareth Aylward joined Stobart 
Energy in May 2020 as Finance Director 
from Ornua Co-operative Limited. 

What are your plans for your 
non-core assets?
The performance of Stobart Rail & Civils 
has been poor in recent years, reflecting 
the impact of legacy contracts. COVID-19 
has further exacerbated the loss-making 
position of the division and we see no 
prospect of the business making a profit 
in the short term. The Group has therefore 
taken the decision to exit the business 
during FY21. To that end, the Group is in 
active dialogue with interested parties.

We were disappointed that we were unable 
to keep Flybe flying. Despite the best 
efforts of everyone involved, the delay to 
receiving EU merger clearance, coupled 
with the impact of COVID-19 meant the 
Connect Airways consortium was not in a 
position to continue funding it. Flybe entered 
administration in March 2020 with Connect 
Airways following it shortly afterward. 
This resulted in the £45.1m impairment of 
loans to £nil. This impairment has been 
presented within non-underlying items.

What has been the impact of COVID-19.
on the business and what is the outlook 
for the year?
Like most businesses we have experienced 
significant challenges since the end of our 
financial year due to the COVID-19 crisis. 

The crisis meant that the airport was 
largely closed to commercial passengers 
from late March 2020. However, our 
logistics operation continued throughout 
the COVID-19 crisis, providing a valuable 
source of income. It’s not possible right 
now to say what will happen in terms of 
passenger demand in the immediate 
term. What we do know is that people will 
ultimately return to flying and that airlines 
will be focused on cost management.

We will be well placed to deliver a cost-
efficient proposition that reflects the relative 
low cost development of the airport to 
date compared to London airport peers. 

We also want to take this opportunity to build 
on London Southend Airport’s legacy as 
a customer-friendly airport, as repeatedly 
recognised by Which?, and modernise it 
for the new decade and the post-COVID-19 
world we will be living in. At the heart of 
our strategy is a frictionless approach, 
where touch-points will be minimised, 
bottlenecks will be eased and the overall 
time between arrival and take-off is reduced.

The challenge that Stobart Energy faced 
was the supply of waste wood. The halt 
to construction work and the closure of 
Household Waste and Recycling Centres 
due to the lockdown impacted on the 
availability of waste woods and had a knock-
on effect on gate fees. However, the supply 
of waste wood is improving as the lockdown 
begins to ease and we are benefiting from a 
proven national supply chain including over 
300 suppliers to ensure we can access the 
waste wood that is available. We have strong 
relationships with plants across the UK 
and have maintained continuous dialogue 
regarding supply expectations during this 
crisis. As a result, we are now well placed 
to consolidate our market position further 
once construction resumes in earnest.

That airport passenger-focused future, 
which is ready to capitalise on a recovery 
in the wider short-haul aviation sector, sits 
squarely next to a strong performing energy 
from waste business. We will ultimately seek 
to monetise the energy business within 
the next 18-24 months, providing further 
capital that can be invested in our aviation 
businesses. We plan to dispose of our 
non-core assets within the next three years.

Our core businesses, supported by our 
great teams, show therefore that Stobart 
Group is ready for the opportunities of 
the new decade.

Warwick Brady
Chief Executive
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Strategic  
Framework 

Stobart Group has refocused  
its strategy to ensure its two  
core businesses can respond  
to opportunities in a 
post-COVID-19 world.
London Southend Airport aims to provide a passenger focused 
friction-free airport experience that delivers the confidence and the 
right economics to attract airlines and increase passenger numbers.

This means:
• providing an attractive cost base and hub capacity for airlines;
• delivering a spacious, clean and safe environment for 

passengers; and
• investing in airport development in step with new airline and 

passenger demand.

Stobart Energy intends to build on its position as the UK’s largest 
supplier of waste wood fuel. This means:
• fulfilling its long-term contracts and working to ultimately supply 

2 million tonnes per annum of waste wood to energy plants; and
• maintaining a market leading supply-chain and associated 

infrastructure.

To achieve these goals Stobart Group has established a strategic 
framework based on four future-proofed pillars.

Strategic pillars

Strong commercial 
partnerships
We will deliver our growth 
ambitions by working closely 
with great partners.

Investment in 
great people
Stobart Group wants to attract 
great people and give them the 
support they need to flourish.

Development of the 
right infrastructure
We are investing in the right 
infrastructure to enable us to 
deliver our growth ambitions.

A compelling      
customer proposition
Our aim is to have businesses that 
reflect what customers want and 
increase the longevity of our 
commercial relationships.

We want to build on our core 
businesses’ strong, customer-
focused positions in their 
respective markets.
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– Stobart Group will support its 
Aviation division to develop 
its existing airline partnerships 
and seek new partners. It will 
also help to build further 
relationships with renewable 
energy plants.

Energy
Stobart Energy revamped its Board post 
year end to ensure it has the right skills in 
place to support its next phase of growth. 
Key appointments include a new Chief 
Executive and Chief Financial Officer. 
More details can be found on page 34.

Energy
Stobart Energy completed the development 
of its 30,000-tonne Pollington storage site. 
The transport fleet has also been renewed 
with the majority of its 150 vehicles now 
under two years old.

Energy
Stobart Energy is identifying new 
opportunities to work alongside a strategic 
partner to utilise its existing infrastructure 
and reputation for delivering waste wood to 
supply different types of energy from waste 
materials to renewable energy plants.

Aviation
Airports
London Southend Airport added valuable 
partnerships with Ryanair, Wizz Air, Loganair 
and its global logistics customer joining 
existing valuable partners easyJet and The 
Restaurant Group in operating at the airport.

Aviation Services
Stobart Aviation Services welcomed 
Norwegian, Aurigny, Air France-KLM, 
Scandinavian Airlines (SAS), Eurowings, 
SN Brussels and Air Baltic as new partners 
at Manchester Airport.

Energy
Stobart Energy’s operations continue to 
mature with over 300 partners helping to 
source the waste fuel that it supplies to 
renewable energy plants across the UK 
and Ireland.

Aviation
Airports
Luke Hayhoe was a key appointment 
as Business Development Director. 
He joined from BA Cityflyer, where he 
gained 16 years’ experience most recently 
as General Manager.

Aviation Services
Stobart Aviation Services appointed 
over 300 people in the year to support its 
rapid growth and made key operational 
appointments as it commenced activity 
at new airports.

Aviation
Airports
London Southend Airport introduced a 
new, fully equipped logistics warehouse, 
automated boarding card readers, aircraft 
parking stands and extended the passenger 
walkway with pre-boarding zones.

Aviation Services
Stobart Aviation Services deployed new 
equipment as it launched operations for 
new partners at Manchester, Edinburgh and 
Glasgow airports.

Aviation
Airports
London Southend Airport has established a 
customer proposition based on delivering 
quick, easy and happy passenger 
experiences. The airport cemented its 
reputation by winning the AOA Best airport 
in Britain under 3mppa for the fourth time.

Aviation Services
Stobart Aviation Services extended its 
reputation for reliability and logistics expertise 
through opening new bases in Manchester, 
Edinburgh and Glasgow airports.

– Stobart Group is continuing 
to put in place the right 
infrastructure to support 
great people. This includes 
launching a new set of people 
values, introducing talent 
attraction and development 
systems, and improving its 
internal communications 
infrastructure.

– New funds coming into 
the business will be used 
primarily to develop London 
Southend Airport in step with 
customer demand. Further 
funds will be used to maintain 
the Stobart Energy fleet and 
to invest in Group IT systems.

– Stobart Group will work 
across its divisions to ensure 
it maintains a culture for 
delivering great customer 
experiences and a reputation 
for being a reliable partner.

Progress in the year Plans for the coming year
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Key Performance 
Indicators

We assess the Group’s performance according 
to a wide range of measures and indicators. 
Our key performance indicators (KPIs) help the 
Board and executive management team measure 
performance against our strategic priorities and 
business plans.

Aviation revenue benefited from 
a significant contribution from 
Stobart Aviation Services, which 
secured a number of new airline 
contracts in the year.

Increased revenue from Stobart 
Energy reflected the increased 
volume of waste wood that 
it supplied to renewable 
energy plants.

Passenger numbers increased 
following the start of operations  
at London Southend Airport with 
Ryanair, Wizz Air and Loganair 
and the maturing easyJet routes.

All of the plants that Stobart 
Energy has contracts to supply 
have now successfully completed 
commissioning and are fully 
operational. This led to 
an increase in the total tonnes 
supplied during the year.

The main driver for the increase 
in underlying EBITDA was the 
improved profitability of London 
Southend Airport. However, the 
division made a loss before tax of 
£9.8m, reflecting new business 
and contract set-up costs.

The increased profitability reflects 
the improved operational 
performance of its renewable 
energy plant customers. The 
division also made a profit before 
tax of £5.2m.

Underlying EBITDA per passenger 
increased due to the further 
extended retail offering, optimised 
train and car park revenues and 
a contribution from the newly 
commenced logistics operation 
at London Southend Airport.

MW per hour reflects the total 
output of energy from the top 
ten plants that Stobart Energy 
supplies. That output has 
increased in line with the improved 
operation of those plants, which 
increased from 54% plant 
availability in the year to 2019, 
compared to 67% this year.

 Aviation  Energy
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Revenue from continuing 
operations has grown by 15.9% to 
£170.2m. Revenue from our key 
growth divisions, Aviation and 
Energy, has increased by 27% to 
£133.1m. The Rail & Civils division 
recognised a revenue reduction of 
21% following significant delays in 
Network Rail issuing Control Period 
6 contracts.

The Reporting of Injuries, 
Diseases and Dangerous 
Occurrences Regulations 
(RIDDOR) 2013, regulates the 
statutory obligation to report 
deaths, injuries, diseases and 
dangerous occurrences that take 
place at work or in connection 
with work. The reported figure is 
arrived at by dividing the number 
of RIDDORs by the number 
of hours worked, multiplied 
by 100,000.

The loss is principally driven  
by non-cash transactions 
including impairments (£101.9m), 
amortisation of brand (£7.5m) and 
equity accounted losses (£9.8m). 
Significant cash items include new 
business and contract set-up 
costs, and litigation and claims 
totalling £20.1m.

The key movements in net debt 
reflect the £53.1m of bonds that 
are exchangeable into ordinary 
shares in the capital of Eddie 
Stobart Logistics plc and the 
adoption of IFRS 16 which 
created lease liabilities of £78.2m. 
These liabilities have replaced 
operating lease charges for  
nearly all leases held.

Our main two operations 
continued to make progress 
with London Southend Airport 
reporting a significant rise 
in passenger numbers and 
Stobart Energy benefiting from 
all but one of 30 energy plants 
becoming operational.

The Group’s key measure of 
profitability increased by 48.2%  
to £16.0m. Reflecting growth in 
our core aviation and energy 
business, the £5.6m positive 
impact of IFRS 16, and the loss 
made by Rail & Civils whose 
performance was hampered by  
its continued exposure to a poor 
performing legacy project. 

These figures for CO2 represent 
the equivalent amounts of CO2 
for greenhouse gases. For more 
information see page 49 

The underlying loss per share 
is based on the underlying loss 
after tax before non-underlying 
items. Refer to the consolidated 
income statement on page 122 
for more information.

The loss per share reflects the 
loss after tax including non-
underlying items. Refer to the 
consolidated income statement 
on page 122 for further details.

 Group: Safety and environmental

 Group: Financial

1 Restated figure to reflect improvements in 
data collection and methodology for 
Scope 1 and Scope 2 carbon emissions.
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Strategy  
in Action
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Case study

Taking advantage 
of opportunity
The teams at London 
Southend Airport, Stobart 
Aviation Services and 
Stobart Rail & Civils came 
together to quickly respond 
to a new opportunity 
presented by a global 
logistics organisation in 
July 2019.

A global logistics organisation wanted to 
utilise London Southend Airport’s runway 
to fly in goods from European locations 
including Spain and Italy. It needed its 
aircraft to then be quickly and efficiently 
unloaded, with goods processed and 
transferred via the cargo operation.

Those goods would then be picked up 
by the logistics organisation’s vehicles 
and taken to its network of UK distribution 
centres. A reverse process would 
then be required to export goods.

To take advantage of the opportunity and 
secure the contract, Stobart Rail & Civils 
redeveloped an existing hangar located on 
the opposite side of the runway from the 
passenger terminal. This new hangar layout 
was designed by Stobart Aviation Services’ 
teams to maximise efficiency and included 
a clear division between landside and 
airside logistics operations, storage areas, 
marshalling lanes and driver reception.

A road vehicle loading and unloading bay 
was completed within the warehouse, 
allowing for quick and efficient operations. 
This section included the introduction of 
three loading docks creating segregated 
forklift and driver only warehouse entrances.

Stobart Aviation Services put in place 
experienced and dedicated on-site teams 
ready to handle aircraft and manage loading 
and offloading, on-time-every-time in a 
controlled way. Those teams were then 
added to with recruitment fares that resulted 
in 200+ new people joining Stobart Aviation 
Services. These new members of the team 
were quickly appointed, onboarded and 
trained. This included training from the 
London Southend Airport security team 
to ensure logistics and border security.

Stobart Aviation Services also invested in 
specialist equipment including forklifts, 
powered pallet trucks, hi-loaders and 
general ramp equipment to support  
the operations.

This investment in infrastructure, processes, 
people and skills meant that the Group 
was able to secure a partnership with 
a major global logistics customer and 
move from first contact to the start 
of operation in just four months.

Since launching operations, the 
combined teams at London Southend 
Airport and Stobart Aviation Services 
have been able to exceed customer 
expectations and establish a reputation 
for on-time performance and reliability.

The outbreak of COVID-19 put the 
importance of this operation in to sharp 
focus, with operations continuing and 
teams given key worker status. During this 
challenging time, the logistics operation 
was able to safeguard jobs associated with 
the operation, ensure important goods 
were able to safely come in and out of the 
country and play a key role in maintaining 
UK exports and supporting the economy.

See page 32 for more information

Since launching operations 
with our global logistics 
customer in October 2019, 
the combined teams at 
London Southend Airport 
and Stobart Aviation 
Services have been 
able to exceed customer 
expectations and establish 
a reputation for on-time 
performance and reliability.

Strategic link

Development 
of the right 
infrastructure
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in Action
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Case study

Building  
the right skill set

Neil Spencer is the final member of the 
Executive Board, in his role as Commercial 
Director. He will work alongside Alan and 
Gareth in our existing core operations, 
focusing on our relationships and contracts 
with our power plant customers.

The management team was also 
strengthened by the permanent appointment 
of Simon Cartwright as Logistics Director, 
the promotion of Aaron Whitrow to Head of 
Operations, and the appointment of Nick 
O’Sullivan as Head of Risk & Compliance.

These appointments followed the decisions 
of Ben Whawell, Alex Jessup and Steve 
Potter to depart the business. It is important 
to recognise their immense contribution 
to delivering on our strategy to date. 

Stobart Energy also launched a new people 
strategy, aimed at uniting everyone around 
a single goal to create a thriving business 
and a positive working environment. 
The team put in place initiatives to 
support and develop individuals’ skills 
and ensure hard work is recognised.

Improved team communication was put 
in place through People Forums and 
values development, and training and 
development is being refreshed as a fit 
for purpose performance process.

These actions have been taken as Stobart 
Energy is ultimately a people business, 
reliant on having talented and motivated 
people to deliver on its contracts and secure 
new ones. By refreshing the team, promoting 
existing talent and continuously improving 
employee policies and engagement, Stobart 
Energy can drive its strategy forward with 
confidence in the people behind the wheel.

Stobart Energy invested in 
new senior leadership and 
promoted colleagues to 
establish an Executive 
Board with the right skill set 
to progress its next phase 
of growth.

Richard Jenkins will join the Executive 
Board as Chief Executive in June 2020. 
He has significant experience in the energy 
from waste sector, having managed the 
Greater Manchester waste contract, initially 
for Viridor and most recently for Suez.

Gareth Aylward joined Stobart Energy 
in May 2020 as Finance Director. He 
joined from Ornua Co-operative Limited 
where he held a number of senior 
finance roles. Gareth has significant 
M&A experience to support growth.

These senior appointments are 
complemented by promotions for existing 
team members. Gareth Vaughan moved 
into the role of Supply Chain Director, 
overseeing procurement and transport. 
Gareth has worked in a wide variety of roles 
across the Group for a number of years.

Alan Whitrow formally joined the Executive 
Board as Operations Director. Alan 
joined the business in June 2016 and 
has been instrumental in developing and 
driving our operations across the UK.

See page 34 for more information

By refreshing the team, 
promoting existing talent 
and continuously improving 
employee policies and 
engagement, Stobart Energy 
can drive its strategy 
forward with confidence 
in the people behind 
the wheel.

Strategic link

Investment in 
great people
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Operational Review

Aviation

Both London Southend 
Airport and Stobart Aviation 
Services now have great 
airline partnerships. They 
deliver first-class customer 
experiences and they have 
exceptional management 
teams in place.

Glyn Jones
Chief Executive, Stobart Aviation

Progress highlights

– London Southend Airport welcomed the arrival of Ryanair, Wizz Air and 
Loganair flights in 2019, with easyJet routes becoming more established.

– Costa Coffee and WHSmith retail outlets opened landside in the 
departures terminal.

– Activity at the airport’s global logistics operation commenced in 
October 2019.

– Business Development Director, Luke Hayhoe and Stobart Jet Centre 
Managing Director, Fiona Langton were appointed.

– Stobart Aviation Services appointed over 300 employees and opened 
new bases at Manchester, Edinburgh and Glasgow airports.

Financial highlights

Passenger numbers (LSA)

2.1m
Underlying EBITDA

£8.6m 
Loss before tax

£9.8m 

Underlying EBITDA per passenger

£4.33
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London Southend Airport made 
considerable progress throughout 
2019, ending the year as the UK’s 
fastest growing airport according to Civil 
Aviation Authority data. However, there 
is no escaping the challenges that the 
aviation industry and the world as a whole 
continues to face since our year end.

Since the outbreak of the COVID-19 
pandemic, London Southend Airport has 
worked to support its airline partners, as 
they reduce operations to zero in the short 
term and ground their fleets. A large number 
of aircraft were subsequently parked at 
the airport and the key now is to maintain 
strong relationships so that we are well 
placed to return to normal operations 
as soon as services are reinstated.

The strength of those relationships 
became clear in 2019. We have a long-
standing partnership with easyJet and 
its four based aircraft saw a strong load 
factor performance across the year. In 
April 2019, we welcomed three Ryanair 
aircraft, flying 16 routes. In October 2019, 
we announced that Wizz Air would be 
operating three routes from Winter 2019/20.

Along with the major low-cost carriers, 
we developed new relationships with 
Loganair and FlyOne and all of this 
helped us to record a 43.1% increase 
in passenger numbers in the year, 
to 2.1 million (2019: 1.5 million). 

Of course, like everyone within the aviation 
industry, we were greatly saddened by the 
news that Flybe was entering administration. 
It is important to acknowledge the 
great customer experience delivered 
by their more than 2,000 employees.

The 43.1% increase in passenger 
numbers during the year was achieved 
without compromising our own customer 
experience. Over 84% of flights departed 
on time (up 5% on last year) and our quick 
and easy passenger experience was 
maintained. Passengers waited in security 
queues for just 124 seconds on average. 
Getting passengers through security quickly 
meant they had more time to enjoy our 
growing range of retail outlets. During the 
year, we added Dixons and hope to shortly 
add Boots to a range that already included 
Costa Coffee, Giraffe, WHSmith, Bourgee 
and our bespoke pub, The Navigator.

The quick and easy passenger experience 
and growing retail offering created even 
more happy passenger experiences. The 
airport recorded an 84% Happy or Not 
score during the year. That reputation 
for great passenger experience will be 
important as we work to attract airlines and 
passengers once flights return in earnest.

It’s not just the airport itself that made 
progress. New early and late trains 
and bus services were introduced. We 
changed our car parking policies to 
introduce a new fee structure. And Stobart 
Jet Centre also continued to improve its 
brand awareness and appointed a new 
Managing Director, Fiona Langton.

These changes, the improvement in income 
from passengers travelling to the airport, 
and the wider range of retail outlets all 
helped to increase passenger income. 
Underlying EBITDA per passenger, a key
metric for profitability, improved 36.6% to
£4.33 (2019: £3.17). This, combined with the 
43.1% increase in passenger numbers, led 
to a 73.8% increase in underlying EBITDA

for the Aviation division to £8.6m (2019: 
£4.9m). The Aviation division however 
made a total loss before tax of £9.8m, 
with almost all of this loss reflecting new 
business and contract set-up costs.

Underlying EBITDA in future periods will also 
benefit from contributions from our global 
logistics operation. This new service, which 
was announced in October 2019, brings 
together London Southend Airport’s facilities 
and Stobart Aviation Services’ expertise to 
support the import and export of goods.

That agreement sees London Southend 
provide airport services, with Stobart 
Aviation Services using its logistics 
heritage to then move goods to and 
from our customer’s aircraft and 
through a newly converted warehouse 
quickly, safely and securely.

Stobart Aviation Services enjoyed 
progress throughout the year. It now 
provides airline services across 
London Southend, London Stansted, 
Manchester, Edinburgh and Glasgow 
airports, working with 16 airlines including 
easyJet, Scandinavian Airlines (SAS), 
Loganair, Wizz Air, Titan Airlines, Ryanair, 
Norwegian, Eurowings and SN Brussels.

Both London Southend Airport and 
Stobart Aviation Services now have great 
airline partnerships. They deliver a first-
class customer experience and they 
have experienced management teams in 
place. These qualities combined mean 
we are well positioned to play a leading 
role in the recovery of the aviation sector 
once the COVID-19 crisis passes.
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Operational Review

Energy
Progress highlights

– The renewable energy plants that Stobart Energy supplies have now 
completed the commissioning phase.

– Stobart Energy completed the development of its Pollington site which 
can store 30,000 tonnes of product. The transport fleet was also renewed 
with the majority of its 150 vehicles now under two years old.

– A new Board was appointed, led by new Chief Executive Richard Jenkins, 
formally of Suez and Gareth Aylward who joined from Ornua Co-operative 
as Finance Director.

Financial highlightsStobart Energy has the 
infrastructure in place, a more 
reliable waste wood supply 
chain and renewable energy 
plant partners operating 
more consistently.

Richard Jenkins
Chief Executive, Stobart Energy

Tonnes supplied

1.5m
Underlying EBITDA

£24.2m 
Profit before tax

£5.2m 

Revenue

£76.3m
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Stobart Energy continued to make 
operational progress. This is largely 
due to the maturing state of the 
renewable energy plants it supplies, 
which have now successfully completed 
commissioning and are fully operational.

With plants now operating more consistently, 
the volume of waste wood that it was able 
to supply to plants increased to 1.5 million 
tonnes, representing a 11.5% improvement 
on the previous year (2019: 1.3 million). 
Stobart Energy finished the year delivering 
33,000 tonnes per week of fuel, equivalent to 
a run rate of 1.7 million tonnes per annum.

While the majority of the renewable 
energy plants operated at or above 
contractual specifications, the plant 
at Tilbury experienced a seven-month 
unexpected outage caused by a dust 
explosion. This meant that the plant was 
not in a position to receive its contracted 
supply of waste fuel, leading to in excess of 
100,000 tonnes of raw fuel being diverted 
across the UK, incurring costs. Stobart 
Energy has protections against loss of 
revenue and additional associated costs 
through the ‘take or pay’ provisions of 
its contract. Finalising the exact amount 
owed under these provisions is ongoing.

The one plant that did not reach the 
commissioning phase and therefore 
qualify for ROC subsidies is Port Clarence. 
Stobart Energy had a contract in place 
to supply 250,000 tonnes a year to 
the plant. We secured compensation 
from Port Clarence to reflect the lost 
revenue associated to that contract.

Despite the challenges experienced with 
these two plants, the consistent operation 
across the majority of plant partners, 
alongside the contractual protections for the 
Tilbury outage led to a 25.9% increase in 
underlying EBITDA to £24.2m (2019 £19.2m). 
We also made a profit before tax of £5.2m.

The division is now well placed to 
improve its financial performance further 
with the capital investment phase of its 
development now largely complete. The 
majority of the infrastructure that Stobart 
Energy requires to deliver on its long-term 
contracts is now in place. During the year, 
we completed the development of our 
Pollington site which can store 30,000 
tonnes of product. The transport fleet 
was also renewed with the majority of our 
150 vehicles now under two years old.

With that investment in place, the focus 
now turns to optimising our supply chain 
and taking more direct control of the source 
of our fuel. Those supply chains are now 
more robust having recovered from the 
challenges brought about by the delay to 
commissioning experienced in previous 
years. As a result, inbound volumes of 
supply were fairly consistent during the year.

However, the gate fees Stobart Energy 
is able to charge third parties for taking 
wood from them was variable and reduced 
significantly from November 2019 to the 
end of the financial year. We believe this 
reflects the significant increase in demand 
for waste wood caused by more plants 
reaching full operations at the same 
time. This demand has now peaked, and 
we expect gate fees to rise gradually as 
the market stabilises post-COVID-19.

The new financial year has brought 
fresh challenges. While the demand for 
clean energy continues, the sources 
of wood waste was constricted by the 
slowdown in construction and the closure 
of Household Waste and Recycling 
Centres. This situation however has 
drawn into sharp focus the benefits of 
supplying diversified waste products.

Stobart Energy now has the infrastructure 
in place, a more reliable waste wood 
supply chain and renewable energy plant 
partners operating more consistently. In the 
coming periods, Stobart Energy will explore 
further opportunities to utilise its existing 
infrastructure and supply chain expertise 
to identify new opportunities alongside a 
strategic partner to support the collection, 
processing and supply of different 
sources of waste fuel to new partners.

On a personal note, I would like to add 
my thanks to the Stobart Energy team 
for their dedication and teamwork as 
we navigated the COVID-19 crisis. I am 
delighted to have joined the Stobart Energy 
team and excited about taking the core 
business forward and establishing new 
opportunities over the coming years. 
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Operational Review

Stobart Rail & Civils
Stobart Rail & Civils has been making 
significant losses in recent years, largely 
as a result of unprofitable legacy contracts. 
Despite the admirable efforts of the current 
management team, they have been 
unable to turn this position around. As at 
29 February 2020, the existing Rail & Civils 
contracts were mostly unwound, with only 
one material legacy contract outstanding. 
This contract relates to the Newton Heath 
project with Northern Rail, for which we 
have derecognised £3.6m of revenue 
and recognised a £0.6m provision in the 
financial year ending 29 February 2020. 

COVID-19 has adversely impacted all 
of the trading divisions in the Group 
and has exacerbated the loss-making 
position of Rail & Civils. There is no 
prospect of the business making a profit 
in the short-term given the impacts of the 
COVID-19 pandemic. Given this outlook, 
the Group needs to ensure cash going 
forward is utilised to create returns for 
our shareholders. It has therefore taken 
steps to address the risk of further losses 
and taken the decision to exit the Rail & 
Civils business by the end of FY21. To 
that end, the Group is in active dialogue 
with a number of interested parties.

Non-Strategic Infrastructure
Stobart Group owns Carlisle Lake District 
Airport and a number of brownfield 
development properties across the UK. 
Stobart Group will realise value from its 
property assets in the next three years.  
As at 29 February 2020, the book value 
of Infrastructure assets held is £47.3m 
(2019: £82.6m) following write downs 
and disposals. 

Investments
Eddie Stobart Logistics
Stobart Group is an 11.8% shareholder 
in Eddie Stobart Logistics, which 
returned to trading on the London Stock 
Exchange following its suspension. 

On the 20 May 2020, the Group disposed 
of its Eddie Stobart and Stobart trademarks 
and designs to Eddie Stobart Limited 
for cash consideration of £10.0m. That 
sale resulted in an immediate cash 
receipt of £6.0m with a further £2.5m 
due by December 2020, and the 
remainder payable in 36 months.

Stobart Group is proud of the brand it has 
built over many years. It is an iconic and 
highly recognisable name, associated 
with great customer service. However, 
the brand is primarily associated with 
the highly visible Eddie Stobart lorries. 
This has often created confusion for 
investors and other stakeholders between 
the Eddie Stobart business and Stobart 
Group‘s focus on developing a London 
airport and its energy business. 

By selling the brand we were able to bring in 
cash immediately and start to differentiate 
our businesses, establishing a new name 
that reflects our future. Stobart Group will 
change its name prior to February 2021, and 
is in the process of identifying a new name. 
There are a number of Stobart divisions that 
will continue to use the brand for up to 36 
months and this will be licensed on a royalty 
free basis from Eddie Stobart Logistics. 

Connect Airways
Connect Airways was made up of a 
consortium of shareholders encompassing 
Cyrus Capital (40%), Virgin Atlantic (30%) 
and Stobart Group (30%) that received 
EU merger clearance to take control of the 
assets of Flybe Limited on 5 July 2019.
 
Flybe was a subsidiary of Connect 
Airways, and we were deeply disappointed 
to announce on 5 March 2020 that the 
airline ceased trading and was to enter 
administration. Flybe had shown promising 
signs of a turnaround despite the delay
to receiving merger control clearance. 
However, given the COVID-19 pandemic 
and despite the best efforts of all, the 
Connect Airways consortium was no 
longer able to continue to fund it.

With Flybe ceasing to trade, Connect 
Airways also entered administration. Loans 
to Connect Airways have subsequently been 
impaired as they are no longer deemed 
recoverable. The impairment of the loans 
totals £45.1m and is presented on the 
impairment line within non-underlying items. 
The results of the joint venture received 
prior to administration are recognised in the 
consolidated income statement on the share 
of post-tax profits of associates and joint 
ventures line within non-underlying EBITDA.

Stobart Air
Stobart Group’s initial investment In 
Connect Airways was largely made up 
through the sale of Stobart Air and its 
aircraft leasing business, Propius. Unlike 
Flybe, Stobart Air was not a wholly owned 
subsidiary of Connect Airways, with 
Stobart Air’s Employee Benefit Trust (EBT) 
controlling 60% of the voting, meaning its 
ongoing ability to trade was not directly 
impacted by Flybe’s administration. 
 
However, Stobart Group had remained 
as a guarantor for various obligations 
that Propius had entered in to in April 
2017 following a sale and leaseback of 
aircraft arrangement, resulting in annual 
commitments under aircraft leases totalling 
$15.4m per annum until April 2027 with a 
break clause in April 2023. Guarantees had 
also been granted for obligations owed by 
Stobart Air. These guarantees remained with 
Stobart Group following the completion of 
the sale to Connect Airways, as the holders 
of the guarantees were not prepared to see 
them released considering the perceived 
covenant quality of Connect Airways. 

In light of these continuing guarantees, 
the Board of Stobart Group reviewed 
all options to safeguard the future of 
Stobart Air and Propius following the 
administration of Connect Airways. The 
Board concluded the best course of action 
was to buy back Stobart Air and Propius, 
and it announced an agreement with EY, 
the administrators of Connect Airways on 
27 April 2020. Doing so gave Stobart Group 
effective control over the obligations. 

The intention is that Stobart Group will 
continue its current positive dialogue 
with Aer Lingus to conclude a long-
term franchise extension and ensure 
that the businesses are put on a sound 
financial footing. Stobart Group intends 
to exit its involvement in a controlled 
way at the appropriate time.
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ESG:
Materiality Analysis and 
Sustainability Strategy

Nick Dilworth
Chief Operating Officer  
(Chair of ESG Working Group)

During 2019, we invested  
in establishing a robust  
ESG framework to drive our 
contribution to sustainability 
across the business, both at  
a Group and divisional level. 
The ESG framework will help 
to ensure that we continue  
to grow in the right way  
with careful management of 
our impacts and maximising 
the benefits our business 
brings. For Stobart Group, 
our approach to ESG is a 
journey of continuous 
improvement and engagement 
with all our stakeholders, 
internal and external. 

Introduction to our
Environmental, Social 
and Governance (ESG)
framework 

The ESG framework we have established 
will ensure we have policies in place 
that support us in continuing to operate 
as a responsible business; guide the 
sustainable development of our business 
and the regions we serve; and continue 
to deliver business priorities at the same 
time to ensure we continue to grow. 

We will achieve this by doing our part 
to protect the environment by making 
it central to every decision we make, 
ensure we build better connections with 
our stakeholders and enable all parts 
of the Group to benefit from growth.

Our delivery of the ESG framework will 
be supported by effective governance 
with the Board monitoring our progress 
and holding us to account for delivery. 
We have appointed an external adviser to 
help us put in place the right framework 
and set up an ESG Steering Group with 
representatives from across the business 
and our functional experts. The ESG 
Steering Group is chaired by myself, 
and includes our Group People Director, 
Communications Director, Company 
Secretary, Group Head of Risk and Safety, 
Chief Executive of Stobart Energy and 
the Chief Executive of Stobart Aviation. 

We have created an ESG dashboard 
which will monitor our progress on delivery 
against our ESG framework. The ESG 
dashboard will be used internally to manage 
our performance and will be reviewed 
regularly by the ESG Steering Group and 
the Board. We will publish information 
annually on our ESG performance and it 
is our intention to expand the information 
we track and report over time, and 
ultimately, report on a quarterly basis. 

In many ways, our ESG framework builds 
on the rigorous management processes 
we have already established across 
the business. This includes our suite of 
policies and guidance that our business 
and employees are required to follow. 
Where appropriate we certify management 
systems to external standards including 
the ISO 9001 Quality Management 
Standard, ISO 14001 Environmental 
Management Standard and ISO 45001 
Health & Safety Management Standard.

ESG Steering Group
Our ESG Steering Group was established 
in 2019 with a mandate to set ESG strategy, 
drive ESG implementation and monitor 
ESG performance. It has been instrumental 
in developing our new ESG framework 
and the roll-out of this across the Group. 

I chair the ESG Steering Group and act as 
Board sponsor. Membership includes key 
business leaders and functional experts 
who have the responsibility for implementing 
ESG across our operations. The ESG 
Steering Group will regularly consult with 
People Forum employees, to ensure our 
ESG work is relevant to all employees 
within the Group. Going forward, the 
ESG Steering Group will meet regularly, 
at least every quarter and ESG will be a 
standing agenda item for the Stobart Group 
Management Board and the Board. 

As part of the process, a revised ESG Policy 
has been prepared which replaces our 
existing Corporate Social Responsibility 
Policy and will be rolled out across 
the Group. 

It might sound a cliché, but I genuinely 
believe that a business that has a common 
purpose and clear values will benefit all 
our stakeholders. I look forward to sharing 
our ESG journey with you going forward.
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ESG: Materiality Analysis and  
Sustainability Strategy continued

Materiality assessment
Stobart Group is committing to ongoing 
communication regarding its ESG 
performance against its strategy and 
providing appropriate disclosure.

To ensure we prioritise the ESG issues we 
impact most and that influence the decision-
making of our stakeholders, we conducted a 
formal materiality analysis in 2019. We plan 
to repeat this process at regular intervals 
going forward to ensure that we continue 
to identify and act on priority issues.

We used the results of the materiality 
analysis to inform our updated ESG strategy 
and to help us decide on where to focus 
our internal resource. The results have also 
been used to shape our disclosure. The 
materiality assessment integrates with our 
Enterprise Risk Management process by 
using aligned risk criteria. The results will be 
considered in our enterprise risk process. 

The materiality assessment was 
undertaken by an expert adviser. 
They identified the issues we focus on 
within the business, those prioritised 
by companies in our peer group, and 
by standard setters. They interviewed 
our business leaders and experts, 
together with a number of our external 
stakeholders to gather their perspectives. 

The issues identified were then scored 
on the degree of stakeholder interest 
and potential business impact. The 
results were placed on a matrix, with the 
relative positions indicating the materiality 
of the issues facing our business. 

The results were reviewed and agreed by 
the ESG steering group with representatives 
from key business and functional areas. 

The results arising from the materiality 
assessment (shown in the materiality 
matrix below) will now be used in a 
variety of ways. Primarily the results will 
be used to inform our new ESG strategic 
framework, which will be reviewed and 
managed by the management team 
to ensure progress is made. Key data 
items will also be used within our Group 
Risk Register to track key issues. 

Our ESG performance and standards 
are ultimately the responsibility of the 
Board with the day-to-day management 
and monitoring being overseen by 
the Stobart Group Management 
Board, with Nick Dilworth as lead.
 

 Materiality matrix

S
ta

ke
h

o
ld

er
 in

te
re

st
 in

 is
su

e

Business impactLess significant

L
es

s 
si

g
n

ifi
ca

n
t

More significant

M
o

re
 s

ig
n

ifi
ca

n
t

Focus areas:
 Environment
 Social
 Governance

 Climate change

 Noise
 Security and  

 passenger safety

 Privacy & marketing Ethical business  
 practices

 Health and safety

 Employment engagement,  
 development and training

 Supporting  
 sustainable transport
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Developing our people

We help our people to flourish and grow  
in an inclusive and supportive environment.

Supporting sustainable communities

We create sustainable, long-term opportunities  
in our communities to support social and 
economic development.

Taking climate action

We minimise our emissions and support  
the development of low carbon infrastructure,  
to help the UK deliver on its net-zero carbon 
emissions target.

Excelling in health & wellbeing,  
safety and security

We are committed to the health & wellbeing,  
safety and security of our people, customers  
and operations.

Minimising our environmental footprint

We minimise our impact on the environment  
and aim to manage noise, protect air quality,  
and support the circular economy.

 Our ESG framework

See page 46 for more information

See page 48 for more information

See page 52 for more information

See page 55 for more information

See page 41 for more information
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We have identified metrics aligned to our new ESG framework 
to enable us to monitor and measure our performance against 
our sustainability strategy going forward. We report here 
on our performance during the year and will be providing 
comparative figures along with additional metrics for future 
years, including supporting sustainable communities. 

Minimising our  
environmental footprint

Excelling in health &  
wellbeing, safety and security

ESG: Materiality Analysis and  
Sustainability Strategy continued

Our  
performance  
in 2019

Taking climate action % electricity from renewable sources

19.4%
Tonnes CO2e per £m of revenue

146.5

Number of RIDDOR classified incidents

18
Accident frequency rate

5.67

RIDDOR accident/incident rate

0.59
Number of accidents

174
Reduction in incidents

3.2%
Volume and % of recovered waste used 
for energy feedstock by Stobart Energy

1.2 million tonnes 
Waste diverted from landfill to turn into fuel 

1.4 million tonnes 
Total produced 

83%  
Supply is waste diverted from landfill 

Group waste recycled or  
converted to energy (%)

99.5%  
Reportable environmental incidents

0

Developing our people

Total number of employees 
(Full-time: 81.30% – part-time: 18.70%)

1,482

Employees with more than five years’ 
service (23% employees with more than  
five years’ service)

339
Average hours training  
per year per employee

55

Attrition: 
Leavers within six months of start date 

233
Leavers within twelve months of start date 

377 
Attrition rate: 21.6%
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Developing our people
We help our people to flourish and grow in an 
inclusive and supportive environment.

Engaging and developing our employees
Our aim is to create a highly engaged workforce where  
all individuals feel valued, have the skills they need to meet  
their personal development goals and are proud to be part  
of the Stobart family.

Promoting diversity and inclusivity
Our aim is to promote an inclusive environment where  
all are respected, valued and supported.

Our implementation approach
Our work to develop our people is guided by our HR policies and 
frameworks. We have established People Forums in each business 
area to allow us to understand perspectives of the team and to work 
together to identify opportunities to improve employee engagement 
and development. Every two years we complete a business wide 
survey of employee engagement to take stock of our performance 
and identify opportunities to improve. Our approach to promoting 
diversity is described in our HR policies. We apply these policies 
across the business and recognise the importance of how we 
support diversity in our recruitment and people development 
processes. We monitor our gender pay gap and use the results  
to identify opportunities to improve our performance. 

Our plan to implement our ESG framework

 Case study

The benefits of a 
successful traineeship 
programme

We strive to create the right opportunities 
for our colleagues and encourage 
their progression within the business. 
As a Group, we also believe in the 
importance of identifying new, promising 
talents and investing in their personal 
and professional development. 
The career of Alex Monk is a great 
example of this commitment. 

Alex joined Stobart Rail & Civils’ 
traineeship programme in 2016 with 
no experience in engineering project 
management, having previously worked 
in retail merchandising. Following an initial 
period of training, Alex worked to become 
a fully qualified P6 Planner, which is a 
specialised project management software 
tool used worldwide in the engineering 
and infrastructure sectors. Thanks to 
her hard work and dedicated support 
from Stobart, today Alex continues to 
rise through the ranks and is now an 
Assistant Possession Manager and just 
one of the many examples of Stobart’s 
employees who have flourished after a 
start in our traineeship programmes.

We want our people to flourish in a  
supportive and inclusive environment. 
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Activities and
performance

 Our employees

Employee engagement
Our 2019 Employee Survey told us that 
our employees wanted us to review 
our reward and benefits packages, 
wanted better communication and more 
robust health & wellbeing interventions, 
particularly stress and mental health 
provisions from the Company. 

Since then, the People team have been 
working closely within each division to 
create and deliver targeted action plans 
which explore opportunities to improve 
engagement across the Group with the 
intention of making Stobart Group a 
greater place to work for our employees.

We have relaunched our People Forums in 
each division of the business and provided 
the People Champions with comprehensive 
training from an industry-leading external 
provider to help them fulfil their roles in the 
best way possible. 

Our new Occupational Health and  
Employee Assistance Programme will  
not only support our employees physical  
wellbeing but their mental wellbeing too;  
a first for the business and marks a genuine 

step change in the way we can assist 
employees when they need help the most.

To further support our Employee 
Engagement Strategy we now have a 
designated Non-Executive Director with 
responsibility for workforce engagement and 
who will periodically attend People Forums.

In addition to a designated Non-Executive 
Director, throughout this financial year we 
will continue with initiatives that ensure the 
Board is focused on workforce engagement. 
These will include:
• Regular updates from the Group People 

Director and expanding this to include 
employee representatives from the  
People Forums.

• Monitoring key employee metrics.
• Biannual employee survey.

Meet some of our People Champions

Francis Pollitt
Group Accountant

Representing: Group Finance and IT
My role involves consolidating the 
accounts from each of the divisions 
to produce monthly management 
accounts and Board report.

These provide senior management 
and the Board with up-to-date financial 
information to assist them in their 
decision-making. Together with the rest 
of the Group Finance team I assist with 
the audit process and the production 
of the Annual Report and Accounts.

I also do the day-to-day accounting, 
budget and reforecasts for several of 
the Group companies and provide 
ad hoc financial analysis when 
requested by senior management.

Devina Murphy
Company Secretary Assistant

Representing: Company  
Secretariat and Legal teams
My role is to provide support and 
assistance to the Company Secretary 
on all company secretarial and 
corporate governance matters. 

This includes preparing for and assisting 
with all Board and Committee meetings 
throughout the annual schedule and 
the weekly meetings of the Stobart 
Group Management Board. Much of 
my role involves collaborating with 
divisional teams and functions to ensure 
the efficient provision of information. 

I also support in the governance of 
other Group companies and with 
many aspects of compliance. For 
example, I work on many procedures 
which flow from our Anti-Bribery 
and Corruption Policy and this year I 
commissioned and rolled out a new 
online training module in this regard.

Gary Flint-Elkins 
Driver

Representing: Drivers
My role as an LGV driver for Stobart 
Energy means I deliver a wide variety 
of products, that could range from 
sawdust to processed metal across 
the length and breadth of the UK. 
I have worked for the business for 
eight years and I have been a Drivers’ 
Representative for over 12 months.

ESG: Materiality Analysis and  
Sustainability Strategy continued
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The People Champions role
People Champions seek the views of people 
within their division or function and present 
these views and opinions in an objective 
manner to the People Champions Forums. 
They will be in a position to speak freely 
in the interests of finding the best solution 
to a problem and will be responsible for 
keeping their colleagues informed of 
matters arising from the People Forums.

Implementation of new HR  
and payroll system
Self service to our HR and payroll system 
has now been fully implemented for all 
employees. We will continue to automate 
transactional HR and payroll processes 
through workflow automation and this work 
will be ongoing as we seek to streamline 
business processes and integrate with other 
key systems within the business. People 
management information data in the form of 
people analytics, from our system Cascade, 
is now being reported across all divisions on 
a regular basis enabling a real-time view of 
absences, demographic and workforce data 
to inform people strategy across the Group. 

Continuing our aim to bring more 
automation to manual and transactional HR 
activities we will also be implementing an 
Applicant Tracking System (ATS) for talent 
acquisition, talent pooling and onboarding 
as well as a Learning Management System 
(LMS) to capture, record and easily report 
on safety and compliance training across 
the Group. We are also providing the 
workforce with access to high quality and 
relevant material for career planning and 
development, succession planning and to 
enable us to more easily track performance 
management objectives and outcomes.

 Diversity 
 
We believe that by 
embracing diversity in 
all forms we encourage 
original and collaborative 
thinking with multiple and 
differing perspectives which 
positions us to deliver the 
best results. 

We are committed to achieving a working 
environment which provides equality of 
opportunity and freedom from unlawful 
discrimination on the grounds of race, 
sex, pregnancy and maternity, marital 
status, gender, disability, religion or 
beliefs, age or sexual orientation.

Our Equality and Diversity Policy aims 
to remove unfair and discriminatory 
practices within the Company and to 
encourage full contribution from its diverse 
community. We are committed to actively 
opposing all forms of discrimination and 
ensuring that there is no modern slavery 
or human trafficking in any part of our 
business or within our supply chains. 

We also aim to provide a service that 
does not discriminate against its clients 
and customers in the means by which 
they can access the services supplied 
by the Company. The Company believes 
that all employees and clients are entitled 
to be treated with dignity and respect. 

Our Equality and Diversity Policy aims to:
• prevent, reduce and stop all forms of 

unlawful discrimination in line with the 
Equality Act 2010; and

• ensure that recruitment, promotion, 
training, development, assessment, 
benefits, pay, terms and conditions 
of employment, redundancy and 
dismissals are determined on the basis 
of capability, qualifications, experience, 
skills and productivity.

We seek to apply this policy in the 
recruitment, selection, training, appraisal, 
development and promotion of all 
employees. The Company offers services 
in a way that complies with the spirit of 
this policy. All employees, contractors, 
subcontractors, consultants, agents 
and agencies of the Company are 
required to comply with the policy.

This policy does not form a part of 
any employment contract with any 
employee and its contents are not to 
be regarded by any person as implied, 
collateral or express terms to any 
contract made with the Company.

The Company reserves the right to amend 
and update this policy at any time. 

As part of our three-year People Strategy we 
will develop a diversity and inclusion plan. 
Through clear objectives, reporting annually 
on our progress and our commitment to 
diversity and inclusion at all levels, we will 
assess and monitor the success of any 
campaigns and our strategy over time.
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Board %

Female   14%

Male   86% 

  2020

Group Management Board %

Female   25%

Male   75% 

  2020

Senior management %

Female   26%

Male   74% 

  2020

All other employees %

Female   31%

Male   69% 

  2020

Since 2018 we have been working 
towards having a more representative 
gender split across our workforce and 
specifically for a minimum of 33% female 
representation in leadership roles by 
2020. We have made good progress 
and our female leadership population 
now accounts for 24% of this group.

To support our ability to attract wider and 
more diverse talent into our business, 
we will be launching an Agile Working 
Policy in 2020 which will allow carers 
and working parents in particular to 
achieve a better work/life integration.

To enable us to further understand 
the diversity that exists within our 
workforce, we have now launched wider 
reporting categories in our HR system 
so we can actively monitor and better 
attract underrepresented groups in the 
communities we work within. These 
categories include clearer ethnicity 
and nationality groups, as well as 
widening our gender category to include 
transgender and non-binary employees.

Total number of employees 
(as at 29 February 2020)

1,482
Total number of training hours invested

68,234

Employees with more  
than five years’ service

23%

ESG: Materiality Analysis and  
Sustainability Strategy continued
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Gender split
As at 29 February 2020, the Group 
employed 1,482 people. Of the total number 
of employees, 455 (31%) are female.

We set out here a breakdown of the gender 
split within our Group, comprising the 
Board, the Stobart Group Management 
Board (our Executive Committee), 
senior managers below the Stobart 
Group Management Board and all other 
employees, as at 29 February 2020. 
The Board overlaps in terms of 
membership with the Stobart Group 
Management Board as both include 
the three Executive Directors. 

We define senior managers as those at 
Divisional Board level, or direct reports 
to the Stobart Group Management 
Board. This group is the most senior 
management population below the Board 
and the Stobart Group Management 
Board and together, these three 
groups form our leadership team.

Further information in relation to diversity 
can be found in the Corporate Governance 
section on page 72 and the Nomination 
Committee Report on page 81. 

Gender pay gap reporting
Despite the Government allowing 
businesses to delay the reporting of their 
gender pay gap data until 2021 due to 
COVID-19, we still intend to publish the 
Stobart Group Gender Pay Report on 
our website www.stobartgroup.com 
in accordance with the Equality Act 
2010 (Gender Pay Gap Information) 
Regulations 2017 by June 2020.

Stobart Group recognises that in order 
to attract talent and build a sustainable 
business we need to ensure that we 
are working towards becoming a truly 
inclusive and diverse organisation. 

Despite some divisions employing 
less than 250 people, we have 
elected to report across the business 
as a whole for the first time.

 Our next steps and 
priorities for 2020/21 

– Establish a clear Employee  
Value Proposition (EVP) which  
runs through everything we do.

– Create an integrated  
occupational health provision  
to support our wellbeing plan.

– Implement a digital recruitment 
and onboarding platform which 
gives our candidates a best in 
class experience.

– All Group people policies and 
associated processes to be 
reviewed ensuring a more 
contemporary and gender- 
neutral tone of voice, including 
evaluating pay and leave 
entitlements when our employees 
need time away from work to 
ensure we are supporting them  
in the right way. 

– Implement a LMS to support our 
employees’ personal and 
professional development.

– Build on our diversity and  
inclusion plans. 
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   Case study

Supporting Southend’s 
response to the 
COVID-19 pandemic

Supporting sustainable
communities
We create sustainable, long-term  
opportunities in our communities to support  
social and economic development.

Supporting community development and investment
We partner with communities.

We create local employment by working with businesses  
and local authorities and delivering opportunities for 
young people. We provide the connections communities  
need to thrive. 

We support social and environmental organisations  
that have a positive impact on our communities.

Supporting sustainable transport
We promote sustainable transport solutions. 

We aim to minimise the impact of our operations on  
local communities and work with partners to improve  
transport links and enhance safety.

Preventing modern slavery and promoting human rights
We prioritise the care of everyone that passes through our 
operations and that we rely on to do business. We intervene to 
protect human rights and prevent all forms of modern slavery.

Our implementation approach
Our business provides critical infrastructure to connect communities, 
supporting transport links and providing fuel for energy generation. 
We provide employment opportunities in the communities where 
we operate and work with local government to support the 
development of skills to strengthen opportunities available for 
individuals and communities. We make active use of apprenticeships 
to grow capabilities within our business and to provide opportunities 
for young people. We actively manage transportation to and from our 
operations and projects to minimise local impacts and support the 
development of public transport infrastructure. We have established 
clear standards on modern slavery that are embedded in our 
operational policies and communicated to our suppliers. We apply 
a risk-based approach to identifying and prioritising our actions. 

Our plan to implement our ESG framework

ESG: Materiality Analysis and  
Sustainability Strategy continued
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We are dedicated 
to supporting the 
communities we work in, 
which was more important 
than ever during the first 
few months of the 
COVID-19 crisis. 

At London Southend Airport, we worked 
closely with the local community and local 
businesses to navigate the challenging and 
uncertain times, using all the resources we 
had available to play our role.

The airport worked round the clock to 
support the community’s key workers, 
from police to medical staff. The Holiday 
Inn at London Southend Airport provided 
free accommodation to key workers 
that were unable to see their families 
or return home due to their exposure 
to the virus. The Airport also delivered 
75 care packages to NHS workers at 
Southend and Basildon hospitals, as 
well as the ambulance base on Aviation 
Way, who had been unable to get to a 
supermarket or find everyday items. 

We also initiated a food donation scheme, 
which was initially suggested by one 
of the airport’s security staff. Through 
the scheme we were able to gather 
supplies for a donation to Age Concern 
Southend which is a small, independent 
charity based in Westcliff-on-Sea that 
provides essential support, advice and 
services to older people in Southend, 
and the surrounding communities. 

Care packages delivered to  
NHS workers in April 2020

75 

We will provide annual ESG metrics on this pillar 
from FY20/21.
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Taking climate action
We minimise our emissions and support the 
development of low carbon infrastructure, to help the 
UK deliver on its net-zero carbon emissions target.

Reducing carbon emissions
We work to continually reduce carbon emissions across our 
operations and supply chain, and aim to be a leader in sustainable 
energy. We will reduce our airport operation emissions to net-zero 
and ensure that the growth of our airports is carbon neutral. 

We will contribute towards net-zero UK infrastructure  
across our divisions.

Introducing energy efficiency and management
We will continue to reduce our energy use and invest in climate-smart 
energy solutions at our sites and in our vehicle fleets. We will expand 
our renewable energy production through our energy business and 
increase our renewable energy use across all three divisions.

Our implementation approach
Our business provides important low carbon infrastructure to support 
the UK transition to a low carbon economy including supporting rail 
links, circular energy solutions and by providing efficient airport 
operations. Energy use is an important business cost and is tracked, 
managed and minimised as part of our continuous improvement 
processes across our operations including the management of our 
buildings and fleet. We are also working to reduce our climate 
impacts by investing in renewable energy infrastructure electrification 
and exploring climate smart operating protocols. 

 Case study

A long-term commitment  
to renewable energy 
investment

The Group is committed to investing in renewable energy 
to assist the UK in tackling climate change, reducing 
emissions and supporting the development of low 
carbon infrastructure to help deliver on the Government’s 
net-zero carbon targets. 

London Southend Airport has 
spearheaded the Group’s efforts to 
transition to renewable energy and 
continues to provide a blueprint for our 
future ambitions. 

In 2016, we reported on the £2m 
investment at London Southend Airport in 
a 3.2-hectare solar farm. This represented 
a milestone investment in sustainability for 
the Group, which continues to reduce our 
carbon footprint year on year. Together, 
the solar farm and terminal solar panels 
continue to supply around a fifth of its 
energy needs. 

In addition to our investments in solar 
power, our terminals at London Southend 
Airport have a high BREEAM rating, the 
industry benchmark for the sustainability 
of buildings, underscoring a long-term 
commitment to invest in efficient 
infrastructure, conserve energy and 
reduce carbon emissions. The Group and 
its divisions will continue to invest and 
innovate to build on earlier successes to 
take climate action in the next year.

ESG: Materiality Analysis and 
Sustainability Strategy continued

Our plan to implement our ESG framework
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Activities and
performance

 Carbon and  
 climate change

Introduction
The climate emergency will affect every 
sector of the global and UK economy. We 
are committed to taking science-based 
action to support decarbonisation of the UK 
and global economy in line with the UK 
Government 2050 net zero target. 

This year we set a new climate ambition 
for the business:
• to minimise our emissions and support 

the development of low carbon 
infrastructure; and

• to help the UK deliver on its net-zero 
carbon commitment. 

Stobart Group has a vital role to play 
in the development of low carbon 
infrastructure. Our businesses support 
low carbon energy infrastructure, rail 
infrastructure and we are committed to 
carbon efficient airport operations. 

We have outlined here the work we do 
to mitigate our climate impacts, manage 
climate-related risks, and provide 
information on our climate and energy 
performance. We have expanded our 
climate reporting for FY19/20 and are 
further expanding our reporting for FY20/21 
in line with the Streamlined Energy and 
Carbon Reporting (SECR) framework. We 
recognise the guidance provided by the 
Task Force on Climate-related Financial 
Disclosures (TCFD) and are committed 
to expanding our disclosure over time 
in line with their recommendations. 

Our approach to managing  
climate and energy
Energy use is an important business cost 
and is tracked, managed and minimised as 
part of our continuous improvement 
processes across our operations including 
the management of our buildings and fleet. 
We are also working to reduce our climate 
impacts by investing in renewable energy 
infrastructure, electrification and developing 
climate smart operating protocols. 

Climate management and governance is 
part of the mandate of the ESG Steering 
Group, which has Board representation and 
responsibility through Nick Dilworth, Chief 
Operating Officer, as chair of the ESG 
Steering Group. The ESG Steering Group 
includes representatives from across the 
Stobart Group and its divisions. 

Our carbon emission and energy 
reduction priorities
Fleet efficiency
Through Stobart Energy, we operate a fleet 
of 150 trucks transporting biomass fuel to 
our customers. We have in place a vehicle 
replacement programme resulting in all 
vehicles being less than three years old. 
Euro VI vehicles come with the additional 
benefit of the AdBlue engine treatment 
which further reduces the emission of 
harmful exhaust gases.

The current fleet is predominantly made up 
of the Scania R450s, a model which was the 
winner of the Green Truck Award 2019. The 
Scania R450s is renowned for its onboard 
low carbon technology innovations that 
ensure fuel efficiency and reduced 
emissions, which include active prediction 
and Opti Cruise functions that combined 
can reduce fuel consumption by over 10%.

Our climate and energy efficiencies 
We continuously review and investigate 
initiatives to reduce our consumption of 
energy, waste and water. We have chosen to 
report our 2019/20 energy consumption in 
kWh for the Group and will use this as a 
benchmark year going forwards.

Energy efficiency activities in 2019/20 
included:
• Route planning for the Stobart Energy 

fleet where routes and schedules are 
being constantly improved to ensure 
optimal efficiency and all drivers use the 
GloSmart app.

• The procurement team expanded to 
include a manager dedicated to 
managing and optimising the 
procurement of fuel across Stobart Group.

• We have made improvements to data 
collection and the methodology for 
assessing Scope 1 and Scope 2 carbon 
emissions and energy consumption for 
the Group.

We worked with an external adviser to 
report on our Energy Saving Opportunity 
Scheme (ESOS) phase II compliance 
activities. We identified further energy 
efficiency measures – specifically 
relating to our fleet and buildings – 
that we will consider and implement 
where appropriate during 2020/21.

Our climate and energy performance
Stobart Group had emissions of 26,408 
tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent 
(tCO2e) in FY19/20, a decrease of 84 
tCO2e against the baseline year of 
FY18/19. The intensity ratio that we report 
is tCO2e emissions per £m revenue 
(tCO2e/£m) and this ratio saw a 19% 
reduction compared to our baseline year.

We reviewed and restated our FY18/19 total 
gross emissions data, which is our 
benchmark year, to include all Scope 1 and 
Scope 2 emissions. This process included 
correcting a data error for reported vehicle 
diesel use by the Rail & Civils division in 
FY18/19 (Scope 1) and capturing all 
refrigerant (fugitive) emissions (Scope 1).

Our carbon data reporting methodology
The carbon data for Stobart Group has been 
prepared using the following methodology 
which underpins our carbon calculations:
• Based on DEFRA and BEIS, 

Environmental Reporting Guidelines 
(March 2019). 

• Includes emissions that Stobart Group is 
responsible for based on an operational 
control approach.

• The baseline year is FY18/19 and 
compared to the current reporting year 
of FY19/20.

• All Scope 1 and Scope 2 emission 
sources estimated to be greater than 
1% have been deemed material and 
are included.

• We use the intensity metric of total 
Greenhouse Gas (GHG) emissions per 
£m revenue (tCO2e/£m) for normalising 
emissions.
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Total emissions tCO2e (Scope 1 
and 2) for FY18/19 and FY19/20

Scope 1 91%

Scope 2 9% 

  FY19/20

Scope 1 89%

Scope 2 11% 

  FY18/19

26,408

26,492

Total emissions tCO2e (Scope 1 
and 2) for FY18/19 and FY19/20

Scope 1 91%

Scope 2 9% 

  FY19/20

Scope 1 89%

Scope 2 11% 

  FY18/19

26,408

26,492

Analysis of Scope 1 emissions by 
key sources (tCO2e in FY19/20)

Diesel 65.8%

Domestic oil 0.4%

Gas oil 19.6%

Natural gas 0.5%

Refrigerants 13.7%

Petrol 0.0% 

ESG: Materiality Analysis and 
Sustainability Strategy continued

Greenhouse gas (GHG) emission source

FY18/19 FY19/20 Total change

tCO2e tCO2e/£m tCO2e tCO2e/£m tCO2e % change tCO2e/£m

Scope 1 23,523 160 23,987 133 464 2% -17%

Fuel combustion 20,561 140 20,696 115 135 1% -18%

– Vehicle fleet (mobile) 16,825 115 16,176 90 -649 -4% -22%
– Sites (stationary) 3,735 25 4,520 25 785 21% -1%

Operation of facilities 2,963 3,291

– Fugitive emissions 2,963 20 3,291 18 328 11% -9%
– Process emissions n/a

Scope 2 2,968 20 2,420 13 -548 -18% -34%

Purchased electricity 2,968 20 2,420 13 -548 -18% -34%
Purchased heat n/a
Purchased steam n/a
Purchased cooling n/a

Total gross emissions 26,492 180 26,408 147 -84 0% -19%

Operational control
The operational control approach 
determines whether Stobart Group’s 
operations are reportable as Scope 1 or 2 
emission sources. This includes all sites that 
we operate, whether they are owned or 
leased. This approach to consolidation is 
different to the financial control basis that is 
used to compile the Company accounts.

Definition of operational control
Stobart Group is deemed to have 
operational control if the Group or one of 
its subsidiaries has the full authority to 
introduce and implement its operating 
policies at the operation.

Intensity ratio tCO2e/£m  
(decrease of 19%) in FY19/20

147
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 Our next steps and 
priorities for 2020/21 

– This ambition will guide our 
future work on climate and 
energy, together with our target 
to reduce CO2 emissions by 
25% per £m of revenue by 
2022/23. Over the course 
of the current financial year, 
we will aim to set a longer-term, 
science-based target to reduce 
our emissions. 

The following organisational divisions were 
captured within the FY19/20 reporting year:

Company divisions

Division
Under Company  
operational control

Aviation London Southend 
Airport
Stobart Jet Centre
Solar Farm
Holiday Inn Southend
Stobart Aviation  
Services

Energy Biomass Products
Biomass  
Transportation

Rail & Civils Stobart Rail

Infrastructure  
and Investments

Carlisle Lake  
District Airport

Note: Changes to prior year (acquisitions/divestments): 
Stobart Air and related operations divested and removed. 
Post year end, Stobart Air and related operations under 
significant influence of Group.

Scope 3 emissions
We have not included Scope 3 emissions 
within our GHG disclosure, as this will 
require a separate analysis to be 
undertaken. The Board will review the 
parameters of current GHG disclosure 
during the current financial year and take a 
decision on when Scope 3 emissions will be 
included and how these will be defined.

Energy consumption
We have established the benchmark 
energy consumption for Stobart Group 
using FY19/20, which results in a total 
energy consumption of 95 million 
kWh and an intensity ratio of 0.532 
million kWh/£m (energy consumption 
per million pound of revenue).

We established the energy consumption 
for FY18/19 to provide a comparison 
against the current financial year. There 
was an increase in energy consumption 
of 1.2 million kWh in FY19/20 and a 
reduction of 17% in the intensity ratio 
that we report – million kWh/£m.

All emission sources estimated to be greater 
than 1% have been included in the statement 
of energy consumption and, consistent with 
the methodology for carbon emissions, we 
have used the operational control approach.

Energy consumption by source

 
 

FY18/19
kWh

 
kWh/£m

FY19/20
kWh

 
kWh/£m

Change
kWh

Change
kWh/£m

Scope 1 81,673,740 556,024 84,056,727 466,425 3% -16%

Fuel combustion 81,673,740 556,024 84,056,727 466,425 3% -16%

– Vehicle fleet (mobile) 67,936,456 462,502 66,272,118 367,739 -2% -20%
– Sites (stationary) 13,737,284 93,522 17,784,608 98,686 29% 6%

Operation of facilities n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a

– Fugitive emissions n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a
– Process emissions n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a

Scope 2 12,908,788 87,881 11,754,401 65,224 -9% -26%

Purchased and consumed electricity 10,486,380 71,390 9,469,754 52,547 -10% -26%
Self-generated and consumed renewable electricity 2,422,408 16,491 2,284,647 12,677 -6% -23%
Purchased heat n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a
Purchased steam n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a
Purchased cooling n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a

Total energy consumption 94,582,528 643,905 95,811,127 531,649 1% -17%
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ESG: Materiality Analysis and 
Sustainability Strategy continued

 Case study

The launch of our new 
Employee Assistance 
Programme

Excelling in health and 
wellbeing, safety and security
We are committed to the health and wellbeing, safety 
and security of our people, customers and operations.

Promoting passenger health, safety and security
We protect the health, safety and security of our passengers 
in everything that we do.

Protecting health & wellbeing and safety
We put health, safety and wellbeing first and aim to improve our health 
and safety performance. Our goal is no harm to our people or our 
partners.

Our implementation approach
We focus on protecting health and safety in all that we do.  
We set high Group standards for health and safety management 
processes, track our performance and investigate incidents to 
identify opportunities to improve. We invest significantly in training 
and have a Group health and safety audit process we use to review 
compliance with our standards. We are using behavioural safety 
approaches to develop and improve our safety culture. 

Our plan to implement our ESG framework

The health and wellbeing, safety and 
security of our employees is vital to 
our success and remains our priority. 

As a people-focused business, we are 
committed to maintaining the highest 
standards of health & wellbeing and to 
create a safe and supportive environment 
where our staff feel valued. While this may 
be especially important during uncertain 
and challenging times, we believe this is 
vital on an ongoing basis.

To support our employees and their 
families, we have launched a new 
Employee Assistance Programme 
(EAP) across the business. Designed 
in partnership with Health Assured, 
Stobart’s new EAP provides professional 
support and counsel to our people on 
matters that could be affecting their 
lives, as well as their health and general 
wellbeing. Our programme provides 

health and self-care advice, including 
psychological wellbeing, financial and 
legal advice, childcare support, as 
well as a range of interactive health 
assessments and bereavement support. 

Services are available 24/7, 365 days 
a year, to our staff, their partners and 
dependants, guaranteeing confidential 
counsel in a safe and compassionate 
environment which supports our goal 
to maintain an open, supportive and 
safe environment for all. We will be 
monitoring and measuring the success 
of the EAP during 2020 and ensuring 
we gather direct feedback from our 
employees on its effectiveness.
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Activities and
performance

 Innovative action 
being taken

Barbour EHS
In 2019, Stobart Group invested in the use of 
an online provider of specialist information 
in respect to health, safety, environment 
and facilities management. Barbour EHS 
has given Stobart Group and the operating 
divisions the tools to maintain proficiency 
in keeping up to date with the constantly 
changing nature of legislative requirements.

Barbour EHS work with over 800 
industry information providers to bring 
a comprehensive information service, 
keeping the business up to date and ‘on 
the pulse’ of all relevant industry updates. 
This helps to ensure that Stobart Group 
and its employees are not only compliant 
and well informed but also have the tools 
and resource to carry out daily routines.

Barbour EHS has also provided Stobart 
Group and the operating divisions with the 
ability to develop bespoke legal registers 
which contain relevant divisional information, 
such as statutory instruments and toolbox 
talks, and the capability to monitor and be 
proactive to legislative changes by being 
notified of updates from one single source.

Performance in the year
The safety performance throughout the 
divisions has led to an overall increase 
of employee accidents of 59% and a 
4% reduction in employee incidents 
across all divisions to the year ending 
February 2020, compared with the year 
ended 28 February 2019. Going forward, 
we will increase focus and endeavour 
for improved accident and incident 
performance throughout the business. This 
will be achieved through training, improved 
hazard awareness with employees, and 
behavioural safety awareness training.

Governance of the safety strategy
The Group Safety and Compliance team 
oversees, steers and challenges the 
progress of our safety performance and 
drives continual improvement to ensure 
we continue to deliver. Divisional senior 
managers are directly responsible for 
their operational safety risks and the 
management of actions to mitigate or 
remove the identified risks within their 
division. The divisional senior managers 
also identify, through continuous 
monitoring and review, where potential 
new hazards could emerge within the 
business. Regular compliance audits are 
conducted by internal audit at all levels 
within the business for governance.

Making safety risks clearer
The safety and wellbeing of our people  
is our top priority. We are continuously 
reviewing our reported event data to identify 
the areas of safety and operational risk. Any 
identified trends from the analysis of the 
data is included as safety and operational 
risks within reports to divisional board and 
the Stobart Group Management Board. 
This approach enables the Executive and 
senior teams’ visibility of the current risks 
and gives the opportunity to propose 
further mitigation measures as required. 
The Head of Group Risk and Safety 
attends all Group Board meetings to 
provide additional information and context 
to the identified risks and mitigations.
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Stobart Group RIDDOR statistics

Accident Frequency Rate1

Number of Stobart Group  
RIDDOR accidents

Year ended 
February

2020

Year ended 
February

2019

Year ended 
February

2020

Year ended 
February

2019

Energy 0.76 0.38 7 3
Rail & Civils 0.00 0.42 0 3
Aviation2 0.19 0.44 1 2
Aviation Services3 1.08 0.25 10 1

Group total 0.59 0.24 18 9

1 The above table is measured by the Accident Frequency Rate (AFR) for Stobart Group RIDDORs (Reporting of Injuries, 
Diseases and Dangerous Occurrences Regulations). The AFR is the way of measuring the accidents, based on the category 
of accident which is reported to the Health and Safety Executive (HSE). The AFR is calculated by the number of RIDDORs 
multiplied by 100,000, divided by the number of hours worked.

2 The term ‘Aviation’ refers to London Southend Airport and Carlisle Lake District Airport.
3 Aviation Services refers to the ground handling business which started operating in the year ended 28 February 2019.

 Case study

Airsweb – event 
reporting system

Airsweb is Stobart 
Group’s new event 
reporting system. Airsweb 
recently launched their 
next generation product; 
Airsweb AVA, which 
Stobart Group rolled  
out in 2019/20 across 
the divisions.

Airsweb allows users to report unplanned 
events with ease but offers a fresh and 
dynamic feel which is in keeping with 
the ever-evolving Stobart Group. The 
users will also have the ability to report 
events via an application on a mobile 
device allowing real-time reporting.
 
Airsweb has been configured for Stobart 
Group, catering for each divisional 
requirement. This has been achieved 
through consultation and input from 
key stakeholders within each division. 
The system attains compliance and 
legal obligation and offers a streamlined 
experience for user interaction and 
engagement; technology which is 
fitting for the growth of the business. 

AVA’s inter-connected 
platform embraces a host of 
new technologies, all built 
around the latest Microsoft 
platform delivering more 
flexibility and power.

 Our next steps and 
priorities for 2020/21 

– Continue to work collaboratively 
with the divisional Safety 
and Compliance teams to 
improve safety performance 
for each division.

– Enhance oversight and 
communications with the 
divisional Safety and 
Compliance teams.

– Further develop and implement 
divisional specific improvement 
plans alongside the divisions 
to assist in reducing risk.

– Share knowledge and best 
practice across the divisions.

ESG: Materiality Analysis and 
Sustainability Strategy continued
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Minimising our 
environmental footprint
We minimise our impact on the environment and aim 
to manage noise, protect air quality, and support the 
circular economy.

Managing noise
We sensitively manage noise from our operations to balance 
operational requirements with the needs of local communities.

Our implementation approach
We have established processes for managing and monitoring noise 
from our operations. We are acutely aware of the potential for 
disruptive noise impacts from our airport operations and work with 
regulators and local communities to establish ways of working that 
mitigate our impacts. We carefully monitor noise complaints and use 
the information we receive to help us to improve performance. 

Promoting a circular economy
We work to improve the social and environmental credentials of the 
products and services we source. We enable the circular economy 
by providing energy infrastructure and feedstocks that keep valuable 
resources out of landfills. 

Our implementation approach
Through our energy business we turn products that would otherwise 
be wasted into a valuable energy source. We provide a full waste 
management solution, procuring waste otherwise destined for landfill 
and processing material into fuel. 

Sustainable forest management
We ensure that the forest biomass we use is sustainably sourced 
from sustainably managed forests.

Our implementation approach
We set high standards for the sustainability of forest material we 
source. We source material produced from forestry practices that 
are certified against sustainable forest management standards. 

Protecting air quality
We aim to maintain clean, healthy air for communities at our 
operations. We work with our partners and local communities to 
ensure our growth doesn’t reduce air quality. 

Our implementation approach
We carefully manage air quality impacts from our operations. We 
identify sources of emissions to air, and establish mitigation and 
monitoring programmes. This includes monitoring of air quality at 
strategic locations adjacent to London Southend Airport. 

Managing waste
We are working to eliminate waste from our operations. We will aim to 
send as close to zero waste to landfill as possible.

Our implementation approach
We work to reduce waste produced in our operations. We establish 
waste management processes and identify opportunities to reduce 
the waste produced from operations. 

Protecting biodiversity
We protect biodiversity and enhance conservation through careful 
planning and management of our operations.

Our implementation approach
We identify important biodiversity that may be impacted by our 
operations. We establish management plans to control and 
mitigate impacts. 

Conserving water
We minimise our impact on water by preventing pollution, limiting 
discharges and continuously reducing the water footprint of 
our operations.

Our implementation approach
We manage water consumption at our operations. We identify 
opportunities to reduce our water consumption. We implement 
controls to prevent pollution.

Our plan to implement our ESG framework



Stobart Group Limited
Annual Report & Accounts 2020

56
Strategic Report

 Case study

Reducing waste at 
London Southend 
Airport 

Stobart Group 
aims to minimise its 
environmental footprint, 
and meet and exceed 
regulatory requirements 
across all divisions.

 
We understand our partners, our 
people and our communities 
demand the best possible standards, 
from managing noise levels to 
protecting air quality. The Group 
and its divisions strive to innovate 
and lead on issues that impact 
stakeholders, and to support the UK 
in building a sustainable economy. 

The Group recognises London 
Southend Airport must help drive efforts 
to minimise our environmental footprint 
as a leading travel and logistics hub. 
London Southend Airport saw annual 
passenger numbers increase by 33% in 
the year before the COVID-19 crisis, and 
our customers expect waste reduction 
and recycling to be seen alongside 
choice in retail and hospitality. 

Initiatives large and small at London 
Southend Airport are creating change: today 
the airport boasts a waste recycling system 
for cardboard and paper and our new 
rehydration kiosk will help passengers and 
colleagues reduce plastic waste. In the next 
year the Group will continue to develop and 
launch new projects to play our part in 
building a circular economy. 

Annual passenger number  
increased in the year before  
the COVID-19 crisis

33%

ESG: Materiality Analysis and 
Sustainability Strategy continued
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Activities and 
performance

 Our business and  
 climate change

Non-Financial
Information

People
We have invested significantly in our 
People Strategy this year and will 
continue to do so in the year ending 
28 February 2021 with particular focus 
on diversity, equality and inclusion. 

Further information about people can  
be found:
• In the Business Model section on pages 

16 and 17.
• In the Developing our People section of 

our ESG report on pages 41 to 45.

Ethics and human rights
Stobart Group respects and is committed 
to protecting all human rights. The Group 
has an Ethics and Business Integrity 
Policy together with other policies 
in place which support recognised 
principles on human rights, including 
health and safety, and anti-corruption. 
The Group’s employment policies and 
procedures also reflect principles of 
non-discrimination and equal treatment. 

The Group’s Modern Slavery Statement sets 
out the steps being taken by the Group to 
ensure that slavery and human trafficking do 
not exist in our business or its supply chains. 

In line with the requirements of the 
Modern Slavery Act 2015, our next 
annual Modern Slavery Statement will be 
published on our website during 2020.

Stobart Group provides important low carbon 
infrastructure to support the UK transition 
to a low carbon economy. This includes 
supporting rail links, circular energy solutions 
and by providing efficient airport operations.

Biomass energy
Stobart Energy supports biomass power 
plants throughout the UK and the business 
continues to play a vital role in delivering the 
UK’s renewable energy effort. We recover 
waste wood for use as fuel by our customers 
under long-term contracts which supply the 
annual electricity needs of approximately 
2% of the UK’s population. We have 
diverted a total of 2.5 million tonnes of waste 
wood and refuse derived fuel from landfill 
since 2018, which included a volume of 
approximately 1.2 million tonnes in 2019/20.

We adopt a sustainable model that 
is based on ‘keeping things local’ to 
minimise any unnecessary movement of 
waste, while providing energy solutions 
to the locations that are producing the 
waste. We aim to create a circular waste 
management solution where waste is only 
turned into fuel as a last resort, and all 
by-products of the waste management 
process are recycled wherever possible. 

We seek out innovation to challenge the 
status quo so that we can harness 
improvements for sustainable energy 
solutions for the future. 

Waste to energy
We continually evaluate how we manage our 
waste and implement initiatives to reduce 
our landfill waste. In 2019/20, 99.5% of our 
waste was recycled or converted into energy

Anti-bribery and corruption
Our Anti-Bribery and Corruption Policy has 
been refreshed and updated in the year 
and underpins the Group’s commitment to 
a zero-tolerance approach to bribery and 
corruption and sets out the standards of 
conduct we require from all Directors and 
employees and those related to the Group. 
The policy includes relevant procedures 
which must be adhered to concerning gifts, 
hospitality and entertainment, and training 
is provided to all relevant employees.

Whistleblowing
The Group’s Whistleblowing Policy is 
designed to enable and encourage staff 
to report suspected wrongdoing at any 
level of the business, in the knowledge that 
their concerns will be taken seriously and 
investigated as appropriate. To support this 
commitment to conduct our business in the 
right way and an open culture, all employees 
across the Group have access to a free 
of charge, independent whistleblowing 
hotline, through which they can report 
any concerns they have at all regarding 
malpractice in the workplace and business.

Environmental and social matters
The ESG section of this report on pages 37 
to 57 provides further information regarding 
social, community and environmental 
matters. Further information can also 
be found within our Key Performance 
Indicators section on page 27.

The policies referred to on this page 
and the Group’s Modern Slavery 
Statement are published on our 
website: www.stobartgroup.co.uk.

19.4%
of the electricity used by the Group is 
from renewable sources
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Risk  
Management 

Effective risk management 
is essential to the 
successful delivery of 
Stobart Group’s plans 
and business ambitions.

Understanding the risks being faced, and 
identifying changing and emerging risks 
enables the Group to focus resources to 
manage and mitigate risks appropriately, 
and enhances our ability to make 
better decisions, deliver on objectives 
and improve Group performance.

Strategy
To ensure that risks are recognised 
and managed, the Board has agreed 
a formal Risk Management Framework 
(Framework) (shown in the schematic 
opposite). The Framework sets out the 
mechanisms through which the Board 
identifies, evaluates, monitors and manages 
significant and emerging risks, and receives 
assurance about the effectiveness of 
the controls in place to mitigate them.

The Framework applies to the whole Group, 
with responsibility for oversight of the 
process resting with the Audit Committee.

Principal Risk heat map as at 29 February 2020
All risks are evaluated on a consistent basis across the Group, which includes both the 
likelihood of the risk crystallising and the potential impact. Our model evaluates both 
inherent exposure (i.e. before any mitigating controls or actions) and residual, or current, 
exposure (i.e. after controls and mitigations). This assessment allows us to see the 
positive impact of control on the underlying inherent risk.

The risk heat map (below) summarises current Principal Risk residual exposures.

1 Impact of the coronavirus 
pandemic

2 Parent Company guarantees 
– Stobart Air and Propius

3 Cyber crime attack, data loss 
or breach

4 Significant breach of health 
and safety or environmental 
legislation

5 Market dynamics change
6 Uncertainty around post-Brexit 

arrangements
7 Failure of plant with which we 

have long-term supply 
arrangements

8 Significant breach of customer 
licence or regulatory conditions

9 Loss of significant customer

10 Major aircraft incident at our 
operated airports

11 Disruption to aviation 
schedules, loss of access to 
or use of infrastructure

Risk appetite
Consideration of our appetite for and 
tolerance of risk forms part of the risk 
management process, in particular when 
deciding how best to manage the risks that 
are identified. The level of risk considered 
appropriate to achieving our business 
objectives is determined by the Board.

The Group has no appetite for risk relating to 
the health, safety and welfare of employees, 
customers and the wider community. We 
do, however, have an increasing appetite 
for risk in relation to activities which are 
directed towards creating additional 
demand for our services to drive revenues 
and increase financial returns for the Group.

Board risk management objectives
The Group has set a number of 
objectives for risk management, 
which are incorporated within the 
Framework. These are to ensure that:
• there are robust and well-defined 

processes for identification and evaluation 
of current and emerging risks;

• key risks are analysed and evaluated 
for impact and likelihood on a 
consistent basis;

• risks are considered and, if appropriate, 
formally accepted as part of key decision-
making processes;

• all Directors are aware of the risks that 
could prevent Stobart Group from 
delivering its strategic objectives;

• the Board is aware of the key risks 
affecting the Group and has the 
opportunity to monitor the positions taken 
and challenge the approach towards the 
mitigation of such risks;

• a risk aware culture is promoted, and 
everyone in the organisation views the 
management of risk as part of their day 
job; and

• there is a proportionate approach to the 
management of risk, which balances the 
requirement to document risk and control 
decisions with processes which are not 
overly bureaucratic.

Risk management process
The Group maintains a Corporate Risk 
Register which includes the Principal 
Risks and other high level and strategic 
risks. The Audit Committee receives 
and reviews information relating to 
these Corporate and Principal Risks, 
together with details of actions taken 
and relevant mitigating controls, prior 
to advising the Board in this regard.

An annual risk workshop is held with the 
Board to discuss the Group’s Corporate Risk 
Register in depth. The Board then carries 
out its formal assessment and gives its 
approval to the assessment of those risks 
which are considered to be Principal Risks.
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Within divisions and Group functions, 
significant business risks and non-
compliances are measured and reviewed 
at Director level, with results reported at 
Divisional Board meetings as a standing 
agenda item. Business managers across 
the Group own and manage these risks, 
with regular reports designed to keep 
the Board fully appraised of all current 
and emerging risks within the business, 
ensuring a consistent and controlled 
approach to risk management.

Information from the risk process is used 
to prioritise and plan focus areas for the 
completion of assurance work, which is 
also reported to the Audit Committee.

There were no significant weaknesses 
identified in the risk management process 
during the year, and no changes were 
made to the Framework by either the senior 
management team or the Audit Committee.

Principal Risks
A Principal Risk is a risk which is 
considered material to the Group’s 
development, performance, position or 
future prospects. The Principal Risks are 
captured in the Corporate Risk Register 
and are reviewed by the Board and Audit 
Committee. This includes considering:
• any substantial changes to Principal Risks;
• material changes to control frameworks 

in place;
• changes in risk scores;
• changes in tolerance to risk;
• any significant risk incidents arising; and
• progress with any additional mitigating 

actions which have been agreed.

Whilst the evaluation of exposure to Principal 
Risk has changed during the year, in most 
cases, the Principal Risks themselves 
have not changed. However, one new 
Principal Risk, relating to the impact of the 
coronavirus pandemic has been added.

This coronavirus pandemic risk will have 
a significant impact on all aspects of the 
business, and in addition to evaluating 
exposure as an individual risk, the 
assessment of exposure for each of the 
other Principal Risks has been reconsidered. 
It is difficult for the Board to assess the 
best or worse case outcomes, as the likely 
duration of the pandemic and associated 
government measures are not known. 
A number of measures, including additional 
controls and monitoring routines have 
been put in place by the Group in response 
to the pandemic, to provide ongoing 
visibility of the situation and its impact.
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Principal Risks  
and Mitigations 

Business area – Group wide

Potential impact Risk mitigations Direction of risk

1  Coronavirus pandemic

Overall, the pandemic will impact 
on delivery of our ambitions, as 
commercial, liquidity and funding 
challenges may restrict our ability to 
grow the business, and slow our ability 
to deliver on our business strategy.

Each division has implemented mitigation plans, included 
the reduction of activities and costs, furloughing of staff, 
contractual reviews and additional cash monitoring reviews.

Group functions, in particular the People and Legal teams, 
have plans in place to ensure the Group is doing everything 
possible to support the business and its workforce.

At a Group Finance level we are working with funders to 
manage our cash and debt positions, and to negotiate 
contract revisions where this is appropriate and possible.

New.

Business area – Group wide

We rely on technology solutions and 
strong information security to support 
the delivery of services across 
the Group.

A significant cyber crime attack 
including, for example, a denial of 
service attack or incidents which prevent 
key systems from operating could 
present a significant risk, impacting 
on our ability to deliver services safely 
and consistently.

A significant data breach or loss could 
impact on the Group’s ability to deliver 
its business, and may also be the cause 
of investigations from regulatory bodies 
and potentially significant fines and 
costs for remedial action.

We have strengthened our information security 
arrangements significantly, and are continuing to enhance 
controls in this area.

In addition to investment in enhanced security tools and 
routines and strengthening of the Group’s IT resources at a 
senior level, an independent Group-wide cyber security 
review was undertaken at the end of 2019, to assist the 
Group in deciding investment priorities going forward.

This increase in the 
evaluation of risk is 
driven primarily by the 
increasing level of threat 
outside the business. 

Following the 
independent review, 
we have action plans 
in place to ensure that 
risks are mitigated to 
a reasonable level.

3  Cyber crime attack, data loss or breach

Business area – Group wide

The Group has given Parent Company 
guarantees for potential liabilities 
associated with Stobart Air and Propius. 
These relate to aircraft leases, unflown 
revenues, and fuel and FX hedges.

If these guarantees were called upon, 
there could be a significant charge to the 
Group, impacting on our ability to deliver 
our business plans going forward.

The position in relation to the guarantees is continuously 
monitored.

The risk has increased primarily because of the coronavirus 
pandemic and the associated impact on the commercial 
position of airlines.

New.

2  Parent Company guarantees – Stobart Air and Propius
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Business area – Group/Infrastructure

The Group’s investments are subject 
to external changes in the market and 
market confidence, which can have 
a significant impact on asset values 
and revenues.

The Group monitors the performance and position of 
its investments.

The increase is driven 
solely by the coronavirus 
pandemic, as the 
potential valuation of 
assets may be impacted.

5  Market dynamics change

Business area – Group wide

Potential impact Risk mitigations Direction of risk

4 	 Significant	breach	of	health	and	safety	or	environmental	legislation

A significant breach of health and safety or 
environmental legislation could lead to 
prosecution, fines, costly remediation and 
reputation damage for the Group.

In addition, in some circumstances, 
operational activities could be suspended 
where remedial actions are needed to 
address a breach or reduce the likelihood 
of future breaches arising.

We have an experienced team, with good knowledge of 
the operational and legislative requirements in each area 
of business.

The Group and each division have documented systems in place 
in key areas, which include procedures designed to ensure legal 
compliance. Documentation is supported by detailed training for 
staff, monitoring and reporting routines, key risk analysis and 
regular internal and external inspections and audits.

We have invested in additional health and safety resources 
during the year, and have a matrix approach, with dedicated 
teams in each division, and a Group function providing 
assurance and oversight.

We have little tolerance to risks in these areas, and seek to 
meet the highest standards, with close management attention 
to detail, and a culture of compliance across the Group.

The increase in our 
evaluation of the risk is 
driven by the increased 
external challenges from 
regulatory frameworks 
and requirements.

Business area – Group wide

There is potential for impact across the 
Group’s operations including:
• General economic uncertainty 

impacting on markets and pricing.
• Operational and commercial 

challenges for the airports.
• Restrictions on import for the 

Energy division.

The Group has worked through a range of different scenarios, 
and taken action where we consider it to be appropriate. 
Brexit implications are considered at both Divisional Board 
meetings, the Stobart Group Management Board and Stobart 
Group Limited Board, and close review is maintained of 
announcements made by the UK Government and the EU.

The Group’s budgeting and forecasting processes include 
consideration of economic changes and external market 
pressures, and the potential impact of these on expected 
activity levels, revenues and profitability. As the transitional 
arrangements are clarified, the potential impacts will be 
assessed and forecasts and plans adjusted accordingly.

Where appropriate, operational plans have been developed, 
for example, within Aviation we have identified the 
mechanisms required to facilitate additional border checks, 
should those be introduced. Within the Energy division, 
procurement focuses on local supply wherever possible, to 
minimise haulage cost and environmental impacts, maximise 
our ability to manage stock levels effectively, and minimise 
any risks arising from the need to import timber.

We have also considered the potential impact on the aviation 
industry, as issues impacting on airlines will also impact 
airports. Announcements made in relation to cross border 
flights reflect the desire for reciprocal arrangements, and the 
basic connectivity contingency plan was agreed with the EU 
to prevent any immediate impact on existing routes.

 

We consider we are well 
positioned to deal with 
the potential challenges 
arising at the end of the 
11-month Brexit 
transition period.

6  Uncertainty around post-Brexit arrangements
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Principal Risks and Mitigations 
continued

Business area – all operating divisions

A significant breach to the conditions 
of licence, regulatory or operating 
requirements which could lead to 
the loss of our operating licences 
or approvals.

This would have a significant impact 
on the Group’s revenues and profits, 
as activities could be curtailed whilst 
remedial actions were taken.

We have experienced management teams and integrated 
business systems in place which are designed to ensure 
that licence and regulatory requirements are recognised 
and fully addressed.

The Group and divisional areas maintain appropriate 
training and supervision arrangements, which are 
supplemented by the operational audit programme 
to ensure compliance with requirements.

We are actively seeking 
to reduce risk in this 
area and have invested 
additional resources 
during the year.

8 	 Significant	breach	of	customer	licence	or	regulatory	conditions

Business area – Rail & Civils and Aviation

In some areas of the Group there 
is reliance on a small number of 
customers. Loss of a significant 
customer would impact on revenues 
and profits, and challenge cost models.

There are strategies in place to secure additional customers 
in key areas to dilute the share of business represented.

Relationship management of significant customers remains 
a priority, with the senior management in each division 
closely involved.

We have a wider 
customer base in 
both Rail & Civils and 
Aviation, so are better 
placed to manage 
any lost contracts 
or activities.

9 	 Loss	of	significant	customer	

Business area – Energy

We have supply contracts with a number 
of energy plants/customers. Should one 
or more of these plants have problems 
which reduce their demand, Group 
revenues would be impacted, and there 
may be additional operational impact 
from the need to store and manage 
excess stock.

Our contracts with significant customers have ‘take or pay’ 
clauses, which are typically set at 80% of contractual volume.

We have flexibility around the operation of processing sites 
and transport fleet to switch supply/logistics to other fuel 
supply contracts, and we have increased storage capacity 
during the year.

Given the current 
market uncertainties 
and the potential for 
further slowdown in the 
economy because of 
the pandemic, we 
consider the risk here 
has increased.

7  Failure of plant with which we have long-term supply arrangements

Potential impact Risk mitigations Direction of risk
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Viability Statement
The Directors have assessed the viability 
of the Group over a three-year period to 
February 2023, considering the Group’s 
current position and the potential impact 
of the Principal Risks documented in the 
Principal Risks and Mitigation controls 
section. Based on this assessment, the 
Directors have a reasonable expectation 
that the Company will be able to continue 
in operation and meet its liabilities as they 
fall due over the period.

In making this statement, the Directors  
have considered the resilience of the 
Group, taking account of its current 

position, the new equity and debt funding 
secured post year end, the Principal 
Risks facing the business in severe 
but reasonable scenarios and the 
effectiveness of any mitigating actions, 
including the current coronavirus 
pandemic. This robust assessment has 
considered the potential impacts of these 
risks on the business model, future 
performance, solvency and liquidity over 
the period. The model has also taken 
account of the revolving credit facility 
maturing in January 2022, with a formal 
debt review and refinancing starting in the 
second half of 2021. The exchangeable 
bond maturity of May 2024 falls outside 

the assessment period, however, this 
will be taken into consideration during 
the debt review.

The Directors have determined that 
the three-year period to February 2023 
is an appropriate period over which to 
provide its Viability Statement as this 
period in the business plan presents a 
reasonable degree of confidence whilst 
still providing an appropriate long-term 
outlook. The Directors have no reason to 
believe the Group will not be viable over 
a longer period.

Business area – Aviation and Aviation Services

An incident (related to a Group activity) 
resulting in the loss of an aircraft and/or 
passenger, or which rendered an airport 
out of use for a significant period of time.

Activities are undertaken in compliance with the 
requirements of the Civil Aviation Authority and other 
appropriate regulations, with comprehensive operational 
arrangements in place to ensure activities are carried out 
appropriately and to a consistently high standard.

We have experienced and appropriately trained and 
qualified management teams in place, which monitor 
compliance with our documented, standard, operating 
procedures. We are also subject to external reviews 
by the relevant regulators.

Unchanged.

10  Major aircraft incident at our operated airports

Business area – Aviation and Aviation Services

Loss of access to, or use of, airport 
facilities, for example, through significant 
fire or flood on site or at a nearby 
location, from activist demonstrations, 
drones or significant system failure.

The resulting impact on flight schedules 
could have an impact on the Group’s 
reputation and revenues.

Contingency plans have been developed and agreed with 
the Civil Aviation Authority, police, Border Force and other 
relevant organisations.

We work closely with local businesses sharing information, 
resources and planning, and similarly with other airports.

Resilience is built into key systems and equipment where 
this is possible.

Unchanged.

11  Disruption to aviation schedules, loss of access to or use of infrastructure

Potential impact Risk mitigations Direction of risk
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Financial  
Review

Lewis Girdwood
Chief Financial Officer

A year to address the core 
businesses and ensure they 
have the ability to develop and 
grow on firm foundations and 
principles at every level.

Challenging year
Aviation and Energy, our key growth 
divisions, both performed well during 
the year, however, the overall business 
has made a significant loss before  
tax of £158.0m due to the impact  
of impairments and other non-
underlying items.

As we conclude the first anniversary since my appointment as Chief 
Financial Officer, the Group has seen a challenging year which 
culminated in the reduction in value of both our investments and 
assets. This has clearly been a key contributor to the loss before 
tax of £158.0m presented in the current year. However, the business 
is now better placed to focus on its two main operating divisions, 
Aviation and Energy, and develop stronger profitability through 
trading performance, therefore providing longer-term value from 
the remaining assets of the Group.

Business investment challenges
Recognising the significant non-underlying items in the current year, 
it is important to explain the drivers of these and what this means for 
the shape and progress of the Group in the future.

During the year, the business faced challenges with the Connect 
Airways investment, which required further investment to maintain its 
position in January 2020, but sadly with the advent of COVID-19 
culminated in Flybe and Connect Airways entering administration in 
March 2020, despite our best efforts to maintain the business. This 
resulted in a £45.1m impairment of loans receivable from Connect 
Airways, to £nil.

Carlisle Lake District Airport (CLDA) commenced commercial 
operations in July 2019 with regional airline Loganair. Whilst 
recognising the importance of regional connectivity and in particular 
the Northern Powerhouse project’s support in enabling us to open 
the airport, the administration of Connect Airways had led us to 
recognise the likely importance of the land ownership as opposed 
to the commercial aviation opportunities at CLDA, which resulted 
in a write down of £21.0m.

In addition, the Group has amortised and impaired the Eddie Stobart 
and Stobart designs and trademarks (Brands) by a total of £27.3m, 
reflecting the fair value of disposal proceeds as part of the post year 
end disposal of Brands to Eddie Stobart Limited.

There has been no change to the decision to write down the  
Rail & Civils intangible assets by £8.5m, as announced in the  
August 2019 interim results. We have continued to look at the 
remaining Non-Strategic Infrastructure assets which resulted 
in additional write downs of £5.7m.

Contract disputes
The Energy division continued its successful development as all of 
the remaining planned plants, supplied under long-term fuel supply 
agreements, entered commercial operations. This excludes Port 
Clarence which is no longer intending to operate a waste wood fuel 
boiler. During the year, one of the largest plants had a major shut 
down for a period of nearly seven months, resulting in a significant 
change of supply requirements for the division. This meant that 
whilst the Energy division should have seen recompense for loss of 
volumes due to be supplied, it had to derecognise the equivalent net 
EBITDA of £1.4m that it should have achieved under the contract, 
because this is an ongoing dispute not recognisable under IFRS 15. 

The Rail & Civils division continued to face challenges on legacy 
contracts, culminating in a significant adjustment to revenue under 
IFRS 15 on one major contract, which resulted in £3.6m of revenue 
not being recognised in the current year.

Both of these end of year adjustments resulted in reduced 
underlying performance.
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Revenue

2020 
£m

2019 
£m Movement

Aviation 56.8 39.4 +44%
Energy 76.3 65.1 +17%

Revenue from two main 
operating divisions 133.1 104.5 +27%
Rail & Civils 41.5 52.3 -21%
Investments 2.1 2.7 -20%
Non-Strategic Infrastructure 2.8 2.2 +27%
Central function and 
eliminations (9.3) (14.8) +37%

170.2 146.9 +16%

Revenue from continuing operations has grown by 15.9% to 
£170.2m. Revenue from our key growth divisions, Aviation and 
Energy, has increased by 27.4% to £133.1m. The Rail & Civils division 
recognised a revenue reduction of 20.8% following significant delays 
in Network Rail issuing Control Period 6 contracts.

Profitability

2020 
£m

2019 
£m Movement

Underlying EBITDA1

Aviation 8.6 4.9 +74%
Energy 24.2 19.2 +26%

Underlying EBITDA1 from 
two main operating 
divisions 32.8 24.1 +36%
Rail & Civils (7.1) (4.8) -48%
Investments 1.5 2.4 -38%
Non-Strategic Infrastructure (3.6) (3.0) -18%
Central function and 
eliminations (7.6) (7.9) +4%

Underlying EBITDA1 16.0 10.8 +48%
Non-underlying items (138.6) (28.8)
Impact of swaps (0.3) (0.4)
Depreciation (22.6) (16.3)
Impairment of loan notes (2.8) (3.2)
Finance costs (net) (9.7) (4.2)

Loss before tax (158.0) (42.1)

Tax 8.4 (0.5)

Loss for the year from 
continuing operations (149.6) (42.6)

1 Underlying EBITDA represents loss before tax and before swaps, interest, depreciation and 
non-underlying items. Refer to note 3 for reconciliation of divisional underlying EBITDA to 
loss before tax.

Underlying EBITDA1

Underlying EBITDA, the Group’s key measure of profitability, has 
increased by 48.2% to £16.0m. £5.6m of this increase has been 
driven by the IFRS 16 transition on 1 March 2019, as a result of 
operating lease charges previously recognised within underlying 
EBITDA, now recognised as depreciation and interest.

The Aviation division underlying EBITDA has increased by 73.8% 
to £8.6m (2019: £4.9m) after London Southend Airport (LSA) hit a 
milestone by welcoming over 2 million (2019: 1.5 million) passengers. 
This year also saw all but one of the renewable energy plants that 
Stobart Energy is contracted to supply complete the commissioning 
phase and begin to operate more consistently. This meant tonnes 

supplied increased by 11.5% to 1.5 million (2019: 1.3 million) and 
underlying EBITDA increased by 25.9% to £24.2m (2019: £19.2m). In 
addition, the one plant not commissioned negotiated the termination 
of their fuel supply agreement in the year, which generated other 
income of £4.7m.

Underlying EBITDA in the Rail & Civils division is a loss of £7.1m, 
compared to a loss of £4.8m in the prior year. The reorientation 
to focus on external works and prudent operations management, 
implemented by the new management team, has not had the 
desired impact. In addition, performance was hampered by delays 
in Network Rail awarding work at the start of Control Period 6 and the 
divisions continued exposure to a poor performing legacy project. 
Investments and Non-Strategic Infrastructure are discussed in more 
detail below. Central function and eliminations costs continues to be 
tightly managed, with a 4.2% improvement year on year.

Business segments
The business segments reported in the financial statements are 
Aviation, Energy, Rail & Civils, Investments and Non-Strategic 
Infrastructure, which represent the operational and reporting 
structure of the Group.

The Operational Review contains further details about the 
performance of the operating divisions.

The Investments division received a dividend of £2.1m (2019: £2.7m) 
from Eddie Stobart Logistics plc (ESL) during the year, which was 
passed through to the bondholders. This dividend is shown gross 
in the consolidated income statement, with the dividend income 
presented as revenue and the corresponding payment to 
bondholders included in finance costs. Following a change 
in dividend policy, ESL announced that they were cutting their 
dividend to nil, so this income is not expected to repeat in future 
years. Underlying EBITDA for the Investments division was £1.5m 
(2019: £2.4m) after equity accounting for losses. The fair value of the 
ESL investment reduced by £40.2m (2019: £18.8m) as a direct result 
of the reduction in the ESL share price. This loss in value is presented 
in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

The Non-Strategic Infrastructure division continues to realise 
value from its property assets when the time and price is right. 
At 29 February 2020, the book value of Infrastructure assets held 
was £47.3m (2019: £82.6m). A total of £29.4m was written down in 
the year and there were two (2019: four) property disposals that 
generated net proceeds of £2.3m (2019: £38.4m). The disposals 
were the remainder of the site at Speke and the old office building 
in Widnes. Underlying EBITDA can be changeable in this division 
year on year depending upon property valuations and disposals, 
as seen by the increased loss from £3.0m to £3.6m. This year saw 
commercial flights commence from CLDA, which is included in this 
division due to the infrastructure potential at the site.

Non-underlying items

2020 
£m

2019 
£m

Impairments 101.9 7.8
New business and contract set-up costs 19.1 11.6
Amortisation of brand 7.5 3.9
Litigation and claims 1.0 5.2
Restructuring costs – 0.4
Share of joint venture costs 9.1 –

138.6 28.9
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Impairments includes the write down of the Connect Airways loans 
(£45.1m) that are deemed to have nil value following Flybe and 
Connect Airways entering administration post year end. Infrastructure 
assets have been written down by £26.6m, including CLDA (£21.0m) 
and Widnes development land (£5.0m). Post year end, the Group 
disposed of the Stobart and Eddie Stobart brands, driving a £19.9m 
impairment to align the year end value with the contractual 
consideration. The Group’s investment in AirPortr has been impaired 
by £1.8m to value the investment at £1 per share. The write off of 
goodwill and other intangible assets attributable to Rail & Civils 
totalled £8.5m. 

New business and contract set-up costs in the Aviation division 
(£9.3m) relate to route development at LSA. These costs were 
incurred to secure new contracts, any future trading revenue and 
costs under the contract are reflected within the underlying results. 
In the Energy division, delayed commissioning costs of £2.3m were 
incurred and £6.9m of costs relating to a significant unplanned shut 
down at one of the third-party biomass plants Stobart Energy are 
contracted to supply. All major plants Stobart Energy are contracted 
to supply had passed commissioning by the year end. In the 
Non-Strategic Infrastructure division CLDA incurred development 
costs of £0.6m, prior to commercial flights operating.

Amortisation of brand relates to the Eddie Stobart brand which 
increased in the year to £7.5m following a review of the residual value. 

Litigation and claims relate to the dispute with a former Director and 
include trial costs, partly offset by amounts recovered following cost 
orders issued by the court.

The share of joint venture non-underlying costs of £9.1m is due to the 
Group’s decision to increase its share of the equity accounted losses 
of Connect Airways up to the value of its investment, based on 
information provided by the auditors of Connect Airways.

Impact of swaps
The impact of mark-to-market (MTM) valuations of swaps is £0.3m 
(2019: £0.4m) adverse in the year, mainly due to a downturn in fuel 
prices partly offset by currency exchange rates.

Depreciation
Depreciation has increased from £16.3m to £22.6m, principally due to 
additional assets recognised on transition to IFRS 16 (£3.7m), see note 1 
for further details, and the further development of LSA (£1.0m) in the 
Aviation division.

Finance costs (net)
Finance income increased to £4.3m, due to interest receivable on the 
Connect Airways loans, which were impaired to nil at the year end, 
therefore this finance income will not continue next year. Finance 
costs increased by £8.2m to £13.4m, as a result of interest on 
liabilities recognised following the transition to IFRS 16, see note 1 for 
further details. Other new finance costs in the year include the 
coupon payable on the Bond (£1.2m), ESL dividend received that is 
passed to bondholders (£2.1m) and the fair value of financial 
liabilities (£3.5m). Also included in finance costs are foreign 
exchange losses of £0.6m (2019: £0.9m gains).

An impairment charge of £2.8m has been recognised in relation to 
the shareholder loan notes relating to Mersey Bioenergy Holdings 
Limited, the Widnes biomass plant owner, which may reverse when 
the owners complete the refinancing of the biomass plant and their 
cash flow benefits materialise.

Loss before tax
The total loss before tax of £158.0m (2019: £42.1m) is principally driven 
by non-cash transactions. Non-cash items include impairments 
(£101.9m), amortisation of brand (£7.5m) and equity accounted losses 
(£9.8m). Significant cash items include new business and contract 
set-up costs, and litigation and claims totalling £20.1m. The loss before 
tax, after removing non-underlying items, has increased by 46.5% this 
year to £19.4m (2019: £13.3m). 

Tax
The tax credit on continuing operations of £8.4m (2019: £0.5m charge) 
reflects an effective tax rate of 5.3% (2019: -1.3%). The effective rate is 
lower than the standard rate of 19%, mainly due to deferred tax assets 
not recognised in respect of losses carried forward. The deferred tax 
liabilities have been calculated at 17%, being the rate enacted at the 
year end date, however, post year end the tax rate has increased to 
19%. If this rate was applied to the year end deferred tax liabilities, 
an additional charge of £0.7m would be recognised.

Discontinued operations
On 8 November 2019, following the signing of an indemnity 
agreement between the Group and Connect Airways, the 
subsidiaries headed by Propius Holdings Limited (Propius) were 
disposed. The operational results of Propius prior to the date of 
disposal and the profit on disposal of £7.0m are presented in 
discontinued operations.

The Group holds a provision of £9.6m at year end that was estimated 
in US Dollars, translated at the year end rate to GBP and discounted 
to the year end date. The benefit from the reduction in the provision 
in the current year of £2.7m has been presented within discontinued 
operations. On 27 April 2020, the Group reached an agreement to 
acquire Stobart Air and Propius from the administrator of Connect 
Airways to provide the Group with effective control over the 
pre-existing obligations. It is the intention to identify a new financial 
partner to support these businesses in the future so the Group 
can exit its involvements in a controlled way at the appropriate time. 
See notes 33 and 34 for further details.

A £7.0m provision for costs relating to the UK Flybe Franchise 
Operation was recognised in discontinued operations in the year 
ended 28 February 2019. A £1.6m benefit following a reduction in 
actual costs incurred has been included in discontinued operations 
this year. This is partly offset by a £0.6m increase in the provision for 
claims against Stobart Air, indemnified as part of the disposal in the 
prior year.

Loss per share
Loss per share from underlying continuing operations was 4.57p 
(2019: 4.74p). Total basic loss per share was 37.39p (2019: 16.64p).

Share movements and dividends

2020 2019

Interim per share – 6.0p
Final per share 3.0p 3.0p

Total dividend per share 3.0p 9.0p

Financial Review 
continued
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As announced previously, the Board has taken the decision to 
suspend the dividend, therefore no final dividend is proposed. The 
final dividend in the table relates to the year ended 28 February 2019.

On 12 September 2019, the Group issued 3,830,947 new ordinary 
shares to partly satisfy the Stobart Energy Incentive Plan (SEIP).

The number of shares held by the employee benefit trust reduced 
from 5,059,362 at 28 February 2019 to 2,980,992 at 29 February 
2020 after shares were issued to settle employee share options, 
including 665,251 shares to partly satisfy the SEIP.

Balance sheet

2020 
£m

2019 
£m

Non-current assets 388.9 467.4
Current assets 75.3 79.7
Non-current liabilities (222.0) (137.7)
Current liabilities (139.1) (112.4)

Net assets 103.1 297.0

Net assets have decreased by £193.9m, mainly due to the loss in 
the year, dividends paid and the reduction in the fair value of the 
investment in ESL, recognised through other comprehensive income.

Property, plant and equipment (PPE) of £306.6m (2019: £262.9m) 
has increased over the year due to IFRS 16 (£71.5m), which saw 
assets recognised for the first time for leased properties and 
vehicles, see note 1 for further details. Other non-current asset 
movements since last year end include the reduction in value of the 
ESL investment (£40.2m), reduction in value of Connect Airways 
investment and loans (£54.2m), write down of CLDA (£19.0m) and 
the sale of the final investment property at Speke (£4.0m). Intangible 
assets have reduced due to the write off of intangibles attributable 
to Rail & Civils (£8.5m), impairment of the brand (£19.9m) and 
amortisation of the brand (£7.5m).

Current assets have reduced principally due to property inventory 
impairment (£7.0m), discussed further in note 21, and a reduction 
in cash (£4.6m), offset by an increase in trade receivables and the 
transfer of brand assets to assets held for sale.

Non-current liabilities have increased due to increased loans and 
borrowings from additional liabilities recognised following the 
transition to IFRS 16 (£76.4m), see note 1 for further details, and 
an increased draw down on the revolving credit facility (£17.2m), 
partly offset by a reduction in deferred tax (£7.8m).

Current liabilities have increased overall as a reduction in liabilities 
held for sale following the disposal of Propius (£27.5m) was offset 
by the Bond (£51.7m), issued in May 2019, the recognition of financial 
liabilities (£3.5m) and an increase in trade payables.

Current liabilities include the Bond as in accordance with IAS 1 it is 
necessary for the Bond, issued on 3 May 2019, to be presented as 
a current liability because the Group does not have an unconditional 
right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after 
the reporting period. The bondholders have an unconditional right 
to require the Group to settle the Bond by giving the bondholders 
shares in ESL at any time. The Group has no obligation to settle 
the Bond in cash within 12 months of the year end.

Debt and gearing

2020 2019

Asset-backed finance £168.9m £97.5m
IFRS 16 lease obligations £76.4m –
Cash (£9.8m) (£14.4m)

Net debt £235.5m £83.1m

Underlying EBITDA/underlying interest 1.8 2.1
Net debt/total assets 50.7% 15.2%
Gearing 228.4% 28.0%

See note 26 for more details on net debt.

In May 2019, the Group placed £53.1m of Bond issued out of its 
wholly owned subsidiary Stobart Finance plc. The Bond has a 
five-year maturity and will be unconditionally and irrevocably 
guaranteed by the Company and will be exchangeable into ordinary 
shares of one penny each in the capital of ESL.

On 1 March 2019, the Group adopted IFRS 16 which created lease 
liabilities of £78.2m. These liabilities have replaced operating lease 
charges for nearly all leases held. See note 1 for further details. At the 
year end, the Group held an £80m variable rate committed revolving 
credit facility with Lloyds Bank plc and Allied Irish Bank that was 
drawn at £75.0m (2019: £58.0m).

Cash flow

2020 
£m

2019 
£m

Operating cash flow (16.2) (1.7)
Investing activities (12.0) 14.4
Financing activities 27.3 (25.7)

Decrease in the year (0.9) (13.0)
Discontinued operations (3.7) (15.7)
At beginning of year 14.4 43.1

Cash at end of year 9.8 14.4

Operating cash flow in the year was adversely impacted by the cash 
outflows relating to new business and contract set-up costs, litigation 
and claims, and other non-underlying items as well as working 
capital requirements in the divisions. There has been a significant 
outflow from increased receivables, relating to a large ongoing 
project in the Rail & Civils division that will complete next year.

Investing activities include purchase of PPE (£14.6m), partly offset 
by proceeds from the sale of PPE. The prior year included one-off 
proceeds from a sale and leaseback (£30.0m).

Financing activities includes net proceeds from the issue of the 
Bond (£51.3m) and lower dividends paid of £11.1m (2019: £52.5m). 
On 14 November 2019, the Group announced it was suspending the 
dividend until the Group becomes significantly cash generative at 
an operating level, subject to investment requirements to maximise 
shareholder returns. The prior year included one-off proceeds from 
the issue of ordinary shares (£24.7m).

Lewis Girdwood
Chief Financial Officer
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Section  
172

Statement by the Directors in performance of the duty 
to promote the success of the Company: Section 172(1) 
Companies Act 2006
The Board of Directors of Stobart Group Limited confirm that they 
have acted in good faith in the way they consider what would be 
most likely to promote the success of the Company for the benefit 
of its members as a whole. In doing so they have considered, 
among other matters, those set out in section 172(1) (a) to (f) of the 
Companies Act 2006: the likely consequences of any decision in 
the long term; the interests of the Company’s employees; the need 
to foster the Company’s business relationships with suppliers, 
customers and others; the impact of the Company’s operations on 
the community and the environment; the desirability of the Company 
maintaining a reputation for high standards of business conduct; 
and the need to act fairly as between members of the Company. 
This statement applies equally to the Directors individually and  
when acting collectively as the Board.

In discharging their duties in relation to section 172 (1), careful 
consideration is given to the matters set out above. The stakeholders 
we consider in this regard are primarily employees, partners and 
customers, the communities we operate in, the wider world and 
environment and shareholders. 

Engagement with our shareholders and all stakeholders is of 
fundamental importance across the business and the Board is 
focused on building these relationships on a continuous basis.

Employees
Our people are at the centre of everything we do, and we are 
continuing to invest in making Stobart Group a better place to work 
and become an employer of choice. This year we have appointed a 
designated Non-Executive Director who will have responsibility for 
workforce engagement and will attend People Forums to ensure we 
are listening and engaging with our employees. Further information 
in relation to employee engagement can be found on pages 41  
and 42.

Partners and customers 
We have invested in developing our ESG Strategic Framework during 
the year which has involved specific engagement with customers at 
London Southend Airport. We will continue to operate the new 
framework and develop our engagement with partners throughout 
the business. Further information in relation to engagement with 
partners and customers can be found on page 19. 

Communities
We are committed to creating sustainable, long-term opportunities 
in our communities. In addition to aiming to become an employer 
of choice in our communities, we also seek to engage with the 
wider community in which we operate. Our divisions hold regular 
community engagement forums and the feedback received is 
reported to the Board by the Executive team. Further information 
in relation to engagement with our communities can be found 
on page 18.

Environment
A key pillar in our ESG Strategic Framework is to minimise our 
environmental footprint. Our engagement will continue to this end 
during the current year and we will report on further progress in our 
2021 Annual Report. This is of particular importance at London 
Southend Airport in respect of which we are committed to 
developing an Environmental Impact Plan. Further information 
concerning the environment can be found on pages 19 and 37 to 57.

Shareholders
The Chairman and Chief Executive regularly engage with our 
investors and feedback matters discussed to the Board as a whole. 
This year the Remuneration Committee Chairman has also led an 
engagement process concerning the new Directors’ Remuneration 
Policy. Engagement with individual shareholders is undertaken 
through the Company Secretary and we receive regular enquiries.

A summary of our engagement with shareholders can be found 
on pages 19 and 79. 

Decision making
An example of how the Board has considered the matters set out 
in section 172(1) and the interests of stakeholders is provided below 
in connection with the decision to suspend dividend payments.

The relevant stakeholders who would be directly impacted by the loss 
of dividend income were primarily the shareholders,. However, the 
Board also needed to weigh up the interests of its employees and 
partners and customers, as it would be in their interests if the Group 
was able to conserve cash in order to invest in its growth plans.

Ultimately the decision on whether or not to suspend the dividend 
came down to what was in the best interests of the Company. 
The Board needed to consider the current cash commitments 
of paying a dividend against the available cash reserves, likely 
annual cash generation and the need to invest in order to develop 
London Southend Airport and replenish the Stobart Energy fleet. 
The Group also needed to invest in core services such as IT.
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The Board spent a lot of time considering the consequences for 
shareholders in particular. A number of the shareholders had bought 
shares in the Group on the basis of an attractive dividend yield. 
Under previous management, those shareholders had been told that 
dividend payments would be covered by infrastructure sales. The 
Board had to therefore also consider the likelihood that it would be 
able to dispose of sufficient assets to fund a dividend within the 
dividend payment timeframes. As a result, the decision came down 
to the short-term interests of shareholders that had bought shares for 
income versus the long-term needs of the business and our wider 
stakeholder base, partners and direct customers. Having the capital 
available for investing in developing our assets, will also have a 
beneficial impact on our communities in terms of the quality of jobs 
available, and allow us to invest in enhanced environmental controls.

Any decision to return cash to shareholders would have a knock-on 
effect on our relationships with our partners and on our ability to 
develop operations that would benefit both our customers and 
the communities in which we operate. Cash that was paid out as 
dividends would clearly not be available for capital expenditure needs. 
This was a critical factor, with London Southend Airport and Stobart 
Energy having immediate development opportunities that would 
benefit all stakeholders for the long-term, in particular employees.

Ultimately this was a decision between maintaining our reputation 
as an attractive yield stock versus our reputation for developing the 
value of assets.

In order to act fairly the Board needed to decide what was in the best 
interests of the Group and do the right thing in terms of delivering 
continued value for all stakeholders. The Board considered the best 
use of its cash, and what would provide the best returns for all 
concerned over the long term. It was decided that cash that was 
retained to invest in developing its aviation and energy businesses 
would provide the best long-term return. The Board also stated its 
intention to restore the dividend at the point at which the Group 
becomes significantly cash generative at an operating level, subject 
to investment requirements to maximise shareholder returns.
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Board 
of Directors

The Board provides entrepreneurial 
leadership of the Group within a framework 
of prudent and effective controls which 
enables risk to be assessed and managed. 
On these pages, we set out the tenure and 
biographical details of each Board member 
and the Company Secretary.

David Shearer
Non-Executive Chairman

Warwick Brady
Chief Executive

Nick Dilworth
Chief Operating Officer

Lewis Girdwood
Chief Financial Officer

John Coombs
Non-Executive Director

Ginny Pulbrook
Non-Executive Director

David Blackwood
Non-Executive Director

Louise Brace
Company Secretary

Appointed to the Board
1 June 2019

Appointed to the Board
1 July 2017

Appointed to the Board
1 September 2018 

Appointed to the Board
1 April 2019 

Appointed to the Board
1 July 2014 

Appointed to the Board
1 October 2018

Appointed to the Board
1 March 2019

Appointed 
23 October 2017

Background/experience
David joined the Board on 1 June 
2019 and was appointed Non-
Executive Chairman on 23 July 
following the 2019 AGM.

David is an experienced independent 
director and corporate financier and 
turnaround specialist. He is currently 
Non-Executive Chairman of Speedy 
Hire Plc, Socium Group Limited and 
the Scottish Edge Fund.

David was previously the senior 
partner of Deloitte LLP for Scotland 
and Northern Ireland, and a UK 
executive board member of the firm 
until 2003. Since then, David held the 
positions of co-Chairman of Martin 
Currie (Holdings) Limited, Chairman 
of Mouchel Group plc and Crest 
Nicholson plc and a Non-Executive 
Director of City Inn Limited, in each 
case standing down after completing 
the successful restructuring of 
these businesses. David was also 
Non-Executive Chairman of Aberdeen 
New Dawn Investment Trust plc, 
Liberty Living Group plc and 
Liberty Living Finance plc, Senior 
Independent Director of Renold plc, 
STV Group plc and Superglass 
Holdings plc and Non-Executive 
Director of Mithras Investment 
Trust plc. 

Background/experience
Warwick was appointed Chief 
Executive in July 2017, having worked 
closely with the Group since 2011, 
whilst he was Chief Operating Officer 
for easyJet, as part of unlocking 
capacity constraints at London’s 
several airports including London 
Southend Airport. Warwick played 
a key part in easyJet’s growth to 
a FTSE 100 business.

Warwick has significant experience 
in the aviation sector, having worked 
in senior executive roles at easyJet, 
Ryanair and Kingfisher/Air Deccan in 
India. He also has a background in 
private equity in manufacturing and 
technology and holds a MBA.

He has held board positions at Airline 
Group and National Air Traffic 
Services (NATS), the UK’s airspace 
provider, and is currently a Non-
Executive Director of FirstGroup plc 
(a leading transport operator in the UK 
and North America).

Background/experience
Nick was appointed Chief Operating 
Officer in September 2018, having 
worked as Group Commercial Director 
since October 2017.

Nick previously worked for BES 
Utilities, where he was Managing 
Director. He has also previously 
occupied a number of leadership 
roles at Practice Plan Limited and 
Medenta Finance and has a strong 
commercial background.

Nick qualified as a Chartered 
Accountant with BDO LLP before 
joining Grant Thornton as a 
Corporate Financier.

He is currently a Non-Executive 
Director of AirPortr Limited.

Background/experience
Lewis was appointed Chief Financial 
Officer on 1 April 2019.

Lewis previously served as Chief 
Financial Officer to IAG Cargo Limited, 
which provides global cargo services 
to British Airways, Iberia, Aer Lingus 
and other IAG airlines. Prior to that, he 
was Head of Financial Planning and 
Analysis at easyJet, responsible for 
financial business partnering across 
the airline.

Lewis has also held senior finance 
roles at Premier Foods PLC, British 
Bakeries Limited and Racal 
Electronics Group International.

He is also a member of the Audit 
Committee of charity Tommy’s.

Background/experience
In 2018, John stepped down after 16 
years from the position of Managing 
Director of Unilever Ventures Limited, 
during which time he chaired the 
Investment Committee and made 
investments in 50 early-stage 
businesses in the UK, US and Europe.

He has sat on the boards of 20 
companies, five as Chairman. 
Currently he is also Non-Executive 
Chairman of the Co-op’s Federal 
Retail and Trading Services Limited, 
which coordinates purchasing for 
Co-operative retailers in the UK.

Background/experience
With a background in financial public 
relations and investment banking, 
Ginny brings more than 30 years’ 
experience as a board-level adviser 
to quoted companies in the 
infrastructure, industrial and support 
services sectors.

Ginny is a Partner at Capital Market 
Communications (Camarco). Prior 
to joining Camarco in 2014, Ginny 
co-founded and spent 26 years at 
one of the UK’s leading financial 
public relations firms, Citigate Dewe 
Rogerson. Her specific areas of 
expertise include high-profile capital 
markets transactions and change 
management. A former Development 
Council Member of the Natural History 
Museum, she is currently Vice 
Chairman of Carers (UK), the UK’s 
leading charity for unpaid carers.

Background/experience
David has significant experience at 
senior levels of finance, audit and risk. 

He is Non-Executive Chairman of 
Connect Group plc, the market leader 
in the distribution of newspapers 
and magazines in the UK and is also a 
Non-Executive Director at Dignity plc, 
where he is due to step down from the 
board in June 2020 and Scapa Group 
plc, where he is Chairman of the Audit 
Committee and Senior Independent 
Director.

Previous positions include Chief 
Financial Officer of Synthomer plc 
where he was employed for seven 
years. Prior to this he held a number 
of senior roles with ICI plc. David 
has also previously served as a 
member of the Cabinet Office Audit 
and Risk Committee and the Board 
for Actuarial Standards. He is a 
member of the Institute of Chartered 
Accountants in England and Wales 
and a Fellow of the Association of 
Corporate Treasurers.

Background/experience
Louise joined the Group as Company 
Secretary in October 2017. She is a 
qualified solicitor and was previously 
Group Legal Manager and Company 
Secretary of a UK manufacturing 
company listed on the London 
Stock Exchange.

Prior to moving into industry, Louise 
was in private practice for 14 years 
with leading law firms in London 
and Manchester.

Committee membership
Chairman of the Nomination 
Committee.

Committee membership
Chairman of the Remuneration 
Committee and member of the Audit 
and Nomination Committees.

Committee membership
Member of the Remuneration, 
Nomination and Audit Committees.

Committee membership
Chairman of the Audit Committee and 
member of the Remuneration and 
Nomination Committees.
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David Shearer
Non-Executive Chairman

Warwick Brady
Chief Executive

Nick Dilworth
Chief Operating Officer

Lewis Girdwood
Chief Financial Officer

John Coombs
Non-Executive Director

Ginny Pulbrook
Non-Executive Director

David Blackwood
Non-Executive Director

Louise Brace
Company Secretary

Appointed to the Board
1 June 2019

Appointed to the Board
1 July 2017

Appointed to the Board
1 September 2018 

Appointed to the Board
1 April 2019 

Appointed to the Board
1 July 2014 

Appointed to the Board
1 October 2018

Appointed to the Board
1 March 2019

Appointed 
23 October 2017

Background/experience
David joined the Board on 1 June 
2019 and was appointed Non-
Executive Chairman on 23 July 
following the 2019 AGM.

David is an experienced independent 
director and corporate financier and 
turnaround specialist. He is currently 
Non-Executive Chairman of Speedy 
Hire Plc, Socium Group Limited and 
the Scottish Edge Fund.

David was previously the senior 
partner of Deloitte LLP for Scotland 
and Northern Ireland, and a UK 
executive board member of the firm 
until 2003. Since then, David held the 
positions of co-Chairman of Martin 
Currie (Holdings) Limited, Chairman 
of Mouchel Group plc and Crest 
Nicholson plc and a Non-Executive 
Director of City Inn Limited, in each 
case standing down after completing 
the successful restructuring of 
these businesses. David was also 
Non-Executive Chairman of Aberdeen 
New Dawn Investment Trust plc, 
Liberty Living Group plc and 
Liberty Living Finance plc, Senior 
Independent Director of Renold plc, 
STV Group plc and Superglass 
Holdings plc and Non-Executive 
Director of Mithras Investment 
Trust plc. 

Background/experience
Warwick was appointed Chief 
Executive in July 2017, having worked 
closely with the Group since 2011, 
whilst he was Chief Operating Officer 
for easyJet, as part of unlocking 
capacity constraints at London’s 
several airports including London 
Southend Airport. Warwick played 
a key part in easyJet’s growth to 
a FTSE 100 business.

Warwick has significant experience 
in the aviation sector, having worked 
in senior executive roles at easyJet, 
Ryanair and Kingfisher/Air Deccan in 
India. He also has a background in 
private equity in manufacturing and 
technology and holds a MBA.

He has held board positions at Airline 
Group and National Air Traffic 
Services (NATS), the UK’s airspace 
provider, and is currently a Non-
Executive Director of FirstGroup plc 
(a leading transport operator in the UK 
and North America).

Background/experience
Nick was appointed Chief Operating 
Officer in September 2018, having 
worked as Group Commercial Director 
since October 2017.

Nick previously worked for BES 
Utilities, where he was Managing 
Director. He has also previously 
occupied a number of leadership 
roles at Practice Plan Limited and 
Medenta Finance and has a strong 
commercial background.

Nick qualified as a Chartered 
Accountant with BDO LLP before 
joining Grant Thornton as a 
Corporate Financier.

He is currently a Non-Executive 
Director of AirPortr Limited.

Background/experience
Lewis was appointed Chief Financial 
Officer on 1 April 2019.

Lewis previously served as Chief 
Financial Officer to IAG Cargo Limited, 
which provides global cargo services 
to British Airways, Iberia, Aer Lingus 
and other IAG airlines. Prior to that, he 
was Head of Financial Planning and 
Analysis at easyJet, responsible for 
financial business partnering across 
the airline.

Lewis has also held senior finance 
roles at Premier Foods PLC, British 
Bakeries Limited and Racal 
Electronics Group International.

He is also a member of the Audit 
Committee of charity Tommy’s.

Background/experience
In 2018, John stepped down after 16 
years from the position of Managing 
Director of Unilever Ventures Limited, 
during which time he chaired the 
Investment Committee and made 
investments in 50 early-stage 
businesses in the UK, US and Europe.

He has sat on the boards of 20 
companies, five as Chairman. 
Currently he is also Non-Executive 
Chairman of the Co-op’s Federal 
Retail and Trading Services Limited, 
which coordinates purchasing for 
Co-operative retailers in the UK.

Background/experience
With a background in financial public 
relations and investment banking, 
Ginny brings more than 30 years’ 
experience as a board-level adviser 
to quoted companies in the 
infrastructure, industrial and support 
services sectors.

Ginny is a Partner at Capital Market 
Communications (Camarco). Prior 
to joining Camarco in 2014, Ginny 
co-founded and spent 26 years at 
one of the UK’s leading financial 
public relations firms, Citigate Dewe 
Rogerson. Her specific areas of 
expertise include high-profile capital 
markets transactions and change 
management. A former Development 
Council Member of the Natural History 
Museum, she is currently Vice 
Chairman of Carers (UK), the UK’s 
leading charity for unpaid carers.

Background/experience
David has significant experience at 
senior levels of finance, audit and risk. 

He is Non-Executive Chairman of 
Connect Group plc, the market leader 
in the distribution of newspapers 
and magazines in the UK and is also a 
Non-Executive Director at Dignity plc, 
where he is due to step down from the 
board in June 2020 and Scapa Group 
plc, where he is Chairman of the Audit 
Committee and Senior Independent 
Director.

Previous positions include Chief 
Financial Officer of Synthomer plc 
where he was employed for seven 
years. Prior to this he held a number 
of senior roles with ICI plc. David 
has also previously served as a 
member of the Cabinet Office Audit 
and Risk Committee and the Board 
for Actuarial Standards. He is a 
member of the Institute of Chartered 
Accountants in England and Wales 
and a Fellow of the Association of 
Corporate Treasurers.

Background/experience
Louise joined the Group as Company 
Secretary in October 2017. She is a 
qualified solicitor and was previously 
Group Legal Manager and Company 
Secretary of a UK manufacturing 
company listed on the London 
Stock Exchange.

Prior to moving into industry, Louise 
was in private practice for 14 years 
with leading law firms in London 
and Manchester.

Committee membership
Chairman of the Nomination 
Committee.

Committee membership
Chairman of the Remuneration 
Committee and member of the Audit 
and Nomination Committees.

Committee membership
Member of the Remuneration, 
Nomination and Audit Committees.

Committee membership
Chairman of the Audit Committee and 
member of the Remuneration and 
Nomination Committees.
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Executive Directors 3
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Corporate  
Governance 

David Shearer
Chairman

Dear Shareholder
I am pleased to present the Corporate Governance Report for the 
year ended 29 February 2020 on behalf of the Board and my first as 
Chairman. In this first period of my tenure, I have been pleased to 
see that the Company follows and maintains the highest standards 
of corporate governance. It is my firm view that strong and effective 
corporate governance is essential to our success.

The UK Corporate Governance Code
In this report, we explain the Group’s approach to corporate 
governance and provide the information required of us by the 2018 
UK Corporate Governance Code (the Code), which is applicable to 
the Company for this reporting period and sets out guidance to 
companies with a premium listing in the form of principles and 
provisions for good governance. 

We are committed to the Principles set out in the Code which are 
fundamental for effective management and business success and 
to meet the expectations of our investors and stakeholders. The 
Governance section of the Annual Report provides information in 
relation to how the Company has applied the Code.

The Company is required to state whether it has complied with the 
relevant provisions of the Code. The Board considers the Company 
was in full compliance with the relevant provisions of the Code 
throughout the financial year ended 29 February 2020, except where 
highlighted in this report. 

The Code can be downloaded from the website of the Financial 
Reporting Council (www.frc.org.uk).

The Board has welcomed the changes in the Code since our last 
report. In particular, the Board is conscious of the importance of 
culture and we will be reporting next year on the development of a 
new set of Company Values and further investment in our people. We 
have also introduced new sections in the Annual Report addressing 
how we engage with stakeholders on pages 18 and 19 and our 
approach to engaging with our workforce on pages 41 to 43.

The Board’s primary responsibility 
is to ensure that the Group 
provides long-term and sustainable 
growth for its shareholders.

David Shearer
Chairman
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David Shearer Nomination Committee Chairman

David Blackwood Audit Committee Chairman

John Coombs Remuneration Committee Chairman

Board Committees overview

Nomination Committee Report See pages 80 and 81

Audit Committee Report See pages 82 to 85 

Directors’ Remuneration Report See pages 86 to 112 

The next external evaluation of the Board is to take place in the year 
ending 28 February 2022. The Board and Committee evaluations this 
year have therefore been undertaken internally. Further information in 
this regard can be found on page 76 of this report.

Diversity
Our aim is to continue to consider diversity in all respects and in all 
areas of the workforce, including the Board. As reported last year, 
we have undertaken a comprehensive review and invested in our 
Equality, Diversity and Inclusion strategy. We now have a clear action 
plan in place and we will update further on the actions taken next 
year. This section of the Annual Report on page 43 also forms part of 
the Corporate Governance Report.

Opportunities and risks
Consideration of opportunities and risks is a key area of focus for the 
Board. The Board reviews the Group’s risk appetite annually and 
regularly reviews the principal and emerging risks relevant to the 
business, together with mitigations and controls. 

We set out in more detail in the Strategic Report how the Board 
assesses and manages risk and we list the Group’s principal risks 
and uncertainties. This section of the Annual Report on pages 58 to 
63 also forms part of the Corporate Governance Report. 

Leadership and Board effectiveness
The impact of the unprecedented COVID-19 crisis has placed the 
spotlight on effective leadership by the executive team and the 
Board. I am pleased with the response to the challenge by all of my 
colleagues who have committed significant time and effort to the 
development and implementation of our plans. In particular, the 
Non-Executive members of the Board have committed their time 
and broad business expertise to support the executive through this 
period. This is a true measure of board effectiveness.

I am confident that the Board will continue to deliver upon key areas 
of focus and the agreed strategy as a whole in the coming months 
and years. Further information in relation to the key areas of focus for 
the Board this year and expected areas of focus for next year are 
outlined on pages 77 and 78 of this report.

AGM
Our AGM will be held at 11am on 30 July 2020. We are always 
pleased to receive feedback from shareholders and I would 
encourage our shareholders to submit questions prior to the AGM 
as attendance will not be possible this year due to the COVID-19 
situation. For further details please refer to the AGM Notice.

David Shearer
Chairman
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Corporate Governance 
continued 

Governance structure
The key features of the Group’s governance structure are shown in the schematic below: 

Group management team
Implementation of the Group policies 

Nomination Committee
The Nomination Committee takes the 
lead role in evaluating the Board of 
Directors by examining the skills and 
characteristics required for performance. 
This includes making recommendations 
to the Board regarding structure, size 
and composition, succession planning 
and appointments.

Remuneration Committee
The Remuneration Committee supports 
the Board in determining and agreeing 
Remuneration Policy to ensure 
appropriate incentives are available 
to encourage enhanced performance 
and fair and responsible rewards 
for individual contributions towards 
the Group’s success.

Audit Committee
The Audit Committee oversees the 
review and monitoring of the integrity 
of financial information provided to 
shareholders, the Group’s internal 
controls and risk management, including 
internal and external audit processes, 
and ensuring compliance with laws, 
regulations and ethical codes of practice.

Strategic objectives

Board Committees
Support the Board in its work with specific areas of review and oversight

Chief Executive
The Chief Executive has responsibility for setting the strategy which is 

agreed and overseen by the Board and for managing the business

Board
The Board is responsible for approving and overseeing strategy 

and has ownership of Group policies

Nomination Committee Report pages 80 and 81 Directors’ Remuneration Report pages 86 to 112 Audit Committee Report pages 82 to 85

Stobart Group Management Board

Divisional leaders

Divisional teams

Policies and procedures

Functional leaders

Functional teams
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Board composition and independence
The Board continues to have a balance of Executive and 
Non-Executive Directors. As at 29 February 2020, the Board 
consisted of seven individuals: a Non-Executive Chairman, three 
independent Non-Executive Directors and three Executive Directors.

The Board believes that it, and its Committees, have an appropriate 
composition and blend of backgrounds, skills and experience to 
fulfil their duties effectively and, importantly, to comply with the 
Code. However, the Board continues to keep its membership, 
and that of its Committees, under review to ensure that an 
acceptable balance is maintained, and that the collective skills 
and experience of its members continue to be refreshed. As 
referred to in the Nomination Committee Report on page 81, the 
Board was in the process of recruiting additional Non-Executive 
Directors to broaden its diversity of experience but that process 
was temporarily ceased by the COVID-19 crisis. The Board’s 
further consideration of its composition in the context of its diversity 
is set out in the Nomination Committee Report on page 81.

The Board is satisfied that all Directors have sufficient time to devote 
to their roles and that undue reliance is not placed on any individual.

The Board does not currently have a Senior Independent Director 
following the retirement of Andrew Wood at the last AGM and in this 
respect is not fully compliant with the Code. This is being addressed 
by the recruitment exercise which has been stalled and will be 
corrected within the next few months. 

Responsibilities of the Board
The Board is collectively responsible for the long-term success  
of the Company, including the effective oversight of the Group and 
its businesses.

In accordance with the Code, the Board has agreed a formal 
schedule of matters reserved for the Board and requiring its decision.

The Board’s primary responsibility is to set the Company’s strategic 
objectives and ensure that these are monitored and resources are 
available (both financial and human resources) to meet them. As part 
of the Board’s oversight of operations, it also ensures maintenance of 
a sound system of internal control and risk management.

The Board’s main areas of focus during the year, including matters 
reserved, are set out on page 77.

Board attendance
The Board held nine scheduled meetings during the course 
of the 12 months under review. The Audit, Nomination and 
Remuneration Committees held four, three and four scheduled 
meetings respectively. The Board and Committees also meet 
as required on an ad hoc basis to deal with urgent business, 
including the consideration and approval of transactions 
that are reserved to the Board. The table below shows the 
Directors’ attendance at the scheduled Board and Committee 
meetings during the year ended 29 February 2020. Each 
meeting was attended by every Board member eligible to 
attend, other than where noted below (see footnote 4).

The agenda and relevant briefing papers are distributed by 
the Company Secretary on a timely basis, usually one week in 
advance of each Board and Committee meeting, via board portal 
software, Diligent. The portal is an app which allows the Directors 
secure access to the Board and Committee papers they need 
before, during and after meetings. It has a number of benefits, 
which include streamlining Board meeting management, such 
as the process of collating and distributing Board materials. It 
also provides a robust solution which facilitates better Board 
communications for increased engagement and effective 
decision-making while enhancing corporate governance.

Board meetings are an opportunity for the Non-Executive Directors 
to challenge the performance of the various divisions against targets 
and key performance indicators, to review transactions which have 
taken place since the preceding meeting and to receive reports from 
the Board’s Committees.

All meetings of the Board and its Committees have minutes recorded 
by the Company Secretary. Board minutes are reviewed and 
approved by the Chairman in the first instance, circulated to the 
Board for further comments within ten days of the Board meeting 
and tabled at the next Board meeting for approval. Committee 
minutes are also reviewed by the Chairman of that meeting and then 
tabled for approval at the next meeting. Any concerns raised by 
Directors are clearly recorded in the minutes of each meeting.

1  Former Directors are not included in the table above. During the year ended 29 February 2020 and before stepping down from the Board at the 2019 AGM, Iain Ferguson attended four scheduled 
Board meetings, three scheduled Audit Committee meetings, two Nomination Committee meetings and four scheduled Remuneration Committee meetings and Andrew Wood attended four 
scheduled Board meetings, three scheduled Audit Committee meetings, two Nomination Committee meetings and four scheduled Remuneration Committee meetings in the period.

2  There were also two newly constituted Committees of the Board during the year which held three meetings to deal with the approval of the interim and year end results and the finalisation of 
documents to complete a transaction reserved to the Board. Those meetings were attended by every Board member eligible to attend.

3  David Shearer and Lewis Girdwood joined the Board part way through the year and attended every Board and Committee meeting where eligible. 
4  The date of one of the scheduled Board meetings was changed at short notice and John Coombs was not available to attend the Board meeting on the rescheduled date. Where a Board member 
is unable to attend it is ensured that the respective Chairman is notified of their apologies and that the Chairman is made aware of their views ahead of the meeting. Each member is then fully 
briefed on the contents and outcomes of the respective meeting to ensure seamless progress on matters discussed.

5 Not a member of the Committee; attendance for all or part of the meeting by invitation.

7 9 8 9 84 9 9Board1,2

9 meetings

45 45 45 15 4 4 4Remuneration 
Committee1

1 25 – – 3 3 3Nomination 
Committee13 meetings

15 45 45 45 4 4 4Audit  
Committee14 meetings

4 meetings

David 
Shearer3

Warwick  
Brady

Lewis 
Girdwood3

Nick  
Dilworth

John  
Coombs

Ginny  
Pulbrook

David 
Blackwood
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Corporate Governance 
continued 

Individual Directors’ key responsibilities
The key responsibilities of individual Directors are set out below.

Title Responsibility

Chairman
David Shearer

The positions of Chairman and Chief Executive are held by different individuals in order to provide 
segregation of roles. The Chairman is responsible for leading the Board, ensuring its effectiveness and 
looking after the interests of shareholders as a whole.

Executive Directors The Executive Directors are responsible for the day-to-day management of the business. They are 
accountable for developing the Group’s strategy and budget for Board approval and for monitoring the 
financial, operational and service performance of the Group.

The Stobart Group Management Board (the Company’s senior leadership team) comprises the three 
Executive Directors, Group People Director, Group General Counsel, Group Head of Communications, 
Head of Group IT and the Company Secretary. Meetings of this group are held weekly to discuss general 
business activity and also monthly to discuss strategic issues in the business. Senior management from 
across the divisions will also attend the Stobart Group Management Board meetings by invitation.

Chief Executive
Warwick Brady

The Chief Executive’s role is to implement strategy laid down by the Board and to manage the Group and 
its operations. The Board is collectively responsible for the success of the Group.

Chief Operating Officer
Nick Dilworth

The Chief Operating Officer is responsible for all operational matters affecting the Group.

Chief Financial Officer
Lewis Girdwood

To ensure sound financial management of the Group’s business and provide strategic and financial 
guidance to ensure that the Company’s financial commitments are met.

Senior Independent Director In addition to the role as a Non-Executive Director, this role is to:
• Provide a sounding board for the Chairman and to serve as an intermediary for other Directors 

where necessary.
• Be available to shareholders if they have concerns which cannot be dealt with by the Chairman, 

Chief Executive or Chief Financial Officer.
• Be available to other Directors if they have any concerns regarding the Chairman, or the relationship 

between the Chairman and Chief Executive.
• Meet with the Non-Executive members of the Board at least once a year without the presence of the 

Chairman or the Executive Directors in order to review the Chairman’s performance in his role and also 
the Chairman’s relationship with the Chief Executive.

Non-Executive Directors
John Coombs
Ginny Pulbrook
David Blackwood

The Non-Executive Directors provide a breadth of experience and independent judgement to Board 
discussions. Their role is to challenge and support the executive team whilst being ultimately responsible 
for overseeing corporate governance and protecting shareholder interests.

Each Director has some specialist knowledge that helps provide the Board with valuable insights and, in 
some situations, key contacts in related industries.

The appointment letters of the Non-Executive Directors are available for inspection at each AGM, and at 
the Company’s registered office during normal business hours.

Company Secretary
Louise Brace

The Company Secretary’s role is to act as adviser to the Board on matters relating to corporate governance 
and, in conjunction with the Chairman, to ensure good information flows between the Board, its various 
Committees, the Non-Executive and Executive Directors and the Stobart Group Management Board.

The Non-Executive Directors have access to her advice and services in addition to independent, 
professional advice if required (at the Group’s expense).

See pages 75 and 81 for further information
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Overview Activity in year

Governance 
and risk

 Implementing and 
reviewing compliance 
with the requirements 
of the Code.

 Ensuring a sound 
system of internal 
control and risk 
management, 
including review of the 
Group risk profile.

 Membership and 
composition of the 
Board and its 
Committees.

 Ensuring adequate 
succession planning for 
the Board and senior 
management team.

 Approved new appointments to the Board.
 Considered the Viability Statement.
 Reviewed and agreed the Group’s risk profile, 

principal risks and uncertainties.
 Reviewed the effectiveness of the risk 

management and internal control systems.
 Reviewed internal audit function and external audit.
 Reviewed and implemented as appropriate 

the recommendations made in the January 
2019 external evaluation of the Board and 
its Committees.

 Undertook an internal evaluation of the Board 
and its Committees.

Strategy

 Responsibility for 
approval of the 
Group’s long-term 
objectives and 
commercial strategy.

 Approval of changes 
relating to the Group’s 
capital structure.

 Board Strategy Day held to discuss and monitor 
the strategy.

 Implementation of the Group’s investment into 
Connect Airways Limited.

 Reviewed and considered disposal of assets by 
the Infrastructure division in accordance with the 
agreed strategy.

 Received presentations from Group senior 
management on operations and from  
external advisers.

 Approved major capital projects and  
oversaw delivery.

Leadership

 Responsibility for the 
overall leadership of 
the Group and setting 
the Stobart Values.

 Setting the ‘tone at 
the top’.

 Monitored health and safety performance.
 Succession planning in relation to the Board 

and senior management.
 Reviewed changes to divisional organisation.

Financial 
stewardship

 Approval of all financial 
statements and results 
announcements.

 Recommendation 
and approval of 
all dividends.

 Monitoring the Group’s 
operating and capital 
expenditure budget and 
business plan.

 Approval of major 
capital expenditure  
or disposals.

 Approved the annual operating and capital 
expenditure budgets.

 Reviewed capital requirements.
 Reviewed monthly business performance reports.
 Reviewed dividend policy.
 Reviewed and approved of the half-year and 

full-year results and related announcements.
 Review of pension scheme.
 Approved major capital investment projects.

Shareholder
relations

 Ensuring a satisfactory 
dialogue with 
shareholders, 
including approval 
of key information 
to shareholders.

 Board challenges and shareholder relations 
ahead of the 2019 AGM.

 Reviewed feedback from roadshows and 
presentations to shareholders.

 Approved Annual Report and Accounts and 
information to shareholders for the AGM.

Principal Committees of the Board
The main Committees established by the Board are the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee.

Board focus during the year
During the year ended 29 February 2020, the Board provided its main focus on the following matters:
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Corporate Governance 
continued 

Experience of the Board
The members of the Board maintain the appropriate balance 
of status, experience, independence and knowledge of the 
Company to enable them to discharge their respective duties and 
responsibilities and to ensure that the requirements of the business 
can be met. As outlined on pages 75 and 81, we will take steps to 
further add to the experience of the Board over the next few months.

The experience which each member of the Board brings to their role 
is outlined in the Board biographies on pages 70 and 71.

Directors’ terms of appointment
Further details of the Directors’ service contracts and letters of 
appointment are set out in the Directors’ Remuneration Report 
on page 100.

Expected Board focus for next year
At the date of writing this Annual Report, the COVID-19 crisis 
continues to develop with guidance and regulation being issued by 
the Government. The Board has spent significant time during the 
current financial year to date focusing on the impact of the COVID-19 
situation upon the business and it will continue to do so through the 
immediate crisis and also in planning for operations and business 
beyond COVID-19. 

In addition, the Board will continue to review the areas set out in 
the chart on page 77 and it is anticipated that the following areas 
will also receive focus by the Board during the year ending 
28 February 2021:
• People strategy and talent development. 
• Equality, Diversity and Inclusion strategy.
• ESG.
• Any new major projects arising in the year.
• Succession planning.

Information, induction and professional development
The Chairman is responsible for ensuring all Directors receive 
comprehensive information on a regular basis to enable them 
to perform their duties properly. Updates, where necessary, 
are provided at Board meetings and governance updates are 
provided in each Board pack to keep all Directors up to date 
with regulatory requirements.

New Directors receive an appropriate induction on joining the Board, 
typically including meeting members of the senior management 
team and visits to operational sites. All Directors have access to the 
advice and services of the Company Secretary, who is responsible to 
the Board for ensuring that Board procedures are complied with.

Since the last Corporate Governance Report, our new Chairman has 
undertaken a thorough induction programme that has been planned 
and coordinated by the Company Secretarial team. The induction 
has involved a number of site visits and introductions to the senior 
management team and advisers to the Group. The process 
continues as further site visits are organised and incorporated into 
different Board meeting locations.

Non-Executive Director site visits 
To further enhance the Non-Executive Directors’ knowledge and 
understanding of the business, there have been fully escorted visits 
to London Southend Airport and the Tilbury processing site in July 
2019. In 2020, further site visits are planned for the full Board to the 
Stobart Energy site at Widnes, Carlisle Lake District Airport and 
London Southend Airport.

In addition, individual Board members will attend site visits separately 
to those attended by the full Board.

Board and governance evaluation
As reported on in last year’s Corporate Governance Report, the 
Board commissioned an external evaluation by ICSA Board 
Evaluation (ICSA), an independent provider of board effectiveness 
reviews which concluded in January 2019. The evaluation report 
made a number of recommendations to the Board, all of which have 
been considered by the Board during the year and relevant actions 
to implement agreed upon.

An internal Board evaluation for the year ending 29 February 2020 
was led by the Chairman, David Shearer. This focused primarily on 
the structure of the Board, its mix of experience and the roles and 
responsibilities given the number of changes which had taken place 
in the previous 12 months. The Board through the Nomination 
Committee initiated an exercise to recruit additional Non-Executive 
Directors following these discussions and this remains work in 
progress given the impact of the COVID-19 lockdown.

The Chief Executive conducts annual appraisals with the Executive 
Directors and has regular one-to-one discussions with them about 
their performance, as does the Chairman with the Chief Executive. 

Environmental, Social and Governance Policy
Further information about the Group’s approach to Environmental, 
Social and Governance (ESG) can be found on pages 37 to 57. 

The policies referred to in the schematic on page 74 include 
the following: Health and Safety; ESG; Equality and Diversity; 
Anti-Bribery and Corruption; Quality; Ethics and Business Integrity; 
Whistleblowing; Learning and Development and Use of Auditors for 
Non-Audit Services. These detailed policy statements are available 
on the Group’s website at www.stobartgroup.co.uk.

The Group is committed to ensuring that there is no slavery or 
human trafficking in our supply chains or in any part of our business 
and considers our supply chain to be at a low risk. The Company’s 
Slavery and Human Trafficking Transparency Statement for the 
financial year ended 28 February 2019, made pursuant to Section 
54(1) of the Modern Slavery Act 2015, has been reviewed and 
approved by the Board and can be found on the Group’s website 
at www.stobartgroup.co.uk. This will be reviewed and updated in 
the year in accordance with the provisions of the Modern Slavery 
Act 2015. 
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The Board takes an active role in approving any significant changes 
to Group policies and monitors any employees’ concerns through 
our confidential whistleblowing procedure. Our policies are managed 
by our document control team in our Safety and Compliance 
department. Each policy is reviewed on an annual, three-year or 
five-year basis and updated when required. All policies are clearly 
communicated to every member of staff via our internal induction 
programme and on an ongoing basis via our intranet portal, 
Stobart Central.

Whistleblowing Policy
The Group’s Whistleblowing Policy sets out procedures to enable 
all employees to report any concerns about wrongdoing or 
dangers in the workplace such as theft, fraud or malpractice. The 
Whistleblowing Policy can be found on the Group’s website and the 
intranet portal. 

Internal control and risk management
The Directors’ responsibilities in connection with the financial 
statements are set out in the Directors’ Report on page 115. The 
Board, through the Audit Committee, is responsible for the Group’s 
system of internal control and for reviewing its effectiveness.

The Board considers risk assessment, implementation of mitigating 
actions and internal control to be fundamental to achieving the 
Group’s strategy. Internal control gives the Board reasonable but 
not absolute assurance. The Board has an ongoing process for 
identifying, evaluating and managing the principal risks faced by 
the Group and maintains a risk register.

The system of internal control is based upon:
• The Board’s overall responsibility.
• The Group’s organisational structure, with established lines 

of accountability, as well as clearly defined levels of authority.
• Regular, and at least annual, review by the Board and the 

Audit Committee.
• Support by Company policies in other areas, such as finance.
• Management rather than elimination of the risk of failure to achieve 

strategic objectives. Systems of internal control can only provide 
reasonable and not absolute assurance against material 
misstatement or loss.

The Audit Committee and the Board have reviewed the effectiveness 
of internal control (including financial, operational and compliance 
controls together with risk management in accordance with the 
Code) over the period of this report, and to the date of its publication. 
Systems compliance and confirmation of corrective actions are 
the subject of a detailed report which is submitted to the Board 
at each meeting. 

The Audit Committee reviews the independence of the auditor 
at the interim stage and at year end. The Audit Committee has 
a policy of reviewing the status of the auditing firm and its lead 
engagement partner after five years from initial appointment and 
each year thereafter.

The Group has a business systems internal audit function which 
reviews performance against the agreed policies and procedures. 
The Board has agreed an internal audit programme for the year 
ending 28 February 2021 to cover financial controls and procedures. 

Shareholder relations 
The Company is committed to maintaining good communications 
with its shareholders. Senior executives, including the Chairman and 
Chief Executive, have ongoing dialogue with individual institutional 
shareholders in order to develop an understanding of their views. 
These views are periodically fed back to the Board to ensure 
that all of the Directors, in particular the Non-Executive Directors, 
develop an understanding of the views of major shareholders  
about the Company. 

During the year, shareholders are kept informed of the progress of 
the Group through regular corporate communications: the annual 
results announcement; the interim statement; trading updates and 
press releases regarding other important developments as well as 
the distribution of regulated information. 

Twice a year, general presentations are given to analysts and 
investors covering the annual and half-year results. In addition, 
members of the Board meet with institutional investors and analysts 
on a periodic basis.

The Company Secretary generally deals with enquiries from 
individual shareholders. The website www.stobartgroup.co.uk 
contains published information and press releases.
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Nomination 
Committee 
Report 

Nomination Committee membership

The Committee has written terms of reference 
which are available in the ‘about’ section of the 
Group’s website at
www.stobartgroup.co.uk

David Shearer
Nomination Committee Chairman

Key activities during the year

 David Shearer, Chairman
 John Coombs, Non-Executive Director
 Ginny Pulbrook, Non-Executive Director
 David Blackwood, Non-Executive 

Director

The Chairman may also invite others to attend meetings of the 
Committee as required such as the Chief Executive and Group 
People Director. 

– Commencing process for appointment of 
Non-Executive Directors

– Review of 2019 Board evaluation 
recommendations

– 2020 Board evaluation
– Re-election of Directors
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Dear Shareholder 
I am pleased to present the Nomination Committee Report for the 
year ended 29 February 2020 and to provide shareholders with an 
overview of the work carried out during the period under review.

Role of the Committee
The Nomination Committee is required to meet at least once a year, 
or more often if so required, to carry out its key functions and duties. 
These include:
• regularly review the structure, size and composition (including the 

skills, knowledge, experience and diversity) of the Board and 
make recommendations to the Board with regard to any changes;

• ensure plans are in place for orderly succession to Board and 
senior management positions, and oversee the development of a 
diverse pipeline for succession, taking into account the challenges 
and opportunities facing the Company, and the skills and 
expertise needed on the Board in the future;

• be responsible for identifying and nominating for the approval 
of the Board, candidates to fill Board vacancies as and when 
they arise;

• review the results of the Board performance evaluation process that 
relate to the composition of the Board and succession planning; and 

• the re-election of directors under the annual re-election provisions 
of the Code.

Attendance
The Nomination Committee met three times during the year. 
Details of individual attendance by its members is shown in the 
chart on page 75.

Board evaluation
As reported in the Committee’s report last year, the Committee ran 
the process for my own appointment and I joined the Board on 
1 June 2019 before taking over as Chairman from Iain Ferguson on 
23 July 2019.

Since my appointment, the Committee has reviewed the actions from 
the external evaluation carried out by ICSA Board Evaluation last 
year, an independent provider of board effectiveness reviews which 
concluded in January 2019. The evaluation report made a number of 
recommendations to the Board, all of which have been considered 
by the Board during the year and relevant actions to implement 
agreed upon.

This year, I have led an informal Board evaluation of the Board 
structure and performance for the year ending 29 February 2020. 
Arising out of that review and given the significant number of 
changes which have arisen over the year up to my appointment, it 
was clear that there were some areas where it would be beneficial to 
add specific sectoral experience to support the Group in the delivery 
of its core strategy while at the same time allowing planning for 
succession key committee roles as they arise. It was decided to 
appoint Russell Reynolds, a leading independent search firm with 
existing experience of the Group and its operations to undertake a 
recruitment exercise for two additional Non-Executive Directors. 

The criteria involved in the selection process included specific 
experience in the core operating sectors of the Group, Board level 
experience in either a plc or similar large organisation while also 
having regards to the Board policy on diversity. The process was 
reasonably advanced but was stalled by the COVID-19 lockdown. It 
is anticipated that following the finalisation of the year end this will be 
progressed with a view to announcing the new appointments prior to 
the half year. Once there is clarity on the new Board composition a 
decision will be made on the appointment of a Senior Independent 
Director based on the overall skills and experience of the Board at 
that time.

In addition to evaluation of the Board as a whole, separate appraisals 
are held for individual Directors. The Chief Executive conducts 
annual appraisals with the Executive Directors and has regular 
one-to-one discussions with them about their performance, as does 
the Chairman with the Chief Executive. Following the ICSA Evaluation 
recommendation, a formal process for the annual review of the 
performance of the Non-Executive Directors has been Implemented 
in the year with the Chairman.

Board composition and diversity
The Committee strongly supports the principle of diversity at Board 
level in all its aspects and is intent on implementing this policy as the 
Board is refreshed. 

All new appointments to the Board are made on merit, taking into 
account the specific skills and experience of candidates. The 
appointment of further Non-Executive Directors will increase the 
diversity of the Board in terms of the skills and experience they bring. 

More widely, the Group continues the development of its Equality, 
Diversity and Inclusion strategy which is reported upon in detail on 
pages 43 to 45 of this Annual Report. As we progress the plan under 
the Equality, Diversity and Inclusion strategy we will report further in 
the next Annual Report. 

For the year ended 29 February 2020, women represented 28% of 
senior management and their direct reports.

Succession planning
It is the Committee’s responsibility to consider succession planning 
for the Board and senior management positions. The Board 
appointments we intend to make during this financial year will 
be a further step in our succession planning for the Board.

The Committee has recommended the re-election of all Directors 
at the AGM on 30 July 2020. 

David Shearer
Chairman of the Nomination Committee
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Audit Committee 
Report 

David Blackwood
Audit Committee Chairman

Audit Committee membership

Key activities during the year

 David Blackwood, (Chairman from 
23 July 2019)

 Andrew Wood (Chairman to  
23 July 2019)

 Ginny Pulbrook, Non-Executive Director
 John Coombs, Non-Executive Director

– Review of the significant judgements and 
estimates applied in preparation of the interim 
review and Annual Report.

– Findings from the external audit for the year 
ended 28 February 2019.

– Review of the Annual Report to ensure it is fair, 
balanced and understandable.

– Findings from the external review by the auditor 
of the interim results to 31 August 2019.

– Review of findings from the internal audit 
projects conducted during the year.

– Approval of the external audit plan and strategy 
for the year ended 29 February 2020.

– Approval of the internal audit plan for the year.
– Review and update of Audit Committee terms 

of reference.
– Considering and reviewing the activity and 

effectiveness of the Whistleblowing Policy;
– Confirmation of the independence of the 

external auditor.
– Review of the Viability Statement.
– Reviewing the impact of IFRS 16 ‘Leases’ and 

disclosures following transition.
– Post balance sheet acquisition of Stobart Air 

and Propius reviewed.
– Review of asset carrying values and associated 

impairment workings.
– Reviewing contingent liabilities disclosures, 

including Eddie Stobart, Stobart Air and Propius 
guarantees and indemnities.

– Going concern presentation and funding options 
discussed, including impact of COVID-19.

The Committee has written terms of reference 
which are available in the ‘about’ section of the 
Group’s website at
www.stobartgroup.co.uk
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Dear Shareholder
On behalf of the Audit Committee (the Committee) I am pleased 
to present our Audit Committee Report for the year ended 
29 February 2020.

Having conducted careful reviews, the Committee concluded that 
the 2020 Annual Report is fair, balanced and understandable and 
advised the Board accordingly.

Other Directors, including Chairman, Chief Executive, Chief 
Operating Officer and Chief Financial Officer, the Group Financial 
Controller and the Group’s internal and external auditor attended 
meetings by invitation. As Chairman, I also meet independently with 
the external auditor, the Chief Financial Officer and internal auditor.  
I have an open and professional relationship with each of them  
and I am confident in their capabilities and the level of assurance  
that they provide.

Details of the membership of the Committee, the key activities of the 
Committee during the year, the matters related to the engagement of 
the external auditor and an overview of our risk management and 
internal control framework are set out in this report. In addition, we 
include in the report details of the significant accounting matters and 
judgements considered by the Committee, with details of how these 
have been addressed during the year.

David Blackwood
Chairman of the Audit Committee
4 June 2020

Audit Committee membership during the year
The members of the Committee and their meeting attendance during 
the year are set out below. All members of the Committee during the 
year were fully independent Non-Executive Directors. The Company 
Secretary acts as the Committee’s secretary. David Blackwood, 
Committee Chairman, is a qualified accountant and is considered  
by the Board and the Nomination Committee to hold the requisite 
recent and relevant financial experience for the purposes of the UK 
Corporate Governance Code and competence in accounting or 
audit for the purposes of DTR 7.1.

Committee member
Meeting 

attendance

David Blackwood 4/4
Andrew Wood 1/1
Ginny Pulbrook 4/4
John Coombs 4/4

Fair, balanced and understandable information
The Committee acknowledges that, taken as a whole, the Annual 
Report and Accounts need to be fair, balanced and understandable 
in order to provide the information necessary for shareholders to 
assess the Group’s position and performance, business model 
and strategy. The Committee advises the Board on whether it 
believes that the Annual Report and Accounts meet this requirement. 
In order for the Committee to make this assessment it considers 
reports from management received during the year that monitor 
financial performance, and at the year end in support of the financial 
statements, and also reports from the external auditor on the findings 
of its annual audit.

Formal review processes are in place to ensure that the Annual 
Report and Accounts are factually accurate. Following a detailed 
review, the Committee concluded that the Annual Report was fair, 
balanced and understandable and advised the Board accordingly.

The responsibility statement of the Directors in respect of the Annual 
Report is on page 115.

Engagement of the external auditor
The external auditor is engaged to express an opinion on the Group’s 
financial statements. The audit includes the review and testing of the 
systems of internal financial control and the data contained in the 
financial statements to the extent necessary for expressing an audit 
opinion on the truth and fairness of the financial statements.

KPMG LLP (KPMG) has been the Group’s auditor since September 
2012, following the last audit tender conducted. KPMG provides the 
Committee with relevant reports, reviews and advice throughout the 
year, as set out in their terms of its engagement. In accordance with 
UK regulations, the Company’s auditor adheres to a lead partner 
rotation policy every five years. The latest rotation took effect during 
2017 and this year end is the third for the current lead engagement 
partner. Due to the current climate and recent challenges faced by 
the Group, there is no plan to tender the audit in the short term. The 
Committee believes KPMG are best placed to ensure the approach 
to financial presentation of results that are true and fair.

During the year, the performance of the auditor and effectiveness 
of the audit process was formally assessed by the Committee, 
in conjunction with the senior management team. In making this 
assessment the Committee focused on the robustness of the audit, 
the quality of delivery of audit services and the quality of the auditor’s 
staff. The Committee is satisfied that the audit continues to be 
effective and provides an appropriate independent challenge of the 
Group’s senior management.

The Committee has adopted a policy which sets out a framework for 
determining whether it is appropriate to engage the Group’s auditor 
for non-audit services and for pre-approving non-audit fees. 

The overall objective of the policy is to ensure that the provision 
of non-audit services does not impair the external auditor’s 
independence or objectivity. This includes, but is not limited
to, assessing:
• The scope of the work to be undertaken;
• any threats to independence and objectivity resulting from 

the provision of such services;
• whether the skills and experience of the audit firm make it 

a suitable supplier of the non-audit service;
• whether there are safeguards in place to ensure that there is no 

threat to objectivity and independence in the conduct of the audit 
resulting from the provision of such non-audit services by the 
external auditor, the nature of the non-audit services, the related 
fee levels and the fee levels individually and in aggregate relative 
to the audit fee; and

• the criteria which govern the compensation of the individuals 
performing the audit.

A full copy of this policy is available on the Stobart Group website. 
Non-audit fees charged by the auditor in the year were £205,000 
compared with an audit fee of £765,000. The non-audit fees relate to 
the half-year review and reporting accountant work in relation to a 
potential class 1 disposal. The objectivity and independence of the 
auditor have been reviewed and considered to be safeguarded.
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Internal audit
The Group’s Safety and Compliance team performs audits against 
documented processes. Reports summarising the findings and 
key actions arising from the reviews are discussed at each Board 
meeting as well as being circulated to the Executive Directors and 
divisional management. In addition, the Group operates a dedicated 
financial internal audit function, operated by an independent 
external firm. The scope of these audits is prepared by the Chief 
Financial Officer and approved by the Committee at the beginning 
of the financial year. There were three projects completed during the 
year with reports summarising the findings and recommendations. 
Significant issues identified within audit reports are considered 
in detail along with the mitigation plans to resolve those issues. 
A summary of the reports and updates on ongoing and future 
projects are presented at each Audit Committee meeting.

Significant accounting matters
As part of its monitoring of the integrity of the financial statements, 
the Committee reviews whether suitable accounting policies have 
been adopted, whether management has made appropriate 
judgements and estimates, and also seeks support from the 
external auditor to assess them. The Committee has taken the 
impact of Brexit into consideration when assessing the financial 
reporting implications on key judgements and estimates.

The main issues reviewed for the year ended 29 February 2020 
are set out below:

Going concern 
The Annual Report and Accounts have been prepared on the going 
concern basis, following the preparation of a five-year forecast and 
detailed review of the Group operations and capital requirements. 
On 3 May 2019, the Group placed a £53.1m secured guaranteed 
exchangeable bond. The bond has a five-year maturity and is 
exchangeable into ordinary shares of Eddie Stobart Logistics plc. 
On 14 November 2019, it was announced that the dividend had been 
suspended until the point at which the Group becomes significantly 
cash generative at an operating level, subject to investment 
requirements to maximise shareholder returns. 

Post year end, the Group intends to announce its intention to raise 
gross proceeds of approximately £80 million by way of a firm placing 
and placing and open offer. Furthermore, on 4 June 2020, current 
bank lenders agreed to fund an additional £40m revolving credit 
facility (RCF). Together, these measures will allow the Group to 
navigate through the current issues created by the COVID-19 global 
pandemic and move the business forward. These significant events 
improved cash flows in the five-year forecast and with the ability 
of management to flex the timing of certain capital expenditure 
across the Group, along with other funding options being reviewed 
by management, the Committee is satisfied that the Group is a 
going concern and the Annual Report and Accounts have been 
prepared accordingly.

Guarantees and contingent liabilities
During the year, the Group reviewed all guarantees and indemnities it 
had provided external parties. Following this review, it was identified 
that the likelihood of these guarantees leading an economic out flow 
of resource from the Group had increased from the prior year where 
a number were deemed remote. Each guarantee was quantified 
and a likelihood of either remote, less than probable or probable 
prescribed. This was highly judgemental, however, taking all 
information into consideration and walking back over the time line 
of events to create a fact pattern, it was identified that disclosure in 
the contingent liability note was the appropriate requirement. The 
Committee has reviewed the judgements made and the disclosures 
presented in the financial statements and is satisfied that they 
represent the year end position of the Group. 

Recoverability of receivables due from joint venture
Following the prior year investment in Connect Airways Limited 
(Connect), both Connect, and its main operating subsidiary Flybe, 
entered administration in March 2020. The Committee has reviewed 
the recoverability of the loans receivable and concluded that an 
impairment of £45.1m, to a fair value of nil, is appropriate. Prior to 
both entities entering administration, the Committee had reviewed 
the Groups position and recoverability of all financial assets and 
was discussing whether an impairment was the most appropriate 
presentation of results, given the additional funding requirements.

Presentation of results as discontinued operations
In February 2019, the Group entered into an agreement to dispose 
of its 100% owned subsidiaries, Everdeal Holdings Limited (parent 
company of regional airline Stobart Air) and Propius Holdings 
Limited (aircraft leasing business). Following this transaction Propius 
remained a subsidiary until November 2019, following the signing of 
an indemnity agreement, at which point Propius was disposed of; 
fully generating a profit on disposal recognised within discontinued 
operations. It was necessary to determine the appropriate 
accounting treatment at the year end.

The Committee reviewed the treatment proposed by management; 
namely the results and disposal of Propius being presented as 
discontinued operations. The Committee was satisfied that each of 
the matters set out above has been fully and adequately addressed 
by the Executive Directors, appropriately reviewed by the external 
auditor and that the disclosures made in the Annual Report and 
Accounts are appropriate.

Exchangeable bond
On 3 May 2019, the Group placed £53.1m of secured guaranteed 
exchangeable bonds (Bonds). The Bonds have a five-year maturity, 
bear interest at 2.75% per annum and are exchangeable into ordinary 
shares of 1 penny each in the capital of Eddie Stobart Logistics plc 
(ESL). The Bond has been presented as a current liability because 
the Group does not have an unconditional right to defer settlement 
of the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting period. The 
bondholders have an unconditional right to require the Group to 
settle the bonds by giving the bondholders shares in ESL at 
any time.

The Committee understands the requirements of IAS 1 and has 
followed the required presentation, however, it also believes that this 
presentation does not fully reflect the long-term nature of the debt 
instrument given the likelihood of exchange by bondholders is 
extremely low and the Group has no obligation to settle the Bonds 
in cash within 12 months of the balance sheet date.

Audit Committee Report 
continued 
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Impairment of property, plant and equipment 
and intangible assets
The Committee considered the carrying values of property, plant 
and equipment, and intangible assets together with the assumptions 
underlying the impairment reviews. The judgements in relation to the 
impairment testing largely relate to the assumptions underlying the 
value-in-use and fair value less costs to sell calculations for the 
assets being tested for impairment. These were primarily the 
achievability of long-term business plans and macroeconomic 
assumptions underlying the valuation process, together with the 
appropriateness of the discount factors used. This is a prime area of 
audit focus, in particular around the assets at Stobart Rail & Civils 
and Carlisle Lake District Airport. Intangible assets at Stobart Rail & 
Civils were impaired following the turnaround and reduction in the 
long-term business plan. The assets of Carlisle Lake District Airport 
were impaired by £21.0m following a review of fair values and also 
any future potential development requiring additional capital 
expenditure. The impairment charge in Stobart Rail & Civils, 
representing the total £8.5m of intangible assets, and the Carlisle 
Lake District Airport assets were considered appropriate to 
recognise in the current year.

Accordingly, the Committee challenged the assumptions made by 
management, by reference to those used in previous years and to 
changes in business performance and outlook. The Committee 
discussed the sensitivities to key assumptions. The Committee 
concluded that the £29.5m charge was appropriate.

Amortisation and Impairment of brand intangible assets
Post year end, the Group disposed of its Eddie Stobart and Stobart 
trademarks and designs (Brands) to Eddie Stobart Limited for 
consideration of £10.0m. The Eddie Stobart Brands were considered 
not to have an indefinite life and was amortised during the year 
by £7.5m, and subsequently impaired by £10.9m at the year end, 
to reflect an asset value £8.5m. The Stobart Brands have been 
impaired by £9.0m to £1.5m, with this and the £8.5m value 
reflecting the post year end disposal consideration. The Committee 
considered the fair value of these assets at the year end, taking into 
account the disposal, and concluded an impairment of £19.9m and 
amortisation charge to be appropriate.

Valuation of property inventories
Property inventories includes a significant land holding in Widnes, 
the remaining land at Chelford subject to an option to purchase and 
land at Carlisle Lake District Airport. Judgements have been made in 
relation to the development of the remaining assets, with an external 
independent development valuation undertaken for the remaining 
land at Widnes. The independent valuation received was in line with 
the carrying value. However, the Group considered it appropriate 
to recognise an impairment of £5.0m equal to the proportion of 
development profit that will no longer be achieved as part of a wider 
plan to dispose of property assets in the short to medium term to 
optimise the Group’s capital. The Committee has reviewed these 
judgements and it is satisfied that, following the impairment 
recognised, the property inventory assets are held at the lower 
of cost and net realisable value.

IFRS 16 ‘Leases’
The Group adopted IFRS 16 on 1 March 2019 using the modified 
retrospective approach. The Group undertook a detailed assessment 
of all leases to determine the overall impact of the adoption of IFRS 16 
on its results and financial position for the year ending February 2020. 
The prior year comparatives were not adjusted. The Committee 
has reviewed the new disclosures and is satisfied that the results 
presented are in accordance with the new accounting standard.

Non-underlying items
The Group has a number of material items that warrant separate 
presentation in the consolidated income statement and a number 
of these are presented as non-underlying. The Committee has 
reviewed the items disclosed as non-underlying and is satisfied 
that they have been presented in accordance with the Group’s 
accounting policy. In addition, the Committee has considered the 
presentation of new business and new contract set-up costs at 
London Southend Airport, noting that this non-underlying 
presentation is under review.
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1.1 Annual Statement by the Remuneration Committee Chairman

Dear Shareholder
On behalf of the Board, I am pleased to present the Directors’ 
Remuneration Report for the year ended 29 February 2020. Our 
Directors’ Remuneration Policy was approved at the AGM on 29 June 
2017. As a Guernsey registered company we are not obliged to follow 
the UK Companies Act regulations (specifically the Large and 
Medium sized Companies and Group (Accounts and Reports) 
Regulations 2008, as amended) governing Directors’ remuneration 
disclosure and voting, but we elect to do so. We are therefore 
presenting a new Remuneration Policy for approval at our AGM on 
30 July 2020, which is set out on pages 92 to 102. The Annual Report 
on Remuneration, which provides details of the remuneration earned 
by Directors for the year ended 29 February 2020 and how we intend 
to apply the new Directors’ Remuneration Policy in the year ending 
28 February 2021, is set out on pages 103 to 112 and will be subject 
to a separate vote at the AGM.

The past two years have seen some remuneration challenges  
for the Company and the Remuneration Committee to deal with. 
In consultation with shareholders, a number of changes were 
proposed to address these issues and I am pleased to say that 
shareholders supported these revised proposals with the Directors’ 
Remuneration Report at the last AGM receiving a vote in favour in 
excess of 80%. As a Remuneration Committee, we are constantly 
striving to find the appropriate incentive and reward structures to 
balance our entrepreneurial start-ups and our more mature business 
units. Recognising our shareholders hold strong views on executive 
remuneration and that our history has previously raised concerns 
we reviewed the Remuneration Policy taking into account feedback 
from our key shareholders. We believe that the changes set out 
later in this letter align our remuneration arrangements with 
shareholders’ interests whilst providing an appropriately 
incentivising reward structure.

Review of the year
Continued operational progress led to revenues increasing by 16% 
to £170m (FY19: £147m) and underlying EBITDA increasing 48.2% to 
£16.0m (FY19: £10.8m). London Southend Airport saw passenger 
numbers increased by 43% to 2.1m (FY19: 1.5m) following the arrival 
of Ryanair, Wizz Air and Loganair flights, alongside a maturing 
relationship with easyJet. The start of operations with a global 
logistics customer, more passengers arriving by train, new parking 
charges and an improved retail offering helped EBITDA per 
passenger to increase by 37% to £4.33 (FY19: £3.17). These factors 
led to underlying EBITDA increasing by 74% to £8.6m (FY19: £4.9m). 
Stobart Energy also saw gains with underlying EBITDA increasing 
25.9% to £24.2m (FY19: £19.2m). There are now 29 commissioned 
renewable energy plants supplied by Stobart Energy. As a result, the 
volume of waste supplied to these plants increased by 11.5% to 1.5m  
tonnes (FY19: 1.3m). Despite this commercial progress, non-cash 
items including impairment charges on Stobart Rail & Civils, our 
Connect Airways investment and infrastructure assets led to losses 
including discontinued operations increasing by 137% to £137.9m 
(FY19: £58.2m).

Remuneration decisions during the year
During the year, the Committee reviewed executive salaries. Warwick 
Brady and Nick Dilworth were each awarded a salary increase of 3%, 
to £475,087 in the case of Warwick Brady and to £257,500 in the 
case of Nick Dilworth, in line with the average pay increases awarded 
to our wider workforce. On Nick Dilworth’s appointment to the Board, 
the Committee determined that it would keep his salary under review, 
on the basis that at the time it was set it reflected both a new Board 
role and a new role for Nick. There was, therefore, an expectation that 
Nick’s salary would increase over time as he developed in the role to 
ensure that it recognised his experience, scope of responsibilities 
and performance. Following a review of Nick’s performance for his 
first nine months as our Chief Operating Officer, the Board has been 
delighted with his progress and contribution and the Committee 
determined that his salary should be further increased to £272,500 
with effect from 1 July 2019. His salary will continue to be kept 
under review over the coming 12 months and may be subject 
to further increase if personal and business performance support 
any change. Lewis Girdwood did not receive a salary increase 
in the year under review.

Lewis Girdwood was appointed as our new Chief Financial Officer, 
on 1 April 2019. His joining arrangements were set out in the 
Directors’ Remuneration Report last year and are summarised 
in the Annual Report on Remuneration on page 103.

Annual bonuses for Executive Directors for the year ended 
29 February 2020, were based 70% on adjusted Group EBITDA and 
30% on personal/strategic measures and can be up to a maximum 
of 100% of salary. No bonuses were earned by reference to EBITDA 
performance and although the Executive Directors’ performance 
resulted in partial achievement against the personal/strategic 
objectives, having regard to the wider circumstances in connection 
with the COVID-19 outbreak, the Committee determined that no 
bonuses should be paid in respect of those objectives. Further 
details are set out on pages 103 and 104. 

The award granted under the approved 2014 Long-Term Incentive 
Plan (LTIP) in June 2017 in respect of performance for the year 
ending 29 February 2020 for Warwick Brady did not vest as the 
threshold performance targets were not met. Further details are set 
out on page 105. 
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On 3 July 2019, Warwick Brady was granted an LTIP award of 75% 
of salary under the LTIP. Nick Dilworth and Lewis Girdwood were 
granted LTIP awards of 150% and 100% of salary, respectively. 
The reduced award for Warwick Brady reflects his continuing 
participation in the Stobart Aviation Incentive Plan (SAIP), under 
which he received an award when he was Deputy Group Chief 
Executive, prior to his appointment as Group Chief Executive.
• TSR must match the FTSE 250 index for threshold vesting and 

outperform the index by 8.5% per annum for maximum vesting.
• Targets for cumulative adjusted EPS have been set at 4.4p for 

threshold vesting and 14.1p for maximum vesting. The cumulative 
adjusted EPS range represents compound annual growth in 
underlying EBITDA of over 60% per annum for threshold 
performance and compound annual growth in underlying EBITDA 
of over 80% per annum for stretch performance, when compared 
to the EBITDA outturn for FY19 (this comparison cannot be made 
for EPS given the starting EPS for the year end 28 February 2019 
was negative). When issued the Committee considered that these 
had the appropriate level of challenge and stretch.

• As set out on pages 105 and 106 and in accordance with our 
current Remuneration Policy, these LTIP awards can double (i.e. to 
150% of salary for Warwick, 200% for Lewis and 300% of salary for 
Nick) if we meet our main performance conditions in full and we 
significantly outperform the FTSE 250 index by 40% per annum.

Looking forward to the year ending 28 February 2021
The current Directors’ Remuneration Policy was approved by 
shareholders at the AGM on 29 June 2017 and has applied for three 
years. During the year, the Committee has reviewed the Directors’ 
Remuneration Policy in the context of the feedback that was received 
last year and in response to the 2018 UK Corporate Governance 
Code. The Committee is constantly striving to find the appropriate 
incentive and reward structures for our various divisions. High growth 
entrepreneurial ‘start-up’ units require managers who have the 
capability and energy to take on the risks and challenge to deliver 
significant value creation, whilst more mature units benefit from 
teams adept at husbanding the steady state. For the former group 
we are directly competing in the employment market with private 
equity, we believe shareholders’ interests are best served by our 
attempting to secure the best talent in this pool.

Conscious that many of our shareholders hold strong views on 
executive remuneration, the Committee held helpful consultations 
with and has taken on board feedback from our major shareholders 
representing 78% of the share capital in arriving at this policy. 
The changes proposed to our policy align our remuneration 
arrangements with typical FTSE mid-market best practice and 
shareholder interests, whilst also appropriately incentivising and 
rewarding the Stobart Group executive team. The key changes 
are summarised below:
• A reduction in the overall incentive opportunity from 400% of salary 

(100% of salary from the annual bonus and 300% of salary from 
the LTIP) to 350% of salary. The proposed maximum opportunity 
is based on an annual bonus of up to 150% of salary and an LTIP 
opportunity of up to 200% of salary. For the year ending 
28 February 2021, the maximum bonus opportunity will be 
maintained at 100% of salary.

• Simplification of the LTIP by removing the TSR multiplier element.
• The introduction of bonus deferral requiring 40% of any bonus 

earned to be deferred in shares for two years if the maximum 
bonus opportunity is more than 100% of salary.

• The formal adoption of a two-year holding period at the end of the 
LTIP performance period.

• The pension provision for any new Executive Director to be in 
line with the wider workforce and for existing Executive Directors 
the current provision, as a percentage of salary, will be reduced 
over time.

• Introduction of a post-cessation shareholding policy.
• Malus and clawback triggers have been extended in line with 

best practice.

Directors’ Remuneration Report 
continued 
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In our announcement of 6 April 2020 relating to the measures we 
have taken to safeguard our business operation in response to the 
COVID-19 outbreak, we confirmed that all variable pay awards have 
been deferred to August 2020, at the earliest. We have set out below, 
and later in this report, how we currently intend to operate the 
variable pay arrangements in respect of the year ending 28 February 
2021 for our Executive Directors, but recognise that these may need 
to change as we take decisions in the best interests of all 
stakeholders having regard to the impact of COVID-19.
• For the annual bonus, our current intention is that 70% of 

the opportunity will be subject to adjusted Group EBITDA 
performance with the remainder based on stretching personal/
strategic metrics. The actual targets and achievement against 
these for the year ending 28 February 2021 will be disclosed 
in next year’s Directors’ Remuneration Report.

• Our current intention is that LTIP awards for the year ending 
28 February 2021 will be based on TSR and EPS, with equal 
weightings, and with threshold vesting under the TSR metric 
continuing to require Stobart’s TSR to match the TSR of the 
FTSE 250 index, and maximum vesting continuing to require 
average annual outperformance of the index of 8.5%. The 
Committee is conscious of the need not to discourage 
management from pursuing value enhancing transactions for 
the benefit of shareholders. In ascertaining performance against 
these EPS targets, the Committee is committed to taking into 
account any transactional activity to ensure the outcomes 
remain fair and equitable and are no less stretching than 
originally intended. Any adjustments or discretion exercised by 
the Committee would be fully disclosed in the relevant Directors’ 
Remuneration Report. The performance measures and 
performance targets will be disclosed both in the Directors’ 
Remuneration Report for the year ending 28 February 2021 
and in the regulatory announcement made when the awards 
are granted.

At the 2020 AGM we will also seek approval from shareholders for a 
new LTIP and Deferred Bonus Plan to reflect the proposed 
Remuneration Policy. A summary of the principal terms of each plan 
is set out in the Notice of AGM. Further details of how the 
Remuneration Policy is proposed to be operated for the financial year 
ending 28 February 2021 are included on pages 110 and 111.

John Coombs
Chairman of the Remuneration Committee
4 June 2020

Activities during the year

During the year the Committee met eight times and a summary 
of the main areas dealt with by the Committee is set out below:
• Consideration and formulation of the 2020 Directors’ 

Remuneration Policy.
• Consideration and decisions on:

– Levels of base salaries for Executive Directors and 
other executives within its remit.

– Executive Directors’ bonuses for the year to 
28 February 2019.

– Bonus targets for the executives for the year to 
29 February 2020.

– Targets in relation to the LTIP awards for the year to 
29 February 2020.

– LTIP grants made in the year.
– Directors’ Remuneration Report.
– Fees for the Chairman.
– Review of the terms of reference of the Committee.



 Salary   Benefits   Pension   Bonus  

Warwick Brady

Nick Dilworth

Lewis Girdwood

2019

2020

125k 10k 25k

268k 21k 58k

91k

2019

2020 243k 18k 24k

2019

2020

458k 33k 92k

475k 33k 94k

334k

(£k)

70% EBITDA
30% personal  
and strategic  

objectives 
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Directors’ Remuneration Report 
continued 

Remuneration
at a Glance

Adjusted Group EBITDA is considered the best indicator of annual performance 
for most of the Group’s divisions. Targets are set by reference to budget, 
which is intended to be stretching but achievable. The remaining annual bonus 
opportunity is based on personal/strategic metrics approved by the Committee 
to reflect the individual’s personal/strategic goals for the year.

 Performance highlights

 2019 remuneration (year ended 29 February 2020)

 Bonus elements/Alignment of bonus to strategy

Underlying EBITDA

£16.0m
Loss before tax

£158.0m
Aviation – underlying EBITDA

£8.6m
Energy – underlying EBITDA

£24.2m

See pages 95 and 97 for more information
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The threshold level of adjusted Group EBITDA performance was not achieved in the year and accordingly no bonuses were earned by 
reference to that element. Each Executive Director achieved their personal and strategic objectives in part, but having regard to the wider 
circumstances, the Committee determined that no bonuses should be paid.

LTIP awards were granted in June 2017 with 
vesting based on EPS and TSR performance 
over a three-year period ended 29 February 
2020. Performance against those measures 
was below threshold and the awards will 
not vest.

Element Purpose Key features/ 
Alignment to strategy

Warwick Brady Nick Dilworth Lewis Girdwood

 Salary, benefits 
and pension

To reflect an 
individual’s role 
and experience  
and to provide  
fixed remuneration 
on a market 
competitive basis. 

Salary increases normally  
reflect salary increases for the 
wider workforce. 

Pension provision for any newly 
appointed Executive Directors will 
be in line with the wider workforce.

Having regard to the impact of COVID-19 a 20% pay reduction 
will apply to each Executive Director for an initial period of three 
months with effect from 1 April 2020.

 Bonus To reward the 
achievement of 
short-term strategic 
objectives and 
motivate executives 
to achieve stretching 
financial goals.

Up to 150% of salary, but 
capped at up to 100% of salary 
in respect of the year ending 
28 February 2021.

Deferral into shares has been 
introduced to enhance alignment 
with shareholders where the 
maximum opportunity is more 
than 100% of salary.

The maximum bonus opportunity for the year ending 
28 February 2021 will be capped at 100% of salary. However, 
as announced on 6 April, all variable pay awards have been 
deferred to August 2020, at the earliest and other decisions in 
relation to the annual bonus will be taken in due course. Our 
intention is that 70% of the opportunity will be subject to 
EBITDA performance with the remainder based on stretching 
personal/strategic metrics, but we recognise that this may 
need to change as we take decisions in the best interests of 
all stakeholders having regard to the impact of COVID-19. 

 LTIP Rewards long-term 
value creation.

Annual awards of up to 200% 
of salary.

Aligns Executive Directors’ 
interests with those of 
shareholders through the use 
of performance metrics, delivery 
in shares and a two-year holding 
period after vesting.

As with the annual bonus, and as announced on 6 April 2020, 
we have deferred LTIP awards until August 2020, at the earliest. 
Our intention is that the awards will continue to be based on 
TSR and EPS, further information in relation to the intended 
approach is set out on pages 96 and 97, but as with the annual 
bonus we recognise that this may need to change having 
regard to the impact of COVID-19.

The quantum of the awards in respect of the year ending 
28 February 2021 will be determined in due course and 
reported when the awards are granted. The awards will be 
subject to an additional holding period of up to two years.

 Shareholding 
requirement

Aligns Executive 
Directors’ interests 
with those of 
shareholders.

Executive Directors are expected 
to build a shareholding equal to at 
least 200% of their salary.

A post-employment shareholding 
requirement has been added to 
reflect best practice and to further 
align Executive Directors’ interests 
with those of shareholders.

See above.

 Bonus outcomes (year ended 29 February 2020)

 LTIP outcomes

 2020 Remuneration Policy

 Shareholding guidelines

Purpose:

To align  
Executive Directors’ 
interests with those  
of shareholders

Guidelines for Executive Directors:

To build up 
shareholdings of at 
least 200% of salary

Current shareholdings  
(percentage of salary):

Warwick Brady 45% 
Nick Dilworth 18%
Lewis Girdwood 36%
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Directors’ Remuneration Report 
continued 

1.3 Directors’ Remuneration Policy
The key principles that underpin the design of our Remuneration Policy for Executive Directors are to:
• attract, retain and motivate high-calibre talent to ensure continued growth and success of the Group;
• recognise and reward stretching performance taking into account the skills and experience of the Directors and the nature and complexities 

of their responsibilities;
• encourage and support an entrepreneurial and high performance culture, providing incentives that promote the delivery of sustainable 

growth and are aligned to medium and longer-term business strategy;
• align the interests of the Executive Directors, senior management and employees with those of shareholders;
• ensure that remuneration and incentives adhere to the principles of good corporate governance, support good risk management practice 

and promote sustainable Group performance; and
• have a competitive mix of fixed remuneration and short-term and long-term incentives, with an appropriate proportion of the package 

determined by stretching targets linked to the Group’s performance.

This part of the Directors’ Remuneration report sets out the Stobart Group Limited Directors’ Remuneration Policy (the Policy), which, subject 
to shareholder approval at the 2020 AGM, shall take effect from the close of that meeting.

The Company is incorporated in Guernsey and, accordingly, is not subject to the provisions of UK legislation relating to the making of 
remuneration payments and payments for loss of office to Directors. Notwithstanding this, the Company has prepared this Policy by reference 
to the requirements of the UK’s Large and Medium-sized Companies and Groups (Accounts and Reports) Regulations 2008 (as amended), 
and any payment made to a Director after this Policy has become effective will be consistent with this Policy.

The Policy is determined by the Company’s Remuneration Committee (the Committee).



Stobart Group Limited
Annual Report & Accounts 2020

93
Governance

Policy for Executive Directors

Component Purpose and link to strategy Operation Maximum opportunity Performance measures

Base salary Core element of fixed 
remuneration 
reflecting an 
individual’s role 
and experience.

The Committee ordinarily reviews 
base salaries annually taking into 
account a number of factors 
including (but not limited to) the 
value of the individual, the scope 
of their role, their skills and 
experience and performance.

The Committee also takes into 
consideration:

• pay and conditions of the 
workforce generally; and

• Group profitability and prevailing 
market conditions.

Whilst there is no maximum 
salary, increases will  
normally be within the range  
of salary increases awarded  
(in percentage of salary terms) 
to other employees of the 
Group. However, higher 
increases may be awarded in 
appropriate circumstances, 
such as:

• on promotion or in the event 
of an increase in scope of the 
role or individual’s 
responsibilities;

• where an individual has been 
appointed to the Board at a 
lower than typical market 
salary to allow for growth in 
the role, in which case larger 
increases may be awarded to 
move salary positioning to a 
typical market level as the 
individual gains experience;

• a change in size or complexity 
of the Group; and/or

• significant market movement.

Increases may be implemented 
over such time period as the 
Committee deems appropriate.

While no formal performance 
conditions apply, an 
individual’s performance 
in role is taken into account 
in determining any 
salary increase.

Benefits Fixed remuneration 
provided on a market 
competitive basis.

Benefits include the use of a 
company car (or cash in lieu), 
medical cover for the Executive 
Director and their partner and 
dependent children and death in 
service cover.

The Company operates a tax 
qualifying Save-As-You-Earn 
Scheme (the SAYE scheme), in 
which Executive Directors can 
participate on the same terms as 
other qualifying employees.

Other benefits may be provided 
based on individual circumstances, 
which may include relocation 
costs, travel and accommodation 
expenses. Reimbursed expenses 
may include a gross-up to reflect any 
tax or social security due in respect 
of the reimbursement.

Whilst the Committee has not 
set an absolute maximum on 
the level of benefits Executive 
Directors may receive, the 
value is set at a level which the 
Committee considers to be 
appropriately positioned taking 
into account the nature and 
location of the role and 
individual circumstances.

The limits on participation in 
the SAYE scheme and the 
permitted discount when 
setting the option price for 
SAYE scheme options are 
prescribed by the applicable 
tax legislation.

Not applicable.
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Component Purpose and link to strategy Operation Maximum opportunity Performance measures

Retirement 
benefits

Provide a 
competitive means 
of saving to deliver 
appropriate income 
in retirement.

The Company operates a defined 
contribution scheme.

In appropriate circumstances, 
an Executive Director may receive  
a salary supplement in lieu of  
some or all of the contributions  
that would otherwise be made  
to a pension scheme.

For the Chief Executive and 
Chief Operating Officer in  
office at the date on which this 
Policy takes effect, this is 
capped at £95,018 for the Chief 
Executive and £54,500 for the 
Chief Operating Officer (being 
20% of salary effective as at 
1 July 2020). For the Chief 
Financial Officer, the pension 
contribution is up to 10% 
of salary.

In the case of any Executive 
Director appointed after the 
date on which this Policy takes 
effect, a percentage of salary 
not exceeding the percentage 
applicable to the majority of the 
Group’s workforce worldwide 
(or such sub-set of that 
workforce as the Committee 
determines) from time to time.

Not applicable.

Directors’ Remuneration Report 
continued 

Policy for Executive Directors
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Component Purpose and link to strategy Operation Maximum opportunity Performance measures

Annual bonus To reward the 
achievement of 
short-term strategic 
objectives and 
motivate executives 
to achieve stretching 
financial goals.

Deferral of part of the 
bonus into shares 
provides longer-term 
alignment with 
the interests of 
shareholders.

Targets and objectives are 
reviewed annually and any  
payout is determined by the 
Committee after the year end.

The Committee has discretion to 
vary any formulaic payout where 
it believes the outturn does not 
reflect the Committee’s assessment 
of overall performance or is 
not appropriate in the context 
of circumstances that were 
unexpected or unforeseen at the 
start of the financial year, or for 
any other reason the Committee 
considers appropriate.

Where the bonus maximum 
opportunity is 100% of salary any 
bonus earned will ordinarily be 
paid in cash. Where the bonus 
opportunity is more than 100% of 
salary, up to 60% of any bonus 
earned will ordinarily be paid in 
cash with the remainder deferred 
into shares, for up to two years.

Deferred bonus awards may take 
the form of conditional shares or nil 
cost options.

Deferred bonus awards may 
incorporate the right to receive 
additional shares calculated by 
reference to the value of dividends 
and special dividends which would 
have been paid on the shares up to 
the time at which the shares can 
first be acquired; this amount may 
be calculated assuming that the 
dividends have been reinvested in 
the Company’s shares on a 
cumulative basis.

Recovery provisions apply, as 
referred to on page 97.

The maximum annual bonus 
opportunity is up to 150% of 
base salary.

Targets (which may be 
based on financial or 
strategic measures) and 
individual objectives are 
determined to reflect the 
Company’s strategy.

Ordinarily, at least 50% of the 
bonus opportunity is based 
on a financial measure or 
measures, which may include 
but are not limited to EBITDA 
or other measures of profit.

The balance of the bonus 
opportunity will be based 
on one or more financial 
measures and/or the delivery 
of one or more strategic/
individual measures.

Subject to the Committee’s 
discretion to vary formulaic 
outcomes, vesting of the 
bonus in respect of any 
financial measure will 
be up to 50% for target 
achievement, rising to 100% 
for meeting or exceeding a 
stretch level of performance. 
Subject to the Committee’s 
discretion to vary formulaic 
outcomes, for strategic or 
individual measures, vesting 
will be determined by the 
Committee between 0% 
and 100% based on its 
assessment of the extent to 
which the relevant measure 
is achieved.

Policy for Executive Directors
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Component Purpose and link to strategy Operation Maximum opportunity Performance measures

LTIP Rewards longer-term 
value creation and 
aligns Executive 
Directors’ interests 
with those of 
shareholders 
through the use 
of performance 
metrics, delivery 
in shares and a 
two-year holding 
period after vesting.

Under the LTIP, the Committee 
may grant awards as conditional 
shares or as nil cost options.

Awards will usually vest following 
the assessment of the applicable 
performance conditions typically 
assessed over three years, but will 
then be subject to a holding period 
of two years following the 
performance period.

The holding period will be 
implemented either on the basis:

• that the award is not released to 
the Executive Director so that they 
can acquire shares until the end of 
the holding period; or

• that the Executive Director can 
acquire shares following vesting 
but that (other than as regards 
sales to cover tax liabilities) the 
award is not released so that they 
can dispose of those shares until 
the end of the holding period.

The Committee has discretion to 
vary any formulaic vesting outturn 
applying to an LTIP award where it 
believes the outturn does not reflect 
the Committee’s assessment 
of overall performance or is 
not appropriate in the context 
of circumstances that were 
unexpected or unforeseen 
at the date of grant or for any 
other reason the Committee 
considers appropriate.

LTIP awards may incorporate the 
right to receive additional shares 
calculated by reference to the value 
of dividends and special dividends 
which would have been paid on 
the shares up to the time at which 
the shares can first be acquired; 
this amount may be calculated 
assuming that the dividends have 
been reinvested in the Company’s 
shares on a cumulative basis.

Recovery provisions apply, as 
referred to on page 97.

The maximum award in respect 
of any financial year is 200% of 
base salary.

At least 50% of the 
performance measures under 
the LTIP will normally be 
based on financial measures 
(which may include, but are 
not limited to, EPS and TSR). 
The balance of the LTIP 
opportunity will be based on 
one or more financial 
measures and/or non-
financial measures.

Subject to the Committee’s 
discretion to vary formulaic 
outcomes, awards will vest 
up to 25% for threshold 
performance rising to 100% 
for maximum performance.

Directors’ Remuneration Report 
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Recovery provisions (malus and clawback)
Malus and clawback may be applied to the annual bonus and LTIP awards in the event of material error in assessing a performance condition, 
misstatement of results, material failure of risk management, material misconduct, material health and safety failure, corporate failure or serious 
reputational damage or any other circumstances similar in nature or effect. Malus may be applied up to payment of the annual bonus and up 
until vesting in the case of the LTIP. After payment of the annual bonus, clawback may be applied for two years (including via the cancellation 
or reduction of any deferred bonus award). After vesting of an LTIP award, clawback may be applied for up to two years (including via the 
cancellation or reduction of any LTIP award which remains subject to a holding period).

Explanation of performance conditions
Performance measures for the LTIP and annual bonus are selected to reflect the Company’s strategy. Stretching performance targets are set 
each year by the Committee taking into account a number of different factors.

For the year ending 28 February 2021, the Committee’s intention as at the date of finalisation of this report is that the performance measures 
for the annual bonus and LTIP will be as set out below. However, having regard to the impact of COVID-19 and as announced by the Company 
on 6 April 2020, all variable pay awards for the year ending 28 February 2021 have been deferred. Accordingly, the approach to performance 
conditions set out below may be varied.
• Adjusted Group EBITDA is proposed as the performance measure as regards 70% of the annual bonus opportunity for the year to 

28 February 2021 as it is considered the best indicator of annual performance for most of the Group’s divisions. Targets are set by reference 
to budget, which is intended to be stretching but achievable. The remaining annual bonus opportunity is based on personal/strategic 
metrics approved by the Committee to reflect the individual’s personal/strategic goals for the year.

• TSR and EPS are proposed as the performance measures for the LTIP awards for the year to 28 February 2021. Supplementing TSR with 
an EPS measure helps focus management on growing the Group’s revenues and margins, and provides a good balance of internal and 
external and absolute and relative measures.

• Adjusted Group EBITDA is defined as Group EBITDA after adjusting for specific items at the discretion of the Committee.

The Committee may vary or substitute any performance condition if an event occurs which causes it to determine that it would be appropriate 
to do so (including to take account of acquisitions or divestments, a change in strategy or a change in prevailing market conditions), provided 
that any such variation or substitution is fair and reasonable and (in the option of the Committee) the change would not make the condition 
materially less demanding than the original condition would have been but for the event in question. If the Committee were to make such 
a variation, an explanation would be given in the next Directors’ Remuneration Report.

Operation of share plans
The Committee may amend the terms of awards and options under its share plans in accordance with the plan rules, including in the event 
of a variation of the Company’s share capital or a demerger, special dividend or other similar event or otherwise in accordance with the rules 
of those plans. The Committee may operate any such plan in accordance with its rules. Share awards granted under any such plan may 
be settled in whole or in part in cash, although the Committee would only settle an Executive Director’s award in cash where the particular 
circumstances made this the appropriate course of action (for example where a regulatory reason prevented the delivery of shares).

In the event of a change of control, unvested awards under the LTIP will vest and be released to the extent determined by the Committee taking 
into account the relevant performance conditions and, unless the Committee determines otherwise, the extent of vesting so determined shall 
be reduced to reflect the proportion of the performance period that has elapsed. Any deferred bonus shares will vest on a change of control 
or other relevant event. In the event of a change of control SAYE scheme options will become exercisable in accordance with the plan rules 
and applicable tax legislation, which do not provide for any discretion as to the extent of exercise.

Shareholding guidelines
Executive Directors are expected to build a shareholding equal to 200% of their annual salary within the later of five years of appointment to 
the Board or the introduction of this guideline (27 June 2017). Shares subject to LTIP awards which have vested but not been released (that is 
which are in a holding period) or which have been released but have not been exercised and shares subject to deferred bonus awards count 
towards the guidelines on a net of assumed tax basis.

Reflecting best practice, the Committee has adopted a post-cessation shareholding requirement. This requires that for 12 months following 
cessation, an Executive Director must retain such of their ‘relevant’ shares as have a value (as at cessation) equal to their in service 
shareholding guideline and 50% of this guideline for a further 12 months. If the Executive Director holds less than the required number of 
‘relevant’ shares at any time they must retain all the ‘relevant’ shares they hold. Shares which the Executive Director has purchased or which 
have been acquired pursuant to share awards granted before this Policy is approved by shareholders or acquired pursuant to SAYE scheme 
options are not ‘relevant’ shares for these purposes. The Committee retains the discretion to vary the post-cessation shareholding requirement 
in appropriate circumstances.
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Policy for Non-Executive Directors

Component Purpose and link to strategy Operation Maximum opportunity

Fees and benefits To provide fees within a 
market competitive range 
reflecting the individual, 
responsibilities, the role, 
and the expected 
time commitment.

To provide benefits where 
appropriate which are 
relevant to the requirements 
of the role. 

The fees of the Chairman are 
determined by the Committee 
and the fees of the Non-
Executive Directors are 
determined by the Chairman 
and the Executive Directors.

The Chairman and Non-
Executive Directors may be 
eligible to receive benefits 
such as travel and other 
reasonable expenses.

Reimbursed expenses many 
include a gross-up to reflect 
any tax or social security 
due in respect of 
the reimbursement.

Fees are set taking into account the 
responsibilities of the role and expected 
time commitment.

The fees paid comprise a base fee and 
additional fees for the roles of Senior 
Independent Director, Chairman of the 
Audit Committee and Chairman of the 
Remuneration Committee. Additional fees 
may also be paid for additional responsibilities 
and/or time commitments.

Where benefits are provided they will 
be provided at a level considered to 
be appropriate taking into account the 
individual circumstances.

Policy for the remuneration of employees more generally
The Group aims to provide a remuneration package that is competitive and which is appropriate to promote the long term success of the 
Company. The Company will apply this policy fairly and consistently, and does not intend to pay more than is necessary to attract and 
motivate colleagues. A greater proportion of the Executive Directors’ remuneration package is ‘at risk’ and determined by reference to the 
performance conditions. Certain senior members of staff are eligible to earn a bonus based broadly on the same criteria as the Executive 
Directors and some are also invited to participate in the LTIP again, on a broadly similar basis to the Executive Directors.

The Committee is kept informed of salary increases and remuneration outcomes across the wider workforce and how decisions are made.

Illustrations of application of the Policy
The following charts provide an illustration, for each of the Executive Directors, of the application of the Policy in the year ending 28 February 
2021. The charts show the split of remuneration between fixed pay (that is base salary, benefits, employer pensions contributions/salary 
supplement), annual bonus and long-term incentive pay on the basis of minimum remuneration, remuneration receivable for performance in 
line with the Company’s expectations, maximum remuneration (including and excluding share price appreciation of 50% on the LTIP outcome).
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In illustrating the potential reward the following assumptions have been made.

Fixed pay Annual bonus LTIP

Minimum performance Base salary applying with 
effect from 1 July 2020, 
employer pension 
contributions at an 
assumed rate of 20% (in the 
case of the Chief Executive 
and Chief Operating Officer) 
and 10% (in the case of the 
Chief Financial Officer) on 
the salary effective as at 
1 July 2020, and benefits 
disclosed in the single figure 
table on page 103 for the 
2020 financial year.

No bonus. No LTIP vesting.

Performance in line with 
expectations

Bonus equal to 50% of salary 
is earned.

LTIP vests as to 25% of the 
assumed award.

Maximum performance Bonus equal to 100% of salary 
is earned (the maximum 
bonus for the year ending 
28 February 2021).

LTIP vests in full (200% of salary1).

Maximum performance with 
share price appreciation of 50%

Bonus equal to 100% of salary 
is earned.

LTIP vests in full (200% of salary1) 
plus share price appreciation of 50%.

1 As noted on page 111, the LTIP quantum for awards in respect of the year ending 28 February 2021 is yet to be determined. For the purposes of these charts, awards of 200% of salary have  
been assumed.

Recruitment remuneration policy
The remuneration package for the appointment of a new Executive Director would, as far as possible, be set in accordance with the terms and 
maximum levels of the Policy. When determining appropriate remuneration arrangements, the Committee may include other elements of pay, 
which it considers are appropriate. However, this discretion is capped and is subject to the limits referred to below.

Base salary will be set at a level appropriate to the role and the experience of the Executive Director being appointed. This may include 
agreement on future increases up to market rate, in line with increased experience and/or responsibilities, subject to good performance, where 
it is considered appropriate. Pension will be provided in line with the Policy.

Other than as regards any ‘buyout’ award which would be determined as set out below, the Committee will not offer non-performance related 
incentive payments (for example a ‘guaranteed sign-on bonus’).

Other elements may be included in appropriate circumstances, including:
• an interim appointment being made to fill an Executive Director role on a short-term basis;
• if exceptional circumstances require that the Chairman or a Non-Executive Director takes on an executive function on a short-term basis;
• if an Executive Director is recruited at a time in the year when it would be inappropriate to provide a bonus or long-term incentive award 

for that year as there would not be sufficient time to assess performance. Subject to the limit on variable remuneration set out below, the 
quantum in respect of the months employed during the year may be transferred to the subsequent year so that reward is provided on a fair 
and appropriate basis;

• if the Director will be required to relocate in order to take up the position, it is the Company’s policy to allow reasonable relocation, travel and 
subsistence payments. Any such payments will be at the discretion of the Committee.

The Committee may also alter the performance measures, performance period, vesting period and holding period of the annual bonus or 
long-term incentive opportunity if the Committee determines that the circumstances of the recruitment merit such alteration. The rationale will 
be clearly explained in the next Directors’ Remuneration Report.

The maximum level of variable remuneration which may be granted (excluding ‘buyout’ awards as referred to below) is 350% of salary.

The Committee may make payments or awards in respect of hiring an employee to ‘buyout’ remuneration arrangements forfeited in 
connection with leaving a previous employer. In doing so, the Committee will take account of relevant factors including any performance 
conditions attached to the forfeited arrangements and the time over which they would have vested. The Committee will generally seek to 
structure ‘buyout’ awards or payments on comparable basis to the remuneration arrangements forfeited. Any such payments or awards are 
excluded from the maximum level of variable remuneration referred to above. ‘Buyout’ awards will ordinarily be granted on the basis that they 
are subject to forfeiture or ‘clawback’ in the event of departure within 12 months of joining the Group, although the Committee will retain 
discretion not to apply forfeiture or clawback in appropriate circumstances.

Any share awards referred to in this section will be granted as far as possible under the Company’s ordinary share plans. If necessary, and 
subject to the limits referred to above, recruitment awards may be granted outside of these plans.

Where a position is filled internally, any ongoing remuneration obligations or outstanding variable pay elements shall be allowed to continue in 
accordance with their terms.

Fees payable to a newly appointed Chairman or Non-Executive Director will be in line with the Policy.
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Policy on service contracts
The service contracts for the Executive Directors are dated as set out in the table below:

Executive Director Position Date of contract Date of commencement

Warwick Brady Chief Executive 3 January 2017 1 July 2017

Lewis Girdwood Chief Financial Officer 19 March 2019 1 April 2019

Nick Dilworth Chief Operating Officer 30 October 2017 (amended 1 August 2018) 1 September 2018

The Company’s policy is for service agreements with Executive Directors to be capable of termination by either the Company or the 
Executive Director by the giving of six months’ notice in the case of Lewis Girdwood and Nick Dilworth and 12 months’ notice in the case of 
Warwick Brady.

Non-Executive Directors are engaged under letters of appointment that set out their duties and responsibilities. Non-Executive Directors are 
ordinarily appointed for an initial period of three years, subject to annual shareholder re-election. John Coombs has been appointed on a 
rolling letter of appointment with no fixed end date, but subject to annual shareholder re-election. The continued appointment of each 
Non-Executive Director is subject to the requirements of the Company’s Articles of Incorporation.

The Non-Executive Directors’ letters of appointment are dated as set out in the table below:

Non-Executive Director Commencement date

David Shearer 1 June 2019

David Blackwood 1 March 2019

John Coombs 1 July 2014

Ginny Pulbrook 1 October 2018

Directors’ Remuneration Report 
continued 
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Policy on payments for loss of office
The following table summarises the Company’s policy on the determination of payments for loss of office by Executive Directors. 
Where appropriate, the Committee would have regard to the departing Executive Director’s duty to mitigate loss.

Provision Treatment

Fixed remuneration Salary/fees, benefits (including health cover, a company car or allowance and life and health insurance) and pension 
will be paid to the date of termination.

Payments in lieu  
of notice

Where a payment in lieu of notice is made, this will include salary, benefits and pension (or a cash equivalent) until the 
end of the notice period that would otherwise have applied. Alternatively, the Company, may continue to provide the 
relevant benefits. Unless the Committee determines otherwise, amounts will be paid in equal monthly instalments.

Annual bonus This will be reviewed on an individual basis. The decision whether or not to award a bonus in full or in part will be 
dependent on a number of factors including the circumstances of the departure and contribution to the business 
during the bonus period. Any bonus would typically be pro-rated to reflect time in service to termination and paid at 
the usual time (although the Committee retains discretion not to apply pro-ration and/or to pay the bonus earlier in 
appropriate circumstances).

If an Executive Director ceases employment with the Group as a result of death, ill-health, injury, disability or for any 
other reason at the Committee’s discretion, any outstanding deferred bonus awards would typically continue and vest 
at the normal vesting date, although the Committee retains discretion to vest any such award at the date of cessation. 
In either case, the award will vest in full. In other leaver circumstances deferred bonus awards will lapse.

LTIP If an Executive Director ceases employment with the Group as a result of death, ill-health, injury, disability or for any 
other reason at the Committee’s discretion before an award under the LTIP vests, the award will usually be released 
on the ordinary release date (although the Committee retains discretion to release the award as soon as reasonably 
practicable after the cessation of employment or at some other time, such as following the end of the performance 
period but before the end of the holding period). In either case, the award will vest to the extent determined by 
reference to the performance conditions and, unless the Committee determines otherwise, the proportion of the 
performance period that has elapsed at cessation.

If an Executive Director ceases employment with the Group after an award under the LTIP has vested but before it 
is released (that is the Executive Director ceases employment during a holding period), the award will continue and 
be released at the normal release date (unless the cessation is for summary dismissal, in which case the awards 
will lapse). The award will be released to the extent it has vested by reference to the performance conditions. 
The Committee retains discretion to release the award at cessation.

Other payments The Committee reserves the right to make additional exit payments where such payments are made in good faith in 
discharge of an existing legal obligation (or by way of damages for breach of such obligation) or by way of settlement 
or compromise of any claim arising in connection with the termination of a Director’s office or employment. Payments 
may include, but are not limited to, paying any fees for outplacement assistance and/or the Director’s legal and/or 
professional advice fees in connection with their cessation of office or employment and payments in respect of 
accrued but untaken holiday.

Where a ‘buyout’ or other award is made in connection with recruitment, the leaver provisions would be determined 
at the time of the award.

Options under the Company’s SAYE scheme will vest on cessation in accordance with the plan rules, which do not 
allow discretionary treatment.

The Non-Executive Directors are not entitled to compensation on termination of their appointment.

Views of shareholders
We are committed to engaging appropriately with our shareholders and our aim is to have an open dialogue on all relevant matters, including 
remuneration. Each year there are meetings with major shareholders to review the Group’s performance and financial position. Executive pay 
is on the table for discussion at such meetings and we believe that it is better to do so as part of an overall review that puts pay in the context 
of overall Group performance.
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Consideration of employment conditions elsewhere in the Group
Whilst the Committee does not formally consult with employees as part of its process when determining Executive Director pay, it does take 
into account pay practices and policies for employees across the wider Group. This includes the general basic salary increases, benefits and 
remuneration arrangements and employment conditions. Throughout this financial year we will continue with initiatives that ensure the Board 
is focused on workforce engagement as set out in the Strategic Report on pages 42, 43 and 68.

Legacy remuneration arrangements
The Committee reserves the right to make any remuneration payments and/or payments for loss of office (including exercising any discretions 
available to it in connection with such payments) notwithstanding that they are not in line with the Policy if the terms of the payment were agreed:
• before the Policy comes into effect; or
• at a time when the relevant individual was not a Director of the Company and, in the opinion of the Committee, the payment was not in 

consideration for the individual becoming a Director of the Company.

For these purposes ‘payments’ includes the Committee satisfying awards of variable remuneration and, in relation to an award over shares, 
the terms of the payment are ‘agreed’ at the time the award is granted.

For the avoidance of doubt, the Committee may satisfy the award granted to Warwick Brady under the Stobart Aviation Plan (the SAIP) in 2017, 
as amended from time to time with the approval of shareholders or in accordance with its terms (and exercise any discretions available to it in 
respect of that award). The principal terms of the SAIP award as at the date on which this Annual Report was finalised are set out in the  
Directors’ Remuneration Report for the year ended 28 February 2019 and are summarised as follows.

Following the main investment in London Southend Airport in the year ended February 2012, progress to deliver on the very ambitious growth 
plans was slow. By 2016, the then Chief Executive, Andrew Tinkler, supported by the Board, recognised that a special set of talents was 
required if the growth potential of the airport were to be translated into delivered results. The capabilities required were relevant experience, 
reputation and contacts in the airline industry combined with a strong entrepreneurial flair. Warwick Brady was identified as such an individual 
who had recently stepped down from the role as Chief Operating Officer at easyJet. The SAIP was devised to persuade him to take a certain 
amount of personal risk in joining the Group and use his particular skill set to deliver the long-term plans for the airport. 

The SAIP award is based on the growth in value of the Aviation business above a Preferred Shareholder Return of 12% annual compound 
growth in the value of the business. This 12% return is greater than the Group’s weighted average cost of capital and represents a strong 
return before there is any management participation in the value created. The award can vest in June 2021 at the earliest although this can be 
extended to June 2022 or 2023 at the request of the participant. It is the expectation of all parties that this will be the case in practice, unless 
there is a change of control event, which triggers earlier vesting. Any payout will be based on the value of the Aviation business at the time of 
vesting less the starting value of £160m increased by the Preferred Shareholder Return of 12% for each year between the date of grant and the 
date of vesting on a compound growth basis. At the point of vesting, the Aviation division will be valued by an independent corporate finance 
house, or the value on disposal will be used if the vesting is triggered by a change of control or asset disposal. The award will be settled half in 
cash and half in shares of Stobart Group Limited, except in the event of a change of control/asset disposal, the award will be settled in cash, 
vesting immediately. Two separate caps have been set on the value of the scheme, a valuation cap set at £23m in the event there is an 
independent valuation, or a change of control cap set at £30m in the event of a change of control/asset disposal for cash. Worked examples 
are also set out in the Directors’ Remuneration Report for the year ended 28 February 2019.

Directors’ Remuneration Report 
continued 
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1.4 Annual Report on Remuneration
Single figure of total remuneration for Executive Directors
The table below sets out the single figure of total remuneration (and its breakdown into its constituent parts) for each Executive Director for the 
years ended 29 February 2020 and 28 February 2019:

Salary Taxable benefits Pension Total fixed pay Bonus
Long-term 

incentives vesting Total variable pay Total pay

£’000 2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019

Warwick Brady 475.1 457.5 32.8 32.8 93.6 91.5 601.5 581.8 – 334.0 – – – 334.0 601.5 915.8

Nick Dilworth1 267.5 125.0 20.6 10.3 57.5 25.0 345.6 160.3 – 91.3 – – – 91.3 345.6 251.6

Lewis 
Girdwood2 242.9 – 18.3 – 24.3 – 285.5 – – – – – – – 285.5 –

1 Nick Dilworth joined the Board on 1 September 2018. Remuneration for 2019 includes pay received in respect of his role as Executive Director from this date.
2 Lewis Girdwood joined the Board on 1 April 2019. Remuneration for 2020 includes pay received in respect of his role as Executive Director from this date.

Salary
Executive Director salaries were increased in FY19 as set out below. The increase for Warwick Brady reflected an inflationary increase in line 
with the wider workforce. Nick Dilworth’s increase reflected his development in role as referred to on page 87.

Executive Director

Salary effective  
1 July 2018 or on 

appointment
Increased  

salary Increase

Warwick Brady £461,250 £475,087 3%

Nick Dilworth £250,000 £272,5001 9%

Lewis Girdwood  £265,000 £265,000 n/a

1 Warwick Brady’s salary increase took effect from 1 March 2019. Nick Dilworth’s salary was initially increased to £257,500 with effect from 1 March 2019 (an inflationary increase in line with the 
wider workforce) and then to £272,500 with effect from 1 July to reflect his development in role.

Benefits
The Company currently provides fringe benefits which comprise standard executive medical cover and death-in-service cover to Executive 
Directors. Executive Directors are also entitled to a company car of a size and type deemed appropriate for the proper performance of their 
duties, or a cash allowance in lieu. During this period, Nick Dilworth and Lewis Girdwood opted to take an additional salary supplement of 
£20,000 in lieu of an equivalent car benefit. Lewis Girdwood received a salary supplement in the year of £18.3k as he joined the Board on 
1 April 2019.

Pension
For the financial year ended 29 February 2020, the Executive Directors received a pension contribution or a cash supplement in lieu of 
contributions to a pension plan, or a combination of pension contribution and cash supplement.

Annual bonus
Annual bonuses are based 70% on adjusted Group EBITDA and 30% on personal/strategic objectives, and can be up to a maximum of 100% 
of salary for all Executive Directors.

Annual bonus for the year ended 29 February 2020
For annual bonuses for the year ended 29 February 2020, performance targets for adjusted Group EBITDA and the outturn for the year were 
as set out below and, accordingly no bonus was earned by reference to the EBITDA metric. 

Threshold Target Stretch Achievement

Adjusted Group EBITDA (£m) 22.9 24.1 27.7 16.0

% of adjusted Group EBITDA element payable 0% 50% 100% 0%
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Specific personal/strategic objectives are set by the Committee, concerning the Executive Directors’ key responsibilities in connection with 
delivering the Group’s strategy. Achievement of these personal/strategic objectives was as follows:

Executive Director Personal/strategic objectives

Achievement 
against targets  

(% out of 30)

Warwick Brady • Lead the executive team to implement and deliver the agreed five-year plan and annual budget for 
the year ending 29 February 2020.

• Evolve the Group strategy and the investor proposition in the context of the capital review and the 
agreed five-year plan, including review of brokers.

• Ensure that ‘tail issues’ post the litigation are followed up and closed out as expeditiously as due 
legal process allows.

• Work with the Chairman and Senior Independent Director to ensure that a new Chief Financial 
Officer and Chair are recruited and that a new Board composition is achieved in an orderly way.

• Ensure that the Group is represented on the Board of Connect Airways Limited.

25

Nick Dilworth • London Southend Airport: Support the strategy for growth at London Southend Airport including the 
improvement of commercial and profit performance.

• Connect Airways Limited: To protect the Group’s commercial position. 
• Rail & Civils: Support the turnaround plan and management of legacy contracts.
• Energy: Support the strategy for growth of the core business.
• Support the assessment of acquisitions for both the Aviation and Energy divisions. Support the 

assessment of complementary markets for Energy.
• AirPortr: Support the development of the business. 

25

Lewis Girdwood • Finance team: Ensure the Finance teams at both Group and divisional level are calibrated to support 
future growth plans.

• Financial and management reporting: Improve the process of reporting and forecasting of the 
business and Group results to drive robust and timely information.

• Managing the market – analysts/brokers: Ensure that the market expectation is clear and that we 
deliver on our results.

• Strategic business planning and capital review: Ensure the planning process supports our ambitions 
to be a £2bn market capitalisation business by 2023.

• Shareholders and brokers: Deliver on two strong supportive brokers and support to achieve a 
supportive shareholder base to deliver on our strategy and plan.

• Stobart Energy Incentive Plan (SEIP) process (incentive plan): Lead the valuation process and any 
further activities associated with the Energy business with regards to SEIP.

27

Notwithstanding the Executive Directors’ achievement against the personal/strategic objectives, having regard to the wider circumstances in 
connection with the COVID-19 outbreak, the Committee determined that no bonuses should be paid in respect of those objectives. 

Directors’ Remuneration Report 
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Long-term incentive schemes – awards vesting
The LTIP awards made in June 2017 are based on cumulative adjusted EPS and TSR performance to 29 February 2020. The following table 
summarises performance against the relevant targets:

Performance measure Weighting Threshold (25% vesting) Stretch (100% vesting) Actual performance1 Vesting (% of maximum)

Cumulative adjusted 
EPS

50% 52p 60p 33.7p2 –

Stobart Group’s 
three-year TSR

50% Equal to the TSR 
performance of the  

FTSE 250

Equal to the TSR 
performance of the  

FTSE 250 + 8.5% per 
annum

(20%) per annum –

Total vesting before 
multiplier

–

1 For the TSR measure this is the annual average outperformance of the Company against the TSR performance of the FTSE 250 Index.
2 Cumulative adjusted EPS includes profits arising from the disposal of Eddie Stobart Logistics and excludes share-based payments and certain capital items.

The FTSE 250 TSR performance over the three-year period was 28.4%. Stobart Group’s TSR performance over the period was (31.7%), 
meaning that the FTSE 250 TSR outperformed Stobart Group’s TSR by 60% over the three years, or 20% on average. EPS over the period was 
33.7p. As a result, performance was below threshold and the LTIP awards will not vest at the end of the end of the three-year vesting period in 
June 2020.

Scheme interests awarded during the financial year
Awards in respect of the year ended 29 February 2020
During the year ended 29 February 2020, Warwick Brady, Nick Dilworth and Lewis Girdwood were awarded a grant of performance shares 
under the LTIP. The number of shares in each award was calculated based on the average share price for the three days preceding the grant 
date of 117.33p, as set out in the table below.

Executive Director Type of award Date of award Number of shares granted
Face value at date of grant1 

(£/% of salary)
End of the  

performance period

Warwick Brady 2014 LTIP 3 July 2019 303,686 356,314/75 of salary 28 February 2022

Nick Dilworth 2014 LTIP 3 July 2019 348,376 408,749/150 of salary 28 February 2022

Lewis Girdwood 2014 LTIP 3 July 2019 225,858 264,999/100 of salary 28 February 2022

1 These awards are subject to a multiplier if they vest in full, such that the maximum face value of the overall award can be doubled if the multiplier element also vests in full.

These awards will vest on the third anniversary of the date of grant and any shares that vest will then be subject to an additional holding period 
of up to two years. Dividend-equivalent shares will accrue over this period and will be paid in respect of the proportion of shares that vest.

These 2019 awards are subject to the following performance measures:

Performance measure Weighting Threshold (25% vesting) Stretch (100% vesting)

Cumulative adjusted EPS 50% 4.4p 14.1p

Stobart Group’s three-year TSR 50% Equal to the TSR performance  
of the FTSE 250

Equal to the TSR performance  
of the FTSE 250 + 8.5% per annum

The cumulative adjusted EPS range represents compound annual growth in underlying EBITDA of over 60% per annum for threshold 
performance and compound annual growth in underlying EBITDA of over 80% per annum for stretch performance, when compared to the 
EBITDA outturn for FY19 (this comparison cannot be made for EPS given the starting EPS for FY19 was negative). At the time of issuing the 
Committee considered that these had the appropriate level of challenge and stretch.



Stobart Group Limited
Annual Report & Accounts 2020

106
Governance

In line with the 2017 Directors’ Remuneration Policy, if both the EPS and the TSR elements exceed stretch performance levels the Executive 
Directors will be eligible to receive a multiplier of their awards based on the performance levels set out in the table on page 10 and which 
translates as follows:

Outperformance of FTSE 250 Index (per annum) Multiplier Award which vests as a % of salary

Warwick Brady Nick Dilworth Lewis Girdwood

Less than 15% 1x 75% 150% 100%

15%–20% 1.17 87.75% 175.5% 117%

20%–25% 1.33 99.75% 199.5% 133%

25%–30% 1.5 112.5% 225% 150%

30%–35% 1.67 125.25% 250.5% 167%

35%–40% 1.83 137.5% 274.5% 183%

40% or more 2x 150% 300% 200%

Award in respect of the year ended 28 February 2019
As reported in the 2019 Directors’ Remuneration Report, on account of his promotion to the Board, the Committee intended to grant Nick 
Dilworth an additional LTIP award in respect of the year ended 28 February 2019 equal to 75% of his salary at the time of appointment. This 
was to bring the aggregate value of LTIP awards granted to Nick Dilworth to 150% of his salary on promotion to the Board. However, the grant 
of the additional LTIP award had not been possible in that year due to regulatory restrictions. The award was granted on 3 July 2019 over 
127,660 shares with a face value of £240,000, calculated by reference to a share price of 188p (being the share price when the Committee 
originally agreed to grant the award) so that the aggregate face value of the shares subject to Nick Dilworth’s awards in respect of FY19 taking 
into account the award granted on 20 June 2018 which was disclosed in the 2019 Directors’ Remuneration Report, and the award granted on 
3 July 2019, is £375,000. The award granted on 3 July 2019 is subject to the same performance conditions as the award granted on 20 June 
2018, which are set out on page 66 of the 2019 Directors’ Remuneration Report.

Outstanding share awards
The table below sets out details of Directors’ outstanding share awards held under the LTIP, including those interests awarded during the 
financial year.

Type of  
award

Date of  
LTIP grant

Market price 
on date of 

grant

Number of 
performance 

shares at  
1 March 2019

Granted 
during the 

year

Vested 
during the 

year

Lapsed 
during the 

year

Number of 
performance 

shares at  
29 February 

2020
Performance 

period
Vesting/ 

lapse date1

Warwick Brady 2014 LTIP 22 June 20172 £2.925 106,204 – – – 106,204 3 years 22 June 20202

2014 LTIP 20 June 2018 £2.568 131,408 – – – 131,408 3 years 20 June 2021
2014 LTIP 3 July 2019 £1.173 – 303,686 – – 303,686 3 years 3 July 2022

237,612 303,686 – – 541,298

Nick Dilworth 2014 LTIP 20 June 2018 £2.568 52,563 – – – 52,563 3 years 20 June 2021
2014 LTIP 3 July 2019 £1.883 – 127,660 – – 127,660 3 years 20 June 2021
2014 LTIP 3 July 2019 £1.173 – 348,376 – – 348,376 3 years 3 July 2022

52,563 476,036 – – 528,599

Lewis Girdwood 2014 LTIP 3 July 2019 £1.173 – 225,858 – – 225,858 3 years 3 July 2022

225,858 225,858

1 The vesting date may be a short period after the end of term date to allow any consideration and discretion by the Committee as well as administrative matters to take place.
2 As at 29 February 2020, Warwick Brady’s LTIP grant dated 22 June 2017 was unvested. Subsequent to the end of the financial year and the end of the performance period, this award lapsed, the 

performance conditions having not been met; see further on page 105.
3 This is the price at the date the Committee agreed to grant the award, as referred to above.

Directors’ Remuneration Report 
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Executive Directors may participate in the SAYE scheme on the same basis as other employees. Awards held under the SAYE scheme by 
each Director during the year ended 29 February 2020 are as follows:

Date of grant Number of options Option price Exercise date

Warwick Brady 2 August 2019 18,971 94.88p 31 August 2022

Nick Dilworth 2 August 2019 18,971 94.88p 31 August 2022

Lewis Girdwood 2 August 2019 18,971 94.88p 31 August 2022

Directors’ shareholding and share interests
Details of the Directors’ interests in shares are shown in the table below.

Stobart Group has a formal shareholding requirement whereby Executive Directors are expected to hold shares to the value of 200% of their 
salary, to be achieved within five years of the later of their appointment to the Board or the introduction of our first Directors’ Remuneration 
Policy on 24 October 2014.

Based on the share price at 29 February 2020, Warwick Brady, Nick Dilworth and Lewis Girdwood have yet to meet the full requirement, 
with their holdings as a percentage of salary set out on page 91.

Share interests of Directors and connected persons at 29 February 2020
The following table shows the Directors’ interests in shares as at 29 February 2020 or date of cessation as a Director:

Beneficially  
owned

Outstanding under 
share award 

arrangements1

Total interest  
in shares

Executive Directors
Warwick Brady 279,705 560,269 839,974

Nick Dilworth 63,594 547,570 611,164
Lewis Girdwood 125,000 244,829 369,829

Non-Executive Directors
David Shearer 100,000 – 100,000
John Coombs 80,006 – 80,006
Ginny Pulbrook 5,000 – 5,000
David Blackwood 44,534 – 44,534

Former Directors2

Iain Ferguson 200,000 – 200,000
Andrew Wood 34,500 – 34,500

1 Executive Directors’ outstanding share awards are under the LTIP or the SAYE scheme. Awards under the LTIP are subject to performance conditions as set out in detail for each grant in the 
Annual Report on Remuneration for the year in respect of which the award was granted. Awards under the SAYE scheme are not subject to performance conditions.

2 Share interests shown for former Directors are based on interests at date of leaving the Board.

There have been no changes in the holdings of the Directors between 29 February and 27 May 2020.

Percentage change in the remuneration of the Chief Executive compared to all employees

Salary Benefits Bonus

Chief Executive 2.8% 0% (100)%
All employees 8.3% 15.3% (100)%

The above table shows the percentage year-on-year change in salary, benefits and bonus earned between the year ended 28 February 2019 
and the year ended 29 February 2020 for the Chief Executive compared to the change for all employees, based on a consistent employee 
population, i.e. excluding leavers and joiners.

Payments for Directors’ loss of office
There were no payments in relation to loss of office during the year.

Payments to previous Directors
In the Directors’ Remuneration Report for the year ended 28 February 2019 we noted that Iain Ferguson and Andrew Wood would enter into 
consulting arrangements such that they remain involved with ongoing litigation. During the year ended 29 February 2020, Iain Ferguson 
received fees of £30,800 and Andrew Wood fees of £12,100 under these arrangements. If any fees are provided under these arrangements in 
the year ending 28 February 2021 or any future year, further information will be provided in the relevant Directors’ Remuneration Report. There 
were no other payments in relation to previous Directors during the year ended 29 February 2020.
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Historical TSR performance chart
The chart below shows the TSR performance of Stobart Group against the FTSE 250 and FTSE SmallCap for the last ten years. Stobart Group 
has been a member of both the FTSE 250 and FTSE SmallCap during the period shown.

TSR rebased to £100 at 28 February 2010

Feb 2010 Feb 2011 Feb 2012 Feb 2013 Feb 2014 Feb 2015 Feb 2018 Feb 2019 Feb 2020Feb 2017Feb 2016

Stobart Group FTSE 250 (excl. Investment Trusts) FTSE SmallCap (excl. Investment Trusts) 300

250

200

150

100

50

Chief Executive remuneration outcomes
The table below shows the total remuneration figure for the Chief Executive for the last ten years. The total remuneration figure includes the 
annual bonus and any long-term incentives which vested based on performance in those years.

For the year ended 28/29 February

Andrew Tinkler Warwick Brady

Chief Executive 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 20181 20182 2019 2020

Chief Executive’s total single figure  
of remuneration £’000 183.2 253.6 259.9 251.2 1,309.3 931.3 951.1 235.31 648.82 915.8  601.5
Bonus paid % of maximum – – – – 76.3% 96.6% 97.0% 91.0% 91.0% 73%  – 
LTIP vesting % of maximum – – – – – – – 100% – –  –

1 Andrew Tinkler stepped down from the position of Chief Executive on 30 June 2017. The remuneration figure used represents one-third of his single figure remuneration and takes account of the 
alterations made to his level of remuneration for the year as explained in the notes to the single figure table on page 61 of the Directors’ Remuneration Report in the 2019 Annual Report.

2 Warwick Brady was appointed as Chief Executive on 1 July 2017. The remuneration figure used represents the total single figure remuneration.

Chief Executive pay ratio
In our Directors’ Remuneration Report for the year ended 28 February 2019 we set out the pay ratio for Chief Executive total pay for the year 
ended 28 February 2019 (as disclosed in the single figure table) compared to total pay for our employees, excluding the following elements 
of remuneration for UK employees from the calculation: bonuses, pension and benefit.

For the year ended 29 February 2020, we have applied the methodology set out in the UK regulations. Because the methodology for 2020  
is different to the methodology for 2019, we have not included the 2019 ratios, as in the view of the Committee to do so would not provide  
a meaningful comparison.

Year Methodology Lower quartile Median Upper quartile

2020 Option A 1:28 1:21 1:15

The following table provides additional information on the salary for each quartile employee used in the table above and, in the case of 2020, 
their total pay and benefits.

Year Pay component Lower quartile Median Upper quartile

2020 Salary £21,409 £27,648 £40,073

2020 Total pay and benefits £21,678 £28,089 £40,750

Directors’ Remuneration Report 
continued 
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The UK regulations provide three methodologies for determining the Chief Executive Pay Ratio. We have chosen Option A in respect of the 
year ending 29 February 2020 because we consider it to be the most statistically accurate. Under Option A, we determined the total full-time 
equivalent remuneration of all our UK employees, ranked those employees based on their full-time equivalent remuneration and then identified 
the lower quartile, median and upper quartile employees based on this ranking. The employees were identified by reference to their 
remuneration as at 29 February 2020.

The Company considers that the median pay ratio for the year ended 29 February 2020 is consistent with the pay, reward and progression 
policies for the Company’s UK employees taken as a whole. 

Relative importance of spend on pay
The table below shows the year-on-year change in profits, staff costs and distributions to shareholders.

2020 2019 % change

Remuneration paid to or receivable by all employees of the Group (including Directors) £49.8m £49.7m 0.2
Distributions to shareholders £11.1m £52.5m (78.8)
Underlying (loss)/profit for the year from continuing operations £(16.8)m £(16.6)m (1.7)
(Loss)/profit for the year from continuing operations £(149.6)m £(42.6)m (250.8)

Single figure of total remuneration for Non-Executive Directors
The table below sets out the single figure of total remuneration (and its breakdown into its constituent parts) for each Non-Executive Director:

Fees Taxable benefits Total

£’000 2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019

David Shearer1 150.0 – – – 150.0 –

John Coombs2,5 62.5 102.5 – –  62.5 102.5

Ginny Pulbrook3 52.5 21.9 – –  52.5 21.9

David Blackwood4 58.3  – – – 58.3 –

Former Non-Executive Directors

Iain Ferguson5 75.2 177.9 – – 75.2 177.9

Andrew Wood2,4,5 30.2 112.5 – – 30.2 112.5

1 David Shearer’s fee is based on his commencement date of 1 June 2019.
2 Fees were paid to John Coombs and Andrew Wood for their additional services during the year ended 28 February 2019 in relation to the legal disputes and litigation facing the Company. These 

additional fees amounted to £40,000 for each individual and are included in the table above.
3 Ginny Pulbrook’s fee is based on her commencement date of 1 October 2018.
4 Includes base fee of £52,500 plus additional fees of £10,000 for chairing the Audit (Andrew Wood/David Blackwood) and Remuneration (John Coombs) Committees and fulfilling the role of Senior 

Independent Director (Andrew Wood). Where more than one individual has held the office of Committee Chair during the year ended 29 February 2020, the additional fee is pro-rated between 
them by reference to the period for which they held the office.

5 Iain Ferguson and Andrew Wood retired from the Board on 23 July 2019, and their fees for the year ended 29 February 2020 in the table above relate to their service to this date. Details of 
payments made to them for services after they stepped down from the Board are included on page 107.

 
Non-Executive Directors’ fees for the year ended 29 February 2020
As reported in the Directors’ Remuneration Report last year, for the financial year ended 29 February 2020 the Committee determined that 
the Chairman’s fee would be increased by 3% in line with average pay increases to the wider workforce to £185,000 in respect of the former 
Chairman, Iain Ferguson. As part of the recruitment process the new Chairman’s fee was set at £200,000 per annum to reflect his experience 
and knowledge and was required to secure him in the role. There were no other increases to Non-Executive Director fees.

External appointments
During the year, Warwick Brady undertook the role of Non-Executive Director for FirstGroup plc and his fees for the year to 29 February 2020 
were £58,000.
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Service contracts
The terms and conditions of appointment of Non-Executive Directors and the service contracts of the Executive Directors are available for 
inspection at the Company’s registered office during normal business hours.

Non-Executive Directors are engaged under letters of appointment that set out their duties and responsibilities and are subject to annual 
shareholder re-election.

Name Commencement Notice period1

Warwick Brady 3 January 2017 12 months3

Nick Dilworth2 1 September 2018 6 months3

Lewis Girdwood 1 April 2019 6 months3

David Shearer 1 June 2019 3 months

John Coombs 1 July 2014 3 months

Ginny Pulbrook 1 October 2018 3 months

David Blackwood 1 March 2019 3 months

1 Notice periods apply in the same manner for both Directors and the Company.
2 Nick Dilworth’s contract was varied on 1 September 2018 on his appointment to the Board.
3 Service contracts on a rolling basis with no defined expiry date.

Implementation of the Policy for the year ending 28 February 2021
This section provides a summary of how the Committee will implement the Directors’ Remuneration Policy in the financial year ending 
28 February 2021. In our announcement of 6 April 2020 relating to the measures we have taken to safeguard our business operation in 
response to the COVID-19 outbreak, we confirmed that the Board have agreed to 20% pay reductions, which will apply for an initial period of 
three months with effect from 1 April 2020 and that all variable pay awards have been deferred to August 2020, at the earliest. 

Salary
As noted above, in light of the current uncertainty and impact of COVID-19 it has been agreed that no salary increases will be awarded for the 
year ending 28 February 2021. Accordingly, the salaries will remain the same as those applying at the end of the year ended 29 February 
2020, as set out below.

Executive Director Salary1

Warwick Brady £475,087

Nick Dilworth £272,500

Lewis Girdwood £265,000

1 Salaries are stated before the effect of the 20% reduction referred to above.

Benefits
The Group does not envisage any adjustments to benefits for the year ending 28 February 2021, except as necessary to reflect the market 
cost of providing the benefits described.

Pension
No changes in pension are proposed for the year ending 28 February 2021. Company contributions to a pension plan will remain at 20% of 
salary for the Chief Executive and Chief Operating Officer and at 10% for the Chief Financial Officer.

Annual bonuses
Although the new Directors’ Remuneration Policy for which shareholder approval will be sought at the 2020 AGM provides for a maximum 
bonus opportunity of 150% of salary, the opportunity for the year ending 28 February 2021 will be capped at 100% of salary. The current 
intention is that the bonus opportunity will be based 70% on adjusted Group EBITDA and 30% on personal/strategic objectives. However, 
as noted above, we will review variable pay awards in August 2020, at the earliest and finalise the performance measures having regard to 
the impact of COVID-19. Performance against targets and consequent bonus payments will be disclosed in full in next year’s Annual Report 
on Remuneration. 

Directors’ Remuneration Report 
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LTIP
For the financial year ending 28 February 2021, the Committee intends to grant awards under the new LTIP for which shareholder approval  
is being sought at the 2020 AGM. As noted above, final decisions in relation to variable pay awards have been deferred to August 2020,  
at the earliest.

These awards will vest following the end of the three-year performance period, which will run from 1 March 2020 to 28 February 2023. 
Any shares that vest will be subject to an additional holding period of up to two years.

The current intention is that performance measures will remain as cumulative adjusted EPS and TSR, which will be equally weighted and with 
threshold vesting under the TSR metric continuing to require the Company’s TSR to match the TSR of the FTSE 250 and maximum vesting 
continuing to require average annual outperformance of the index of 8.5%. The performance measures, performance targets and quantum 
of the awards will be disclosed both in the Directors’ Remuneration Report for the year ending 28 February 2021 and in the regulatory 
announcement made when the awards are granted. 

The new LTIP and new Directors’ Remuneration Policy for which shareholder approval will be sought at the 2020 AGM provide for a maximum 
LTIP grant of 200% of salary. 

Shareholding requirements
Shareholding requirements will continue to apply for the year ending 28 February 2021 in line with the Directors’ Remuneration Policy which 
is to build a shareholding equal to 200% of salary. 

Non-Executive Directors’ fees
For the financial year ending 28 February 2021, the Chairman’s fee and the Non-Executive Director fees remain unchanged and will therefore 
be as follows:

Fee 

Non-Executive Chairman £200,000
Non-Executive base fee £52,500
Additional fees
Committee Chair £10,000
Senior Independent Director £10,000

Committee membership
The membership of the Committee is determined by the Group Board and is confined to independent Non-Executive Directors, with the 
Company Secretary acting as secretary to the Committee.

Committee members
The members of the Committee are set out on page 86. Those Directors were members of the Committee when matters relating to the 
Directors’ remuneration for the year were considered.

While no others have rights of attendance or voting, the Committee may invite the Group Chairman, Chief Executive, external advisers and 
others holding key positions to attend some or all of its meetings.

During the year, the Committee also invited the following individuals and companies to attend on certain occasions to provide advice to the 
Committee to enable it to make informed decisions:
• Chief Executive
• Chief Financial Officer
• Group People Director

No individual was present when their own remuneration was being discussed.

The Company Secretary attended meetings as secretary to the Committee.

Overview and role of the Committee
The role of the Committee is to determine and recommend to the Board a fair and responsible remuneration framework for ensuring that the 
Company’s Executive Directors and designated senior management are appropriately rewarded and incentivised for their contribution to 
Group performance.

The Committee determines Executive Director remuneration, reviews and approves remuneration for other senior executives, and oversees 
the remuneration policy for the broader workforce.

The Committee conducts an annual review of its terms of reference and performance. The Committee evaluation was discussed as part of 
the Board effectiveness review, details of which are included in Governance on page 78.
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Committee activities during the year
A summary of the main activities of the Committee during the year is set out on page 89.

All members of the Committee are independent Non-Executive Directors, as defined under the UK Corporate Governance Code, with the 
exception of the Group Chairman who was independent on appointment.

Committee attendance for the year ending 29 February 2020

Number of 
meetings

Meetings  
attended

John Coombs 9 9
Ginny Pulbrook 9 9
David Blackwood 9 9
Ian Ferguson1 5 5
Andrew Wood1 5 5

1 Iain Ferguson and Andrew Wood stepped down on 23 July 2018. Attendance reflects the number of meetings from 1 March 2019 to 23 July 2019.

Under its terms of reference the Committee shall have a Chairman and at least two members all of whom shall be independent. For the period 
1 March to 23 July 2019 membership was four independent Directors and the former Chairman (who was independent on appointment) and 
for the period 24 July 2019 to date has been three independent Directors and was in compliance with the UK Corporate Governance Code.

External advisers
During the year ended 29 February 2020 the Committee received external advice from Deloitte LLP who were appointed as advisers to the 
Committee in January 2019. Deloitte LLP is a founding member of the Remuneration Consultants’ Group and as such voluntarily operates under 
a code of conduct in relation to executive remuneration consulting in the UK. Fees of £144,000 were paid in respect of remuneration services 
during the year. Deloitte LLP also provided advice during the year in relation to the Company’s share plans and remuneration reporting.

Statement of shareholder voting
At last year’s AGM on 23 July 2019, the Directors’ Remuneration Report received the votes listed in the table below. The Directors’ 
Remuneration Policy was last approved at the AGM on 29 June 2017 and the votes received were as listed below:

AGM Item for approval
Votes for  

(% total votes cast)
Votes against  

(% total votes cast) Votes withheld

23 July 2019 Approval of the Directors’ Remuneration Report 82.25% 17.75% 42,141,950

29 June 2017 Approval of the Directors’ Remuneration Policy 98.29% 1.71% 8,911,914

Approval
The Directors’ Remuneration Report has been approved by the Board of Directors.

Signed on behalf of the Board of Directors.

John Coombs
4 June 2020

Directors’ Remuneration Report 
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Directors’  
Report 

Introduction
As a Guernsey registered Company we are not obliged to follow the 
UK Companies Act 2006 but we choose to do so as indicated in 
relevant places in the Directors’ Report. The Directors’ Report also 
sets out certain information in accordance with the requirements of 
the Financial Conduct Authority’s Listing Rules and Disclosure and 
Transparency Rules (DTR).

The Directors’ Report should be read in conjunction with the 
Strategic Report (pages 1 to 69) and Governance (pages 70 to 112) 
which are incorporated by reference into the Directors’ Report.

Results and dividends
The financial statements set out the results of the Group for the year 
ended 29 February 2020 and are shown on pages 116 to 164.

A final dividend of 3.0p per share was paid to shareholders on 
31 July 2019. As stated in the interim results for the six months ended 
31 August 2019, the Board has decided to suspend the dividend and 
no further dividend will be paid in respect of the year end 
29 February 2020.

Directors’ and Officers’ insurance and indemnities
The Group maintains an appropriate level of Directors’ and Officers’ 
insurance whereby Directors are indemnified against liabilities to third 
parties to the extent permitted by Guernsey company law. The Group 
also, in addition to the indemnity granted to the Directors under the 
Articles of Incorporation, entered into instruments of indemnity with 
each Director. These instruments of indemnity contain provisions 
that are permitted by the director liability provisions of the Companies 
Act 2006 (in accordance with the Listing Rules), The Companies 
(Guernsey) Law, 2008 and the Articles of Incorporation and remain 
in force as at the date of this report.

Directors’ interests
No Director had any interests in contracts of significance in relation 
to the Company’s business during the year.

Substantial shareholdings
At 29 February 2020 and 12 May 2020, the Directors were aware that 
the following shareholders owned 3% or more of the issued ordinary 
shares of the Company.

Substantial shareholdings, excluding treasury shares, were:

Name

Number of 
ordinary shares  

29 February 
2020 %

Number of 
ordinary shares  

12 May  
2020 %

Toscafund Asset 
Management

78,062,777 20.84 89,640,562 23.93

Invesco Perpetual 
Asset Management

42,534,685 11.35 42,031,347 11.22

Cyrus Capital 
Partners

32,262,127 8.61 32,058,190 8.56

Harwood Capital 30,300,000 8.09 31,050,000 8.29
Mr A W Jenkinson 19,549,647 5.22 19,549,647 5.22
Royal London Asset 
Management

17,634,722 4.71 18,252,660 4.87

M&G Investment 
Management

16,280,000 4.35 16,248,682 4.34

Polygon Investment 
Partners
BlackRock Inc

16,117,943

11,178,214

4.30

2.98

16,117,943

11,618,966

4.30

3.10

Share capital
Details of the authorised and issued share capital and reserves of 
the Company are shown in note 30 to the financial statements.

During the year ended 29 February 2020, the Company issued 
3,830,947 ordinary shares on 12 September 2019 in connection 
with the satisfaction of share awards made to participants under 
the Stobart Energy Incentive Plan which vested in June 2019.

As at 29 February 2020, the Company held no treasury shares.

The share capital of Stobart Group Limited at 29 February 2020 was 
made up of 374,652,662 ordinary shares of 10p and the total number 
of voting rights was 374,652,662. The ordinary shares are listed on 
the London Stock Exchange.

Other information
The Company has chosen to set out in the Strategic Report certain information which would be required under Section 414C (11) of the 
Companies Act 2006 (if that Act were to apply to the Company) to be contained in the Directors’ Report. That information, together with other 
disclosures required by the Companies Act 2006 (as if that Act applied to the Company) and the DTR, can be found on the pages listed below.

Corporate governance DTR 7.2.1R to DTR 7.2.11R Pages 70 to 112

Directors’ biographical details and 
dates of appointment

Companies Act 2006 Section 416(1)(a)1 Pages 70 and 71

Directors’ interests in shares Page 107

Diversity DTR 7.2.8AR Page 41 to 45

Employment of disabled persons Paragraph 10, Schedule 7, Large and Medium-sized Companies and Group 
(Accounts and Reports) Regulations 2008 (2008 Regulations)

Page 43

Engaging with stakeholders Paragraphs 11B and 11C, Schedule 7, 2008 Regulations1 Pages 18 and 19

Employees and engaging with 
workforce

Paragraphs 11 and 11A, Schedule 7, 2008 Regulations1 Page 41 to 45

Future developments in the business Paragraphs 7(1)(a) and 7(2), Schedule 7, 2008 Regulations1 Pages 1 to 69

Greenhouse gas emissions Paragraph 15, Schedule 7, 2008 Regulations1 Page 50

Risk management and internal control:
How the business manages risk

Paragraph 6, Schedule 7, 2008 Regulations and DTR 4.1.11R(6)1 Pages 58 to 63

1 As if the Companies Act 2006 and the 2008 Regulations applied to the Company.
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Going concern
The Group’s business activities, together with factors likely to affect 
its future performance and position, are set out in the Chief 
Executive’s Review on pages 22 to 23 and the financial position of 
the Group, its cash flows and funding are set out in the Financial 
Review on pages 64 to 67.
 
Note 26 of the financial statements includes details of the Group’s 
loans and borrowings at the year end together with the Group’s 
objectives, policies and processes for managing its capital, its 
financial risk management objectives, details of its financial 
instruments and its exposure to credit risk and liquidity risk. After 
making enquiries, the Directors have a reasonable expectation that 
the Group has adequate resources to continue in operational 
existence for the foreseeable future. Accordingly, the financial 
statements have been prepared on a going concern basis. However, 
there is a material uncertainty in respect of this going concern 
assumption and the Directors have exercised a high degree of 
judgement in concluding that the Group remains a going concern.
 
In arriving at this expectation, the Directors have reviewed the cash 
flow forecasts together with the projected covenant compliance of 
the Group, which cover a period up to February 2022.
 
The Group, which has net assets of £103.1m and negative working 
capital of £63.8m, made a loss from continuing operations of 
£149.6m and had an operating cash outflow from continuing 
operations of £16.2m during the year. The Group has a revolving 
credit facility of £80.0m, which was drawn at £75.0m at 29 February 
2020. The Group has cash balances of £9.8m and this, together  
with the undrawn facility, results in available headroom of £14.8m  
as at 29 February 2020. Subsequent to year end this fell to a low of 
£6.7m with the Directors tightly managing cash, during the post year 
end period.

During the year, the Group suspended its dividend to avoid 
increasing debt to fund shareholder returns. In addition, the Group 
has reviewed its discretionary capital expenditure programme during 
the year, which has resulted in the rephasing of the original one-year 
capital expenditure plan to February 2021 over the extended period 
ending February 2022, recognising what is in effect a one year delay 
to the Group’s growth and investment plans driven by COVID-19. 
These actions are wholly in the control of the Directors. 

The Group intends to announce its intention to raise gross proceeds 
of approximately £80 million by way of a Firm Placing and Placing 
and Open Offer (Capital Raise) that will be conditional upon, among 
other things, the approval of shareholders at a general meeting of the 
Company which will take place on 25 June 2020, and funds are 
expected by 30 June 2020. A combined prospectus and circular to 
shareholders containing additional details on the Capital Raise is 
intended to be published on 5 June 2020 (Prospectus). Furthermore, 
on 4 June 2020, current bank lenders agreed to fund an additional 
£40m revolving credit facility (RCF), of which £10 million is available 
to be drawn down, conditional upon successful completion of the 
institutional bookbuild in respect of the Capital Raise, to fund the 
Group prior to receipt of the Capital Raise net proceeds. This £10 
million is repayable if the Capital Raise does not raise net proceeds 
of £70 million by 29 June 2020, or the date at which this is known if 

earlier. Draw down from the remainder of the new RCF facility is 
conditional upon shareholder approval of the Capital Raise. If 
shareholder approval is not received, or net proceeds do not exceed 
£70m, alternative additional funding would be required in the short 
term the source of which is uncertain.
 
As a result of the new RCF, it has been necessary to renegotiate the 
existing RCF terms and has resulted in an increased cost of 
borrowing, made up of both arrangement fees and increased drawn 
and undrawn interest rates and revised / rebased certain covenants. 
The terms are now aligned for both the new and amended RCF. The 
new RCF will run concurrently with the amended RCF and both 
expire in January 2022. The Directors, in forming their going concern 
conclusion, are confident that the RCF will be successfully renewed 
prior to or in January 2022 and provide at least £80m of facilities. 
Should this not occur the Group will need to find alternative funding 
or other mitigating actions from January 2022.
 
The Directors have prepared base forecasts through to February 
2022, together with sensitivity analysis on those forecasts, including 
a severe but plausible downside set of assumptions around the 
COVID-19 recovery for the Group whilst recognising the different 
recovery periods likely to be seen given the nature of the different 
divisions. The Directors consider the Energy division will recover first, 
with Aviation division likely to see a slower recovery as both airlines 
and passengers adapt to the post COVID-19 environment. In 
particular, and for the purposes of this going concern analysis only, 
the base case assumes no passenger related revenue generated 
from London Southend Airport until the end of September 2020, and 
reduced capacity to 65% at most energy plants supplied due to 
reduction in waste wood supply and whilst work in the construction 
sector has been suspended to the end of June 2020, with recovery 
expected through July to September 2020. It is the intention of the 
Directors for the timing that planned future asset disposals will be 
managed carefully as to not rely on those disposals to fund the 
business requirements, allowing time to realise the best value for 
shareholders. 

The severe but plausible sensitised case assumes the Aviation 
division has no passenger flights until the end of December 2020 
with a phased recovery over 12 months from January 2021, the 
Energy division revenue decreases further, and certain asset 
realisations do not occur. 

The base case forecasts indicate that, assuming an amount in 
excess of £70m (net proceeds) is raised in the Capital Raise, the 
Group will have sufficient funds to meet its liabilities for the period 
covered by the forecasts. However, the sensitised forecasts indicate 
that, before non-controllable mitigating actions such as asset 
disposals, the group may require additional funding toward the end 
of the forecast period. The amount of additional funding that may be 
required in the downside scenario increases the greater the shortfall 
against operational forecasts. 
 
With the new and amended RCF facility and assuming the 
successful completion of the Capital Raise to raise at least £70m (net 
proceeds) of cash, the Directors are satisfied that the Group has 
adequate resources to fund its cash requirements for the foreseeable 
future. The base and sensitised forecasts indicate that the Group will 

Directors’ Report 
continued 
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continue to operate within the newly negotiated covenant 
requirements of the RCF in the forecast period. 

However, the directors consider the successful completion of the 
Capital Raise and substantial achievement of forecasts, together with 
the other matters referred to above represent a material uncertainty 
that may cast significant doubt on the ability of the group and 
company to continue as a going concern and, therefore, to continue 
realising its assets and discharging its liabilities in the normal course 
of business. The going concern basis has been adopted and the 
financial statements do not include any adjustments that would be 
necessary if this basis were inappropriate.

Directors’ responsibilities
The Directors are responsible for preparing the annual financial 
statements in accordance with applicable Guernsey Law and 
International Financial Reporting Standards ( applicable in the EU. 
Our Guernsey registration dates back to January 2002, the days of 
the Westbury Property Fund. We have looked at options to re-register 
in the UK and have found it to be too complicated and costly to enact 
at this time. Guernsey company law requires the Directors to prepare 
financial statements for each financial period which give a true and 
fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the profit or 
loss of the Company for that period and are in accordance with 
applicable laws.

In preparing those financial statements, the Directors are required to:
• Select suitable accounting policies and apply them consistently.
• Make judgements and estimates that are reasonable, relevant 

and reliable.
• State whether they have been prepared in accordance with IFRSs 

as adopted by the EU.
• Assess the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, 

disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern.
• Use the going concern basis of accounting unless they either 

intended to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or have 
no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Directors are responsible for such internal control as they 
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error, and have general responsibility for taking such steps 
as are reasonably open to them to safeguard the assets of the 
Company and to prevent and detect fraud and other irregularities.

Directors are responsible for keeping proper accounting records that 
disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position 
of the Group and enable them to ensure that the financial statements 
comply with the Companies (Guernsey) Law 2008.

They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Group 
and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention of fraud 
and other irregularities.

The Board and senior executives of the Group are accountable to the 
shareholders and communicate with them on a regular basis in a 
number of ways. Communication methods and channels include:
• Annual general and extraordinary meetings.
• Announcements on the London Stock Exchange.
• Regular briefings on the Group’s website.
• Bi-annual presentations to institutional shareholders.

Responsibility statement of the Directors in respect of the 
Annual Report and Group financial statements
The Directors confirm to the best of their knowledge that:
• The financial statements, prepared in accordance with IFRSs as 

adopted by the EU, give a true and fair view of the assets, 
liabilities, financial position and profit or loss of the Group.

• The Annual Report includes a fair view of the development and 
performance of the business and the position of the Group and 
the undertakings included in the consolidation taken as a whole, 
together with a description of the Principal Risks and uncertainties 
that the Group faces.

• The Directors consider the Annual Report and Accounts taken as 
a whole to be fair, balanced and understandable and contain the 
information necessary for shareholders to assess and provide the 
Group’s position and performance, business model and strategy.

• A robust assessment of the Principal Risks facing the Group, 
including those that would threaten its business model, future 
performance, solvency and liquidity has taken place.

Auditor
Resolutions to reappoint KPMG LLP as auditor of the Company 
and for the approval of its remuneration are to be proposed at the 
2020 AGM.

The Directors who held office at the date of the approval of this 
Directors’ Report confirm that, so far as they are each aware,  
there is no relevant audit information of which the Group’s auditor 
is unaware; and each Director has taken all the steps that they ought 
to have taken as Director to make themselves aware of any relevant 
audit information and establish that the Group’s auditor is aware 
of that information.

The Directors’ Report was approved by the Board on 27 May 2020 
and signed on its behalf by:

Louise Brace
Company Secretary
4 June 2020
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Independent Auditor’s Report
to the members of Stobart Group Limited

1. Our opinion is unmodified
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Stobart 
Group Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together, the 
“Group”) for the year ended 29 February 2020, which comprise the 
consolidated income statement, consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income, consolidated statement of financial position, 
the consolidated statements of changes in equity and cash flows for 
the year then ended, and the related notes, including the accounting 
policies in note 1. 

In our opinion the accompanying consolidated  
financial statements: 
• give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group as at 

29 February 2020, and of the Group’s financial loss and cash flows 
for the year then ended;

• are prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards as adopted by the EU; and

• comply with the Companies (Guernsey) Law, 2008.

Basis for opinion 
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards 
on Auditing (UK) (“ISAs (UK)”) and applicable law. Our 
responsibilities are described below. We have fulfilled our ethical 
responsibilities under, and are independent of the Company and 
Group in accordance with, UK ethical requirements including FRC 
Ethical Standards, as applied to listed entities. We believe that the 
audit evidence we have obtained is a sufficient and appropriate 
basis for our opinion.

Overview

Materiality: 
group financial  
statements as  
a whole

£1.3m (2019: £1.3m)  
0.8% (2019: 0.9%) of revenue

Coverage 100% (2019: 100%) of revenue, loss before 
tax and total assets

Key audit matters  vs 2019

Recurring risks Going concern

The impact of uncertainties  
due to UK exiting the  
European Union on our audit 

Event driven New: Presentation of potential 
Group indemnities in respect of 
previously disposed subsidiaries 
to Connect Airways Limited in 
which the Group has a joint 
venture interest

New: Presentation of items as  
non – underlying items 

2. Material uncertainty relating to going concern

The risk Our response

Going concern
We draw attention to note 1 to the financial 
statements which describes uncertainties 
regarding the successful completion of the 
planned Firm Placing and Placing and Open 
Offer, which is dependent in particular on the 
receipt of shareholder approval. In addition, 
based on the Firm Placing and Placing and 
Open Offer raising net proceeds in excess of 
£70m by 29 June 2020, forecasts indicate 
that the group must substantially achieve its 
base case forecasts to remain within 
available facilities or may need to obtain 
additional funding. These events and 
conditions, along with the other matters 
explained in note 1, constitute a material 
uncertainty that may cast significant doubt 
on the Company’s and Group’s ability to 
continue as a going concern. Our opinion is 
not modified in this respect.

Disclosure quality
There is little judgement involved in the 
director’s conclusion that the risks and 
circumstances described in note 1 to the 
financial statements represent a material 
uncertainty over the ability of the Group and 
Company to continue as a going concern for 
a period of at least a year from the date of 
approval of the financial statements.

However, clear and full disclosure of the 
facts and the directors’ rationale for the use 
of the going concern basis of preparation, 
including that there is a related material 
uncertainty, is a key financial statement 
disclosure and so was the focus of our audit 
in this area. Auditing standards require that 
to be reported as a key audit matter.

Our audit procedures included: 

Assessing transparency 
We assessed the completeness and 
accuracy of the matters covered in the going 
concern disclosure by comparing this to our 
understanding of the risks faced by the 
Group and the parent Company. 

We are required to report to you if the directors’ going concern statement under the Listing Rules set out on page 114 is materially inconsistent 
with our audit knowledge. We have nothing to report in this respect.
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3. Other key audit matters: including our assessment of risks of material misstatement
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial 
statements and include the most significant assessed risks of material misstatement (whether or not due to fraud) identified by us, including 
those which had the greatest effect on: the overall audit strategy; the allocation of resources in the audit; and directing the efforts of the 
engagement team. Going concern is a significant key audit matter and is described in section 2 of our report. These matters were addressed 
in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a 
separate opinion on these matters. In arriving at our audit opinion above, the key audit matters, were as follows.

The risk Our response

The impact of uncertainties due to the 
UK exiting the European Union on our 
audit 
Refer to page 61 (Principal risks and 
mitigations) and page 84 (Audit Committee 
report)

Unprecedented levels of uncertainty 
All audits assess and challenge the 
reasonableness of estimates, related 
disclosures and the appropriateness of the 
going concern basis of preparation of the 
financial statements (see above). All of these 
depend on assessments of the future 
economic environment and the Group’s 
future prospects and performance. 

In addition, we are required to consider the 
other information presented in the Annual 
Report including the principal risks disclosure 
and the viability statement and to consider  
the directors’ statement that the annual  
report and financial statements taken as a 
whole is fair, balanced and understandable 
and provides the information necessary  
for shareholders to assess the Group’s 
position and performance, business model 
and strategy. 

Brexit is one of the most significant 
economic events for the UK and its effects 
are subject to unprecedented levels of 
uncertainty of consequences, with the full 
range of possible effects unknown. 

We developed a standardised firm-wide 
approach to the consideration of the 
uncertainties arising from Brexit in planning 
and performing our audits. Our procedures 
included:

Our Brexit knowledge
We considered the directors’ assessment of 
Brexit-related sources of risk for the Group’s 
business and financial resources compared 
with our own understanding of the risks. We 
considered the directors’ plans to take action 
to mitigate the risks.

Sensitivity analysis
When addressing going concern and other 
areas that depend on forecasts, we 
compared the directors’ analysis to our 
assessment of the full range of reasonably 
possible scenarios resulting from Brexit 
uncertainty and, where forecast cash flows 
are required to be discounted, considered 
adjustments to discount rates for the level of 
remaining uncertainty.

Assessing transparency 
As well as assessing individual disclosures 
as part of our procedures on going concern 
we considered all of the Brexit related 
disclosures together, including those in  
the strategic report, comparing the overall 
picture against our understanding of  
the risks.

However, no audit should be expected to 
predict the unknowable factors or all 
possible future implications for a company 
and this is particularly the case in relation  
to Brexit. 
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The risk Our response

Presentation of potential Group 
indemnities in respect of previously 
disposed subsidiaries to Connect 
Airways Limited in which the Group has 
a joint venture interest
Refer to page 36 (Operational review),  
page 60 (Principal risks and mitigations), 
page 84 (Audit Committee report), page 135 
(Note 2 – Summary of significant accounting 
judgements and estimates), page 162 (Note 
33 – contingent liabilities, page 162 (Note 34 
– Post balance sheet events).

Omitted exposure
The Group have provided guarantees in 
respect of Stobart Air and Propius which 
remain in place following their disposal. 

This includes guarantees over the $15.4m 
annual aircraft rentals payable by Propius. 
These guarantees expire in April 2027, with a 
break clause in April 2023 if the Aer Lingus 
franchise is not extended in December 2022 
which would trigger a payment by the 
guarantor of a break fee of $21.2 million.

Guarantees have also been provided in 
respect of the airline Stobart Air, in relation to 
jet fuel and FX hedging contracts. The 
exposure on these contracts at the year end  
is c¤2m. 

In addition, a facility provided by Aer Lingus, 
under which Stobart Air receives 100% of 
ticket revenue in advance of passenger 
flights, has been guaranteed up to maximum 
of ¤18m.

The existence of these guarantees require 
the directors to make judgements as to 
whether these constitute a provision or 
contingent liability.

Disclosure quality
Clear and full disclosure of the facts and the 
directors’ rationale for the judgements made, 
is a key financial statement disclosure and 
so was a focus of our audit in this area.

Our audit procedures included: 

Enquiry of Directors 
We made inquiries of the Board of Directors 
to understand their assessment of the 
financial performance and funding 
requirements of Connect Airways Limited 
(Connect), their intentions on behalf of the 
Group as a shareholder of Connect and the 
intentions of the other shareholders of 
Connect as at the balance sheet date. 

We considered publically available 
information, with information held by the 
Group in respect of the performance of 
Connect and the actions being taken by the 
shareholders, along with the timing of 
various announcements.

Accounting analysis
We assessed and challenged the director’s 
judgement in relation to the presentation of 
contingent liabilities based on applicable 
accounting standards.

Testing application 
We inspected legal documents in respect of 
the indemnities to identify the contractual 
mechanisms by which cash outflows may 
arise for the Group.

Assessing transparency
We assessed whether the Group’s 
disclosures in respect of the judgement 
made, the contingent liabilities and the post 
balance sheet event was adequate. 

Independent Auditor’s Report continued
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The risk Our response

Presentation of items as non-underlying

Non-underlying items after tax: £132.8m 
(2019: £26.1m)

Refer to page 65 (Financial review), page 85 
(Audit committee report), page 136 (Note 2 
– Summary of significant accounting 
judgements and estimates), page 141 
(Note 9 – non-underlying items). 

Disclosure quality
The Group has presented a number of 
material income statement as non-
underlying items. 
 
Whilst this is not prohibited, inappropriate 
use of this presentation, or a lack of clear 
explanation or reconciliation to relevant 
GAAP measures, can distort the financial 
results for the year or result in difficulty 
understanding the true performance  
of the business. 

Our audit procedures included:

Assessing principles 
We assessed the accounting policy adopted 
in respect of non-underlying and the 
application of the stated policy. We assessed 
whether the accounting policy had been 
applied consistently with the prior period.

Testing application 
We held inquiries with the directors to 
understand the nature of non-underlying 
items and challenged the presentation and 
completeness of expenses and income 
items. For a sample of non-underlying 
expenses we obtained evidence of the 
nature of the expense by agreeing to external 
invoices. 

Assessing balance
We challenged the prominence of GAAP 
and non-GAAP measures throughout the 
financial statements and considered whether 
the presentation of items as underlying or 
non-underlying was fair and balanced.

Assessing transparency
We assessed whether the Group’s 
disclosures were adequate in respect of 
non-underlying items and the composition of 
alternative measures.

Changes in key audit matters 
We continue to perform procedures over the valuation of tangible fixed assets – land at Runcorn and the valuations of inventory – Widnes 
development land. However, following the impairment of both of these, we have not assessed these as being the most significant risks  
in our current year audit and, therefore, they are not separately identified in our report this year. The disposal of subsidiaries to Connect 
Airways Limited and associated acquisition of the joint venture interest in respect of Connect Airways Limited was a one-off transaction  
in the prior period. 
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4. Our application of materiality and an overview of the scope 
of our audit 
Materiality for the consolidated financial statements as a whole was 
set at £1.3m (2019: £1.3m) determined with reference to a 
benchmark of Group revenue of £170.1m (2019: £147.6m) of which it 
represents 0.8% (2019: 0.9%). We consider total revenue to be the 
most appropriate benchmark as it provides a more stable measure 
year on year than Group loss before tax.

We agreed to report to the Audit Committee any corrected or 
uncorrected identified misstatements exceeding £65,000 (2019: 
£65,000), in addition to other identified misstatements that warranted 
reporting on qualitative grounds. 

Our audit of the Group was undertaken to the materiality level 
specified above, which has informed our identification of significant 
risks of material misstatement and the associated audit procedures 
performed in those areas as detailed above. 

Of the group’s 21 (2019: 20) reporting components, we subjected 17 
(2019: 18) to full scope audits for Group purposes. 

The components within the scope of our work accounted for 100% of 
total group revenue; 100% of group loss before taxation; and 100% of 
total group assets and liabilities (2019: 100% of total group revenue, 
100% of group profit before taxation and 100% of total group assets 
and liabilities). For the residual components, we performed analysis 
at an aggregated group level to re-examine our assessment that 
there were no significant risks of material misstatement within these. 

The Group team instructed component auditors as to the significant 
areas to be covered, including the relevant risks detailed above and 
the information to be reported back. The Group team approved the 
component materialities which ranged from £75,000 to £500,000 
(2019: £85,000 to £650,000) having regard to the mix of size and risk 
profile of the Group across the components. The work on 12 of the 
17 components (2019: 13 of the 18 components) was performed by 
component auditors and the rest, including the audit of the parent 
company, was performed by the Group team. 

The Group team held video and telephone conference meetings 
with component auditors. At these meetings, the findings reported 
to the Group team were discussed in more detail, and any further 
work required by the Group team was then performed by the 
component auditor. 

5. We have nothing to report on the other information in the 
Annual Report
The directors are responsible for the other information presented in 
the Annual Report together with the financial statements. Our opinion 
on the financial statements does not cover the other information and, 
accordingly, we do not express an audit opinion or any form of 
assurance conclusion thereon. 

Our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, 
consider whether, based on our financial statements audit work,  
the information therein is materially misstated or inconsistent with  
the financial statements or our audit knowledge. Based solely on  
that work we have not identified material misstatements in the  
other information. 

Disclosures of emerging and principal risks and longer  
term viability
Based on the knowledge we acquired during our financial 
statements audit, we have nothing material to add or draw attention 
to in relation to: 
• the directors’ confirmation within the viability statement on page 63 

that they have carried out a robust assessment of the emerging and 
principal risks facing the Group, including those that would threaten 
its business model, future performance, solvency or liquidity;

• the Principal Risks disclosures describing these risks and 
explaining how they are being managed or mitigated;

• the directors’ explanation in the viability statement on page 63 as 
to how they have assessed the prospects of the Group, over what 
period they have done so and why they consider that period to be 
appropriate, and their statement as to whether they have a 
reasonable expectation that the Group will be able to continue in 
operation and meet its liabilities as they fall due over the period of 
their assessment, including any related disclosures drawing 
attention to any necessary qualifications or assumptions.

Under the Listing Rules we are required to review the viability 
statement. We have nothing to report in this respect. 

Our work is limited to assessing these matters in the context of only 
the knowledge acquired during our financial statements audit. As we 
cannot predict all future events or conditions and as subsequent 
events may result in outcomes that are inconsistent with judgments 
that were reasonable at the time they were made, the absence of 
anything to report on these statements is not a guarantee as to the 
Group’s longer-term viability. 

Corporate governance disclosures
We are required to report to you if:
• we have identified material inconsistencies between the 

knowledge we acquired during our financial statements audit and 
the directors’ statement that they consider that the Annual Report 
and consolidated financial statements taken as a whole is fair, 
balanced and understandable and provides the information 
necessary for shareholders to assess the Group’s position and 
performance, business model and strategy; or 

• the section of the Annual Report describing the work of the Audit 
Committee does not appropriately address matters 
communicated by us to the Audit Committee.

We are required to report to you if the Corporate Governance 
Statement does not properly disclose a departure from the 
provisions of the UK Corporate Governance Code specified by the 
Listing Rules for our review. 

We have nothing to report to you in these respects.

6. We have nothing to report on the other matters on which we 
are required to report by exception
We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters where 
the Companies (Guernsey) Law, 2008 requires us to report to you if, 
in our opinion:
• the Company has not kept proper accounting records; or
• the consolidated financial statements are not in agreement with 

the accounting records; or
• we have not received all the information and explanations, which to 

the best of our knowledge and belief are necessary for the 
purpose of our audit.

Independent Auditor’s Report continued
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7. Respective responsibilities
Directors’ responsibilities
As explained more fully in their statement set out on page 115, the 
directors are responsible for: the preparation of the consolidated 
financial statements including being satisfied that they give a true 
and fair view; such internal control as they determine is necessary to 
enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; 
assessing the Group and Company’s ability to continue as a going 
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern; 
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless they either 
intend to liquidate the Group or the Company or to cease operations, 
or have no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Auditor’s responsibilities
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether 
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue our 
opinion in an auditor’s report. Reasonable assurance is a high level 
of assurance, but does not guarantee that an audit conducted in 
accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material 
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or 
error and are considered material if, individually or in aggregate, they 
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions 
of users taken on the basis of the consolidated financial statements. 

A fuller description of our responsibilities is provided on the FRC’s 
website at www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities.

8. The purpose of this report and restrictions on its use by 
persons other than the Company’s members as a body
This report is made solely to the Company’s members, as a body,  
in accordance with section 262 of the Companies (Guernsey) Law, 
2008. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state  
to the Company’s members those matters we are required to state to 
them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest 
extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility  
to anyone other than the Company and the Company’s members, 
as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we 
have formed.

Mick Davies 
For and behalf of KPMG LLP
Chartered Accountants and Recognised Auditor 
1 St Peter’s Square 
Manchester 
M2 3AE 

4 June 2020
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Consolidated income statement
for the year ended 29 February 2020

Notes

Year ended 29 February 2020 Year ended 28 February 2019

Underlying 
£’000

Non-
underlying 

(note 9)
£’000 

Total 
£’000

Underlying 
£’000

Non-
underlying 

(note 9)
£’000 

Total 
£’000

Continuing operations
Revenue 4 170,175 – 170,175 146,889 – 146,889
Other income 7 4,700 – 4,700 1,310 – 1,310
Operating expenses – other 8 (158,176) (20,112) (178,288) (135,631) (17,135) (152,766)
Share of post-tax profits of associates and 
joint ventures 17 (657) (9,108) (9,765) (1,740) – (1,740)

EBITDA 16,042 (29,220) (13,178) 10,828 (17,135) (6,307)

Loss on swaps 26 (300) – (300) (353) – (353)
Depreciation 16 (22,723) – (22,723) (16,305) – (16,305)
Amortisation 20 – (7,456) (7,456) – (3,938) (3,938)
Impairment – other 9 – (56,804) (56,804) – (7,800) (7,800)
Impairment – loan receivables from joint venture 9 – (45,105) (45,105) – – –

Operating loss (6,981) (138,585) (145,566) (5,830) (28,873) (34,703)

Impairment of loan notes 12 (2,754) – (2,754) (3,208) – (3,208)
Finance costs 12 (14,017) – (14,017) (5,213) – (5,213)
Finance income 11 4,353 – 4,353 1,010 – 1,010

Loss before tax (19,399) (138,585) (157,984) (13,241) (28,873) (42,114)

Tax 13 2,559 5,831 8,390 (3,321) 2,791 (530)

Loss for the year from continuing operations (16,840) (132,754) (149,594) (16,562) (26,082) (42,644)

Discontinued operations
Profit/(loss) from discontinued operations, net of tax 5 11,699 (15,535)

Loss for the year (137,895) (58,179)

Notes

Year ended 29 February 2020 Year ended 28 February 2019

Underlying Total Underlying Total

Loss per share expressed in pence per share – continuing operations
Basic 14 (4.57)p (40.56)p (4.74)p (12.19)p
Diluted 14 (4.57)p (40.56)p (4.74)p (12.19)p

Loss per share expressed in pence per share – total 
Basic 14 (37.39)p (16.64)p
Diluted 14 (37.39)p (16.64)p
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Consolidated statement of comprehensive income
for the year ended 29 February 2020

Notes

Year ended 
29 February 

2020 
£’000

Year ended 
28 February 

2019 
£’000

Loss for the year (137,895) (58,179)
Discontinued operations, net of tax, relating to exchange differences (173) 2,041

Other comprehensive (expense)/income to be reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent 
years, net of tax (173) 2,041

Remeasurement of defined benefit plan 27 (2,049) (260)
Change in fair value of financial assets classified as fair value through other comprehensive income 18 (40,212) (18,772)
Tax on items relating to components of other comprehensive income 13 348 45

Other comprehensive expense not being reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent years, 
net of tax (41,913) (18,987)

Other comprehensive expense for the year, net of tax (42,086) (16,946)

Total comprehensive expense for the year (179,981) (75,125)

Of the total comprehensive expense for the year, a loss of £191,507,000 (2019: £61,631,000) is in respect of continuing operations and a profit 
of £11,526,000 (2019: £13,494,000 loss) is in respect of discontinued operations.
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Consolidated statement of financial position
as at 29 February 2020

Notes

29 February 
2020

£’000

28 February 
2019

£’000

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 16 306,584 262,915
Investment in associates and joint ventures 17 1,590 10,459
Other financial assets 18 4,776 44,918
Investment property 19 – 4,000
Intangible assets 20 54,669 100,482
Net investment in lease 32 13,247 –
Trade and other receivables 22 8,000 44,642

388,866 467,416

Current assets
Inventories 21 13,893 22,559
Trade and other receivables 22 40,167 41,271
Cash and cash equivalents 26 9,802 14,432
Assets held for sale 23 11,408 1,474

75,270 79,736

Total assets 464,136 547,152

Non-current liabilities
Loans and borrowings 26 (177,788) (84,121)
Defined benefit pension obligation 27 (4,422) (3,170)
Other liabilities 25 (9,687) (11,096)
Deferred tax 28 (5,736) (13,560)
Provisions 29 (24,346) (25,775)

(221,979) (137,722)

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 24 (61,899) (53,648)
Financial liabilities 26 (3,500) –
Loans and borrowings 26 (15,780) (13,433)
Exchangeable bonds1 26 (51,689) –
Corporation tax 13 – (12,412)
Provisions 29 (6,191) (5,438)
Liabilities held for sale 23 – (27,545)

(139,059) (112,476)

Total liabilities (361,038) (250,198)

Net assets 103,098 296,954

Capital and reserves 
Issued share capital 31 37,465 37,082
Share premium 324,368 324,379
Foreign currency exchange reserve – 480
Reserve for own shares held by employee benefit trust (7,161) (12,154)
Retained deficit (251,574) (52,833)

Group shareholders’ equity 103,098 296,954

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 27 May 2020 and were signed on its behalf by:

David Shearer    Warwick Brady
Chairman     Director

1 In accordance with IAS 1 it is necessary for the secured guaranteed exchangeable bonds (Bonds), issued on 3 May 2019, to be presented as a current liability because the Group does not have 
an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting period. The bondholders have an unconditional right to require the Group to settle the Bonds by 
giving the bondholders shares in Eddie Stobart Logistics plc (ESL) at any time. The Group has no obligation to settle the Bonds in cash within 12 months of the balance sheet date.
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity
for the year ended 29 February 2020

For the year ended 29 February 2020

Notes

Issued  
share  

capital  
£’000

Share
 premium 

£’000

Foreign 
currency 

exchange 
reserve 

£’000

Reserve for 
own shares 

held by
EBT 

£’000

Retained 
deficit
£’000

Total 
equity
£’000

Balance at 1 March 2019 37,082 324,379 480 (12,154) (52,833) 296,954
IFRS 16 transition adjustment, net of tax 1 – – – – (2,846) (2,846)

Balance at 1 March 2019 (adjusted) 37,082 324,379 480 (12,154) (55,679) 294,108
Loss for the year – – – – (137,895) (137,895)
Other comprehensive expense for the year – – (173) – (41,913) (42,086)

Total comprehensive expense for the year – – (173) – (179,808) (179,981)
Issue of ordinary shares 31 383 (11) – – (382) (10)
Employee benefit trust 5 – – – 4,993 (4,937) 56
Removal of foreign exchange reserve on disposal
of subsidiary – – (307) – – (307)
Share-based payment credit 30 – – – – 1,271 1,271
Tax on share-based payment credit – – – – (914) (914)
Dividends 15 – – – – (11,125) (11,125)

Balance at 29 February 2020 37,465 324,368 – (7,161) (251,574) 103,098

For the year ended 28 February 2019

Notes

Issued  
share  

capital  
£’000

Share
 premium 

£’000

Foreign 
currency 

exchange 
reserve 

£’000

Reserve for 
own shares 

held by
EBT 

£’000

Retained 
earnings/

(deficit)
£’000

Total 
equity
£’000

Balance at 1 March 2018 35,434 301,326 (1,884) (330) 71,374 405,920
IFRS 15 transition adjustment, net of tax – – – – (3,278) (3,278)

Balance at 1 March 2018 (adjusted) 35,434 301,326 (1,884) (330) 68,096 402,642
Loss for the year – – – – (58,179) (58,179)
Other comprehensive income/(expense) for the year – – 2,041 – (18,987) (16,946)

Total comprehensive income/(expense) for the year – – 2,041 – (77,166) (75,125)
Issue of ordinary shares 1,648 23,053 – – – 24,701
Employee benefit trust – – – (11,824) 12,380 556
Reclassification of exchange differences on disposal 
of subsidiaries 5 – – 323 – – 323
Share-based payment credit 30 – – – – 714 714
Tax on share-based payment credit – – – – (925) (925)
Purchase of treasury shares 31 – – – – (3,416) (3,416)
Dividends 15 – – – – (52,516) (52,516)

Balance at 28 February 2019 37,082 324,379 480 (12,154) (52,833) 296,954
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Consolidated statement of cash flows
for the year ended 29 February 2020

Notes

Year 
ended 

29 February 
2020 

£’000

Year 
ended 

28 February 
2019 

£’000

Cash used in continuing operations 35 (16,210) (1,737)
Cash outflow from discontinued operations 5 (6,011) (11,059)
Income taxes paid – –

Net cash outflow from operating activities (22,221) (12,796)

Purchase of property, plant and equipment, and investment property (14,570) (23,731)
Purchase/development of property inventories – (1,282)
Proceeds from the sale of property inventories 226 –
Proceeds from the sale of property, plant and equipment 5,049 8,501
Proceeds from the sale of investment property 2,111 –
Proceeds from disposal of assets held for sale – 6,217
Proceeds from sale and leaseback (net of costs) (62) 30,049
Receipt of capital element of IFRS 16 net investment in lease 32 761 –
Cash disposed on sale of subsidiary undertaking 5 (1,729) (3,728)
Equity investment in associates and joint ventures 17 (2,667) (1,500)
Acquisition of other investments 18 (70) –
Net amounts advanced to joint ventures 36 (2,114) (143)
Interest received 11 999 57
Cash inflow/(outflow) from discontinued operations 5 2,315 (4,577)

Net cash (outflow)/inflow from investing activities (9,751) 9,863

Dividend paid on ordinary shares 15 (11,125) (52,516)
Issue of ordinary shares (net of issue costs) 31 (12) 24,702
Purchase of treasury shares (net of costs) 31 – (3,416)
Proceeds from issue of exchangeable bond (net of costs) 26 51,305 –
(Repayment of)/proceeds from grants 25 (834) 5,400
Principal element of lease payments 26 (20,783) (14,382)
Net draw down from revolving credit facility 26 16,996 17,572
Interest paid 12 (8,205) (3,103)

Net cash inflow/(outflow) from financing activities 27,342 (25,743)

Decrease in cash and cash equivalents (4,630) (28,676)

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 14,432 43,108

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 9,802 14,432
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements
for the year ended 29 February 2020

1 Accounting policies of Stobart Group Limited
Basis of preparation and statement of compliance
The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation 
of the financial statements are set out below. The policies have 
been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless 
otherwise stated.

These Group financial statements have been prepared in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRSs and IFRIC interpretations) as adopted by the European Union 
(adopted IFRSs).

The financial statements of the Group are also prepared in 
accordance with the Companies (Guernsey) Law 2008.

Stobart Group Limited is a Guernsey-registered company. The 
Company’s ordinary shares are traded on the London Stock Exchange.

Measurement convention
The financial statements are prepared on the historical cost basis 
except that the following assets and liabilities are stated at their fair 
value: financial assets held at fair value through other comprehensive 
income (FVOCI), derivative financial instruments and investment 
property. Non-current assets and assets held for sale are stated 
at the lower of previous carrying amount and fair value less costs 
to sell.

Going concern 
The Group’s business activities, together with factors likely to affect 
its future performance and position, are set out in the Chief 
Executive’s Review on pages 22 to 23 and the financial position of 
the Group, its cash flows and funding are set out in the Financial 
Review on pages 64 to 67.
 
Note 26 of the financial statements includes details of the Group’s 
loans and borrowings at the year end together with the Group’s 
objectives, policies and processes for managing its capital, its 
financial risk management objectives, details of its financial 
instruments and its exposure to credit risk and liquidity risk. After 
making enquiries, the Directors have a reasonable expectation that 
the Group has adequate resources to continue in operational 
existence for the foreseeable future. Accordingly, the financial 
statements have been prepared on a going concern basis. However, 
there is a material uncertainty in respect of this going concern 
assumption and the Directors have exercised a high degree of 
judgement in concluding that the Group remains a going concern.
 
In arriving at this expectation, the Directors have reviewed the cash 
flow forecasts together with the projected covenant compliance of 
the Group, which cover a period up to February 2022.
 
The Group, which has net assets of £103.1m and negative working 
capital of £63.8m, made a loss from continuing operations of 
£149.6m and had an operating cash outflow from continuing 
operations of £16.2m during the year. The Group has a revolving 
credit facility of £80.0m, which was drawn at £75.0m at 29 February 
2020. The Group has cash balances of £9.8m and this, together  
with the undrawn facility, results in available headroom of £14.8m  
as at 29 February 2020. Subsequent to year end this fell to a low  
of £6.7m with the Directors tightly managing cash, during the post 
year end period.

During the year, the Group suspended its dividend to avoid 
increasing debt to fund shareholder returns. In addition, the Group 
has reviewed its discretionary capital expenditure programme during 
the year, which has resulted in the rephasing of the original one-year 
capital expenditure plan to February 2021 over the extended period 
ending February 2022, recognising what is in effect a one year delay 
to the Group’s growth and investment plans driven by COVID-19. 
These actions are wholly in the control of the Directors. 

The Group intends to announce its intention to raise gross proceeds 
of approximately £80m by way of a Firm Placing and Placing and 
Open Offer (Capital Raise) that will be conditional upon, among other 
things, the approval of shareholders at a general meeting of the 
Company which will take place on 25 June 2020, and funds are 
expected by 30 June 2020. A combined prospectus and circular to 
shareholders containing additional details on the Capital Raise is 
intended to be published on 5 June 2020 (Prospectus). Furthermore, 
on 4 June 2020, current bank lenders agreed to fund an additional 
£40m revolving credit facility (RCF), of which £10 million is available 
to be drawn down, conditional upon successful completion of the 
institutional bookbuild in respect of the Capital Raise, to fund the 
Group prior to receipt of the Capital Raise net proceeds. This £10 
million is repayable if the Capital Raise does not raise net proceeds 
of £70 million by 29 June 2020, or the date at which this is known if 
earlier. Draw down from the remainder of the new RCF facility is 
conditional upon shareholder approval of the Capital Raise. If 
shareholder approval is not received, or net proceeds do not exceed 
£70m, alternative additional funding would be required in the short 
term the source of which is uncertain.
 
As a result of the new RCF, it has been necessary to renegotiate the 
existing RCF terms and has resulted in an increased cost of 
borrowing, made up of both arrangement fees and increased drawn 
and undrawn interest rates and revised / rebased certain covenants. 
The terms are now aligned for both the new and amended RCF. The 
new RCF will run concurrently with the amended RCF and both 
expire in January 2022. The Directors, in forming their going concern 
conclusion, are confident that the RCF will be successfully renewed 
prior to or in January 2022 and provide at least £80m of facilities. 
Should this not occur the Group will need to find alternative funding 
or other mitigating actions from January 2022.
 
The Directors have prepared base forecasts through to February 
2022, together with sensitivity analysis on those forecasts, 
including a severe but plausible downside set of assumptions 
around the COVID-19 recovery for the Group whilst recognising the 
different recovery periods likely to be seen given the nature of the 
different divisions. The Directors consider the Energy division will 
recover first, with Aviation division likely to see a slower recovery 
as both airlines and passengers adapt to the post COVID-19 
environment. In particular, and for the purposes of this going 
concern analysis only, the base case assumes no passenger 
related revenue generated from London Southend Airport until the 
end of September 2020, and reduced capacity to 65% at most 
energy plants supplied due to reduction in waste wood supply 
and whilst work in the construction sector has been suspended 
to the end of June 2020, with recovery expected through July to 
September 2020. It is the intention of the Directors for the timing 
that planned future asset disposals will be managed carefully as 
to not rely on those disposals to fund the business requirements, 
allowing time to realise the best value for shareholders. 



Stobart Group Limited
Annual Report & Accounts 2020

128
Financial Statements

Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued
for the year ended 29 February 2020

The Group adopted IFRS 16 Leases on 1 March 2019, which resulted 
in right-of-use assets of £60.9m, a net investment of £14.0m, liabilities 
of £78.2m and £2.8m adjustment to equity being recognised in the 
consolidated statement of financial position. The right-of-use assets 
recognised on transition were adjusted for any prepaid or accrued 
lease expenses. The lease liability was calculated as the future lease 
repayments, discounted at the incremental borrowing rate. The 
weighted average incremental borrowing rate applied on transition 
was 4.2%. The Group has a sub-lease on one of its properties and 
has recognised a net investment for this particular property, with the 
difference between the leases as lessee and lessor taken directly to 
retained earnings.

The Group applied the modified retrospective approach and as such 
the comparative periods have not been restated. The Group has 
applied the ongoing recognition exemptions for short-term leases 
and low value leases (less than £5,000) and applied the following 
practical expedients on transition:
• reliance on previous identification of a lease (as provided by IAS 

17) for all contracts that existed on 1 March 2019;
• reliance on previous assessments on whether leases are onerous 

instead of performing an impairment review;
• accounting for operating leases with a remaining term of less than 

12 months from 1 March 2019 as short-term leases;
• exclusion of initial direct costs from the measurement of the 

right-of-use asset at 1 March 2019; and
• use of hindsight in determining the lease term where there is the 

option to extend the lease.

A reconciliation between operating lease commitments as lessee 
under IAS 17 and finance lease liability recognised under IFRS 16 
is outlined in the following table.

£’000

Operating lease commitments disclosed at 
28 February 2019 139,679

Impact of discounting (71,627)
IFRS 16 lease liabilities not recognised in prior year 
operating lease commitments 6,538
Increases in minimum lease commitment 3,926
Recognition exemption as less than 12 months of lease 
term remaining at transition (286)

IFRS 16 liability recognised at 1 March 2019 78,230

In addition to the above operating lease commitments, Propius 
Holdings Limited, presented with assets held for sale, had 
commitments of £94,064,000 as at 28 February 2019.

1 Accounting policies of Stobart Group Limited continued 
The severe but plausible sensitised case assumes the Aviation 
division has no passenger flights until the end of December 2020 
with a phased recovery over 12 months from January 2021, the 
Energy division revenue decreases further, and certain asset 
realisations do not occur. 

The base case forecasts indicate that, assuming an amount in 
excess of £70m (net proceeds) is raised in the Capital Raise, the 
Group will have sufficient funds to meet its liabilities for the period 
covered by the forecasts. However, the sensitised forecasts indicate 
that, before non-controllable mitigating actions such as asset 
disposals, the group may require additional funding toward the end 
of the forecast period. The amount of additional funding that may be 
required in the downside scenario increases the greater the shortfall 
against operational forecasts. 
 
With the new and amended RCF facility and assuming the 
successful completion of the Capital Raise to raise at least £70m (net 
proceeds) of cash, the Directors are satisfied that the Group has 
adequate resources to fund its cash requirements for the foreseeable 
future. The base and sensitised forecasts indicate that the Group will 
continue to operate within the newly negotiated covenant 
requirements of the RCF in the forecast period. 

However, the directors consider the successful completion of the 
Capital Raise and substantial achievement of forecasts, together with 
the other matters referred to above represent a material uncertainty 
that may cast significant doubt on the ability of the group and 
company to continue as a going concern and, therefore, to continue 
realising its assets and discharging its liabilities in the normal course 
of business. The going concern basis has been adopted and the 
financial statements do not include any adjustments that would be 
necessary if this basis were inappropriate.

Significant accounting policies
Changes in accounting policy and disclosures
The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the 
previous financial year except as follows:

(a) New standards, amendments to existing standards and 
interpretations to existing standards adopted by the Group
Amendments arising from the Annual Improvement Project 2015–
2017 were endorsed by the EU for periods commencing on or after 
1 January 2019. There were separate transitional provisions for each 
amendment. The adoption of the amendments did not have any 
material impact on the financial position or performance of 
the Group.

Amendments to IAS 19 do not have a material effect on the defined 
benefit obligation disclosures, due to scheme rules giving the Group 
an unconditional right to a refund if the scheme is in surplus. For 
details of the IFRIC 14 impact in relation to a defined benefit pension 
scheme surplus, refer to note 27.

The Group has also considered the following amendments that 
are effective in this financial year and concluded that they do not 
have a material impact on the financial position or performance of 
the Group:
• Amendments to IAS 28: Long-term Interest in Associates and 

Joint Ventures
• IFRIC 23: Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments
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(b) New standards and interpretations not applied
The following standards and amendments have an effective date 
after the date of these financial statements:

Effective for accounting 
periods commencing on 

or after
Proposed adoption  

in the year ending

Amendments to IFRS 3 
Business Combinations 1 January 2020 28 February 2021
Amendments to References 
to Conceptual Framework in 
IFRS Standards 1 January 2020 28 February 2021
Definition of a Business 
(Amendments to IFRS 3) 1 January 2020 28 February 2021
Definition of Material 
(Amendments to IAS 1 and 
IAS 8) 1 January 2020 28 February 2021

The adoption of these standards and amendments is not expected 
to have a material effect on the net assets, results and disclosures of 
the Group.

Summary of significant accounting policies
Revenue
Stobart Aviation provides some of its services under contracts and 
others relate to the sale of goods. Revenue is recognised in the 
consolidated income statement in the accounting period in which 
the services are rendered. It is recognised at the fair value of the 
consideration received or receivable, net of VAT. The principal 
sources of revenue within the Aviation division are aeronautical 
income, jet fuel sales, retail and concession income, hotel income, 
surface access income and ground handling services.

A receivable is recognised when the services are delivered as this 
is the point in time that the consideration is unconditional because 
only the passage of time is required before the payment is due. 
Any marketing contributions paid to airlines under contractual 
agreements are separately disclosed, not netted against revenue, 
as the marketing contributions arise from a separate transaction 
that is not linked to the revenue generated.

Revenue from Stobart Energy mainly relates to gate fee income, 
in relation to waste wood taken, and delivery of processed material 
to biomass power plants. Gate receipts are not contracted, and 
revenue received is recognised on receipt of waste material as this is 
the point in time that the consideration is unconditional. The majority 
of revenue from the supply of processed material is contracted. 
These contracts detail the specification of material required, annual 
tonnages required and the price per tonne. Revenue is recognised 
on delivery as this is the point in time that the consideration 
is unconditional. 

Within certain fuel supply agreements there are ‘take or pay’ 
provisions where revenue can be recognised on material not taken 
by plants. This revenue is recognised at a point in time in line with 
specific contractual provisions. During the year, the tonnages 
delivered under each contract are reviewed to ensure that contracted 
tonnages will be met. As soon as there is reason to believe contract 
tonnages will not be met, a contract liability is provided to reduce the 
revenue recognised to date. 

Stobart Rail & Civils recognises revenue based on the specification 
within the contract and the input method is used to measure 
progress of delivery. If a modification to the contract occurs, the 
specifics of the modification are assessed as to whether it represents 
a separate performance obligation or if it is a modification to the 
existing contract. Consideration is given to ensure that recognition of 
a contract modification is only recognised as revenue when either it 
has been approved or it is considered legally enforceable. Revenue 
is only recognised on a contract if it is highly probable not to result in 
a significant reversal of revenue in future periods.

Stobart Investments revenue relates to dividend income. This 
revenue is recognised on receipt of dividend as that is the point in 
time that the consideration is unconditional. 

Revenue from Stobart Non-Strategic Infrastructure relates to rental 
income under contracts. Revenue is recognised in the consolidated 
income statement at the contractual rental income over the term of 
the lease, as these charges represent the service provided. 

The Group generates royalty revenue from the licence of its 
trademarks and designs. Revenue is recognised in the consolidated 
income statement over the agreement period.

Revenue is analysed by segment in note 3.

Presentation of consolidated income statement
The presentation of the consolidated income statement shows the 
underlying results and non-underlying results in separate columns. 
Non-underlying items are income and expenses, which because of 
their nature, infrequency or occurrence, or the events giving rise to 
them, merit separate presentation to allow shareholders to better 
understand the financial performance for the period. Non-underlying 
items includes the Group’s share of non-underlying profits of joint 
ventures. Underlying operating loss and underlying loss before tax 
are non-GAAP measures which comprise operating loss and loss 
before tax respectively before non-underlying items. The columnar 
format is considered to be the clearest method of presentation of 
this information.

Non-GAAP measures are used as they are considered to be both 
useful and necessary. They are used for internal performance 
analysis; the presentation of these measures facilitates comparability 
with other companies, although management’s measures may not 
be calculated in the same way as similarly titled measures reported 
by other companies.

Functional and presentation currency
The Group’s functional and presentational currency is GBP.

Basis of consolidation
Where the Company has the power, either directly or indirectly, to 
control the relevant activities of another entity or business, has 
exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the 
entity, and has the ability to use its power over the entity to affect the 
amount of the returns to the Company, it is classified as a subsidiary. 
The consolidated financial statements present the results of Stobart 
Group Limited and its subsidiaries (the Group) as if they formed a 
single entity. Intercompany transactions and balances between 
Group companies are therefore eliminated in full.
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purposes and shall not be larger than an operating segment 
before aggregation.

Business combinations (prior to 1 March 2010)
Business combinations were accounted for using the purchase 
method. Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition 
formed part of the acquisition costs. The minority interest is 
accounted for using the Parent-entity extension method, whereby 
the difference between the consideration paid and the book value 
of the share in net assets acquired is recognised as goodwill.

Goodwill was initially measured at cost, being the excess of the cost 
of business combination over the Group’s interest in the net fair value 
of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities. Where 
the net fair value of the acquired entity’s identifiable assets, liabilities 
and contingent liabilities was greater than the cost of investment, the 
difference was recognised in the consolidated income statement.

Goodwill
Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of a business combination 
over the interest in the fair value of identifiable assets, liabilities and 
contingent liabilities acquired. Cost comprises the fair values of 
assets given, liabilities incurred and equity instruments issued.

Goodwill is capitalised as an intangible asset with any impairment in 
carrying value being charged to the consolidated income statement. 
Where the fair value of identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent 
liabilities exceeds the fair value of consideration paid, the excess is 
credited in full to the consolidated income statement.

Impairment of non-financial assets (excluding investment 
properties and deferred tax assets)
Impairment tests of goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite 
useful lives are undertaken at least annually at the financial year end 
and also if there are indicators of impairment. Other non-financial 
assets are subject to impairment tests whenever events or changes 
in circumstances indicate that their carrying amount may not be 
recoverable. Where the carrying value of an asset exceeds its 
recoverable amount (i.e. the higher of value-in-use and fair value 
less costs to sell), the asset is written down accordingly. Where it is 
not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual 
asset, the impairment test is carried out on the asset’s CGU (i.e. the 
lowest group of assets in which the asset belongs for which there are 
separately identifiable cash inflows). Goodwill is allocated on initial 
recognition to each of the Group’s CGUs that are expected to benefit 
from the synergies of the combination giving rise to the goodwill.

Impairment charges are included in the consolidated income 
statement, except to the extent they reverse gains previously 
recognised in the consolidated statement of other comprehensive 
income. Impairment losses, except losses relating to goodwill, 
can be reversed in certain circumstances.

An assessment is made at each reporting date as to whether there is 
any indication that previously recognised impairment losses may no 
longer exist or may have decreased. If such indication exists, the 
recoverable amount is estimated. A previously recognised impairment 
loss is reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates used 
to determine the asset’s recoverable amount since the last impairment 
loss was recognised. If that is the case, the carrying amount of the 
asset is increased to its recoverable amount. That increased amount 
cannot exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, 

1 Accounting policies of Stobart Group Limited continued 
Discontinued operations and business disposals
A subsidiary is derecognised when the Group no longer has control. 
A profit on disposal is recognised in the consolidated income 
statement, calculated as proceeds less net assets disposed and 
disposal costs incurred.

The post-tax results of discontinued operations along with any gain 
or loss recognised on the measurement to fair value less costs to 
sell or on the disposal of the assets or disposal groups constituting 
the discontinued operation are disclosed as a single amount in the 
consolidated income statement. The comparative period results are 
restated accordingly. Further analysis of the results and cash flows 
from discontinued operations is set out in note 5.

Business combinations (from 1 March 2010)
Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition 
method. The cost of an acquisition is measured as the aggregate 
of the consideration transferred, measured at acquisition-date fair 
value, and the amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree. 
Acquisition costs are expensed and included in transaction costs 
which are reported below underlying profit.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial 
assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification and 
designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic 
circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date. 
Any contingent consideration payable to be transferred by the 
acquirer is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the 
aggregate of the acquisition-date fair value of the consideration 
transferred and the amount recognised for the non-controlling 
interest (and where the business combination is achieved in stages, 
the acquisition-date fair value of the acquirer’s previously held equity 
interest in the acquiree) over the net identifiable amounts of the 
assets acquired and the liabilities assumed in exchange for the 
business combination.

Identifiable intangible assets, meeting either the contractual-legal 
or separability criterion, are recognised separately from goodwill. 

Contingent liabilities representing a present obligation are recognised 
if the acquisition-date fair value can be measured reliably. If the 
aggregate of the acquisition-date fair value of the consideration 
transferred (and where the business combination is achieved in 
stages, the acquisition-date fair value of the acquirer’s previously 
held equity interest in the acquiree) is lower than the fair value of 
the assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities, and the fair value 
of any pre-existing interest held in the business acquired, the 
difference is recognised in non-underlying items in the consolidated 
income statement.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any 
accumulated impairment losses. For the purpose of impairment 
testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from the 
acquisition date, allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating 
units (CGUs) (or groups of CGUs) that are expected to benefit from 
the combination, irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of 
the acquiree are assigned to those units. Each unit or group of units 
to which goodwill is allocated shall represent the lowest level within 
the entity at which goodwill is monitored for internal management 
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net of depreciation, had no impairment loss been recognised for the 
asset in prior years. Such reversal is recognised in the consolidated 
income statement unless the asset is carried at revalued amount, in 
which case the reversal is treated as a revaluation increase. After such 
a reversal, the depreciation charge is adjusted in future periods to 
allocate the asset’s revised carrying amount, less any residual value, 
on a systematic basis over its remaining useful life.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents are defined as cash in hand, demand 
deposits and highly liquid investments readily convertible to known 
amounts of cash and subject to insignificant risk of changes in value.

Financial instruments
The Group uses derivative financial instruments such as fuel and 
currency swaps to mitigate the risk of fuel price and currency 
fluctuations. Derivative financial instruments are initially recognised 
at fair value on the date on which a derivative contract is entered into 
and are subsequently remeasured at fair value at each reporting 
date. Derivatives are carried as assets when the fair value is positive 
and as liabilities when the fair value is negative.

Forward contracts are entered into by the Group to purchase and/or 
sell biomass-related products and management judges that these 
forward commodity contracts are entered into for the Group’s ‘own 
use’ rather than as trading instruments. They continue to be held in 
accordance with the Group’s expected purchase, sale and/or usage 
requirements. Accordingly, these contracts are not accounted for as 
derivatives or other financial instruments.

Foreign currency
Transactions entered into by Group entities in a currency other than 
the currency of the primary economic environment in which they 
operate (their ‘functional currency’) are recorded at the rates ruling 
when the transactions occur. Foreign currency monetary assets and 
liabilities are translated at the rates ruling at the consolidated 
statement of financial position date.

Exchange differences arising on the retranslation of unsettled 
monetary assets and liabilities are recognised immediately in the 
consolidated income statement.

The assets and liabilities of foreign operations are translated into 
GBP at the rate of exchange prevailing at the statement of financial 
position date. The income statements are translated at the average 
rate. The exchange differences arising on the translation are taken 
directly to a separate component of equity.

Financial assets
Financial assets are classified at initial recognition and subsequently 
measured at amortised cost, FVOCI or fair value through profit or 
loss. The classification of financial assets is determined by the 
contractual cash flows and where applicable the business model for 
managing the financial assets.

A financial asset is measured at amortised cost, if the objective of 
the business model is to hold the financial asset in order to collect 
contractual cash flows and the contractual terms give rise to cash 
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest. It is initially 
recognised at fair value plus or minus transaction costs that are 
directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of the financial asset. 
Subsequently, the financial asset is measured using the effective 

interest method less any impairment. Gains and losses are 
recognised in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised, 
modified or impaired. 

All equity instruments and other debt instruments are recognised at 
fair value. For equity instruments, on initial recognition, an irrevocable 
election (on an instrument-by-instrument basis) can be made to 
designate these as at FVOCI instead of fair value through profit and 
loss. Dividends received on equity instruments are recognised in 
profit or loss when the right of payment has been established.

Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost, unless they are 
required to be measured at fair value through profit or loss, such as 
instruments held for trading, derivatives or the Group has opted to 
measure them at fair value through profit or loss. Debt and trade 
payables are recognised initially at fair value based on amounts 
exchanged, net of transaction costs, and subsequently at amortised 
cost. Interest expense on debt is accounted for using the effective 
interest method, and other than interest capitalised, is recognised in 
profit or loss. 

For convertible debt, the host contract is accounted for at amortised 
cost and the embedded derivative is separated from the host and 
accounted for at fair value through profit or loss.

Share capital
Financial instruments issued by the Group are treated as equity only 
to the extent that they do not meet the definition of a financial liability. 
The Group’s ordinary shares are classified as equity instruments.

Own shares held by the employee benefit trust
Stobart Group Limited shares held by the employee benefit trust are 
designated as own shares held, classified in shareholders’ equity 
and recognised at cost. Consideration received for the sale of such 
shares is also recognised in equity, with any difference between the 
proceeds from sale and original cost taken to retained earnings.

Treasury shares
When share capital recognised as equity is repurchased, the amount 
of the consideration paid, which includes directly attributable costs, 
net of any tax effects, is recognised as a deduction from equity. 
When share capital held in treasury is subsequently disposed of, 
the proceeds of sale, net of any directly attributable costs, 
are recognised as an addition to equity.

Pension arrangements and other post-employment benefits
The Group has pension schemes of both a defined benefit and 
defined contribution nature. The Group’s defined benefit pension 
liability, which is assessed each period by actuaries, is based on 
key assumptions including return on plan assets, discount rates, 
mortality rates, inflation, and future salary and pension costs. These 
assumptions, individually or collectively, may be different to actual 
outcomes. Other key assumptions for pension obligations are based 
in part on current market conditions. Additional information is 
disclosed in note 27.

The liability in respect of defined benefit schemes is the present 
value of the relevant defined benefit obligation at the consolidated 
statement of financial position date less the fair value of scheme 
assets. The trustees commission a full actuarial valuation triennially 
and the present value of the obligation is updated annually by 
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Where cash-settled share-based payment arrangements are 
awarded to employees, the liability is assessed at each reporting 
period end and any change in the liability is recognised in the 
consolidated income statement.

For schemes that are part settled in cash and part settled with equity 
the respective parts of the scheme are treated as outlined above.

Leased assets (from 1 March 2019)
A lease liability is recognised in the statement of financial position at 
the present value of the future minimum lease payments, discounted 
at the incremental borrowing rate, along with a corresponding 
right-of-use asset. The interest element of the lease liability is charged 
to the consolidated income statement over the period of the lease. 
Right-of-use assets are depreciated over the period of the lease and 
the depreciation is charged to the consolidated income statement. 
Where the lease is short term or the asset is of low value (less than 
£5,000) the lease payments are charged to the consolidated income 
statement. Any variable payments above the future minimum lease 
payments are charged to the consolidated income statement.

The Group has a sub-lease in place for one of its property assets. 
A net investment is recognised at the present value of the future 
minimum lease payments receivable, discounted at the incremental 
borrowing rate of the head-lease.

Leased assets (prior to 1 March 2019)
Leases in which the Group assumes substantially all the risks and 
rewards of ownership are classified as finance leases. Assets held 
under finance leases are recorded in the consolidated statement of 
financial position as tangible assets, initially at fair value or, if lower, at 
the present value of the minimum lease payments and depreciated 
over the shorter of their estimated useful lives or the lease term as 
detailed in the depreciation policy below. The interest element of 
leasing payments represents a constant proportion of the capital 
balance outstanding and is charged to the consolidated income 
statement over the period of the lease.

Where substantially all of the risks and rewards incidental to 
ownership are not transferred to the Group (an ‘operating lease’), the 
total rentals payable under the lease are charged to the consolidated 
income statement on a straight-line basis over the lease term. The 
aggregate benefit of lease incentives is recognised as a reduction 
of the rental expense over the lease term on a straight-line basis. 
The land and buildings elements of property leases are considered 
separately for the purposes of lease classification. Where the use 
of an asset is provided or obtained in exchange for payment, 
consideration is given as to whether in substance this is a lease.

Sale and leaseback (prior to 1 March 2019)
A sale and leaseback transaction is one where the Group sells an 
asset and immediately reacquires the use of the asset by entering 
into a lease with the buyer.

For sale and finance leasebacks, any profit from the sale is deferred 
and amortised over the lease term. For sale and operating 
leasebacks, the profit or loss from the sale is recognised immediately 
in the consolidated income statement if the transaction is established 
at fair value, or if below fair value with no compensating below market 
future lease payments. If the sale price is above fair value, the excess 
over fair value is deferred and amortised over the lease term.

1 Accounting policies of Stobart Group Limited continued
external professional actuaries using the projected unit method for 
financial reporting purposes. The present value of the obligation is 
determined by the estimated future cash outflows using interest 
rates of high-quality corporate bonds which have terms to maturity 
approximating to the terms of the related liability. The current service 
cost, and gains and losses on settlements and curtailments, are 
recognised in operating costs in the consolidated income statement.

The Group determines the net interest expense/(income) on the net 
defined benefit liability/(asset) for the period by applying the discount 
rate used to measure the defined benefit obligation at the beginning 
of the annual period to the then net defined benefit liability/(asset), 
taking into account any changes in the net defined benefit liability/
(asset) during the period as a result of contributions and benefit 
payments. Net interest expense/(income) and other expenses related 
to defined benefit plans are recognised in the consolidated income 
statement. Remeasurements of the net defined benefit liability, 
which comprise actuarial gains and losses, the return on plan 
assets (excluding interest) and the effect of the asset ceiling (if any, 
excluding interest), are recognised immediately in the consolidated 
statement of comprehensive income.

For defined contribution schemes, costs are charged to the 
consolidated income statement as they accrue.

Share-based payments
Where equity-settled share options are awarded to employees, the 
fair value of the options at the date of grant is normally charged to the 
consolidated income statement over the vesting period. If the vesting 
conditions are directly related to a capital asset then the charge is 
debited to the cost of the related asset. 

Non-market vesting conditions are taken into account by adjusting 
the number of equity instruments expected to vest at each 
consolidated statement of financial position date so that, ultimately, 
the cumulative amount recognised over the vesting period is based 
on the number of options that eventually vest. Market vesting 
conditions are factored into the fair value of the options granted. 
As long as all other vesting conditions are satisfied, a charge is 
made irrespective of whether the market vesting conditions are 
satisfied. The cumulative expense is not adjusted for failure to 
achieve a market vesting condition.

At each reporting period end before vesting, the cumulative expense 
is calculated, representing the extent to which the vesting period has 
expired and management’s best estimate of the achievement or 
otherwise of non-market conditions and of the number of equity 
instruments that will ultimately vest or, in the case of an instrument 
subject to a market condition, be treated as vesting as described 
above. The movement in cumulative expense since the previous 
statement of financial position date is recognised in the consolidated 
income statement, with a corresponding entry in equity.

The Group has share-based Long-Term Incentive Plans which are 
accounted for as set out above.

Where the Group issues share options as consideration for services 
received, the share-based payment charge reflects the difference 
between the fair value of services received and the consideration 
paid for the services and is charged to the consolidated income 
statement at the point in time when services are received.
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Externally acquired intangible assets (excluding goodwill)
Externally acquired intangible assets are initially recognised at cost 
and are subsequently amortised on a straight-line basis over their 
useful lives. The amortisation expense is included as ‘amortisation of 
acquired intangibles’ and is included in non-underlying items in the 
consolidated income statement.

Intangible assets are recognised on business combinations if they 
are separable from the acquired entity or give rise to other 
contractual/legal rights. The amounts ascribed to such intangibles 
are arrived at by using appropriate valuation techniques (see section 
related to significant accounting estimates, judgements and 
assumptions below).

The significant intangible assets recognised by the Group and their 
useful economic lives are as follows:

Intangible asset Useful life

Brands Term of licence agreement or indefinite

Customer contracts and 
related relationships

Term of contract

Where there is no foreseeable limit to the period over which a brand 
is expected to generate cash flows for the Group, it will be 
considered to have an indefinite life.

Current taxation
Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are 
measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or paid to 
the taxation authorities. The tax rates and tax laws used to compute 
the amount are those that are enacted or substantively enacted by 
the consolidated statement of financial position date. The Group is 
subject to corporate taxes in the UK and Ireland jurisdictions, and 
judgement is required in determining the appropriate provision for 
transactions where the ultimate tax determination is uncertain. In 
such circumstances, the Group recognises liabilities for anticipated 
taxes based on the information available and where the anticipated 
liability is estimable. Where the final outcome of such matters differs 
from the amount recorded, any differences may impact the current 
tax and deferred tax provisions in the period in which the final 
determination is made. Liabilities are classified as current.

A current tax provision is recognised when the Group has a present 
obligation as a result of a past event and it is probable that the Group 
will be required to settle that obligation. Tax provisions are based 
on management’s interpretation of tax law and the likelihood of 
settlement. The Directors use in-house tax experts, professional firms 
and previous experience when assessing tax risks.

Deferred taxation
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised where the carrying 
amount of an asset or liability in the consolidated statement of 
financial position differs from its tax base, except for differences 
arising on:
• the initial recognition of goodwill;
• the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction which 

is not a business combination and at the time of the transaction 
affects neither accounting or taxable profit; and

• investments in subsidiaries and jointly controlled entities where the 
Group is able to control the timing of the reversal of the difference 
and it is probable that the difference will not reverse in the 
foreseeable future.

Recognition of deferred tax assets is restricted to those instances 
where it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which 
the difference can be utilised.

The amount of the asset or liability is determined using tax rates that 
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the consolidated 
statement of financial position date and are expected to apply when 
the deferred tax liabilities/(assets) are settled/(recovered).

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when the Group has a 
legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets and liabilities and 
the deferred tax assets and liabilities relate to taxes levied by the 
same tax authority on either:
• the same taxable Group company; or
• different Group entities which intend either to settle current tax 

assets and liabilities on a net basis, or to realise the assets and 
settle the liabilities simultaneously, in each future period in which 
significant amounts of deferred tax assets or liabilities are 
expected to be settled or recovered.

Government grants
Government grants are recognised where there is reasonable 
assurance that the grant will be received and all attached conditions 
will be complied with. Where the grant relates to an expense item, it is 
recognised as income over the period necessary to match the grant 
on a systematic basis to the costs that it is intended to compensate. 
Where the grant relates to an asset, it is credited to deferred income 
and released to the consolidated income statement to match the 
depreciation of the related asset.

Provisions
A provision is recognised in the consolidated statement of financial 
position when the Company has a present legal or constructive 
obligation as a result of a past event, that can be reliably measured 
and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be 
required to settle the obligation. Provisions are determined by 
discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that 
reflects risks specific to the liability.

Dividends
Dividends are recognised when they become legally payable. In the 
case of interim dividends to equity shareholders, this is when paid. In 
the case of final dividends, this is when approved by the shareholders 
at the AGM.

Property, plant and equipment
Freehold land and buildings, and plant and equipment are stated 
at cost less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated 
impairment in value. Depreciation is provided on items of property, 
plant and equipment, other than land and assets under construction, 
to write off to their residual value the carrying value of items over their 
expected useful lives. Assets under construction are not depreciated 
until they are in the location and condition necessary for them to be 
capable of operating in the manner intended. Right-of-use assets are 
depreciated over the term of the lease. Useful lives and residual 
values are reconsidered on an annual basis.
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Inventories
Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable 
value. The cost of inventories is based on the first-in first-out 
principle, and includes expenditure incurred in acquiring the 
inventories, production or conversion costs, and other costs incurred 
in bringing them to their existing location and condition. In the case 
of manufactured inventories and work in progress, cost includes an 
appropriate share of production overheads based on normal 
operating capacity.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary 
course of business, less the estimated costs of completion and 
estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

Inventories include property assets which are held for development 
and/or disposal, to the extent that they are not used in the Group’s 
operations or held for investment purposes. The net realisable value 
of these property inventory assets is determined by assessment of 
fair value less costs to sell, using a similar method to that used in 
impairment workings, except for the cash flows not being discounted.

Non-current assets held for sale and disposal groups
Non-current assets are classified as held for sale when:
• they are available for immediate sale;
• management is committed to a plan to sell;
• it is unlikely that significant changes to the plan will be made or 

that the plan will be withdrawn;
• an active programme to locate a buyer has been initiated;
• the asset or disposal group is being marketed at a reasonable 

price in relation to its fair value; and
• it is highly probable that a sale is expected to complete within 12 

months from the date of classification (or an extended period if the 
delay is caused by circumstances beyond the entity’s control but 
the Group remains committed to the plan to sell the asset).

Non-current assets classified as held for sale are measured at the 
lower of their carrying amount immediately prior to being classified 
as held for sale in accordance with the Group’s accounting policy 
and fair value less costs to sell. Following their classification as held 
for sale, non-current assets are not depreciated.

The results of operations disposed of during the prior year are 
included in the consolidated income statement up to the date 
of disposal.

Associates
The Group’s investments in its associates are accounted for 
using the equity method of accounting unless the investment is 
classified as held for sale. An associate is an entity in which the 
Group has significant influence and which is neither a subsidiary 
nor a joint venture.

Under the equity method, the equity investment in the associate 
is carried in the consolidated statement of financial position at cost 
plus post-acquisition changes in the Group’s share of net assets of 
the associate. Goodwill relating to the associate is included in the 
carrying amount of the investment and is not amortised. Loans to 
associates, where the settlement is planned or expected to be repaid 
in the foreseeable future, do not form part of the equity investment 
and are included in other receivables or non-current amounts owed 
by associates and joint ventures according to the expected 
repayment terms.

1 Accounting policies of Stobart Group Limited continued 
Depreciation is applied at the following rates:

Buildings 2% per annum straight line

Modular buildings 3%–10% per annum straight line

Plant and machinery 10%–20% per annum straight line

Commercial vehicles 5%–33% per annum straight line

Fixtures, fittings and equipment 10%–33% per annum straight line

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised on 
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected from its 
use or disposal. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset 
(calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and 
the carrying amount of the asset) is recognised in the consolidated 
income statement in the period the asset is derecognised.

Borrowing costs attributable to qualifying assets are capitalised.

Investment properties
Investment properties are measured initially at cost, including 
transaction costs. The carrying amount includes the cost of replacing 
part of an existing investment property at the time that the cost is 
incurred if the recognition criteria are met and excludes the cost of 
day-to-day servicing of an investment property. Subsequent to initial 
recognition, investment properties are stated at fair value, which 
reflects market conditions at the consolidated statement of financial 
position date. Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair values 
of investment properties are included in the consolidated income 
statement in the period in which they arise. The fair value of the 
investment property portfolio is based on a valuation by an 
independent valuer who holds a recognised and relevant 
professional qualification and who has recent experience in the 
location and category of the investment property. Investment 
properties acquired as part of a business combination are 
recognised initially at fair value and exclude transaction costs.

Investment properties are derecognised when either they have been 
disposed of or when the investment property is permanently 
withdrawn from use and no future economic benefit is expected from 
its disposal. Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an 
investment property are recognised in the consolidated income 
statement in the period of retirement or disposal.

Investment properties are reclassified as assets held for sale from 
commencement of marketing for disposal, provided that the 
Directors believe it is highly probable that they will be sold within a 
period of 12 months.

Self-constructed assets
The cost of a self-constructed asset is determined using the same 
principles as for an acquired asset. Costs include any costs directly 
attributable to bringing the asset to the location and condition 
necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended 
by management. Costs include employee benefits, site preparation, 
delivery and handling, installation and assembly, testing and 
professional fees. For assets made for sale or similar to those made 
for sale then the cost is the same as the cost of constructing an asset 
for sale including fixed and variable overheads which are considered 
directly attributable. Internal net profits are eliminated in arriving at 
such costs.
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The consolidated income statement reflects the share of the results 
of operations of the associate, but the loss is limited to the equity 
investment made, plus any loans which form part of the net 
investment in the associate, unless the Group has incurred legal 
or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of the 
associate. Where there has been a change recognised directly in 
the equity of the associate, the Group recognises its share of any 
changes and discloses this, when applicable, in the statement of 
changes in equity and the statement of other comprehensive 
income. The Group’s share of profits and losses resulting from 
transactions between the Group and the associate are eliminated 
to the extent of the interest in the associate.

After application of the equity method, the Group determines 
whether it is necessary to recognise an additional impairment loss 
on the Group’s investment in its associates. The Group determines at 
each consolidated statement of financial position date whether there 
is any objective evidence that the investment in the associate is 
impaired. If this is the case and there is a resulting impairment, 
the amount is recognised in the consolidated income statement.

Joint ventures
Investments in joint ventures, which are jointly controlled entities, are 
included in the financial statements using the equity method of 
accounting unless the investment is classified as held for sale.

Under the equity method, the equity interest in the joint venture is 
initially recorded at cost and adjusted thereafter for the post-
acquisition change in the Group’s share of net assets of the joint 
venture but any loss is limited to the equity investment made, unless 
the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made 
payments on behalf of the joint venture. Goodwill relating to the joint 
venture is included in the carrying amount of the investment and is 
not amortised. Loans to joint ventures, where the settlement is 
planned or expected to be repaid in the foreseeable future, do not 
form part of the equity investment and are included in other 
receivables or non-current amounts owed by associates and joint 
ventures according to the expected repayment terms. These loans 
are recognised at fair value with any difference being recognised 
against the cost of investment.

The consolidated income statement reflects the share of the results 
of operations of the joint venture, but the loss is limited to the equity 
investment made, plus any loans which form part of the net 
investment in the joint venture, unless the Group has incurred legal 
or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of the joint 
venture. Where there has been a change recognised directly in the 
equity of the joint venture, the Group recognises its share of any 
changes and discloses this, when applicable, in the statement of 
changes in equity and the statement of other comprehensive 
income. Profits and losses resulting from transactions between 
the Group and the joint ventures are eliminated to the extent of the 
interest in the joint venture, unless the Group has incurred legal 
or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of the 
joint venture.

After application of the equity method, the Group determines 
whether it is necessary to recognise an additional impairment loss on 
the Group’s investment in its joint ventures. The Group determines at 
each consolidated statement of financial position date whether there 
is any objective evidence that the investment in the joint venture is 

impaired. If this is the case and there is a resulting impairment, the 
amount is recognised in the consolidated income statement.

Aircraft maintenance reserves
Under certain lease arrangements in Propius Holdings Limited, 
presented as held for sale in the prior year and disposed of on 
8 November 2019, the Group is responsible for major overhaul 
aircraft maintenance costs. The estimated cost of major airframe and 
engine maintenance checks are provided for over the shorter of the 
period to the next check or the remaining life of the lease.

2 Summary of significant accounting judgements
and estimates
The Group makes judgements and estimates in preparing the 
financial statements. Judgements and estimates are continually 
evaluated based on historical experience and other factors, including 
expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable 
under the circumstances. In the future, actual experience may 
differ from these judgements and estimates. The judgements and 
estimates that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment 
to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next 
financial year are discussed below.

Judgements
(a) Going concern
The accounts have been prepared on the going concern basis. This 
treatment is based on judgements including the performance of the 
business, the forecast cash flows for the foreseeable future, the 
capital requirements of the Group and the funding options available.

(b) Contingent liabilities
Contingent liabilities require significant judgement in determining 
which potential future liabilities are classified as having more than 
remote and less than probable likelihood that the Group will suffer an 
economic out flow of resource. Guarantees provided by the Group 
have been reviewed based on the fact patterns at the year end and 
the likelihood of an economic out flow occurring in the future. 
Specifically, consideration has been given to the financial position of 
the Connect Airways Limited joint venture and whether guarantees, 
as outlined in note 33 in relation to Stobart Air and Propius, entities 
owned by Connect Airways, were considered probable to be called 
at the year end date. As part of this judgement assessment the 
Directors considered the financial position of the Connect Airways 
joint venture and the trading performance of Stobart Air. The 
Directors noted that additional funding was injected by all 
shareholders on 27 February 2020 and the intention at that time was 
to continue to finance and support Connect Airways. The Directors 
believe that it was not until after the year end that a decision was 
made by the joint venture partners to discontinue that support such 
that further funding would not be provided. Given this fact pattern, 
the likelihood of cash outflows in respect of these guarantees was 
not considered probable at 29 February 2020.

(c) Treatment of brand licence
The accounting treatment of the licence of certain trademarks and 
designs to an external party is based on judgements over who 
bears the risks and rewards of ownership and assessments of the 
likelihood of options under the licence being taken.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued
for the year ended 29 February 2020

2 Summary of significant accounting judgements 
and estimates continued 
(d) Classification of associates, joint ventures and investments
The key factor in determining the classification of associates, joint 
ventures and investments is the timing and level of control. During 
the prior year, the Group entered into an agreement to sell the 
Group headed by Propius Holdings Limited and the disposal was 
completed in the current year following a signed indemnity 
agreement. Judgement was exercised to determine the date of 
disposal and the accounting treatment of the contingent disposal 
of parts of the Group headed by Propius Holdings Limited.

(e) Discontinued operations and disposal group held for sale
Judgement was required in determining the accounting treatment of 
the results of Propius Holdings Limited following the agreement to 
sell and subsequent disposal. In determining whether the disposal 
group will be classified as held for sale, judgements included 
whether the disposal group will be principally recovered through a 
sale transaction rather than through continuing use. In addition, the 
determination to present the results within discontinued operations 
includes judgements over whether the disposal groups represent 
a separate major line of business.

(f) Revenue recognition of Stobart Rail & Civils contracts
Significant judgement is required to assess the stage of completion 
of Stobart Rail & Civils contracts that are not complete at the year 
end and variations to contracts. Revenue is recognised in line with 
IFRS 15 and judgement is required to assess the works completed in 
order to bill customers in line with the contractual terms. In addition, 
variations require judgement on quantums to which the Group is 
entitled but are not yet agreed.

(g) Leases
IFRS 16 defines the lease term as the non-cancellable period of a 
lease together with the options to extend or terminate a lease, if it is 
reasonably certain that the option would be taken. The Group makes 
a judgement as to whether it is reasonably certain that the option 
will be taken when determining the length of the lease. The Group 
considers factors such as the length of time before the option is 
exercisable, operational requirements and any planned future 
capital expenditure.

(h) Non-underlying items
Judgement is required to establish whether items of income 
or expenditure fulfil the requirements of the presentation of the 
consolidated income statement accounting policy to merit being 
presented as non-underlying items.

(i) Equity accounted losses of Connect Airways Limited
Consolidated accounts for Connect Airways Limited (Connect 
Airways) were only available for the period up to and including 
November 2019. A judgement was made, based on reports from the 
administrators of Connect Airways and other Board information 
received, that the Group’s equity accounted losses would be greater 
than the share taken based on the results to November 2019. The 
judgement was to recognised additional equity accounted losses 
were equal to the outstanding equity investment in Connect Airways.

(j) Impact of COVID-19 
Judgement is required to establish whether the impact of COVID-19 
is a non-adjusting post balance sheet event. See note 34.

Estimates
(a) Impairment of goodwill and intangible assets
The Group is required to test, on an annual basis, whether goodwill 
and indefinite life intangible assets have suffered any impairment. The 
recoverable amount is determined based on value-in-use or fair value 
less costs of disposal calculations. The use of this method requires 
the estimation of future cash flows and discount rates in order to 
calculate the present value of the cash flows. Intangible assets 
subject to these judgements include brand assets, some of which 
are licensed to third parties, and assessments of their values include 
judgements and estimates over whether the licence agreement will be 
extended, or the asset purchased by the licensor. Actual outcomes 
may vary. This estimate does not apply to the Energy CGU. Further 
information, including carrying values, is set out in note 20.

(b) Impairment of property, plant and equipment
Where there is an indication that an asset may be impaired, 
the Group is required to test whether assets have suffered any 
impairment. The recoverable amount is determined based on 
value-in-use or fair value less costs of disposal calculations. The use 
of these methods requires the estimation of future cash flows and 
discount rates in order to calculate the present value of the cash 
flows. In certain cases, the estimation of development plans is 
required and third-party valuations used. Actual outcomes may vary. 
Further information, including carrying values and impairment 
charges during the year, is set out in note 16.

(c) Valuation of property inventories
The Group is required to review, on an annual basis, whether the 
property inventories’ carrying values can be recovered. If carrying 
value exceeds the recoverable amount, the asset is written down to 
its net realisable value. The net realisable values of properties are 
based on certain estimates. Estimates include the ability to obtain the 
appropriate planning permission, the customer demand for usage of 
the type of properties that could be developed, the build costs, and 
the price of sale of the developed properties to a customer or of the 
undeveloped land to a developer. See note 21 for further disclosure.

(d) Revenue recognition
The Group must recognise revenue in the period that it is earned and 
revenue is accrued using an estimate of the quantity, price and 
timing of goods delivered but not yet invoiced.

(e) Recoverability of loan notes
The recoverability of the Group’s investment (loans and equity) in 
Mersey Bioenergy and Connect Airways is based on the present 
value of expected cash flows to the Group relating to repayment of 
the shareholder loans and associated accrued interest, and equity 
dividends. These cash flows are in turn based on estimates/
projections of the future trading performance of the power plant 
within Mersey Bioenergy and of Flybe in Connect Airways.

(f) Defined benefit pension obligation 
The Group operates a defined benefit pension scheme. The year 
end valuation has been performed by a qualified actuary using the 
projected unit method. Estimates include the discounts rate applied to 
future pension payments, price inflation and mortality after retirement.

(g) Tax provisions
An estimate of the liabilities for ongoing tax enquiries is made in 
assessing the corporation tax liabilities. The estimates include the 
interpretation of tax law and likelihood of settlement outcomes.
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(h) Indemnity provisions
The Group has indemnified Propius Holdings Limited (Propius), a 
subsidiary disposed of in November 2019, for certain future aircraft 
leasing costs. The amount payable is dependent upon whether 
Stobart Air renews its franchise agreement with Aer Lingus. The 
Group has applied a 10% estimation of Aer Lingus not renewing the 
franchise with Stobart Air. Propius and Stobart Air have been 
reacquired post year end, see notes 33 and 34.

3 Segmental information
The reportable segment structure is determined by the nature of 
operations and services. The operating segments are Stobart 
Aviation, Stobart Energy, Stobart Rail & Civils, Stobart Investments 
and Stobart Non-Strategic Infrastructure.

The Stobart Aviation segment specialises in the operation of 
commercial airports and the provision of ground handling services. 
The Stobart Energy segment specialises in the supply of sustainable 
biomass for the generation of renewable energy.

The Stobart Rail & Civils segment specialises in delivering internal 
and external civil engineering development projects including rail  
network operations.

The Stobart Investments segment holds a non-controlling interest in 
a transport and distribution business, and a baggage handling 
business. The regional airline investment held at the prior year end 
was impaired to nil in the current year. The Stobart Non-Strategic 
Infrastructure segment specialises in management, development and 
realisation of a portfolio of property assets, including Carlisle Lake 
District Airport, as well as an investment in a renewable energy plant.

The regional airline operations and aircraft leasing company that 
were previously reported as part of the Aviation segment have been 
reported within discontinued operations as reported in the prior year. 
No segmental assets or liabilities information is disclosed because 
no such information is regularly provided to, or reviewed by, the Chief 
Operating Decision Maker.

The Executive Directors are regarded as the Chief Operating 
Decision Maker. The Directors monitor the results of each business 
unit separately for the purposes of making decisions about resource 
allocation and performance assessment. The main segmental profit 
measure is underlying EBITDA, which is calculated as loss before 
tax, interest, depreciation, amortisation, swaps and non-underlying 
items. Income taxes and certain central costs are managed on a 
Group basis and are not allocated to operating segments.

Year ended 29 February 2020
Aviation

 £’000
Energy

£’000
Rail & Civils 

£’000
Investments 

£’000

Non-Strategic 
Infrastructure

£’000

Adjustments 
and 

eliminations 
£’000

Group 
£’000

Revenue
External 56,655 76,339 28,077 2,127 2,440 4,537 170,175
Internal 131 – 13,404 – 337 (13,872) –

Total revenue 56,786 76,339 41,481 2,127 2,777 (9,335) 170,175

Underlying EBITDA 8,601 24,166 (7,108) 1,470 (3,581) (7,506) 16,042
Loss on swaps – – – – – (300) (300)
Depreciation (7,824) (8,467) (2,699) – (1,981) (1,752) (22,723)
Finance costs (net) (1,235) (1,293) (128) (2,577) (2,701) (4,484) (12,418)

Underlying (loss)/profit before tax from 
continuing operations (458) 14,406 (9,935) (1,107) (8,263) (14,042) (19,399)
New business and new contract set-up costs (9,297) (9,191) – – (647) – (19,135)
Litigation and claims – – – – – (977) (977)
Amortisation of acquired intangibles – (23) – – – (7,433) (7,456)
Impairments – – (8,474) (46,846) (26,676) (19,913) (101,909)
Non-underlying items within share of
joint venture profit – – – (9,108) – – (9,108)

(Loss)/profit before tax from continuing 
operations (9,755) 5,192 (18,409) (57,061) (35,586) (42,365) (157,984)
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Timing of revenue recognition

Revenue from external customers
2020

 £’000
2019

 £’000

Products and services transferred at a 
point in time 137,032 105,148
Products and services transferred over time 33,143 41,741

170,175 146,889

Contract balances
Opening and closing receivables, contract assets and contract 
liabilities from contracts with customers are provided in the 
table below. 

Contract balances
2020

 £’000
2019

 £’000

Receivables 20,981 5,590
Contract assets 8,155 8,291
Contract liabilities (167) (17,433)

28,969 (3,552)

Contract assets primarily relate to the Group’s rights to consideration 
for work completed but not billed at the reporting date on contracts 
in the Rail & Civils division. Contract assets are transferred to 
receivables when the rights become unconditional and have 
increased in the year primarily due to an increase in work in progress 
in the Rail & Civils division. Contract assets have been disclosed in 
line with IFRS 15. 

The contract liabilities primarily relate to the advance consideration 
received from customers for brand licence, royalties and hotel 
bookings not yet fulfilled. Contract liabilities have decreased in the 
year mainly due to deferred brand licence revenue being recognised 
in the year and a reduction in the Rail & Civils division.

3 Segmental information continued

Year ended 28 February 2019
Aviation 

£’000
Energy
 £’000

Rail & Civils 
£’000

Investments
£’000

Non-Strategic 
Infrastructure

£’000

Adjustments 
and 

eliminations 
£’000

Group 
£’000

Revenue
External 39,266 65,143 31,867 2,655 2,112 5,846 146,889
Internal 145 – 20,480 – 75 (20,700) –

Total revenue 39,411 65,143 52,347 2,655 2,187 (14,854) 146,889

Underlying EBITDA 4,948 19,200 (4,815) 2,359 (3,026) (7,838) 10,828
Loss on swaps – – – – – (353) (353)
Depreciation (5,816) (7,012) (2,245) – (978) (254) (16,305)
Finance costs (net) (231) (734) (180) – (3,546) (2,720) (7,411)

Underlying (loss)/profit before tax from 
continuing operations (1,099) 11,454 (7,240) 2,359 (7,550) (11,165) (13,241)
New business and new contract set-up costs (4,308) (5,909) – – (1,334) – (11,551)
Restructuring costs (161) – (230) – – – (391)
Litigation and claims – – (160) – – (5,033) (5,193)
Amortisation of acquired intangibles – (221) – – – (3,717) (3,938)
Impairments – – – – (7,800) – (7,800)

(Loss)/profit before tax from continuing 
operations (5,568) 5,324 (7,630) 2,359 (16,684) (19,915) (42,114)

Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued
for the year ended 29 February 2020

Inter-segment revenues are eliminated on consolidation. Included in 
adjustments and eliminations are net central costs of £7,346,000 
(2019: £7,746,000) and an intra-group profit of £160,000 (2019: 
£92,000). There is also external income within adjustments and 
eliminations which comprises brand licence income, merchandising 
income and rental income.

4 Revenue
Disaggregation of revenue
Revenue accounted for during the year can be categorised 
as follows:

Major product/service line

Revenue from external customers
2020

 £’000
2019

 £’000

Sale of goods 82,516 58,493
Rendering of services 80,532 80,730
Royalties/commissions 4,097 4,065
Property rentals 3,030 3,601

170,175 146,889

Primary geographical markets

Revenue from external customers
2020

 £’000
2019

 £’000

UK 152,846 136,009
Europe and Ireland 17,140 10,720
Rest of world 189 160

170,175 146,889
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In addition to the £167,000 contract liabilities above, £7,073,000 is 
recognised within trade payables. Of the £17,433,000 prior year 
contract liabilities, £4,376,000 has been recognised in revenue in the 
current year.

In both the current and prior year, no customer amounted to more 
than 10% of the Group’s total continuing revenue.

5 Discontinued operations
On 22 February 2019, the Group disposed of subsidiaries headed by 
Everdeal Holdings Limited and entered into an agreement to dispose 
of Propius Holdings Limited. These disposals and acquisitions by 
Connect Airways Limited were permitted by the EU Commission in 
connection with the merger regulations on 5 July 2019. The disposal 
of Propius Holdings Limited completed on 8 November 2019 
following agreement of the indemnity clause within the sale and 
purchase agreement. On 27 April 2020, the Group reached an 
agreement to acquire an effective indirect economic interest of 
78.75% in Stobart Air and Propius, see note 34 for more detail.

The operations of both subsidiaries represented a separate major 
line of business and the results of the operations have been reported 
separately as the single amount loss from discontinued operations, 
net of tax on the face of the consolidated income statement. This 
single amount in the prior year includes the profit on disposal of 
Everdeal Holdings Limited as detailed below, totalling £15.5m. The 
single amount in the current year includes the profit of disposal of 
Propius Holdings Limited as detailed below, totalling £7.0m.

Disposal of Everdeal Holdings Limited
The prior year profit from discontinued operations of £8,733,000, 
excluding the results of the UK Flybe Franchise Operation (UKFFO), 
is attributable to the owners of the Company. There was no loss 
recorded on remeasurement to fair value less costs to sell. The cash 
consideration received for disposal of the business was £10,000,000. 
The profit on disposal recorded within discontinued operations was 
£25,910,000 after deducting costs of £479,000 and net liabilities of 
£16,389,000. The cash disposed of amounts to £3,728,000.

Results of discontinued operations
2020

£’000
2019

£’000

Revenue – 122,072
Operating expenses – other – (114,630)
Loss on swaps – (88)
Depreciation – (395)
Net finance income – 1,774

Profit before tax – 8,733
Tax – –

Profit for the year from discontinued 
operations, net of tax – 8,733

Basic earnings per share – 2.50p

Diluted earnings per share – 2.50p

At 28 February 2019, £7,031,000 was provided as the estimated cost 
of the UKFFO for the year ending 29 February 2020. As the actual 
costs were lower, a further £1,645,000 profit on disposal has been 
included in discontinued operations in the current year. An additional 
£574,000 has been provided for litigation and claims in discontinued 
operations in the current year.

Following the disposal of Everdeal Holdings Limited, the results of 
the UKFFO, which was operated by the group headed by Everdeal 
Holdings Limited, were presented as discontinued in the 
consolidated income statement. The loss from discontinued 
operations relating to the UKFFO in the prior year, excluding the 
£7,031,000 onerous provision, was £24,676,000. The cash flows in 
relation to this operation have been included in the below table.

Cash flows used in discontinued operations
2020

£’000
2019

£’000

Net cash used in operating activities – (25,735)
Net cash used in investing activities – (664)

Net cash flows for the year – (26,399)

Subsequent to the disposal of Everdeal Holdings Limited, the 
continuing group continues to trade with the discontinued operation. 
Intra-group transactions between Everdeal and the continuing group 
have been presented without elimination as these transactions will 
continue post disposal. Management believes this is useful to the 
users of the financial statements. All other intra-group transactions 
have been fully eliminated.

Propius Holdings Limited
On 22 February 2019, the Group entered in to an agreement to 
dispose of Propius Holdings Limited for cash consideration of 
£30,000,000. At the same time and as part of the arrangements 
between the Group and Connect Airways Limited, the Group entered 
in to an arrangement such that certain parts of the business and 
assets of Propius Holdings Limited and Propius Limited, principally 
the ATR leasing business but not the three E195 aircraft owned by 
Propius Limited, could be transferred back to the Group for £1. This 
transfer back to the Group would only take place if the Group and 
Connect Airways Limited did not agree for the Group to provide an 
appropriate indemnity to Connect Airways Limited which provides a 
similar economic position as the position under the transfer
back arrangements. 

As the indemnity discussions were not concluded at the time of 
approval of the 28 February 2019 financial statements, the Group 
could not account for the disposal of Propius. Instead the accounting 
in the prior year included the disposal of the three E195 aircraft, with 
a net book value of £31.5m, and cash of £10m, to Connect Airways 
Limited, in consideration for cash of £30m, resulting in a loss on 
disposal of £10.5m included in the table below. The remaining 
business, assets and liabilities of the Group headed by Propius 
Holdings Limited were presented as assets and liabilities held for 
sale on the consolidated statement of financial position. The 
indemnity was agreed on 8 November 2019 at which point the 
disposal of Propius Holdings Limited completed. The cash 
consideration received for disposal of Propius Holdings Limited 
was £nil. The profit on disposal recorded was £7,025,000 after 
deducting net liabilities of £7,025,000. The cash disposed of 
amounts to £1,729,000. The results in the current and prior year for 
Propius have been presented as discontinued in the consolidated 
income statement.

The profit from discontinued operations of £906,000 (2019: 
£18,471,000 loss) is attributable to the owners of the Company. As part 
of the disposal, the Group provided for an onerous lease contract that 
has been indemnified. £2,697,000 of this provision has been released 
and is included in discontinued operations in the current year.
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7 Other income
In February 2020, the Group entered into a settlement deed with a 
renewable energy plant owner under which the long-term fuel supply 
agreement was terminated. In recognition of the future revenue 
forgone and with the plant confirming that it is no longer intending to 
operate a waste wood fuel boiler, consideration payable to the Group 
was agreed at an amount less than £5,000,000. 

The amounts recognised within other income have arisen from 
contractual arrangements with third parties. 

Other income in the prior year principally relates to the gain on 
conversion of loan.  

8 Operating expenses
Operating expenses, excluding non-underlying items, are after 
charging the following:

2020 
£’000

2019
 £’000

Employee benefits expenses excluding 
share-based payment charge 53,677 48,364
Share-based payment charge 1,271 714
Direct material costs 46,976 34,830
Diesel and jet fuel 19,636 13,628
Other purchases and external expenses 36,616 38,095

Operating expenses – other 158,176 135,631

Loss before interest and tax is stated after charging/(crediting) 
the following:

2020 
£’000

2019
 £’000

Gain of conversion of loan – (1,095)
Depreciation of property, plant and 
equipment (PPE) 22,723 16,305
Amortisation of acquired intangibles 7,456 3,938
Impairments 101,909 7,800
Loss on disposal/in value of investment 
property 1,974 715
Loss/(profit) on sale and leaseback 62 (629)
Loss/(profit) on disposal of property 
inventories 49 (697)
Loss on disposal of PPE 11 482
Release of government grants (565) (609)

Operating lease expense
– Plant and machinery and commercial 
vehicles 1,075 255
– Property 39 5,492

Amounts receivable by the auditor and its associates in respect of 
the following:

5 Discontinued operations continued

Results of discontinued operations
2020

£’000
2019

£’000

Revenue 8,137 18,616
Operating expenses – other (8,361) (29,998)
Depreciation – (6,275)
Transaction costs (16) (594)
Net finance costs 426 836

Profit/(loss) before tax 186 (17,415)
Tax 720 (1,056)

Profit/(loss) for the year from 
discontinued operations, net of tax 906 (18,471)

Basic earnings/(loss) per share 0.25p (5.28)p

Diluted earnings/(loss) per share 0.24p (5.28)p

Of the revenue included in the above table, £8,137,000 
(2019: £13,852,000) was from the group headed by Everdeal 
Holdings Limited.

Cash flows used in discontinued operations
2020

£’000
2019

 £’000

Net cash (used in)/generated from 
operating activities (6,011) 14,676
Net cash generated from/(used in) 
investing activities 2,315 (3,913)

Net cash flows for the year (3,696) 10,763

Summary of discontinued operations recognised within the 
consolidated income statement is as follows:

2020
£’000

2019
 £’000

Propius discontinued operations, net of tax 906 (18,471)
Propius profit on disposal (note 34) 7,025 –
Propius provision released 2,697 –
Everdeal discontinued operations – 8,733
Everdeal profit on disposal – 25,910
Everdeal provision made (574) (7,031)
UKFFO 1,645 (24,676)

Discontinued operations, net of tax 11,699 (15,535)

The revenue from one customer amounted to more than 10% of the 
Group’s discontinued revenue including the groups headed by 
Everdeal Holdings Limited and Propius Holdings Limited. The 
revenue from this one customer reported within discontinued 
operations was £8,137,000 for the year to 29 February 2020. In the 
prior year, two customers amounted to more than 10% of the Group’s 
discontinued revenue at £105,801,000 and £25,916,000.

6 Business combinations
There were no acquisitions in the year ended 29 February 2020, or 
the prior year ended 28 February 2019. 

Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued
for the year ended 29 February 2020
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2020 
£’000

2019
 £’000

Remuneration receivable in respect of the 
audit of the Company 465 240
The auditing of accounts of any subsidiary 
of the Company 300 402
Audit-related services – interim results 
review 80 80
Transaction services – potential airport 
sale 125 –
Tax compliance relating to overseas 
subsidiaries – 80
Capital allowances services – 10

970 812

9 Non-underlying items
Non-underlying items included in the consolidated income statement 
loss before tax comprise the following:

2020
£’000

2019
 £’000

New business and new contract set-up 
costs 19,135 11,551
Restructuring costs – 391
Litigation and claims 977 5,193
Share of post-tax losses of joint ventures 9,108 –

Non-underlying items within EBITDA 29,220 17,135
Impairments 101,909 7,800
Amortisation of acquired intangibles 7,456 3,938

138,585 28,873

New business and new contract set-up costs comprise costs of 
investing in major new business areas or major new contracts to 
commence or accelerate development of our business presence. 
These costs include pre-contract costs and excess costs incurred 
due to contractual disputes and delays in customer plants becoming 
operational in the Energy division and new contract set-up costs at 
London Southend Airport in the Aviation division.

Contractual disputes relate to £7.0m of incremental costs incurred 
during the year in respect of the contract with Tilbury Green Power 
Limited (TGP). These incremental costs were incurred as a result of 
TGP’s unplanned plant outage from May 2019 to November 2019 
which meant TGP were unable to take the committed wood fuel 
volume. The incremental costs incurred include settlements with 
suppliers in the supply chain, excess logistics costs and excess 
processing costs. Whilst there is a take or pay arrangement in this 
contract, due to a dispute over the amounts receivable under the 
contract, the associated take or pay income could not be recognised 
during the year. Following the transport of waste material from Tilbury 
to other processing sites where it was processed, the revenue from 
the sale of this processed wood to other renewable energy plants, 
together with the non-incremental costs, are included within 
underlying amounts. Accordingly, the Directors consider it 
appropriate to present the incremental costs as non-underlying.

Subsequent to the year end, the Directors have made progress 
toward resolution of the dispute and have agreed Heads of Terms 
agreement with TGP. However, the outcome may be a contract 

modification, the financial effect of which will only be determined 
when the contract terms are agreed by both. The dispute has 
resulted in a change in estimate as an amount of revenue of £5.8m 
and costs of £4.2m were presented within underlying in the interim 
financial statements for the period ended 31 August 2019.

The charge for litigation and claims includes the cost of a High Court 
dispute with a former Director net of any amounts that have been 
recovered. Contingent assets relating to any outstanding claims are 
not recognised unless recovery is considered virtually certain, in 
accordance with accounting standards.

New business and new contract set-up costs and litigations and 
claims above, include the following amounts by operating expense 
category, as disclosed in note 8. Employee benefits (£1.2m), direct 
materials (£4.8m) and other purchases (£4.1m). 

Non-underlying share of post-tax losses of joint ventures relates to 
the equity accounted losses of Connect Airways Limited. Connect 
Airways Limited, and its subsidiary Flybe, entered administration post 
year end and the Group has impaired all outstanding balances to nil. 
The administration post year end is an adjusting event after the 
reporting period.

There were impairment charges against an investment in associates 
and joint ventures of £1,771,000 (see note 17), loans and receivables 
from a joint venture of £45,105,000 (see note 36), PPE of £19,702,000 
(see note 16), property inventory of £6,974,000 (see note 21) and 
intangible assets of £28,357,000 (see note 20).

Amortisation of acquired intangibles comprises the amortisation of 
intangible assets including those identified as fair value adjustments 
in acquisition accounting. The charge in the year is principally in 
connection with the Eddie Stobart brand, which has increased 
compared to last year, following a review of the residual value.

10 Staff costs

Staff costs (including Directors) comprise: Note
2020 

£’000
2019

 £’000

Wages and salaries 48,059 44,765
Social security costs 4,706 2,506
Other pension costs 1,257 1,093
Share-based payment charge 30 1,151 384

55,173 48,748

Included in staff costs above are costs which have been capitalised 
within assets under construction totalling £345,000 (2019: £244,000).

11 Finance income

2020 
£’000

2019
 £’000

Bank interest receivable 18 15
Foreign exchange gains 7 947
Interest on loans to joint venture 4,311 –
Other 17 48

4,353 1,010
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Included in the above tax charges are total current tax credit on 
continuing operations of £nil (2019: £3,000,000) and a total deferred 
tax credit on continuing operations of £8,390,000 (2019: £2,470,000) 
giving a total tax credit on continuing operations in the consolidated 
income statement of £8,390,000 (2019: £530,000). In addition, there 
is a current tax credit on discontinued operations of £774,000 in 
addition to a deferred tax charge on discontinued operations of 
£54,000 giving a total tax credit on continuing and discontinued 
operations in the consolidated income statement of £9,110,000.

The current tax adjustment in respect of prior years is in relation 
to the tax liabilities of the Propius Holdings sub-group, which was 
disposed of in the period, being lower than the provisions included 
in the financial statements. 

The deferred tax adjustment in respect of prior years is primarily in 
relation to a reassessment of the deferred tax asset in relation to 
employee share option exercises given a reduction in the Group 
share price and the derecognition of a deferred tax asset on trading 
losses carried forward given there is insufficient visibility of future 
profits against which the asset will unwind.

The effective tax rate in the year was 6.3% which was driven by 
deferred tax assets not being recognised in respect of certain 
temporary differences in the year.

Reconciliation of income tax charge
A reconciliation of the income tax credit applicable to the results from 
ordinary activities at the statutory income tax rate to income tax expense 
at the Group’s effective income tax rate for the year is as follows:

2020
£’000

2019
£’000

Net loss before tax from continuing and 
discontinued operations (147,005) (56,593)

UK income tax at rate 19%1 (2019: 19%) (27,931) (10,753)

Effects of:
Income not taxable (2,964) (656)
Profits on disposal of business not taxable – (608)
Profit on disposal of non-qualifying assets – (71)
Impact of change in tax rate 918 167
Expenses incurred not relievable against 
current tax 10,080 2,618
Difference in overseas tax rate – (217)
Losses brought forward utilised in current 
period – (594)
Reversal of deferred tax on fair value 
adjustment (589) –
Losses carried forward not recognised 11,905 9,510
Adjustments in respect of prior years (529) 2,190

Total (credit)/charge in the 
consolidated income statement from 
continuing and discontinued 
operations (9,110) 1,586

1 The Parent Company of the Group is tax resident in the UK. As such, the tax rate in the 
reconciliation of income tax charge is the weighted average UK corporation tax rate.

Expenses incurred not relievable against current tax include the 
impairment of goodwill associated with one of the Group’s operating 
divisions, impairment of investments in joint ventures, legal fees in 

12 Finance costs

2020 
£’000

2019
 £’000

Bank loans and loan notes 2,664 1,897
Net interest of retirement benefit schemes 74 87
Finance charges payable under leases 4,098 1,285
Amortisation of deferred issue costs 455 311
Foreign exchange losses 621 –
Dividend paid to exchangeable 
bondholders 2,127 –
Fair value of financial liabilities 3,500 –
Other interest 478 1,633

14,017 5,213

During the year no (2019: £nil) interest was capitalised. Other interest 
includes amounts payable of £260,000 (2019: £761,000) to former 
subsidiaries of the Group. In addition to the amounts above, an 
impairment charge of £2,754,000 has been recognised in relation to the 
accrued interest on shareholder loan notes relating to Mersey Bioenergy 
Holdings Limited, the Widnes biomass plant owner. The fair value was 
calculated basis of expected credit losses. The discounted future cash 
flows, excluding the future benefit of the refinancing currently being 
negotiated, identified the impairment recognised. This may reverse 
when the refinancing is complete and cash flow benefits materialise.

In the prior year, an impairment charge of £3,208,000 was 
recognised relating to the 25% investment in the associated 
undertaking, Shuban Power Limited, principally comprising 
shareholder loan notes. During the year, this investment, including 
loan notes, was disposed of at book value.

During the year interest paid in cash amounted to £8,205,000, this 
included bank loans and loan notes of £2,203,000, finance charges 
payable under leases of £3,787,000, interest payable on grant 
reimbursement of £88,000 and dividend paid to exchangeable 
bondholders of £2,127,000.

13 Tax

Total tax (credited)/charged in the consolidated income 
statement from continuing and discontinued operations

2020 
£’000

2019 
£’000

Corporation tax:
Current year overseas corporation tax
– Discontinued operations – 1,268
Adjustment in respect of prior years (774) 3,016

Total corporation tax (774) 4,284

Deferred tax:
Origination and reversal of temporary 
differences (8,581) (1,872)
Adjustment in respect of prior years 245 (826)

Total deferred tax (8,336) (2,698)

Total (credit)/charge in the 
consolidated income statement (9,110) 1,586

Split between:
– Continuing operations (8,390) 530
– Discontinued operations (720) 1,056

Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued
for the year ended 29 February 2020
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relation to potential acquisition opportunities and interest expenses 
that are not deductible for tax purposes. Included in the statement 
of other comprehensive income is a tax credit of £348,000 
(2019: £45,000) in relation to the defined benefit pension scheme.

Non-taxable income includes the profit on disposal of subsidiary 
entities on which no tax liability arises owing to the application of the 
Substantial Shareholding Exemption (SSE) and dividend receipts 
from non-controlled investments. 

Tax losses carried forward includes the non-recurring impact of the 
impairment in the period of loans made by the Group to a joint 
venture investment. 

The deferred tax credit in the consolidated income statement is 
analysed as follows:

2020 
£’000

2019 
£’000

Accelerated allowances on plant and 
machinery (2,103) (2,452)
Revaluation of properties to fair value on 
acquisition (1,097) (535)
Brands recognised on acquisition (5,341) (632)
Other temporary differences 151 921

(8,390) (2,698)

Deferred tax on temporary differences in the year amounting to 
£10,619,000 (2019: £8,407,000) has not been recognised in the 
financial statements on the basis that these temporary differences 
relate to tax losses of certain Group entities that have a history of 
making losses. Convincing other evidence is required before these 
unused tax losses can be recognised and at the year end this 
evidence was not of a convincing enough level.

Stobart Group Limited’s affairs are conducted such that it is 
considered to be resident in the UK for tax purposes. HM Revenue & 
Customs (HMRC) has not objected to this position. As a result, the 
Company is liable to pay UK corporation tax on its profits.

Factors that may affect the future tax charge
A change to the UK corporation tax rate was announced in the March 
2020 Budget. This was substantively enacted on 17 March 2020 and 
the corporation tax rate now applicable from 1 April 2020 remains at 
19% rather than the previously enacted reduction to 17%. Given the 
change was enacted after the consolidated statement of financial 
position date of 29 February 2020, the deferred tax assets/liabilities 
as at 29 February 2020 have been recognised/provided at 17%. 
The deferred tax liability at the year end totals £5,736,000. As such, 
recognition/provision at 19% will result in the provision an additional 
deferred tax liability and a deferred tax charge of approximately 
£675,000. This will be included within the Group accounts for the 
year ending 28 February 2021. 

There are a number of tax enquiries across the Group which 
management is working with HMRC and professional advisers to 
satisfy and resolve. There are uncertainties around the outcomes 
and potential liabilities in connection with these enquiries. The 
Directors believe that a responsible range of outcomes for the 
liabilities under these enquiries is between £nil and £16m, excluding 
interest and penalties. Provisions have been made for corporation 

tax and other taxes at a level that the Directors believes is a 
reasonable estimate to cover the potential liabilities on an enquiry 
by enquiry basis.

The Group is not expecting significant tax implications to arise as 
a result of the UK leaving the EU.

No deferred tax assets have been recognised as at 29 February 2020 
in respect of tax losses carried forward within various group entities. 
This is on the basis that there is insufficient visibility of future taxable 
profits against which the potential deferred tax assets would unwind. 

14 Earnings per share
Basic earnings per share (EPS) amounts are calculated by dividing 
net profit for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders of the 
Parent by the weighted average number of ordinary 10p shares 
outstanding during the year.

Diluted EPS is calculated by dividing net profit attributable to ordinary 
equity holders of the Parent by the weighted average number of ordinary 
shares, adjusted for share options which have exercise prices below the 
average market price of shares during the period. With the exception of 
share options issued under the employee Save-As-You-Earn (SAYE) 
scheme, these options were anti-dilutive in the prior year and have not 
been included in the calculation in accordance with IAS 33.

The following table reflects the income and share data used in the 
basic and diluted EPS calculations:

Numerator
2020 

£’000
2019 

£’000

Continuing operations
Loss for the year used for basic and 
diluted earnings (149,594) (42,644)

Discontinued operations
Profit/(loss) for the year used for 
basic and diluted earnings 11,699 (15,535)

Total
Loss for the year used for basic and 
diluted earnings (137,895) (58,179)

Denominator Number Number

Weighted average number of shares 
used in basic EPS 368,839,579 349,698,911
Effects of employee share options – –

Weighted average number of 
shares used in diluted EPS 368,839,579 349,698,911

Weighted average of own shares 
held and therefore excluded from 
weighted average number 3,761,537 6,798,847

The numerator used for the basic and diluted underlying EPS for 
continuing operations is the underlying loss for the year of 
£16,840,000 (2019: £16,562,000).

On 1 November 2014, 479,395 awards were made to Executive 
Directors under a Long-Term Incentive Plan. During prior years 267,452 
of these awards were exercised and 211,943 shares were cancelled. 
There were no shares outstanding from this award at the year end date.
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14 Earnings per share continued
On 22 June 2015, 1,308,941 awards were made to other senior 
employees under a Long-Term Incentive Plan. During the prior year, 
858,518 shares were exercised and the remainder were forfeited. 
There were no shares outstanding from this award at the year 
end date.

On 1 September 2015, the Group introduced an HMRC-approved 
SAYE scheme available to all employees. This scheme matured 
during the prior year and 747,335 shares were exercised. The 
remaining 852 shares were exercised in the current year. There were 
no shares outstanding from this award at the year end date.

On 6 November 2015, 1,520,772 awards were made to Executive 
Directors and other senior employees under a Long-Term Incentive Plan. 
During the prior year, 870,921 shares were exercised and the remainder 
were forfeited. There were no shares outstanding from this award at the 
year end date.

On 17 June 2016, 1,687,748 awards were made to Executive 
Directors and other senior employees under a Long-Term Incentive 
Plan. During prior years, 10,717 shares were exercised, 504,946 were 
forfeited and 271,633 lapsed. The remaining shares were exercised 
during the year and there were no shares outstanding from this 
award at the year end date.

On 22 June 2017, 896,721 awards were made to Executive Directors 
and other senior employees under a Long-Term Incentive Plan. 
During prior years, 2,700 shares were exercised, 229,536 shares 
were forfeited and 69,111 shares lapsed. During the year, 131,490 
shares lapsed. There are 463,884 shares outstanding at the year end 
date. These are potentially dilutive instruments but were not included 
in the calculation of diluted EPS because the performance conditions 
had not been met unconditionally at the year end date.

On 3 November 2017, 2,333 awards were made to other senior 
employees under a Long-Term Incentive Plan. There have been no 
movements in the current or prior years and there are 2,333 shares 
outstanding at the year end. These are potentially dilutive instruments 
but were not included in the calculation of diluted EPS because the 
performance conditions had not been met unconditionally at the year 
end date.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued
for the year ended 29 February 2020

On 20 June 2018, 726,522 awards were made to Executive Directors 
and other senior employees under a Long-Term Incentive Plan. 
During the prior year, 1,946 shares were exercised, 15,576 shares 
were forfeited and 33,086 shares lapsed. During the year, 20,440 
shares lapsed. There are 655,474 shares outstanding at the year 
end date. These are potentially dilutive instruments but were not 
included in the calculation of diluted EPS because the performance 
conditions had not been met unconditionally at the year end date.

On 1 February 2019, the Group invited qualifying employees to join a 
SAYE scheme. During the prior year, 5,710 options were forfeited and 
9,999 options were cancelled. During the year, 86,390 shares were 
forfeited and 1,021,292 shares were cancelled. There are 89,760 
shares outstanding at the year end date. These are potentially 
dilutive instruments but have not been included in the calculation of 
diluted EPS in the current year as to do so would be anti-dilutive.

On 22 June 2019, 1,939,896 awards were made to Executive 
Directors and other senior employees under a Long-Term Incentive 
Plan. There are 1,939,896 shares outstanding at the year end date. 
These are potentially dilutive instruments but were not included in the 
calculation of diluted EPS because the performance conditions had 
not been met unconditionally at the year end date.
 
On 1 September 2019, the Group invited qualifying employees to join 
a SAYE scheme. The maximum number of shares that may be 
acquired under this scheme is 2,962,928. During the year, 66,016 
shares were forfeited and 308,456 shares were cancelled. There are 
2,588,456 shares outstanding at the year end date. These are 
potentially dilutive instruments but have not been included in the 
calculation of diluted EPS in the current year as to do so would be 
anti-dilutive.

During the prior year, the Company purchased 1,450,000 treasury 
shares and later transferred all 7,035,425 treasury shares to the 
employee benefit trust. No treasury shares were held at year end 
(2019: nil). Treasury shares are not included in the weighted average 
number of shares used to calculate EPS. Own shares held in an 
employee benefit trust are excluded from the weighted average 
number of shares. 

15 Dividends 

Dividends paid on ordinary shares

2020 
 Rate  

p
2020  

£’000

2019  
Rate  

p
2019  

£’000

Final dividend for 2019 paid 31 July 2019 3.0 11,125 – –

Interim dividend for 2019 paid 31 January 2019 – – 1.5 5,315
Interim dividend for 2019 paid 4 October 2018 – – 4.5 15,945
Final dividend for 2018 paid 6 July 2018 – – 4.5 15,628
Interim dividend for 2018 paid 13 April 2018 – – 4.5 15,628

3.0 11,125 15.0 52,516

As announced on 14 November 2019, the Board has taken the decision to suspend the dividend, therefore no final dividend is proposed.
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16 Property, plant and equipment

Year ended 29 February 2020

Land and 
buildings 

£’000

Plant and 
machinery

£’000

Fixtures, 
fittings and 
equipment 

£’000

Commercial 
vehicles

 £’000
Total 

£’000

Cost
At 1 March 2019 211,918 69,823 9,320 33,678 324,739
Additions 13,599 5,213 592 9,714 29,118
Right-of-use asset additions 61,121 498 – 355 61,974
Disposals (3) (3,823) (424) (8,631) (12,881)
Transfers between categories (2,877) 530 2,657 (310) –

At 29 February 2020 283,758 72,241 12,145 34,806 402,950

Aggregate depreciation and impairment charges
At 1 March 2019 26,693 11,880 3,581 19,670 61,824
Charge for the year 4,546 7,811 2,874 3,750 18,981
Charge for the year on right-of-use assets 3,535 131 – 76 3,742
Impairment 18,779 111 812 – 19,702
Disposals – (2,258) (421) (5,204) (7,883)
Transfers between categories (7) 7 – – –

At 29 February 2020 53,546 17,682 6,846 18,292 96,366

Net book value at 29 February 2020 230,212 54,559 5,299 16,514 306,584

Net book value of right-of-use assets included in the table above 57,586 367 – 279 58,232

Included in the £62.0m right-of-use additions above are £60.9m of assets relating to the transition to IFRS 16, as disclosed in note 1.
 

Year ended 28 February 2019

Land and 
buildings 

£’000

Plant and 
machinery

£’000

Fixtures, 
fittings and 
equipment 

£’000

Commercial 
vehicles and 

aircraft
 £’000

Total 
£’000

Cost
At 1 March 2018 196,972 67,968 6,388 75,689 347,017
Additions 23,996 5,685 2,847 7,882 40,410
Disposals (6,149) (4,815) (46) (52,350) (63,360)
Transfers between categories (2,901) 1,327 1,553 21 –
Reclass from inventory – – 70 – 70
Currency translation differences – – (7) 2,445 2,438
Disposal of subsidiary undertakings – (342) (1,485) (9) (1,836)

At 28 February 2019 211,918 69,823 9,320 33,678 324,739

Aggregate depreciation and impairment charges
At 1 March 2018 17,036 8,758 1,739 18,342 45,875
Charge for the year 3,326 6,925 2,396 10,328 22,975
Impairment 6,500 – – – 6,500
Disposals (224) (3,748) (38) (9,013) (13,023)
Transfers between categories 55 (49) (28) 22 –
Currency translation differences – – 1 (4) (3)
Disposal of subsidiary undertakings – (6) (489) (5) (500)

At 28 February 2019 26,693 11,880 3,581 19,670 61,824

Net book value at 28 February 2019 185,225 57,943 5,739 14,008 262,915
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16 Property, plant and equipment continued
Impairment of assets
The water port and storage site at Weston Point, Runcorn, was 
subject to an external independent development valuation carried 
out by Cushman & Wakefield. The valuation was performed in 
accordance with the RICS Valuation Standards issued by the Royal 
Institution of Chartered Surveyors. The valuation indicated a value of 
£7.8m which indicated an impairment of £0.7m, which has been 
recognised. The comparable method of valuation was used based 
on similar properties for which price information is available, adjusted 
for age, size, condition, location and any other relevant factors. The 
key assumptions included in the valuation were the blended value 
per acre (£230,000) and the capital value per sq ft of £65 applied to 
warehouse storage. A 10% reduction in both the blended value per 
acre and the capital value of warehouse storage would result in a 
further impairment of £70,000. The Group continues to pursue a 
number of development options for this asset. An impairment charge 
of £6.5m was recognised against this asset in the prior year, reported 
in the Non-Strategic Infrastructure division.

Management identified triggers of impairment when reviewing the fair 
value of the year end assets at Carlisle Lake District Airport (CLDA). 
A fair value less costs to sell impairment test was conducted which 
gave rise to an impairment of £21.0m, of which £2.0m is recognised 
in property inventories.

The impairment charges are shown in the consolidated income 
statement as a non-underlying operating expense, due to their nature 
and on the basis that they are outside of the normal activities of the 
Group. Any future increases in value once any development of the 
assets has been completed, will be recognised as a gain through the 
impairment line within non-underlying operating expenses.

Impairment testing of other property, plant and equipment 
where no charge for impairment has been recognised
The London Southend Airport (LSA) CGU comprises the business 
operations of the commercial airport and railway station ancillary 
operation. The CGU has been tested for impairment as the business 
suffered a loss before tax in the year to 29 February 2020. The Group 
estimated the value-in-use of the CGU and determined that no 
charge for impairment was necessary. The pre-tax discount rate 
used in the value-in-use calculation was 11.1% (2019: 12.1%) based 
on the weighted average cost of capital for the CGU, taking into 
account the cost of equity and debt for the CGU, and adjusting for 
risk specific to the CGU. The estimated value-in-use was based on 
estimates of the timing and extent of increases in the level of future 
passenger numbers, income per passenger, rental income and the 
discount rate. The cash flows are based on internal financial 
forecasts for the next ten years. Cash flows beyond the ten-year 
period are deemed to be in perpetuity but an annual growth rate of 
2.0% (2019: 2.0%) is assumed in the calculations. The carrying value 
of PPE included in this CGU at 29 February 2020 was £164.4m 
(2019: £155.7m).

Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued
for the year ended 29 February 2020

The calculation of the value-in-use is sensitive to the discount rate. In 
order for the estimated recoverable amount of the CGU to be equal 
to the carrying amount, the discount rate would need to be 
individually increased by 5.4 (2019: 10.4) percentage points. The key 
source of estimation uncertainty is future cash flow, driven by 
passenger volumes and estimated airport spend per passenger, 
which will be determined by the Group’s ability to continue attracting 
new airlines and improving the customer experience in the terminal. If 
cash flows were reduced by 34.9% (2019: 53.7%) the estimated 
recoverable amount would equal the carrying amount.

COVID-19 has had a material impact on the revenue and cash flow 
generation of LSA post year end. The cash flows used in the 
value-in-use calculation detailed above were forecast numbers pre 
COVID-19. The recovery period has been estimated to be two years, 
as a result management have sensitised cash flows by reducing 
passenger numbers significantly in year one and assumed a 
straight-line recovery to 28 February 2022 and this did not drive an 
impairment. Capital expenditure to increase capacity at the airport 
was also reduced as a sensitivity as the airport already has sufficient 
capacity for the sensitised passenger numbers. Headroom under 
this scenario was reduced to £28.5m. Growth is likely to slow 
compared to forecasts in the short term, however, the airport is still 
very well positioned to take advantage of the aviation market 
post-COVID-19.

Other disclosures in relation to property, plant and equipment
Bank borrowings are secured on the Group’s freehold land and 
buildings, see note 26 for further details.

Included in land and buildings at 29 February 2020 are assets under 
construction of £8,760,000 (2019: £14,283,000). The current year 
assets relate principally to development work at LSA and CLDA.

At 28 February 2019, the net carrying amount of leased PPE held 
under finance lease was £46,283,000. The leases were secured on 
the respective assets.
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17 Investments in associates and joint ventures

Entity Year end

Issued 
ordinary  

shares 
Company holding  
direct investment Residence

Principal activity of the entity or  
group headed by the entity

% of nominal 
value of issued 

shares or 
members’ 

capital held

Convoy Limited1 5 April 2 SPD1 Limited Isle of Man Property investment 50%

Mersey Bioenergy 
Holdings Limited 31 December 100

Stobart Green  
Energy Limited UK Operation of energy plant 39.6%

Connect Airways 
Limited1 31 December 500,000,100

Stobart Aviation 
Limited UK Commercial airlines 30%

PortR Limited 26 December 8,142,927 Stobart Group Limited UK Aviation services company 15.4%

PortR Limited 26 December 8,142,927 
Stobart Group Brands 
LLP UK Aviation services company 4.1%

1 These entities are joint ventures; all others are associates. 

The Group disposed of its interest in Shuban Power Limited on 19 December 2019. This investment was carried at nil prior to disposal.

On 28 June 2019, the Group purchased additional shares in PortR Limited, increasing the shareholding to 19.5%. This remains an associate 
due to the Group holding significant influence but no control.

Associates and joint ventures

2020
 £’000

2019 
£’000

At 1 March 10,459 349
Additions 2,667 11,850
Impairment (1,771) –
Share of post-tax losses (9,765) (1,740)

At 29 February 1,590 10,459

Loans to associates and joint ventures, where the settlement is planned or expected to be repaid in the foreseeable future, do not form part of 
the equity investment and are included in other receivables or non-current amounts owed by associates and joint ventures according to the 
expected repayment terms.

The balance at 29 February 2020 relates to the investment in PortR Limited, which was impaired by £1.8m following the 2019 fund raising value 
per share being applied to the Group’s holding.

Summary of material and immaterial carrying values of equity investments in associates and joint ventures
2020

 £’000
2019 

£’000

Carrying amount of individual joint ventures – 7,008
Carrying amount of individual associates 1,590 3,451

At 29 February 1,590 10,459

Aggregate joint ventures

2020
 £’000

2019 
£’000

Carrying amount – 7,008
Share of post-tax losses (9,108) (747)
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17 Investments in associates and joint ventures continued
The 30% investment in Connect Airways Limited (Connect) has been fully written down in the year due to Connect entering administration 
on 18 March 2020. During the year the 30% share of Connect contributed equity accounted losses was estimated to be £9,108,000 
(2019: £747,000), reflecting the total carrying amount of investment. This had to be estimated following a lack of detailed consolidated 
accounts being received since November 2019. There was no impact on the consolidated statement of cash flows from the investment 
write down or the equity accounted losses.

Aggregate associates

2020
 £’000

2019 
£’000

Carrying amount 1,590 3,451
Share of post-tax losses (657) (993)

During the year, the Group didn’t take a 39.6% share of the Mersey Bioenergy Holdings Limited losses (2019: £349,000) as during the prior 
year the total equity accounted losses reached the cap at the value of the investment. During the year, PortR Limited contributed equity 
accounted losses of £657,000 (2019: £644,000). There was no impact on the consolidated statement of cash flows other than the purchase 
of additional equity in PortR Limited in the year.

18 Other financial assets

2020
 £’000

2019 
£’000

At 1 March 44,918 63,690
Additions 70 –
Revaluation – FVOCI (40,212) (18,772)

At 29 February 4,776 44,918

At 29 February 2020, the Group’s 11.8% investment in AIM-listed Eddie Stobart Logistics plc (ESL) was worth £4,706,000 (2019: £44,918,000). 
In February 2020, the Group acquired a 7% shareholding in Connect.IO Ltd for £70,000, which was the fair value at year end. The Group made 
an irrevocable election to account for ESL as FVOCI, on adoption of IFRS 9 on 1 March 2018, and Connect.IO Ltd on acquisition. The fair value 
of ESL is calculated using the market price per AIM. The revaluation in the year relates to the change in ESL share price.

19 Investment property

2020
 £’000

2019 
£’000

At 1 March 4,000 4,700
Additions 85 15
Disposals (2,250) –
Loss on revaluation (1,835) (715)

At 29 February – 4,000

There was no rental income received and there were no direct operating expenses attributable to investment property during both the current 
or prior year. At 29 February 2020, there were no contractual obligations to purchase investment property (2019: nil).

At 28 February 2019, the Group’s investment property was subject to an independent valuation by Avison Young, on the basis of open market 
value, supported by market evidence. The open market value represents the amount at which the assets could be exchanged between a 
knowledgeable, willing buyer and a knowledgeable, willing seller in an arm’s length transaction at the date of the valuation. The valuation was 
performed in accordance with the RICS Valuation Standards issued by the Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors and was based on 
available market evidence and comparables. As the one remaining investment property was sold during the year, no valuations were required 
at 29 February 2020.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued
for the year ended 29 February 2020
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20 Intangible assets

Goodwill 
£’000

Brand 
names
 £’000

Customer 
relationships

£’000
Total

£’000

Cost 

At 1 March 2018 87,419 60,000 1,793 149,212

At 28 February 2019 87,419 60,000 1,793 149,212

Transferred to assets held for sale – (60,000) – (60,000)

At 29 February 2020 87,419 – 1,793 89,212

Amortisation and impairment

At 1 March 2018 28,375 14,868 1,549 44,792

Amortisation charge – 3,717 221 3,938

At 28 February 2019 28,375 18,585 1,770 48,730

Amortisation charge – 7,433 23 7,456
Impairment 4,375 23,982 – 28,357
Transferred to assets held for sale – (50,000) – (50,000)

At 29 February 2020 32,750 – 1,793 34,543

Net book value

At 28 February 2018 59,044 45,132 244 104,420

At 28 February 2019 59,044 41,415 23 100,482

At 29 February 2020 54,669 – – 54,669

No internally generated intangible assets are recognised in the financial statements.

Brand names are the Stobart and Eddie Stobart trademarks and designs, and other Stobart-associated trademarks and designs.
Customer relationships consist of contractual relationships with customers recognised on acquisitions.

During the year, indefinite life brands were impaired to their fair value less costs to sell and transferred to assets held for sale, see note 23.

Goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite lives
The goodwill and brands with indefinite lives from business combinations have been allocated to CGUs. Carrying amounts of goodwill and 
brand names with indefinite lives allocated to each CGU are set out in the following table. These assets are considered to have indefinite lives 
because there is no foreseeable limit to the period over which the assets are expected to generate net cash inflows for the Group. Factors 
taken into account in the consideration were the legal ownership, the long period over which the brand names have been established, the 
strength of brand awareness and the stability of the industries in which the main brands are involved.

Stobart Energy Stobart Rail & Civils Other Total

2020 
£’000

2019 
£’000

2020 
£’000

2019 
£’000

2020 
£’000

2019 
£’000

2020 
£’000

2019 
£’000

Carrying amount of goodwill 54,669 54,669 – 4,375 – – 54,669 59,044
Carrying amount of brands with 
indefinite useful lives – 8,800 – 4,100 – 1,700 – 14,600

Impairment testing of goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite lives
In accordance with IAS 36 Impairment of Assets, the Group has undertaken impairment testing for each CGU. The key assumptions applied in 
respect of each CGU are set out below. A sensitivity analysis has been performed, at the individual CGU level, in order to review the effect of 
changes in key assumptions. The intangible brand assets detailed below, were transferred to assets held for sale prior to the year end 
29 February 2020, see note 23. 
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20 Intangible assets continued
Stobart Energy CGU
The recoverable amount of goodwill in the Stobart Energy CGU has 
been based on value-in-use calculations using projections from 
financial forecasts approved by senior management covering a 
five-year (2019: five-year) period. The main assumptions on which 
the forecasts were based include sales volumes and profit margins. 
The pre-tax discount rate applied to the cash flow projections was 
9.8% (2019: 10.4%) based on the weighted average cost of capital for 
the CGU, taking into account the cost of equity and debt for the 
CGU, and adjusting for risk specific to the CGU. Cash flows beyond 
the five-year period are deemed to be in perpetuity but an annual 
growth rate of 0.0% (2019: 2.0%) is assumed in the calculations. This 
reduction in growth rate was applied following a review of the future 
cash flow projections as the business has entered a mature phase, 
as such the annual growth rate is projected to be 0.0%. Significant 
growth would require additional capital expenditure, so the growth 
rate was reduced to nil. 

No impairment losses, other than those relating to the brand post 
year end disposal detailed below, have been recognised in the 
current or prior year. The calculation of the value-in-use is most 
sensitive to the discount rate. With regard to the assessment of value 
in the CGU, management believes that no reasonably possible 
change in the discount rate would cause the carrying value of the 
CGU to exceed its recoverable amount. In order for the estimated 
recoverable amount of the CGU to be equal to the carrying amount, 
the discount rate would need to be individually increased by 18.4 
percentage points. COVID-19 is having an impact on the actual cash 
flows compared to those forecast in the value-in-use calculation. 
However, a 40% reduction in lifetime cash flows, or three years of 
zero cash flows, would not drive an impairment in the Energy CGU. 
Post year end, the Group disposed of brand assets (see note 34), 
a fair value less costs to sell impairment test was conducted on the 
intangible assets in the Stobart Energy CGU, giving rise to an 
impairment of £7.3m, prior to reclassifying the brand assets to assets 
held for sale.

Stobart Rail & Civils CGU
During the year, the goodwill and intangible assets in the Rail & Civils 
CGU of £8,474,000 were impaired to nil following a value-in-use 
calculation, triggered by adverse actual performance compared to 
budget and operating losses. The key assumption was cash flows 
from future contract wins and the pre-tax discount rate applied to the 
cash flow projections was 12.2% (2019: 11.0%). At the year end there 
was no goodwill or intangible assets in the CGU. For the remaining 
tangible assets a fair value less costs to sell exercise was completed 
indicating no impairment of tangible assets was required at the 
year end.

Other
The brands with indefinite life in the ‘Other’ column in the table relate 
to Stobart brands for which the Group obtained an independent 
valuation in 2014 which supports these values. This asset has been 
tested for impairment at the year end on a fair value less costs to sell 
basis, following the post balance sheet disposal of brand assets 
(see note 34), giving rise to an impairment of £1.7m.

The balance of the brands of £8,500,000 (2019: £26,815,000), not 
included in the above table, has been transferred to assets held for 
sale (see note 23). This is not included in the table in the current year 
because this asset is not considered to have an indefinite life, but 
instead has been amortised and impaired to a residual value of 
£8.5m. This residual value represents the agreed disposal proceeds 
within the contract exchanged post year end (see note 34).

The discount rates used in the impairment workings for most of the 
CGUs are in line with those used in the prior year. The methods used 
to determine the factors within the discount rate calculations were 
consistent with the prior year. Reasons for changes in some of the 
discount rates include a decrease in size premium and variations in 
gearing and beta values for comparative companies used to 
calculate cost of equity.

The Stobart Energy CGU is part of the Energy segment, the Stobart 
Rail & Civils CGU is part of the Rail & Civils segment and the Other 
CGU is part of the Adjustments and eliminations segment.

21 Inventories

2020
 £’000

2019 
£’000

Consumable supplies 844 917
Goods held for resale 176 108
Property inventories 12,873 21,534

13,893 22,559

Property inventories relating to Widnes and CLDA are subject to a 
fixed charge under the RCF, see note 26 for further details.

Property inventories includes development land and buildings at 
Widnes, Carlisle and Chelford. The net realisable values of the 
development assets is expected to be equal to or higher than the 
carrying values. The net realisable values of these property inventories 
are based on certain estimates. The assets are at different stages of 
development. The key estimation uncertainties are timing and type of 
development, build costs, rental values and exit yield, although the 
Directors consider that the calculations are most sensitive to the exit 
yield. A movement in the exit yield of 0.25% percentage points would 
result in a valuation range of £12.1m to £14.0m.

Following an external valuation, an impairment of £5,000,000 (2019: 
£nil) has been recorded against the development land at Widnes to 
recognise that some of the land may be sold undeveloped. During 
the year, four acres of land at Widnes, with carrying value of 
£1,408,000, previously disclosed as property inventories, met the 
criteria of IFRS 5 and was reclassed as an asset held for sale, see 
note 23. As part of the impairment of the CLDA CGU property 
inventory has been impaired by £1,974,000 (2019: £nil), see note 16 
for further details.
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22 Trade and other receivables

2020
 £’000

2019 
£’000

Non-current
Amounts owed by associates and joint 
ventures 8,000 44,642

8,000 44,642

Current
Trade receivables – net 27,771 23,600
Other taxes and social security 14 –
Other receivables and prepayments 12,382 17,671

40,167 41,271

Movement in the loss allowance
At 1 March 182 156
Movement in the year 28 26

At 29 February 210 182

The analysis of trade receivables due is as follows:

2020
Receivable

 £’000

2020
Provision 

£’000 

2019
Receivable

 £’000

2019 
Provision

£’000 

Current 15,133 (41) 9,853 –
1 month 10,760 (3) 11,164 (4)
2 months 373 (4) 354 (2)
3+ months 1,715 (162) 2,411 (176)

27,981 (210) 23,782 (182)

The standard period for credit sales varies from 30 days to 60 days. 
The Group assesses creditworthiness of all trade debts on an 
ongoing basis providing for expected credit losses in line with IFRS 
9. The Group has considered credit risk rating grades, these are 
based on the ageing categories above. COVID-19 has not had a 
material impact on the collection of 29 February 2020 year end trade 
receivables. New customers are subject to stringent credit checks.

The analysis of trade receivables past due but not impaired is 
as follows:

2020
 £’000

2019 
£’000

Neither past due nor impaired 22,182 18,967
<30 days 3,469 1,019
31–60 days 931 1,215
61–90 days 823 1,878
91–120 days 46 491
>120 days 530 212

27,981 23,782

23 Assets classified as held for sale
On 22 February 2019, the aircraft leasing business, Propius Holdings 
Limited, which was part of the Aviation division, was classified as a 
disposal group held for sale where it remained until its disposal on 
8 November 2019, see note 5.

The major classes of assets and liabilities of the disposal groups 
classified as held for sale at 29 February 2020 are as follows:

2020
 £’000

2019 
£’000

Assets
Property inventory 1,408 –
Brand names 10,000 –
Other receivables – 1,474

Total assets classified as held for sale 11,408 1,474

Liabilities
Corporation tax – (1,030)
Deferred tax liability – (2,498)
Maintenance reserves – (17,889)
Other payables – (6,128)

Total liabilities classified as held
for sale – (27,545)

In the prior year, there was an intercompany receivable of 
£19,689,000 that was not included in the disposal group held for 
sale, as it is eliminated under IFRS 10. However, now that Propius 
Holdings Limited is disposed of, the continuing group recognises 
this as a payable.

During the year, four acres of land at Widnes within the Non-Strategic 
Infrastructure division, with a carrying value of £1,408,000 that was 
previously disclosed as property inventories, met the criteria of 
IFRS 5 and was reclassified as an asset held for sale.

At the year ended 29 February 2020, brand assets totalling 
£10,000,000 have been transferred from intangible assets, see note 
20. The fair value of these assets will be recovered via disposal post 
year end as detailed in note 34.

24 Trade and other payables

2020
 £’000

2019 
£’000

Trade payables 21,939 28,637
Other taxes and social security – 1,298
Other payables, accruals and deferred 
income 39,448 23,044
Government grants 512 669

61,899 53,648
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25 Other liabilities

2020
 £’000

2019 
£’000

Other payables, accruals and deferred 
income – 167
Government grants 9,687 10,929

9,687 11,096

The Group has a number of government grants, which have different 
conditions attached to them. Where a grant relates to a specific 
asset, the grant is released to the consolidated income statement 
over the useful life of the asset to which it relates.

During the year, cash grants received totalled £318,000 
(2019: £5,400,000), £1,152,000 (2019: £nil) was repaid, as a result 
of a sale and leaseback of land at Widnes in the prior year, and 
£565,000 (2019: £5,095,000) was released to the consolidated 
income statement.

26 Financial assets and liabilities

Loans and borrowings
2020

 £’000
2019 

£’000

Non-current
Fixed rate:
Obligations under leases 24,371 20,668
Variable rate:
Obligations under leases 5,532 5,886
Revolving credit facility (net of arrangement 
fees) 74,757 57,567

104,660 84,121

Current
Fixed rate:
Obligations under leases 8,647 6,663
Exchangeable bonds 51,689 –
Variable rate:
Obligations under leases 3,852 6,770

64,188 13,433

Total loans and borrowings 
(excluding IFRS 16) 168,848 97,554

Cash (9,802) (14,432)

Comparable net debt (excluding 
IFRS 16) 159,046 83,122

Non-current
IFRS 16 obligations 73,128 –

Current
IFRS 16 obligations 3,281 –

Net debt 235,455 83,122

Reconciliation of movements of liabilities to cash flows arising 
from financing activities

2020
 £’000

2019 
£’000

Exchangeable bond
Proceeds from bond issue (net of costs) 51,305 – 
Release of deferred issue costs 260  –
Exchange derivative recognised 124 – 

 Movement in bond liability 51,689 –

Revolving credit facility
Net cash drawn 17,000 18,000 
Cash outflow from debt issue costs (4) (428)
Release of deferred issue costs 194 311 

 Movement in RCF liability 17,190 17,883

Obligations under leases
Principle elements of lease payments (20,783) (14,382)
New leases entered into 21,037 14,178 
Unwind of discount 134 142
Transition liability recognised 78,252 – 
Non-cash interest accruals 184 – 

Movement in lease obligations 78,824 (62)

Obligations under leases existed prior to the transition to IFRS 16 and 
IFRS 16 obligations are new obligations that have arisen following the 
transition to IFRS 16, see note 1.

Any variable lease payments that were not included in the calculation 
of IFRS 16 lease obligations have been expensed as incurred in the 
consolidated income statement. These amounts are not material.

The variable rate committed RCF with end date January 2022, was 
drawn at £75,000,000 (2019: £58,000,000) at the year end. Under the 
RCF, Stobart Group Limited and all material subsidiaries have 
charged security to the lenders via a debenture, the material 
subsidiaries are also guarantors and obligors in relation to the facility 
agreement. There are fixed charges over land and properties 
including LSA, CLDA, Widnes and Runcorn, in addition floating 
charges and charges over shares. The facility agreement contains 
typical security protections for the lender including negative pledge, 
and restrictions on disposals and financial indebtedness together 
with allowances for permitted disposals, permitted security and 
permitted financial indebtedness.

Stobart Group Limited provides support to its subsidiaries where 
required. Examples of support include intercompany funding 
arrangements and the provision of guarantees in relation to financing 
lines provided by a number of lenders. The Group was in compliance 
with all financial covenants throughout both the current and 
prior year.

The book value and fair values of financial assets and financial 
liabilities are as follows:
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Book value 
2020 

£’000

Fair value 
2020 

£’000

Financial assets
Cash 9,802 9,802
Other investments 4,776 4,776
Amounts owed by associates and
joint ventures 8,385 8,385
Trade receivables 27,771 27,771
Other receivables 2,380 2,380
Swaps 364 364
Financial liabilities
Trade payables 21,937 21,937
Revolving credit facility 74,757 74,757
Exchangeable bonds 51,689 46,389
Lease obligations 118,811 113,446
Other payables 8,573 8,573
Swaps 416 416

Book value 
2019 

£’000

Fair value 
2019 

£’000

Financial assets
Cash 14,432 14,432
Other investments 44,918 44,918
Amounts owed by associates and
joint ventures 48,342 48,342
Trade receivables 23,600 23,600
Other receivables 790 790
Swaps 850 850
Financial liabilities
Trade payables 28,589 28,589
Revolving credit facility 57,567 57,567
Finance leases 39,987 38,858
Other payables 1,746 1,746
Swaps 602 602

For trade and other receivables/payables with a remaining life of 
less than one year, the carrying amount is considered to reflect 
the fair value.

The fair values of loans and borrowings have been calculated by 
discounting the expected future cash flows at prevailing interest 
rates. The fair value of finance leases and hire purchase 
arrangements and of loans and borrowings are classified as level 2 
in the fair value hierarchy.

In the prior year, only leases classified as finance leases under IAS 
17 were included in financial liabilities. However, in the current year 
this includes all leases recognised under IFRS 16.
The Group entered into a put option with fellow Connect Airways 
shareholder Cyrus Capital Partners (Cyrus) on 11 January 2019. 
This agreement gave Cyrus the option to exchange £23m of second 
ranking six-year 8% RCF debt with Connect Airways, for equity 
shares in Stobart Group Limited at 250p per share. The option can 
only be exercised after two years following the acquisition of Flybe 
plc by Connect Airways and requires 30 days’ notice. Another 
requirement that must be satisfied to allow the option to be exercised 
includes a measure of passenger volumes at LSA driven by Connect 
Airways over a 12-month rolling period.

Following 29 February 2020, the Connect Airways business which 
included operations at LSA, via Stobart Air, entered administration 
and the Connect Airways operations have now ceased. The 
passenger volume measure relating to Connect Airways operations, 
that have now ceased, is no longer measurable due to 
administration. 

This level 3 year end fair value of the put option has been recognised 
within finance costs in the consolidated income statement with a   
corresponding financial liability on the statement of financial position.

Fair value hierarchy
The Group uses the following hierarchy for determining and disclosing 
the fair value of financial instruments by valuation technique:

Level 1:  quoted (unadjusted) prices in active markets for identical 
assets or liabilities.

Level 2:  other techniques for which all inputs which have a 
significant effect on the recorded fair value are observable, 
either directly or indirectly.

Level 3:  techniques which use inputs which have a significant effect 
on the recorded fair value that are not based on 
observable market data.

Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value

As at 29 February 2020
Total  

£’000
Level 1  

£’000
Level 2 

£’000
Level 3  

£’000

Financial assets
Other financial assets 4,776 4,706 – 70

Financial liabilities
Other financial liabilities 3,500 – – 3,500
Swaps 52 – 52 –

As at 28 February 2019
Total 

 £’000
Level 1 

£’000
Level 2 

£’000
Level 3 

£’000

Financial assets
Other financial assets 44,918 44,918 – –
Swaps 248 – 248 –

Assets classified as held for sale 
Included within assets held for sale are brand intangible assets 
disposed of post year end (see note 34) and property inventory (see 
note 21). Both assets were subject to valuations that fall within level 3 
of the fair value hierarchy, using an income approach and market 
approach valuation techniques respectively.

Fair value calculation methodology
Other investments are valued based on quoted market price. Swaps 
are valued based on market rates and market-accepted models. 
Fair value for financial instruments held at amortised cost has been 
estimated by discounting cash flows at prevailing interest rates.

During the current and prior year, there were no transfers between 
level 1 and level 2 fair value measurements, and no transfers into and 
out of level 3 fair value measurements.
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26 Financial assets and liabilities continued 
Financial instruments – risk management
The Group is exposed through its operations to the following 
financial risks:
• Credit risk
• Liquidity risk
• Diesel price risk
• Currency price risk
• Fair value or cash flow interest rate risk
• Capital risk

In common with all other businesses, the Group is exposed to risks 
that arise from its use of financial instruments. This note describes 
the Group’s objectives, policies and processes for managing those 
risks and the methods used to measure them.

Principal financial instruments
The principal financial instruments used by the Group, from which 
financial instrument risk arises, are as follows:
• Trade and other receivables
• Exchangeable bonds 
• Floating-rate revolving credit facility
• Cash at bank
• Trade and other payables
• Lease obligations

General objectives, policies and processes
The Board has overall responsibility for the determination of the 
Group’s risk management objectives and policies. The overall 
objective of the Board is to set policies that seek to reduce risk as far 
as possible without unduly affecting the Group’s competitiveness 
and flexibility. Further details regarding these policies are set 
out below:

Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if a customer or a 
counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet its contractual 
obligations. The Group is mainly exposed to credit risk from credit 
sales. It is Group policy, implemented locally, to assess the credit risk 
of new customers before entering contracts. Such credit ratings are 
taken into account by local business practices.

All credit sales are made under Group payment and delivery terms 
and conditions and are mostly covered by insurance. All credit limits 
are formally set and are in agreement with the bank.

The recoverability of the net trade receivables, including contract 
assets, is considered highly likely. This is supported by the collection 
history of the Group. In generating the expected credit loss (ECL) 
provision, historical credit loss rates for the preceding five years are 
observed, including consideration given to factors that may affect the 
ability of customers to settle receivables, and percentages applied 
to the trade and other receivable aging buckets at the year end. 
The Group applies the simplified approach to measuring expected 
credit losses which uses a lifetime expected loss allowance for all 
trade receivables.

The expected credit losses on other receivables have not been 
recognised as the resultant provision would not be material to the 
financial statements.

Interest rate risk
The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk from long-term 
borrowings and cash at variable rates. There are loan facilities at 
variable rates as well as amounts held on deposit. These borrowing 
policies are managed centrally. Although the Board accepts that this 
policy neither protects the Group entirely from the risk of paying rates 
in excess of current market rates nor eliminates fully cash flow risk 
associated with variability in interest payments, it considers that it 
achieves an appropriate balance of exposure to these risks.

The Group’s borrowings at variable rate were denominated in  
GBP and the fixed rate borrowings were denominated in US Dollars 
and GBP. 

Capital risk
The Group is exposed to capital risk in relation to its shareholding in 
ESL. Any adverse movement in the quoted share price will directly 
impact the fair value of the investment held. 

Diesel price risk
The Group is exposed to diesel price risk as diesel fuel is a key 
supply to the transport fleet of vehicles in the Energy business. 
If diesel prices rise, there will be increases in the base costs that 
cannot be fully passed on to customers. In order to mitigate this 
risk, the Group has taken out diesel swap contracts to manage 
its exposure.

The fair value of diesel swap contracts falling within level 2 of the fair 
value hierarchy as at 29 February 2020 is £416,000 liability (2019: 
£53,000 asset) and the gross swap coverage was £1,877,000 (2019: 
£2,435,000). The fair value of the swaps is calculated by Lloyds Bank 
Corporate Markets plc and Mitsui Bussan Commodities Ltd based on 
mid-market levels as of the close of business on 28 February 2020.

Jet fuel price risk
Following the disposal of Everdeal Holdings Limited, the Group is no 
longer being exposed to jet fuel price risk as jet fuel was a key supply 
to the aircraft fleet, disposed with Everdeal Holdings Limited.

Currency price risk
Following the disposal of Everdeal Holdings Limited, the Group is no 
longer being exposed to a significant amount of certain transactions 
denominated in foreign currencies, which previously included the 
leasing and purchasing of aircraft, spare parts, maintenance and fuel 
in US Dollars and Euros. The Group does have a US Dollar balance 
payable in instalments so has taken out currency swap contracts to 
manage its exposure.

The fair value of currency swap contracts falling within level 2 of the 
fair value hierarchy as at 29 February 2020 is £195,000 asset (2019: 
£431,000 liability) and the gross swap coverage was £13,305,000 
(2019: £15,682,000). The fair value of the swaps is calculated by 
Lloyds Bank plc based on mid-market levels as of the close 
of business on 28 February 2020.
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Sensitivity analysis
The sensitivity analysis set out in the following table summarises the 
sensitivity of the market value of financial instruments to hypothetical 
changes in market rates and prices. Sensitivity is calculated based 
on all other variables remaining constant.

The interest rate analysis assumes a 1% change in interest rates, 
the currency analysis assumes a 1% change in currency price and 
the diesel price analysis assume a 10% price change. The diesel 
and currency price sensitivity analysis is based on diesel and 
currency-related derivative instruments held at the end of each 
reporting period. 

The impact of a 1% increase in interest rates, a 1% increase in 
currency price and a 10% increase in the diesel price is disclosed. 
A corresponding decrease results in an equal and opposite impact 
on the consolidated income statement.

Interest rate
 1% increase 

£’000

Diesel price 
10% increase 

£’000

Currency price 
1% increase 

£’000

At 29 February 2020
Increase in fair value of 
financial instruments 799 146 134

Impact on profit: (loss)/gain (770) 146 134

At 28 February 2019
Increase in fair value of 
financial instruments 679 249 158

Impact on profit: (loss)/gain (673) 249 158

Capital management
The objective of the Group’s capital management is to ensure that it 
maintains a strong credit rating and healthy capital ratios in order to 
support its business and maximise shareholder value.

The Group monitors capital using gearing ratios. Gearing based on 
net debt divided by capital was 228.4% at 29 February 2020 (2019: 
28.0%). The Group includes the following within borrowings: bank 
loans, lease obligations including IFRS 16 leases and exchangeable 
bonds. Capital comprises equity attributable to the equity holders of 
the Parent. Gearing has been impacted by IFRS 16 in the current 
year. Excluding IFRS 16, gearing was 147.2% at 29 February 2020.

The Group uses share capital to partly fund major acquisitions where 
considered appropriate.

The Group is not subject to any externally imposed capital restraints 
except compliance with normal bank covenants.

Dividends are payable after considering the solvency of the Group 
and the forecast funding requirements and headroom.

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk arises from the Group’s management of working capital 
and the finance charges and principal repayments on its debt 
instruments. It is the risk that the Group will encounter difficulty in 
meeting its financial obligations as they fall due. See the maturity 
profile of loans and borrowings below.

The Group prepares and reviews rolling weekly cash flow 
projections. Actual cash and debt positions along with available 

facilities and headroom are reported weekly. These are monitored by 
Group management.

In addition, full annual five-year forecasts are prepared including 
cash flow and headroom forecasts. These are full, detailed forecasts 
prepared by each division and consolidated for the Group.

The financial statements have been prepared using the going 
concern basis. See note 1 for further details.

The table below summarises the maturity analysis of financial 
liabilities based on contractual undiscounted payments:

<1 year
 £’000

1 to 5 years 
£’000

>5 years 
£’000

Total
£’000

At 29 February 2020
Loans and borrowings 1,944 129,857 – 131,801
Obligations under lease 20,135 52,300 125,003 197,438
Trade payables 13,279 – – 13,279
Swaps 416 – – 416

35,774 182,157 125,003 342,934

At 28 February 2019
Loans and borrowings 1,052 59,634 – 60,686
Finance lease 
borrowings 13,932 24,014 7,888 45,834
Trade payables 28,589 – – 28,589
Swaps 949 – – 949

44,522 83,648 7,888 136,058

27 Employee benefits – pension schemes
The Ansa plan remains open for employees of Ansa Logistics 
Limited, a subsidiary of the Group. The latest actuarial valuation of 
the Ansa plan was as at 31 December 2016 and was carried out by 
an independent qualified actuary using the projected unit method. At 
the date of the latest actuarial valuation, the realisable value of assets 
was £24,424,000, which was sufficient to cover 74% of the value of 
benefits that had accrued to members, measured on the continuing 
basis. Total contributions payable for the year to 29 February 2020 
amounted to £1,155,000 (2019: £1,111,000) with £97,000 (2019: 
£92,000) of contributions due to the plan at 29 February 2020.

The scheme is established under trust law and has a corporate 
trustee that is required to run the scheme in accordance with the 
scheme’s trust deed and rules and to comply with all the relevant 
legislation. Responsibility for governance of the scheme lies with  
the trustee. The trustee is a company whose Directors comprise 
representatives of the Group and the scheme participants, in 
accordance with its Articles of Association and UK pension law.

The scheme was formed after 1997 and therefore Guaranteed 
Minimum Pension (GMP) is not an issue.

There was a change in approach during the year in relation to 
calculating the discount rate and inflation assumptions. Instead  
of selecting the appropriate point on the curve, the full yield curve  
was applied to the plan’s projected cash flows and then the ‘single 
equivalent’ rate that produces the same liability value was identified. 
This is a more sophisticated approach and aligns with market practice. 
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27 Employee benefits – pension schemes continued 
In addition, there are anticipated changes to the formulation of RPI, to 
bring it closer to CPI, which are not believed to have been fully priced 
in by the markets. To allow for these a downward adjustment has 
been introduced to the RPI assumption of 0.3%.

The principal assumptions for the purpose of the actuarial valuations 
used in these consolidated financial statements were as follows:

2020 2019

Discount rate for scheme liabilities 1.60% 2.70%
Rate of inflation (RPI) 2.80% 3.45%
Rate of inflation (CPI) 2.10% 2.45%
Rate of general increase in salaries n/a n/a
Mortality table used S3NA,

CMI_2018,
1.25% 

minimum
annual

improvement

S2NA,
CMI_2017,

1.25% 
minimum

annual
improvement

Longevity assumptions for members of the Ansa plan
The life expectancies based on the plan’s IAS 19 mortality 
assumptions at the plan’s normal retirement age of 65 are as follows:

Male life  
expectancy

Female life  
expectancy

29 February 2020 87 89
29 February 2040 88 90

28 February 2019 87 89
28 February 2039 88 90

The figures for the members 20 years in the future show how 
the expected future improvements in longevity, as a result of 
the CMI projections and the 1.25% per annum minimum annual 
improvements, affect life expectancies. An ‘improvement’ means the 
decrease in the rate of mortality at a given age over the time period.

The mortality projection has changed in the year to ensure the new 
demographic assumptions reflect the Scheme Actuary’s view of best 
estimate assumptions for the 2017 actuarial valuation.

Sensitivities to principal assumptions
The principal risk to the Group in relation to the plan is that the Group 
would be required to fund any deficits in the plan, the level of which is 
variable and depends upon mortality rates, inflation and returns on 
plan assets.

The most significant sensitivity stems from the following 
assumptions:

• Discount rate: This is a key assumption because it is applied to 
the future pension payments.

• Price inflation: This is a key assumption because it is used to 
determine increases to pensions in payment and in deferment, 
and increases to pensionable salaries for the one active member.

• Mortality after retirement: This is a key assumption because it 
determines how long pensions are paid for when they come into 
payment. The central assumptions are the S3NA base tables, with 
the CMI_2018 projections of future experience, subject to a 1.25% 
per annum minimum annual improvement with no age rating.

Sensitising the assumptions listed above would have the following 
effects on the total liabilities, assets and deficit positions. For the 
purposes of the mortality sensitivity illustrations, we have varied the 
minimum annual improvement.

Discount rate assumption
1.35%
 £’000

1.60%
£’000

1.85%
£’000

Liabilities 33,713 32,311 30,980
Assets 27,889 27,889 27,889
Deficit (5,824) (4,422) (3,091)

RPI inflation assumption
2.55%
 £’000

2.80%
 £’000

3.05%
£’000

Liabilities 33,342 32,311 31,313
Assets 27,889 27,889 27,889
Deficit (5,453) (4,422) (3,424)

Minimum annual improvement
0.75%
£’000

1.25%
£’000

1.75%
£’000

Liabilities 33,015 32,311 31,620
Assets 27,889 27,889 27,889
Deficit (5,126) (4,422) (3,731)

Amounts recognised in the consolidated statement of 
financial position

2020 
£’000

2019 
£’000

Present value of funded obligations 32,311 28,850
Fair value of scheme assets 27,889 25,680

Net liability recognised in the 
consolidated statement of financial 
position (4,422) (3,170)

Amounts recognised in the consolidated income statement

2020 
£’000

2019 
£’000

Return on scheme assets 689 691
Interest expense (763) (778)

Finance expense (74) (87)

Current service cost (included in 
staff costs) (4) (2)
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Amounts recognised in the consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income

2020 
£’000

2019 
£’000

Actual return less return recognised in 
profit or loss 1,814 (524)
Experience losses arising on the scheme 
liabilities (226) (4)
Changes in financial assumptions 
underlying the present value of the 
scheme liabilities (3,637) 268

Amounts recognised in the 
consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income (2,049) (260)
Deferred tax 348 45

Remeasurement on defined benefit 
plan (1,701) (215)

Cumulative net gains recognised (3,946) (2,245)

Actual return less return recognised in 
profit or loss
Actual return on scheme assets 2,503 167
Less return recognised in profit or loss (689) (691)

1,814 (524)

Changes in the present value of defined benefit obligations and the 
fair value of scheme assets are as follows:

2020 
£’000

2019 
£’000

Defined benefit obligation
Opening defined benefit obligation 28,850 29,311
Current service cost 4 2
Interest expense 763 778
Actuarial losses/(gains) 3,863 (264)
Employee contributions 1 1
Benefits paid (1,170) (978)

Closing defined benefit obligation 32,311 28,850

Fair value of scheme assets
Opening fair value of scheme assets 25,680 25,659
Return recognised in profit or loss 689 691
Actuarial gains/(losses) 1,814 (524)
Contributions made by the Group 1,155 1,111
Employee contributions 1 1
Benefits paid (1,170) (978)
Expenses (280) (280)

Closing fair value of scheme assets 27,889 25,680

The fair value of the scheme assets at the year end is analysed
as follows:

2020 
£’000

2019 
£’000

Equity instruments 6,557 6,552
Bonds 14,742 12,632
Diversified growth funds 6,489 6,218
Other (including cash) 101 278

Fair value of scheme assets 27,889 25,680

COVID-19 has had a significant post balance sheet impact on the 
asset values within the scheme. Scheme asset values fell by c.£2m 
in the month of March 2020, driven by falling equity values and 
decreased bond yields. With such market volatility, these asset 
values are likely to move materially over the six months to 31 August 
2020, when the next valuation is prepared. Any material decrease 
in asset values will be presented in other comprehensive income 
at the next reporting date. The current actuarial valuation as at 
31 December 2019 is ongoing and as part of this the deficit 
contributions payable by the Group may vary from the current level. 

The plan assets do not include any of the Group’s own financial 
instruments, nor any property occupied by, or other assets used 
by, the Group. The trustees of the Ansa plan regularly review their 
investment strategies to ensure that wherever possible the nature 
of assets held in each scheme is appropriate to the maturity profile 
of the underlying pension obligation. The types of assets held are 
shown above, all of which have quoted prices in active markets 
with the exception of other assets. The age profile of the Ansa plan 
members, which provides an indication of the maturity profile of the 
defined benefit obligation, is as follows:

2020 
Years

2019 
Years

Normal retirement age 65 65
Average age of deferred members 56 56
Average age of pensioner members 68 68

The Group expects to contribute £1,179,000 to the Ansa plan in the 
year ending 28 February 2021. A schedule of contributions was 
agreed with the trustees in the year ending 29 February 2016 to 
cover a 16-year period to 28 February 2031, setting out the deficit 
contributions payable into the scheme. The trustees seek to align the 
investment strategies with the maturity profile of the liabilities in the 
schemes. An additional liability for any surplus contributions payable 
as a result of this agreement has not been recognised as the Group 
has the right to a refund of any surplus.

The Group operates a defined contribution plan. The charge in 
the year to the consolidated income statement was £1,251,000 
(2019: £1,093,000). The value of contributions outstanding as at 
29 February 2020 and included in other payables is £97,000 
(2019: £257,000).
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28 Deferred tax
Deferred tax liabilities

2020 
£’000

2019 
£’000

Accelerated allowances on plant and 
machinery (4,316) (2,213)
Roll-over relief 2,543 2,543
Revaluation of properties to fair value on 
acquisition 5,980 7,077
Brands recognised on acquisition 1,700 7,041
Other temporary differences (171) (888)

5,736 13,560

Deferred tax assets have been recognised in respect of temporary 
differences giving rise to deferred tax assets because it is probable 
that the assets will be recovered. 

Deferred tax has not been recognised in respect of tax losses of 
certain Group entities of £10,619,000 as at 29 February 2020 (2019: 
£49,451,000) on the basis that there is uncertainty over whether 
taxable profit will be available within the trades operated by these 
entities against which the unused tax losses can be utilised in  
future periods.

The deferred tax balances have been calculated at 17%, as this 
was the rate that was substantively enacted at the statement of 
financial position date. The March 2020 Budget announced that the 
corporation tax rate now applicable from 1 April 2020 remains at 
19% rather than the previously enacted reduction to 17%. This was 
enacted on 17 March 2020. Given the change was enacted after 
the date of statement of financial position of 29 February 2020, the 
deferred tax assets/liabilities as at 29 February 2020 have been 
recognised/provided at 17%. The deferred tax liability at the year 
end totals £5,736,000. As such, recognition/provision at 19% will 
result in the provision of an additional deferred tax liability and a 
deferred tax charge of approximately £675,000. This will be included 
within the Group accounts for the year ending 28 February 2021. 

Movement in deferred tax balances during the year

Balance 
28 February 

2018 
£’000

Recognised 
in profit or 

loss 
£’000

Foreign 
exchange 

adjustment
£’000

Recognised 
in other 

comprehen-
sive income

£’000

Recognised 
in retained 

earnings
 £’000

Transfer  
to assets 

held for sale
£’000

Balance 
28 February 

2019 
£’000

Recognised 
in profit or 

loss 
£’000

Recognised 
in other 

comprehen-
sive income

£’000

Recognised 
in retained 

earnings
 £’000

Balance 
29 February 

2020 
£’000

Provisions (1,130) (381) – – 673 1,252 414 50 – – 464
Tax losses 531 (42) – – – – 489 (489) – – –
Share-based payments 2,186 (34) – – (925) – 1,227 (193) – (914) 120
Pension 618 (123) – 45 – – 540 (134) 348 – 754
Roll-over relief (580) (341) – – – (1,622) (2,543) – – – (2,543)
Revaluation of 
properties to fair value 
on acquisition (7,612) 535 – – – – (7,077) 1,097 – – (5,980)
Brands recognised on 
acquisition (7,673) 632 – – – – (7,041) 5,341 – – (1,700)
Accelerated allowances 
on plant and machinery (3,993) 2,452 (141) – – 3,895 2,213 2,103 – – 4,316
Capitalised interest (1,782) – – – – – (1,782) – – – (1,782)
Corporate interest 
restriction disallowance – – – – – – – 615 – – 615

(19,435) 2,698 (141) 45 (252) 3,525 (13,560) 8,390 348 (914) (5,736)

29 Provisions

Site 
restoration 

£’000

Onerous 
leases/

contracts 
£’000

Corporation 
tax

£’000

Litigation 
and 

claims 
£’000

Development 
commitment

£’000
Total

£’000

At 1 March 2019 2,890 20,227 – 4,096 4,000 31,213
Provisions used – (5,142) – (4,617) – (9,759)
Provisions made – 560 11,355 2,373 – 14,288
Provisions utilised – (1,912) – (163) (58) (2,133)
Provisions reversed during the year – (3,163) – – – (3,163)
Unwind of discount 72 19 – – – 91

At 29 February 2020 2,962 10,589 11,355 1,689 3,942 30,537

Analysis of provisions:
Current – 560 – 1,689 3,942 6,191
Non-current 2,962 10,029 11,355 – – 24,346
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Provisions comprise liabilities where there is uncertainty about the 
timing of settlement, but where a reliable estimate can be made of 
the amount. Details of each provision category are as follows:

Site restoration
The Group leases a long leasehold property which is currently 
unoccupied, in respect of which it has annual holding costs and 
dilapidation obligations. The estimated liability is discounted to its 
present value.

Onerous leases/contracts
Following the disposal of Everdeal Holdings Limited, who operate the 
UKFFO, the Group had an agreement to part fund the operation. At 
28 February 2019, the Directors estimated the onerous contract to be 
£7,031,000. This operation, for which tickets went on sale in 
December 2016 and which commenced flights in May 2017, has 
been withdrawn following the expansion of the easyJet and Ryanair 
operations at LSA. Part of the provision was used in the year to cover 
costs incurred and the remaining balance has been reversed 
through discontinued operations. The balance is nil at year end.

In the prior year, a provision of £12,322,000 for an onerous lease 
contract was made in connection with the disposal of Propius 
Holdings Limited, see note 5. The amount of this liability was not 
known but was estimated as an amount to cover the difference 
between the lease rentals for certain aircraft payable to a lessor 
between 2023 and 2027, and a lower amount agreed as a sub-lease 
to Connect Airways. The amount in US Dollars has been reassessed 
and when translated to GBP at the year end rate and discounted to the 
year end date. The balance held at 29 February 2020 is £9,625,000.

The Directors do not believe that the present value of the future 
payments will be materially greater than the amounts provided for  
the two provisions above.

Corporation tax
There are a number of tax enquiries across the Group which 
management is working with HMRC and professional advisers 
to satisfy and resolve. There are uncertainties around the 
outcomes and potential liabilities in connection with these 
enquiries. The Directors believe that a responsible range of 
outcomes for the liabilities under these enquiries is between 
£nil and £16m, excluding interest and penalties. Provisions have 
been made for corporation tax and other taxes at a level that the 
Directors believes is a reasonable estimate to cover the potential 
liabilities on an enquiry by enquiry basis. This provision has 
been reclassified in the current year from the corporation tax 
liability. These provisions have not changed during the year.

Litigation and claims
Relates mainly to provisions made within the Energy division, relating 
to a claim under a contract with a waste wood material supplier. 
In addition, a provision is held in relation to an ongoing case relating 
to air travel tax in Ireland.

Development commitment
The Group has entered into a commitment to its landlord to 
undertake the development of a leasehold site. The provision 
represents the estimated cost of the required development works 
with work estimated to begin within the next 24 months. The impact 
of discounting is not material and has not been recognised.

30 Share-based payments
The table below shows the expenses arising from share-based 
payment transactions (credited)/charged to operating profit.

2020 
£’000

2019 
£’000

Long-Term Incentive Plan 2014 to date 99 (45)
SAYE schemes to date 1,090 64
Stobart Energy Incentive Plan 34 41
Stobart Aviation Incentive Plan (72) 324
Services rendered 120 330

1,271 714

The share-based payment plans are described as follows. 

Long-Term Incentive Plan 2014 to date
During the current and prior years, performance shares were 
awarded to Executive Directors and other senior management under 
a Long-Term Incentive Plan. These performance shares vest subject 
to the TSR and the cumulative adjusted EPS, both measured over 
three-year periods.

50% of the share awards vest dependent on the TSR performance 
of the Group. None of these share awards will vest if the TSR 
performance of the Group is less than that of the comparator group 
(the TSR of the FTSE 250). 25% of the awards will vest if the TSR 
performance of the Group equals that of the comparator group and 
the remaining 75% will vest proportionately in line with how the TSR 
performance of the Group exceeds that of the comparator group 
between 0% and 10%.

50% of the share awards vest dependent on the cumulative adjusted 
EPS over the three financial years ending at the end of the third 
February after grant. None of these share awards will vest if the 
cumulative adjusted EPS is less than threshold, 25% of the shares 
will vest if the cumulative adjusted EPS is threshold and the 
remaining 75% will vest proportionately in line with how the 
cumulative adjusted EPS performs between threshold and stretch.

If both elements of the performance conditions are achieved in full, 
the awards will be subject to a multiple up to a maximum of 2x 
multiplier if the Group’s three-year TSR outperforms the index by 40% 
per annum or more. Further details are included in the Directors’ 
Remuneration Report. 

EPS threshold and EPS stretch for each issue

Grant date
Number of 

awards
EPS 

threshold
EPS 

 stretch

22 June 2017 896,721 52.0p 60.0p
1 November 2017 2,333 52.0p 60.0p
20 June 2018 726,522 20.0p 28.0p
3 July 2019 127,660 20.0p 28.0p
3 July 2019 1,796,415 4.4p 14.1p
11 December 2019 15,823 4.4p 14.1p
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30 Share-based payments continued
2018 Save-As-You-Earn (SAYE)
During the prior year, qualifying employees and Directors were 
invited to join the 2018 SAYE scheme, where participants enter into a 
contract to save a fixed amount per month of up to a maximum of 
£500 for three years and are granted an option over shares at a fixed 
option price, set at a 20% discount to average market price for the 
three days prior to the invitation to participate. The number of shares 
comprising the option is determined by the monthly amount saved 
on maturity of the savings contract. Options granted under the SAYE 
scheme are not subject to any performance conditions. To date, 
92,100 options have been forfeited and 1,031,291 options have been 
cancelled. There are 89,760 options remaining at the year end.

2019 Save-As-You-Earn (SAYE)
During the year, qualifying employees and Directors were invited 
to join the 2019 SAYE scheme, where participants enter into a 
contract to save a fixed amount per month of up to a maximum of 
£500 for three years and are granted an option over shares at a 
fixed option price, set at a 20% discount to average market price for 
the three days prior to the invitation to participate. The number of 
shares comprising the option is determined by the monthly amount 
saved on maturity of the savings contract. Options granted under 
the SAYE scheme are not subject to any performance conditions. 
The maximum number of shares, if all vest, is 2,962,928. To date, 
66,016 options have been forfeited and 308,456 options have been 
cancelled. There are 2,588,456 options remaining at the year end.

Stobart Energy Incentive Plan (SEIP)
Eligible participants were invited to purchase shares in a subsidiary 
company under the SEIP. Ownership of these shares gave the 
participants the opportunity to benefit from a potential increase 
in value of the Energy division. Details of the plan were provided 
in the Notice of Annual General Meeting and Approval of the 
SEIP document circulated in advance of the 2016 AGM. The SEIP 
vested during the year and was settled with 665,251 existing 
Stobart Group shares transferred from the Employee Benefit 
Trust and the issue of 3,830,947 new Stobart Group ordinary 
shares. The aggregate number of ordinary shares awarded was 
calculated with reference to the weighted average mid-market 
price in the period from 30 June 2019 to 5 September 2019.

Stobart Aviation Incentive Plan (SAIP)
In January 2017, an eligible participant entered into an incentive 
plan which gives the participant the opportunity to benefit from 
a potential increase in value of the Aviation division. This scheme 
will be part settled with cash and part settled with Stobart Group 
shares. The updated terms of the SAIP were provided in the 
Directors’ Remuneration Report of the 2019 Annual Report at the 
23 July 2019 AGM. Further details are provided in the Directors’ 
Remuneration Report.

Services rendered
The Group has used share options as partial consideration for 
services received. The fair value was determined using a market 
price for the services received. These share options will vest 
dependent on the market capitalisation of the Group during the 
performance period. 

Movements in the year
The following table illustrates the number (No.) and weighted average 
exercise prices (WAEP) of, and movements in, outstanding share 
awards during the year:

2020
 No. ’000

2020 
WAEP

2019
 No. ’000

2019 
WAEP

Outstanding at 1 March 3,353 £0.57 5,968 £0.11
Granted during the year 4,921 £0.59 1,923 £1.01
Exercised during the year (897) £0.00 (2,626) £0.24
Lapsed during the year (156) £0.00 (260) £0.00
Forfeited during the year (152) £1.62 (1,428) £0.01
Cancelled during the year (1,329) £1.50 (224) £0.08

Outstanding at end of year 5,740 £0.48 3,353 £0.57

Exercisable at end of year – – 1 £0.84

Of the 2016 LTIPs a proportion vested, based on performance, and 
the remainder lapsed. All of the shares that vested were exercised 
during the year.

The weighted average contractual life of awards/options outstanding 
at the year end is 20 months (2019: 14 months).

Valuation details
The fair value of the options granted without market-based 
performance conditions is estimated using a Black-Scholes model 
taking into account the terms and conditions upon which the options 
were granted. The fair value of the options granted with market-
based performance conditions are estimated using a Monte Carlo 
model taking into account the terms and conditions upon which the 
options were granted.

The following table lists the inputs to the models used for the current 
and prior year.

2017 LTIP share awards

Long-Term 
Incentive Plan 
subject to TSR

Long-Term 
Incentive Plan 

subject to EPS

Dividend yield (%) 5.74 5.74
Expected volatility (%) 25.46 25.46
Risk-free interest rate (%) 0.24 0.24
Expected life of options (years) 3 3
Weighted average share price (£) 2.925 2.925
Fair value at date of grant (£) 1.453 2.462
Model used Monte Carlo Black-Scholes

2018 LTIP share awards

Long-Term 
Incentive Plan 
subject to TSR

Long-Term 
Incentive Plan 

subject to EPS

Dividend yield (%) 5.74 5.74
Expected volatility (%) 25.46 25.46
Risk-free interest rate (%) 0.24 0.24
Expected life of options (years) 3 3
Weighted average share price (£) 2.568 2.568
Fair value at date of grant (£) 1.258 2.132
Model used Monte Carlo Black-Scholes
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2019 LTIP share awards

Long-Term 
Incentive Plan 
subject to TSR

Long-Term 
Incentive Plan 

subject to EPS

Dividend yield (%) 2.46 2.46
Expected volatility (%) 25.46 25.46
Risk-free interest rate (%) 0.24 0.24
Expected life of options (years) 3 3
Weighted average share price (£) 1.220 1.220
Fair value at date of grant (£) 0.598 1.013
Model used Monte Carlo Black-Scholes

2018 SAYE scheme SAYE plan

Dividend yield (%) 3.97
Expected volatility (%) 36.13
Risk-free interest rate (%) 0.83
Expected life of options (years) 3.5
Weighted average share price (£) 1.51
Fair value at date of grant (£) 0.29
Model used Black-Scholes

2019 SAYE scheme SAYE plan

Dividend yield (%) 5.14
Expected volatility (%) 55.21
Risk-free interest rate (%) 0.83
Expected life of options (years) 3.5
Weighted average share price (£) 1.17
Fair value at date of grant (£) 0.29
Model used Black-Scholes

SAIP SAIP

Dividend yield (%) nil
Expected volatility (%) 30
Average risk-free interest rate (%) 0.447
Expected life of options (years) 1.258
Comparable multiplier 16.2
Equity value at valuation date (£m) 204.1
Model used Monte Carlo

The fair value at the date of grant of the awards subject to the 
multiplier was £0.009 (2019: £0.02).

The expected life of the options is based on historical data and is 
not necessarily indicative of exercise patterns that may occur. The 
expected volatility reflects the assumption that the historical volatility 
is indicative of future trends, which may also not necessarily be the 
actual outcome.

31 Issued share capital and reserves

2020 
£’000

2019 
£’000

Ordinary share capital
Authorised – 505,272,670 (2019: 
505,272,670) shares of 10p each 50,527 50,527

£ £

Ordinary share capital – deferred 
shares
Authorised – 1,000 shares of 0.1p each 1 1

Ordinary shares of 10p 
each issued and fully 
paid

Number 
 of shares  

2020 
’000

Share  
capital  

2020  
£’000

Number 
 of shares  

2019 
’000

Share  
capital  

2019  
£’000

At 1 March 370,822 37,082 354,329 35,434
Share issue 3,831 383 16,493 1,648

At 29 February 374,653 37,465 370,822 37,082

During the year ended 29 February 2020, the Company bought 
none (2019: 1,450,000) of its own shares for a net consideration 
of £nil (2019: £3,416,000). The Group transferred no shares 
(2019: 7,035,425) to the employee benefit trust for nil consideration 
(2019: £nil). The number of shares held by the employee benefit trust 
reduced from 5,059,362 at 28 February 2018 to 2,980,992 at 
29 February 2020, following the issue of shares during the year 
to satisfy employee share options.

During the year ended 29 February 2020, the Company issued 
3,830,947 (2019: 16,492,884) ordinary shares of 10p each for nil 
consideration (2019: £24,702,000) to settle employee share options.

The Group has a retained deficit at 29 February 2020, however, this 
does not prevent dividends being paid. Stobart Group Limited is 
registered in Guernsey and under Guernsey Law, prior to making 
payments to shareholders, a company must satisfy the solvency test, 
which requires that it is able to meet its liabilities as they fall due and 
has assets which are greater than its liabilities, and the Directors 
must certify that this is the case. Taking into account the significant 
share premium account, the Company continues to satisfy 
these requirements.

Voting rights
Ordinary shareholders are entitled to vote at all general meetings.

The deferred shares and treasury shares have no voting rights.

Capital entitlement
The deferred shareholders are entitled to the repayment of the 
amounts paid up on the deferred shares after payment in respect of 
each ordinary share and £1,000,000.

Nature and purpose of other reserves
Own shares held by employee benefit trust
This comprises the weighted average cost of own shares held by the 
employee benefit trust.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued
for the year ended 29 February 2020

32 Lease commitments
Group as lessee
The Group leases a number of premises, vehicles and equipment 
with varying terms and renewal rights. Under IFRS 16, each lease is 
reflected in the consolidated statement of financial position as a 
right-of-use asset and a lease liability, with the exception of short-
term leases and leases of low-value underlying assets. In the prior 
year, under IAS 17, the Group recognised lease assets and lease 
liabilities for finance leases only. The assets were presented in PPE 
and the liabilities as part of borrowings. Further details around the 
transition to IFRS 16 are presented in note 1.

The following amounts have been recognised in the consolidated 
income statement:

Under IFRS 16
2020 

£’000

Interest on lease liabilities 4,098
Expenses relating to short-term leases 1,352
Expenses relating to leases of low-value assets, 
excluding short-term leases of low-value assets 44

5,494

Under IAS 17
2019 

£’000

Lease expense 3,361

Recognised in the consolidated statement of cash flows
2020 

£’000

Total cash outflow for leases 21,961

Group as lessor
The Group has entered into commercial property leases on some of 
its properties. This includes a sub-lease on one property that has 
been presented as a right-of-use asset. Both the lease and sub-
lease have an expiration date of February 2038. The sub-lease is 
presented as a finance lease.

The maturity analysis of the future undiscounted lease receivables is 
shown in the table below.

2020 
£’000

Less than one year 1,060
One to two years 1,060
Two to three years 1,060
Three to four years 1,060
Four to five years 1,060
More than five years 13,790

Total undiscounted lease receivable 19,090

Finance income (5,843)

Net investment in lease 13,247

Capital commitments
At 29 February 2020, the Group had commitments of £nil (2019: 
£971,000). The commitments in the prior year related to development 
work at a leasehold site in Widnes in the Non-Strategic Infrastructure 
division, development and expansion works at LSA in the Aviation 
division and development works at the Port Clarence processing site 
in the division.

33 Contingent liabilities
Liability under financial guarantees exist across the Group and a 
number of these liabilities are no longer considered remote.

Eddie Stobart property rent guarantees have been in place since the 
disposal of ESL in April 2014. Given the recent issues reported by ESL, 
the Group believes that the possibility of any outflow in settlement is  
no longer remote. An outflow would only materialise if Eddie Stobart 
would need to fail in its lease obligations to the landlord, in addition to 
a new tenant not stepping into the lease. The Group’s maximum 
exposure over the period to February 2034 is £77.3m.

Guarantees have been provided in respect of the airline Stobart Air, 
in relation to jet fuel and foreign exchange hedging contracts. The 
exposure on these contracts at the year end is c.¤2m. In addition, a 
facility provided by Aer Lingus, under which Stobart Air receives 
100% of ticket revenue in advance of passenger flights, has been 
guaranteed up to maximum of ¤18m.

Following the sale and leaseback of eight ATR72-600 aircraft in April 
2017, the Group provided guarantees over the $15.4m annual rentals 
payable by Propius. These guarantees remained in place on 
disposal of Propius and expire in April 2027, with a break clause in 
April 2023 if the Aer Lingus franchise is not extended in December 
2022 which would trigger a payment by the guarantor of a break fee 
of $21.2 million. 

During the year, various claims have been made against our Energy 
and Aviation divisions. One of these claims has a court date set for 
October 2020. Stobart is vigorously defending all these claims and 
believes the risk of outflow to be low, however, the likelihood of a 
future outflow of economic benefit is no longer classified as remote. 
The maximum exposure under these claims is £19.3m.

34 Post balance sheet events
Flybe entered administration on 5 March 2020, followed by Connect 
Airways on 18 March 2020. The loans receivable from Connect 
Airways Limited, the parent company of Flybe, Stobart Air and 
Propius, have been impaired to £nil as a result as at 29 February 
2020. The administration of Connect Airways Limited and Flybe 
Limited post year end increased the probability of cash outflows in 
respect of the guarantees provided in respect of Stobart Air and 
Propius, as disclosed in note 33, and potentially crystallised a liability 
in respect of these items. To mitigate this risk, discussions took place 
with the administrators of Connect Airways and Flybe to acquire the 
Stobart Air and Propius businesses.
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On 27 April 2020, the Group reached an agreement to acquire an 
effective indirect economic interest of 78.75% in Stobart Air and 
Propius for consideration comprising cash of £0.3m, payable on 
completion, deferred consideration of £2.0m, to be paid by 
15 December 2020, and a contingent deferred consideration up to 
maximum of £6.25m, based on the equity value achieved, after 
disposal costs, on a realisation of value in respect of one of both of 
the businesses prior to 31 December 2023. It is expected that these 
businesses will be accounted for as 100% subsidiaries.

Following these acquisitions, the fair value of aircraft lease 
liabilities and the right of use assets of Stobart Air and Propius will 
be recognised in the Group consolidated statement of financial 
position, as required under IFRS 3: Business Combinations and 
IFRS 16: Leases. 

As at the date of issue, the initial accounting for the business 
combination as per IFRS 3 is incomplete due to the complexity of  
the acquisition accounting and insufficient time between the date  
of acquisition and the date the financial statements were authorised 
for issue. As such, disclosures relating to the fair value of assets and 
liabilities acquired have not been disclosed. It is however anticipated 
there will be a material adverse impact on the income statement as a 
result of the accounting for the pre-existing guarantee arrangements 
as noted in the contingent liabilities noted and the subsequent 
acquisition accounting. This adverse impact is partly dependent  
on the assessment of the fair value of the leased assets compared  
to the liabilities recognised. Cash requirements of the acquisition  
and subsequent operation have been considered in the going 
concern assessment.

On 20 May 2020, the Group disposed of its Eddie Stobart and 
Stobart trademarks and designs to Eddie Stobart Limited for 
cash consideration of £10.0m, of which £6.0m is payable upon 
completion, £2.5m is to be paid by 1 December 2020 and £1.5m 
is to be paid 36 months after completion. 

The impact of COVID-19 is judgemental and has been accounted 
for as a non-adjusting post balance sheet event. The impact on 
significant balance sheet items such as impairments and IFRS 9 
expected credit losses have been discussed in the respective notes 
to the accounts. After taking all available information into account, 
the Directors made the judgement that there is no material impact on 
the 29 February 2020 consolidated balance sheet balances due to 
the COVID-19 pandemic.

35 Notes to the consolidated cash flow statement

Notes

Year ended 
29 February 

2020 
£’000

Year ended 
28 February 

2019
 £’000

Loss before tax from 
continuing operations (157,984) (42,114)
Adjustments to reconcile loss 
before tax to net cash flows:
Non-cash:
Loss in value of investment 
properties 19 1,835 715
Realised loss/(profit) on sale of 
property, plant and equipment 
and investment properties 88 (584)
Share of post-tax losses of 
associates and joint ventures 
accounted for using the equity 
method 17 9,765 1,740
Gain on conversion of loan 8 – (1,095)
Loss in value/loss on disposal of 
assets held for sale – 683
Loss/(profit) on sale and 
leaseback, net of costs 62 (629)
Loss on sale of property 
inventories 49 –
Depreciation of property, plant 
and equipment 16 22,723 16,305
Finance income 11 (4,346) (63)
Finance costs 12 13.397 4,512
Release of grant income 8 (565) (609)
Release of deferred premiums (2,617) (2,617)
Impairments 104,663 7,800
Amortisation of intangibles 8 7,456 3,938
Charge for share-based 
payments 8 1,271 714
Loss on swaps mark to market 
valuation 26 300 353
Retirement benefits and other 
provisions (3,840) 87
IFRS 15 transition adjustment – (3,949)
Working capital adjustments:
Decrease/(increase) in 
inventories 10 (127)
(Increase)/decrease in trade and 
other receivables (5,468) 4,196
(Decrease)/increase in trade and 
other payables (3,009) 9,007

Cash used in continuing 
operations (16,210) (1,737)

36 Related parties
Relationships of common control or significant influence
W A Tinkler was a related party until 14 June 2018 when he ceased 
to be a Director of the Group and a such there were no related 
party sales or purchases during the current year. The amounts 
outstanding are unsecured and were entered into under normal 
commercial terms.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued
for the year ended 29 February 2020

36 Related parties continued 
WA Developments International Limited is owned by W A Tinkler. 
During the prior year, the Group made purchases of £20,000 
relating to the provision of passenger transport and the Group 
levied recharges of £5,000 relating to the recovery of staff costs 
and expenses to WA Developments International Limited. £63,000 
(2019: £63,000) was due from WA Developments International 
Limited at the year end. As of 14 June 2018, WA Developments 
International Limited was no longer a related party.

Apollo Air Services Limited is owned by W A Tinkler. During the prior 
year, the Group made purchases of £185,000 relating to the provision 
of passenger transport and sales of £21,000 relating to fuel to Apollo 
Air Services Limited. £83,000 (2019: £83,000) was owed by the 
Group and £46,000 (2019: £46,000) was owed to the Group by this 
company at the year end. As of 14 June 2018, Apollo Air Services 
Limited was no longer a related party.

WA Tinkler Racing is owned by W A Tinkler. During the prior year, 
the Group made sales of £27,000 relating to car and race box hire. 
£26,000 (2019: £26,000) was owed to the Group at the year end. 
As of 14 June 2018, WA Tinkler Racing was no longer a related party.

During the prior year, transactions with W A Tinkler and close family 
members of W A Tinkler totalled £10,000 and £nil (2019: £7,000) was 
owed to the Group at the year end. As of 14 June 2018, W A Tinkler 
and his close family members were no longer a related party.

During the prior year, the Group made purchases of £150,000 and 
sales of £3,000 to Stobart Capital Limited, a business part-owned by 
W A Tinkler, relating to investment management. £6,000 (2019: 
£6,000) was owed to the Group at the year end. As of 14 June 2018, 
Stobart Capital Limited was no longer a related party.

Speedy Hire plc is a related party from 1 June 2019, when David 
Shearer became Non-Executive Chairman of the Group, as he is 
also Non-Executive Chairman of Speedy Hire plc. During the year, 
the Group made purchases of £285,000 relating to equipment hire 
of which £5,000 was owed by Group at the year end.

Associates and joint ventures
In the prior year, the Group had unsecured loans, not part of the net 
investment, outstanding from its associate interest Shuban Power 
Limited of £3,700,000. These were disclosed within trade and 
other receivables at 28 February 2019 and were settled in cash 
during the current year. There are no balances outstanding as at 
29 February 2020.

The Group had loans, not part of the net investment, outstanding 
from its associate interest, Mersey Bioenergy Holdings Limited, of 
£7,302,000 (2019: £7,302,000) at the year end which is disclosed 
within trade and other receivables in non-current assets. The interest 
outstanding at the year end, net of amounts provided, was £698,000 
(2019: £3,451,000) and is disclosed within trade and other 
receivables in non-current assets. The loans are unsecured, have 
a ten-year term ending in November 2024 and will be settled in cash. 
In addition, the Group made sales of £nil (2019: £33,000) to Mersey 
Bioenergy Holdings Limited relating to director fees. At the year end, 
£nil (2019: £10,000) was owed to the Group.

During the year, the Group made sales of £6,684,000 (2019: 
£5,171,000) to Mersey Bioenergy Limited (a subsidiary of Mersey 
Bioenergy Holdings Limited) relating to the sale of material. At the 
year end, £535,000 (2019: £885,000) was owed to the Group.

The Group had loans, not part of the net investment, outstanding 
from its joint venture interest, Connect Airways Limited, of £nil 
(2019: £33,888,000) at the year end due to the loans being impaired 
by £45,075,000. At 28 February 2019, the balance was shown 
within trade and other receivables in non-current assets, of which 
£18,745,000 was an unsecured loan note and £15,143,000 was 
part of a second-ranking facility, both had a six-year term ending 
February 2025.

During the year, the Group made sales of £nil (2019: £488,000) 
to subsidiaries of Connect Airways Limited relating to passenger 
handling services and cost recharges. At the year end, £nil 
(2019: £488,000) was owed to the Group.

The Group has loans outstanding to a subsidiary of Connect Airways 
Limited, of £18,038,000 at the year end. This balance is shown within 
trade and other receivables in non-current assets. This loan is 
repayable in biannual instalments over a three-year term ending May 
2023 and will be settled in cash.

On 8 November 2019, the Group disposed of its subsidiary Propius 
Holdings Limited to Connect Airways Limited. Refer to note 5.

There were no other balances between the Group and its joint 
ventures and associates during the current or prior year.

All loans are unsecured and all sales and purchases are settled in 
cash on the Group’s standard commercial terms.

Key management personnel
Key management personnel are the Executive and Non-Executive 
Directors and the Chief Financial Officer. Total aggregate 
emoluments, including pension contributions, were £1,704,000 
(2019: £2,081,000) and consisted of:

2020
 £’000

2019 
£’000

Emoluments 1,529 1,937
Share-based payment 43 (184)
Company contribution to money purchase 
pension plan 175 144

1,747 1,897

Further details of the Executive and Non-Executive Directors’ 
remuneration are set out in the Directors’ Remuneration Report.
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37 Alternative performance measures
In the reporting of financial information, the Directors have 
adopted various alternative performance measures (APMs). 
These measures are not defined by International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS) and therefore may not be directly 
comparable with other companies’ APMs.

APMs should be considered in addition to, and are not intended 
to be a substitute for, or superior to, IFRS measurements.
Non-GAAP APMs are used as they are considered to be both useful 
and necessary as well as enhancing the comparability of information 
between reporting periods, by adjusting for non-recurring or 
uncontrollable factors which affect IFRS measures, to aid users 
in understanding the Group’s performance.

Consequently, APMs are used by the Directors and management for 
internal performance analysis, planning, reporting and incentive-
setting purposes. The presentation of these measures facilitates 
comparability with other companies, although management’s 
measures may not be calculated in the same way as similarly titled 
measures reported by other companies.

The APMs reported in the current and prior years have not been 
materially impacted by COVID-19. The global pandemic took 
hold after the year end and has had a material impact on both the 
Aviation and Energy divisions in the new year ending February 2021, 
with the six-month interim review ending 31 August 2020 being the 
next report due.

Underlying EBITDA
Underlying EBITDA is the key profitability measure used by 
management for performance review in the day-to-day operations 
of the Group.

Underlying EBITDA represents loss before interest, tax, depreciation, 
amortisation, swaps and non-underlying items. Refer to note 3 for 
reconciliation to statutory loss before tax. 

As a result of the Group taking the modified retrospective approach 
when transitioning to IFRS 16 on 1 March 2019, the underlying 
EBITDA for the year has improved by £5.6m, as a result of operating 
lease charges previously recognised within underlying EBITDA now 
recognised as depreciation and interest.

Underlying loss before tax
Underlying loss before tax represents loss before tax and before 
non-underlying items. Refer to note 3 for reconciliation to statutory 
loss for the period.

As a result of the Group taking the modified retrospective approach 
when transitioning to IFRS 16 on 1 March 2019, the underlying loss 
before tax for the year has worsened by £0.8m as the increased 
interest and depreciation charges initially outweigh the operating 
lease cost saving, but over the life of the lease this will neutralise.

Earnings per share from underlying continuing operations
This APM is based on underlying loss after tax which is loss for the 
year from continuing operations before non-underlying items, see 
note 14 for further details.
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